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Preliminary 
My great-grandfather from mother’s side, Gerrit Plantema, arrived around 26 June 1875 with ss 

‘Luitenant-Generaal Kroesen’ from Semarang, mid-Java, Indonesia into Padang (Sumatra) shortly after 

being assigned as a teacher in Padang on 2 June 1875. Gerrit was born on 3 February 1850 in 

Leeuwarden, Friesland, the Netherlands. He started as school teacher in Workum, Friesland in 1868 and 

after some years he was promoted to head teacher when he was put at the disposition of the Gouverneur-

Generaal van Nederlands-Indië to be appointed as teacher 3rd class in Nederlands-Indië (now Indonesia) 

on 21 July 1874. 

Gerrit left the Netherlands from Nieuwendiep (now Den Helder) with ss ‘Holland’ on 5 December 1874 

and arrived in Batavia (now Jakarta/West-Java/Indonesia) on 20 January 1875. Shortly thereafter –on 

23 January 1875- he was assigned as teacher on the second public school in Surakarta, mid-Java. He 

travelled from Batavia to Semarang by ss ‘Minister Frans van de Putte’ on 25 January 1875 and onwards 
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to Surakarta. Gerrit did not stay there for a long time as he was assigned as teacher 2nd class in Padang 

on 2 June 1875. He then travelled to Padang by ss ‘Luitenant-Generaal Kroesen’ departing 21 June 1875 

from Semarang. 

Gerrit Plantema married on 13 October 1877 in Padang with Mathilda Frederika Alexander. Gerrit 

stayed in the area of Padang until 1894 when he moved on to Meester Cornelis (now Jatinegara, a town-

district of Jakarta). Author will elaborate on Mathilda Frederika’s ancestors who –as we will see- lived 

already for a while in Padang. 

 

Offspring of these families may still live in Indonesia or may have relocated to Australia, South Africa, 

the USA, the Netherlands or elsewhere. For this reason I have chosen to use the English language rather 

than Dutch. 

Note: the above mentioned assignments and travel movements were found using ‘Delpher’. 

 

General 
 

Background and Purpose 
Mathilda Frederika Alexander’s pedigree chart is as follows: 

 

1. Mathilda Frederika Alexander, born 5 February 1858 in Padang; 

2. James Truffet Alexander, born 21 May 1823 in Padang, marries 6 August 1853 in Padang with 

3. Helena Adriana Aronds, born 11 June 1829 in Padang; 

4. Samuel Frederik Alexander, born in 1794 in Natal/Sumatra, marries about 1819 in Padang with 

5. Helena Cornelia Aronds, born around 1800 in Padang; 

6. Willem Frederik Aronds, born around 1796 in Padang, marries about 1827 in Padang with 

7. Adriana Petronella Londt, born around 1800 in Padang; 

8. Samuel Alexander, born in 1769, has a wife 

9. Njonja [= miss] Tjoan aka Tjanjong, a Chinese woman; 

10. Hartog Aronds, born about 1765 in Dessau, Germany, has a wife 

11. Christina Catharina Tegoea, born 1770-1775; 

12. =10, marries with 

13. =11; 

14. Leendert Pieter Londt, born around 1751, has a wife 

15. Adriana Magdalena. 

 

In the course of my study of the Alexander, Aronds and Londt families and comparing my results with 

information available on the internet publications, I found that these publications were always 

incomplete and sometimes contained mistakes and errors. With this publication I intend to provide a 

solid basis for the pedigree of the Alexander, Aronds and Londt families living in Padang in the 19 th 

century. 

Of course I welcome all corrections and amendments that the reader may find relevant and I will 

implement such additions in this publication if retained. 

 

Scope of this Study 
This study is more or less limited to the above mentioned families Alexander, Aronds and Londt, living 

in Padang until the end of the 19th century. 

 

- Part I  - General introduction including some background; 

- Part II  - Alexander Family; 

- Part III - Aronds Family; 
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- Part IV - Londt Family; 

 

Padang 
Padang is located on Sumatra’s West coast in Indonesia. As from the 17th century Padang until 1824 is 

a trade post intermittently under Dutch and British authority. This period is characterized by a lot of 

skirmishes until Padang was traded off in 1824 against Singapore. Padang remained under Dutch 

authority until 1948 when the sovereignty of “Nederlands-Indië” was handed over to the national 

Indonesian Republic. 

 

 
 

 

The registrations of male European inhabitants of Padang in 1828 and 1899 show 66 and 250 entries 

respectively. The families Alexander, Aronds and Londt appear in both registrations. These three 

families were living in Padang –within a rather small European community- for more than 75 years in a 

row as this study will demonstrate. They were settlers rather than expats since –in this period- they did 

not return to their home countries for leave. 

 

The early male settlers often married native women as illustrated repeatedly this study  

The families originated from different nationalities as demonstrated under the respective families. 

 

 

Acknowledgement 
Two internet sites provide a lot of relevant data: 

 

1. Roosje Roos supplies a database of the Burgerlijke Stand (BS) (Civil Registration) of 

Nederlands-Indië regarding marriages and deaths; this database is mainly based on the 

Regerings Almanak mentioned further below; 

2. Richard Davies maintains a site with a huge amount of data regarding European inhabitants on 

Sumatra’s Westkust.  
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The microfilms of the LDS provide a key element for any genealogical investigation in Nederlands-

Indië. They have preserved original data that was and probably still is gradually deteriorating in quality. 

The main content is the BS. I like to express my special thanks for the hospitality of the Church of Jesus 

Christ of the Latter Day Saints in Breda, where I spent many hours in the Family History Centre with 

the fantastic assistance of mr. Ruud Koorevaar. 

 

Copies of the Regerings-Almanak (RA), as originally issued by the Nederlandsch Department of 

Koloniën, are provided by Centraal Bureau voor Genealogie on a CD-ROM. This CD is essential for a 

serious genealogical study in Nederlands-Indië. 

 

Sources and Challenges 
The Burgerlijke Stand registration of Padang is available as from 1828/1829 on LDS microfilm and as 

published in the Regerings-Almanak van Nederlands-Indië (RA). As from around 1870 some Notarial 

deeds and Court Registrations become available. 

 

With respect to Padang BS I used the following LDS film numbers: 

 

Nr. Description From - to 

1474 369 kelahiran / birth 1829 - 1908 

1474 370 kelahiran / birth 1909 - 1945 

1474 370 perkawinan / marriage 1830 - 1910 

1474 371 perkawinan / marriage 1911 - 1945 

1474 371 kematian / death 1829 - 1877 

1474 372 kematian / death 1878 - 1945 

 

The printed registrations in the RA only provide the name of the person that was born, died or married 

without details regarding age, profession or relatives. 

A great help is the scanned newspapers of the Koninklijke Bibliotheek (the Netherlands) available 

through Delpher. Announcements of public officers appointments and changes are published and birth, 

marriage and decease events are often published as well. This is especially helpful for the period after 

1921 when the RA did not publish the BS anymore. 

 

The handwritten registrations on microfilm include such details but part of this information is 

unfortunately hardly or not at all readable due to disintegrated paper quality and/or ink corrosion. This 

gives the printed RA registration important added value: it is reasonably searchable although one cannot 

always rely on word recognition due to poor print quality. With help of the as-found –potential relevant- 

printed entry from the RA a dedicated attempt can be made to find the written entry on microfilm. It 

was noted that not all entries in writing appear also in the –printed- Regerings-Almanak. In general it is 

difficult to make sure that no entries are missed. 
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Difficult 
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“Geboorte van Liontina Broers” is about the only thing that can be picked up from this sample 

 

A detailed registration in 1823 of all male European inhabitants, stating age and profession, is a valuable 

benchmark. (NA, toegangsnummer 2.10.01, Ministerie van Kolonien, Inventaris nr. 3128 – 3146, for 

surnames A – Z), wherein Padang inhabitants are included. 

 

Furthermore as from 1828 a yearly list of names of male inhabitants was registered within the RA as 

well as local governmental positions with names. 

 

The registration in the ‘Naamlijst’ (RA, Naamlijst der Europesche inwoners van Nederlandsch-Indië) 

needs to be treated with some care: 

- Not all persons are registered, due to 

▪ Persons or communities did not report or make mistakes; 

▪ Errors and omissions during transfer of data; 

- Printing –read: letterzetter- errors; 

For example in the registration of Sumatra’s Westkust (Padang) the listing states: 

 
1871 1872 1873 

  Lier, Eduard van 

Lier, Frans van Lier, Frans van  

Lie, James.   

Linden, Willem Arent van der  Linden, Willem Arent van der 
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Linden, Maria Elizbeth weduwe   

Logeman, Fredrik Wilhelm  Logemann, Frederik Wilhelm 

  Logemann, Jolian Bernard 

Logeman, Johan Henri Logemann, Johann Henri Logemann, Johann Henri 

Londt, Willem Cornelis Logemann, Willem Cornelis Londt, Willem Cornelis 

 Londt, Anthon Londt, Anthon 

 Londt, Jan Londt, Jan 

Londt, Robert Londt, Robert Londt, Robert 

Londt, William Londt, William Londt, William 

Loon, Hendrik Gustaaf van Loon, Hendrik Gustaaf van  

Loon. Louis Sander van Loon, Louis Sander van Loon, Louis Sander van 

 

I trust the reader will agree that Willem Cornelis Logemann mentioned in 1872 is a mistake and should 

read Willem Cornelis Londt. 

 

The Regerings-Almanak is delivered the Centraal Bureau voor Genealogie on a CD-ROM as follows: 

 

Description From- to  

Almanak 1815-1864 Includes Naamlijst and BS 

Burgerlijke Stand 1919-1923  

Naamlijst 1865-1902 Includes Naamlijst and BS 

Grondgebied en bevolking 1884-1942 Some years are missing 

Kalender en personalia 1883-1942 Some years are missing 

Nieuw adresboek 1901-1925 Sometimes includes BS 

Adresboek 1899 and 1926-1941 Some years are missing 

 

As mentioned above Padang came under Dutch authority as from 1824. I’m not aware of a relevant 

British registration. 

 

There is a registration list of European inhabitants in Padang of 1790. This list was published in a Padang 

newspaper in 1861 (available via Delpher). For convenience I copied this list in Annex I. 

 

 

Abbreviations, Translations and Definitions 
Adat(-recht) Customary law 

(as opposite to Dutch colonial law) 

Adjunct Assistant 

(Nieuwe) Adreslijst List of Names and Adresses; including 

profession and, if relevant, wifes’ maiden name; 

available as from 1899 (with some interruptions) 

aka also known as 

Ambtenaar Public Officer / Civil Servant 

Boomwachter Barrier Guard 

B.O.W. Burgerlijke Openbare Werken, Civil Works 

Brandspuitmeester Firefighter 

BS Burgerlijke Stand, Civil Registration 

Deurwaarder Bailiff 

Duitsland Germany 

Ensign Until 1871, when it was replaced by second 

lieutenant, ensign was the lowest rank of 

commissioned officer in infantry regiments of 

the British Army (except fusilier and rifle 

regiments, which always used second 
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lieutenant). It was the duty of officers of this 

rank to carry the colours of the regiment. 

Erkenning Recognition 

Ex. Vroeger geweest, former 

Goeng. Goenoeng 

IGV Indische Genealogische Vereniging 

Jr. Junior 

Kl. Klasse 

Klerk,schrijver,commies Clerk, scribe 

Koster Sexton, (in a protestant church) 

NA (Dutch) Nationaal Archief 

Naamlijst List of Names; part of the RA 

Nederlands-Indië Dutch East-Indies; now Indonesia 

N.I.S. Nederlands-Indische Spoorweg Maatschappij 

Njonja Misses (of Chinese origin), aka nyonya,  

(belasting-)ontvanger (tax)collector 

  

Opz. Opzichter 

POW Prisinor of War 

P.T.d. Post- en Telegraafdienst 

P.T.T. Post-, Telegraaf- en Telefoondienst 

Pantchiallang now known as Pencalang in Indonesia. en 

traditionele koopvaarder uit het westelijk deel 

van de Indische Archipel. Het scheepstype werd 

sinds het eind van de 17e eeuw gebouwd door 

Javaanse en Chinese scheepsbouwers in en om 

Rembang (Java). Ook de VOC liet dit 

scheepstype bouwen in Indië om een klein 

transportschip voor gebruik in Indische wateren 

te hebben. 

RA Regerings-Almanak 

Register of 1790 List of (European) Inhabitants in Padang in 

1790; please refer to Annex I 

Registration 1823 List of (European) Inhabitants in Dutch East 

Indies; including age and profession and 

hometown 

Sf. Suikerfabriek 

Soer. Soerabaja 

Sp. Spoor 

ss Stoomschip, steamship 

Staatsspoorwegen National railways 

Stt. Stoomtram 

  

VOC Verenigde Oost-Indische Compagnie, Dutch 

East Indies Company 

Vrouw Woman/wife 

Wl. Weltevreden 

Wn. Waarnemend, acting 

Ws. Waterstaat en ‘s Lands Burgerlijke Openbare 

Werken 

z.b. Zonder beroep; without profession 

zoutverkooppakhuismeester Wharehouse keeper for salt export 
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Many towns and villages had a ‘Dutch’ name but were also mentioned under the local name. Presently 

a new Indonesian name is used in many cases. An overview is provided in Annex II, limited to the 

relevant towns and villages in this study. 

 

Marriages 
When performing this study I regularly came across children that were born from a European father and 

native mother; Inlandsche-, Niassche-, Chinese-, Javaanse-, Batoe Eilanden- “vrouw” are mentioned. 

Sometimes the child was legitimated by marriage of their parents and sometimes the father 

“erkende”/recognized the child and promised to educate the child in Christian faith and the women 

thereupon would accept this before the ambtenaar of the BS. 

 

As far as author is aware, the European persons that settled in Padang were mainly male and obviously 

one can expect that this resulted in mixed formal mariages and informal relationships. 

The recognitions of children appear sometimes to happen in batches encouraged by law (?). 

Native women, after their marriage to a European man, were normally ‘renamed’ in European style, 

supposedly after being chistened.  

It appears that in many cases the native women, after marriage to a European man were included in the 

BS registration when they died. 

 

 

Historical Background 
 

In order to understand certain events described in this genealogical study and to place these in right 

context, I like to present some historical background. 

The sources are from internet: 

 

Dutch and British East India Company 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Dutch_East India_Company 

The Dutch East India Company (Dutch: Vereenigde Oostindische Compagnie, VOC, "United East India 

Company") was a chartered company established in 1602, when the States General of the Netherlands 

granted it a 21-year monopoly to carry out colonial activities in Asia. It is often considered to have been 

the first multinational corporation in the world and it was the first company to issue stock. It was a 

powerful company, possessing quasi-governmental powers, including the ability to wage war, imprison 

and execute convicts, negotiate treaties, coin money, and establish colonies. 

Statistically, the VOC eclipsed all of its rivals in the Asia trade. Between 1602 and 1796 the VOC sent 

almost a million Europeans to work in the Asia trade on 4,785 ships, and netted for their efforts more 

than 2.5 million tons of Asian trade goods. By contrast, the rest of Europe combined sent only 882,412 

people from 1500 to 1795, and the fleet of the English (later British) East India Company, the VOC's 

nearest competitor, was a distant second to its total traffic with 2,690 ships and a mere one-fifth the 

tonnage of goods carried by the VOC. The VOC enjoyed huge profits from its spice monopoly through 

most of the 17th century. 

Having been set up in 1602, to profit from the Malukan spice trade, in 1619 the VOC established a 

capital in the port city of Jayakarta and changed the city name into Batavia (now Jakarta). Over the next 

two centuries the Company acquired additional ports as trading bases and safeguarded their interests by 

taking over surrounding territory. It remained an important trading concern and paid an 18% annual 

dividend for almost 200 years. 

Weighed down by corruption in the late 18th century, the Company went bankrupt and was formally 

dissolved in 1800, its possessions and the debt being taken over by the government of the Dutch Batavian 

Republic. The VOC's territories became the Dutch East Indies and were expanded over the course of 
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the 19th century to include the whole of the Indonesian archipelago, and in the 20th century would form 

the Republic of Indonesia. 

 

According to the Encyclopedia Britannica, 

The [East India] company met with opposition from the Dutch in the Dutch East Indies (now Indonesia) 

and the Portuguese. The Dutch virtually excluded company members from the East Indies after the 

Amboina Massacre in 1623 (an incident in which English, Japanese, and Portuguese traders were 

executed by Dutch authorities), but the company's defeat of the Portuguese in India (1612) won them 

trading concessions from the Mughal Empire. The company settled down to a trade in cotton and silk 

piece goods, indigo, and saltpetre, with spices from South India. It extended its activities to the Persian 

Gulf, Southeast Asia, and East Asia.  

Around the turn of the 18th century the Dutch East India Company had a short resurgence in power but 

in 1780 another war broke out with England and the company began to have serious financial troubles. 

During this time the company survived because of support from the Dutch government (Towards a New 

Age of Partnership). 

Despite its problems the charter of the Dutch East India Company was renewed by the Dutch 

government until the end of 1798. Later it was again renewed until December 31, 1800. At this time 

though the powers of the company were greatly reduced and the company began to let go of employees 

and dismantle headquarters. Gradually it also lost its colonies and eventually the Dutch East India 

Company disappeared 

 

During its heyday, the East India Company not only established trade through Asia and the Middle East 

but also effectively became of the ruler of territories vastly larger than the United Kingdrom itself. In 

addition, it also created, rather than conquered, colonies. Singapore, for example, was an island with 

very few Malay inhabitants in 1819 when Sir Stamford Raffles purchased it for the Company from their 

ruler, the Sultan of Johor, and created what eventually became one of the world's greatest trans-shipment 

ports. 

 

 

Fort Marlborough and Bencoolen 
Fort Marlborough (Indonesian Benteng Marlborough, also known as Malabero) is an English fort 

located in Bengkulu City, Sumatra. It was built between 1713-1719 by the East India Company under 

the leadership of Governor Joseph Collett as a defensive fort for the British Bencoolen. It was one of 

the strongest British fort in the eastern region, second only to Fort St. George in Madras, India. 

(Wikipedia). It remained British (with a small interruption when it was taken by the French in 1760) 

until it was passed over to the Dutch as part of the Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824. 

 

There were strong ties with Fort William (in Calcutta), amongst others confirmed by below: 

 

“A digest of the public general statutes” by Tyrwhitt and Tyndale, London 1822 (google books) states 

(under 42 Geo.3, c.29, 450 and 451) that Fort Marlbro’ was made subordinate to Fort William in 

November 1801. 

450 To authorize the E.I.C. to make their settlement at Fort Marlborough (Bencoolen), in the E.I.. a factory 

subordinate to the presidency of Fort William in Bengal, under the direction of the board of control, and to transfer 

the servants who shall be supernumerary at the reduction of the establishment to the presidency of Fort St. George 

451 The court of directors subject to the above control, may order that all or any of the Co.’s civil servants, subject 

to the settlement at Fort Marlborough at the time of such reduction, and having become supernumeries there, shall 

be transferred to the presidency at Fort St. George, with the rank they held at Fort Marlborough. Etc. 

453 but the civil servants not so transferred to Madras shall hold their offices in Fort Marlborough, in like manner 

as if had not been reduced. 
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Padang 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Padang 

Since the 16th century Padang has been a trade centre. During the 16th and 17th centuries pepper was 

cultivated and traded with India, Portugal, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands. In 1663 the city 

came under the authority of the Dutch. The Dutch built a trading post here in 1680. The city came under 

British authority twice, the first time from 1781 to 1784 during the Fourth Anglo-Dutch War, and again 

from 1795 to 1819 during the Napoleonic Wars. Afterwards the city was transferred back to the 

Netherlands. 

Up to approximately 1780 the most important trade product was gold, originating from the gold mines 

in the region. When the mines were exhausted, the emphasis turned to other products such as coffee, 

salts and textiles. 

In 1797 Padang was inundated by a tsunami with an estimated flow depth of 5–10 meters, following an 

earthquake, which occurred off the coast. The shaking caused considerable damage and the deaths of 

two people, while the tsunami resulted in several houses being washed away and several deaths at the 

village of Air Manis. The boats moored in the Arau river ended up on dry land, including a 200 ton 

sailing ship which was deposited about 1 kilometre upstream. In 1833 another tsunami inundated Padang 

with an estimated flow depth of 3–4 meters as a result of an earthquake, which occurred offshore 

Bengkulu. The shaking caused considerable damage in Padang. Again the associated tsunami scattered 

boats that were moored in the Arau river. 

 

Zoo was de toestand toen bericht kwam, dat de Nederlanden in handen der Franschen waren gevallen en de 

Stadhouder de kolonien gesteld had onder bescherming van de Britsche kroon; 30 november 1795 had de overgave 

der Comp. 's bezittingen plaats. De stad bleef door de Engelschen bezet tot 1819, toen zij aan Nederland werd 

teruggegeven; de zoogenaamd Europeesche bevolking bestond toen uit 150 zielen, en voorts waren er 6 a 7000 

Maleiers, 200 Chinezen, 1500 Niassers en 200 Bengaleezen. Padang, steeds als een buitenpost en als een lastpost 

beschouwd, was ook steeds als zodanig behandeld; wat zij kreeg was haar met karige hand toegemeten. In 1781 

bestond zij uit eene paar rijen Europeesche woningen, een fort, een kerk, een pasar met de woningen der inlandsche 

handelaars, een hospitaal en enige pakhuizen. Vlak achter de huizen en woningen begon de wildernis; in 1824 

wordt de plaats nog als onaanzienlijk en ongeregeld beschreven, met weinig goede huizen en slechte wegen; groote 

verbeteringen blijkt zij onder het Engelsch bestuur niet te hebben ondergaan. Het plaatselijk bestuur bleef, na de 

teruggave, voorloopig op denzelfden voet en werd door dezelfde ambtenaren waargenomen; de bezetting was 238 

man sterk. (Source Encyclopedie van Nederlandsch Oost-Indie, Padang 1795 via Davies website) 

 

Raffles 
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Stamford_Raffles 

Raffles arrived in Bencoolen (Bengkulu) on 19 March 1818. Despite the prestige connected with the 

title of Governor-General, Bencoolen was a colonial backwater whose only real export was pepper and 

only the murder of a previous Resident, Thomas Parr, gained it any attention back home in Britain. 

Raffles found the place wrecked, and set about reforms immediately, mostly similar to what he had done 

in Java – abolishing slavery and limiting cockfighting and such games. To replace the slaves, he used a 

contingent of convicts, already sent to him from India. It is at this point when he realized the importance 

of a British presence that both challenged the Dutch hegemony in the area and could remain consistently 

profitable, unlike Bencoolen or Batavia. However, the strategic importance of poorly maintained but 

well-positioned British possessions such as Penang or Bencoolen made it impossible for the British to 

abandon such unprofitable colonies in such proximity to the Dutch in Java. The competition in the area, 

between Raffles and the aggressive Dutch de jure Governor, Elout, certainly led at least in part to the 

later Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824. 

The Anglo-Dutch Convention of 1814 was not completely clear, especially on the issue of certain 

possessions such as Padang. The Convention of 1814 only returned Dutch territory that was held before 
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1803, which did not include Padang. Raffles asserted the British claim personally, leading a small 

expedition to the Sultanate of Minangkabau. 

The Anglo-Dutch Treaty of 1824 finally settled the score in the East Indies. The British gained 

dominance in the north, while the entirety of Sumatra became Dutch. The Malay Peninsula and the 

Indian subcontinent were both free of Dutch interference. 

 

World War II and Bersiap 
During World War II 1940-1945 Java and Sumatra were occupied by the Japanese. The war was 

followed by the Indonesian Revolution (1945-1949) resulting in an independent Republic of Indonesia. 

In this last period many inhabitants with European names were evacuated from and relocated to 

Australia and the Netherlands. Despite their European name they had strong Indonesian roots, not only 

by having lived in Indonesia for many generations but also because of marriages with native woman, as 

is illustrated in this Study. 

The emotional relationship of these relocated people with Indonesia is very well described in Annex III. 

 

 

References 
 

Roosje Roos http://www.roosjeroos.nl/ This site is a database (marriages and deaths) based on the 
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Koninklijke Bibliotheek (the Netherlands) via Delpher http://kranten.delpher.nl/nl/ This site provides 

the search engine for the –amongst others- collection of newspapers of the Koninklijke Bibliotheek; 
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http://www.vocsite.nl/ This site contains –amongst others- a lot of interesting information regarding 
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Worldwide coverage. 

 

Davie website http://sites.google.com/site/sumatraswestkust/davies/  

 

Wie Was Wie website https://www.wiewaswie.nl/ database containing a lot of Burgerlijke Stand data 
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Netherlands). The possibility to order scans of originals is a very good service. 
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The above are the main sites that I have used. There is more. 

In case I could not verify the original source but considered the information as –potentially- relevant 

for my Study, I choose ‘the internet’ as reference. With this often a Family ‘X’ site is meant, but one 

should be aware that such sites frequently contain “copy paste” information. 
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Annex I, Oudste Inwoners Padang, Register 1790 
Naamlijst en zielsbeschrijving van alle zodanige Christeninwoonderen alhier (= Padang) van 21 dec. 

1790 (ARA, VOC inv. nr. 3962); extract uit eene memorie van het Padangsch Opperhoofd C.H. van 

Eratts d.d. 31 December 1790 §337 tevens afgedrukt in het Padangsch Nieuws- en Advertentieblad d.d. 

26 jan. 1861 (Delpher) 

[I believe that the spelling of the names (see a.o. yellow highlight) and the number of ‘vrouwen’ shall 

be verified in the original VOC archive] 

 

  mannen vrouwen soons dogters 

de wed. Bronnekam 1 2 1 3 

id. id. Gabriel   1   2 

Jacob van Zeelen 1     1 

Jan Worrel 1       

weduwe Stolting   1   1 

Willem Gam 1 1   1 

Willem Ernst Gam 1 1   1 

weduwe Mertz   1 2 1 

weduwe Nolting   1 1 2 

weduwe Snijder   1     

weduwe Hartman   1   1 

Abraham van Moschil 1   2   

Jan van Staaten 1 1   1 

Pieter Jurriaans 1 1   1 

Leendert Pieter Lond 1   4 3 

Jones Alexander 1 1   1 

Josep Nicolaas 2       

de weduwe Pottrich   1   2 

Johannes Alexander 1 1   2 

Lodewijk Adriaan 1     2 

Jan Krijgsman 1 2 2 2 

de wed. Willem Krijgsman   2   1 

id. id. Krijgsman   1 3 2 

Fredrik Vogeling 1 1   2 

Wed. Manusama   1   1 

Gerardus Manusama 1 1   1 

Wed. Boudewijnsz   1   3 

Martijn Godlieb 1 1 1 1 
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Coenraad Lantreer 1 4 3 4 

wed. Oukes   1     

Carel van Moschel 1       

Francois Theuvenet 1 1 5 4 

Wed. de Buijser 1 2     

Paulus Steijn 1       

Dorothea Elizabeth   1 2   

Johannes Weijsheijer 1 1 1 2 

Wed. Carels   1   2 

id. de Bruijn   1 2 1 

id. Hen   1   1 

Paulus van der Maas 1       

Jan Wijnand Eringh 1 1   1 

de wed. Jacobsen     1 3 

Frans van Dalen 1 1 4 1 

Johannes Steenbag 1 1 1 3 

David Alexander 1 1   5 

Andries Carels 1     2 

wed. Bolman   1     

Cornelis Godlied 1 1 1   

Jan Rijswijk 1 1 1 2 

Willem van Lier 1 
 

    

wed. Lesnou   1 1   

          

somma 33 44 38 69 

check 33 46[!] 38 69 

 

Wij plaatsten volgaarne bovenstaand, ons door een geachte hand toegezonden stuk, in de 

veronderstelling dat het aan velen niet onverschillig zoude zijn, die namen te kennen, (Redactie.) 
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Annex II, Names of Relevant Towns and Villages 
 

name aka now remark 

Batavia  Jacarta  

Buitenzorg  Bogor 54km South from 

Jacarta city centre 

Deli  Labuhan Deli,  adjacent to Medan, 

North Sumatra 

Fort van der Capellen Tanah Datar / 

Singkara 

Batusangkar  

L Kotta’s Paiakombo Pajacombo  

XIII en IX Kota’s Solok   

Batipoe en X Kota’s Padang Pandjang   

Kotta VII  Sawah Loento  

Laboean-Deli   Oostkust van 

Sumatra 

Blora, Toeban and 

Bodjonegoro 

  located in the 

Rembang district 

Natal Nattal and Natter  West Coast Sumatra 

Nias Goenoeng Sitoli   

Fort de Kock Agam Bukittinggi  

    

Painan   West Coast Sumatra 

Padang Sidempoean, 

Klein Mandheling, Si-

Pirok, Siboga, Singkel, 

Silindoeng, Toba, 

Nias,  

  Located in Tapanoeli 

area 

Padang, Kajoetanam, 

Loeboeg Begaloeng, 

Ajer Bangis, Priaman 

  Located in Padang 

area 

Agam, Padang 

Pandjang, Solok, 

Pajakombo, Tanah 

Datar 

  Located in 

Padangsche 

Bovenlanden area 
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Annex III, ‘Homeland’ 
 

Source: Internet search for Njonja Peters 

 

Between 1945 and 1949, around 300,000 Indies-born and Eurasian Dutch relocated from the 

Netherlands East Indies to the Netherlands as a result of the Japanese Occupation of Java and Sumatra 

and the Indonesian Revolution. Not only did the Indos (Eurasian Dutch) have to leave members of their 

Indonesian family behind. Numerous Indies-born Dutch also had to bid farewell to Indonesian and their 

relatives. For the vast majority of the refugees, the Netherlands was a mythical land rather than an actual 

place, since few had ever seen it. 

 

Some years after relocating – and mainly in response to the objectionable treatment they received on 

arrival in the Netherlands – around 30,000 left to go elsewhere. Approximately 20,000 made their way 

to the USA, while 10,000 chose Australia. But despite their double migration and the traumas that 

dictated their exile from it they retain an enduring attachment to their country of birth. Little, however, 

is known about the nature of their ongoing connection with Indonesia. 

 

In 2005, my colleague Dr Sue Summers and I travelled around Australia to collect information, photos 

and life stories for my research project, ‘Footsteps of the Dutch in Australia’. We found out that hundreds 

of Indisch Dutch Australians, both Indos and Indies-born Dutch, harboured bitter memories of the war, 

and felt they had nowhere to go with these experiences. Despite the hardships they had experienced, 

their connection to their country of birth as ‘homeland’ was mostly expressed in positive terms. 

 

Sense of place 

 

‘Sense of place’ is the emotional relationship between people and their homeland. Documentary maker 

John Hughes maintains that Australians think and talk a lot about ‘home’ because our personal heritage 

and sense of identity relate to a place and a history not really our own. This irony is especially relevant 

to Indisch Dutch Australians. Despite not always being indigenous to it, or only partly so, as previous 

inhabitants of the Indies (now Indonesia), they nonetheless express strong feelings of connection. For 

them, a sense of place has come to depend less on physical environment and more on the senses, 

memories and beliefs that sustain their familiarity with the distant homeland. 

 

The depth of this attachment is clearly articulated in the autobiography of Indo Dutch Australian 

Andreas Flach (founder of the Indies magazine, Bambu). Writing for his Dutch Eurasian Australian 

children, in the epilogue Flach records the brutal Japanese Occupation and the violence of the Bersiap 

period (which marked the start of the Indonesian Revolution) as the darkest episodes in his life. Not only 

because of the many intense and traumatic experiences he endured but more because a direct 

consequence was the loss of his beloved country of birth and blood. Andreas has requested that on his 

death, his ashes be returned and scattered in his ‘motherland’. 

 

Nell van de Graaff, a Totok (Indies–born person of Dutch parents) and now Australian author, describes 

this enduring bond in her autobiography, We Survived: A Mother’s Story of Japanese Captivity. 

Concerned with her first visit back to Java, her birthplace, since leaving it 30 years earlier, it confirms 

that even her double displacement – first to the Netherlands and then Australia – had not erased this 

bond. Nell’s first strong memories came flooding back when the plane touched down at sunset after a 

heavy downpour of rain that left the tarmac glistening. As the warmth and humidity generated by the 
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rain enveloped her and the distinctive sounds and the smells of Indonesia rushed in, in a flash she realised 

how much she had missed all this. She felt emotional, close to tears. Over the next days Nell revelled in 

Chinese bread and freshly brewed coffee, and the distant calls of street vendors selling sate and other 

delicacies from their mobile stalls. ‘The sweetness of it all’, she remembers, ‘was almost too much to 

bear, how I loved this country, I felt I had come home … I sighed and felt blessed.’ 

 

Even ambivalent reflections by Indisch Dutch Australians attest to the continuing hold the Indies has on 

them as the source of their sense of place, of origin. As Willem explained, ‘I have been living in denial 

for a long time about my formative years in the Netherlands East Indies; however, I know it is part of 

me, my upbringing, and it just doesn’t disappear. I keep going back for more information and I 

understand the significance of the part it played and the shaping of the man. I am now proud to be a 

person with such a complex background.’ 

 

Frank expressed similar sentiments about his visit back to Indonesia in 2000, with his wife, to reconnect 

with his roots on the various islands where had lived and to see the camps where he had been interned. 

He described this reconnection as both a moving emotional experience and liberating. ‘In Indonesia I 

felt at home at once, surrounded by all the familiar sights, smells and the landscapes. Until today – and 

more so in the autumn of my life – I feel increasingly more bonded with things Indisch, especially people 

and Indisch organisations. I look for them and attend their events regularly and have made many friends 

at these activities.’ Indeed, sharing the bond is part of what keeps it alive. 

 

Sharing pasts 

 

Indos and Indies-born Dutch Australians validated this bond in the 1980s when they began for the first 

time to establish social clubs based on their attachment to the former Netherlands East Indies. Those we 

interviewed explained how at their first meeting with other people from the Indies they immediately felt 

at home. Everything was familiar – the accent, language, experiences and stories. It felt like they were 

related. They had the same background, had gone to the same schools, liked the same kind of food, told 

the same kind of jokes and listened to the same music. Most considered the first meeting a sort of 

homecoming. As one man pointed out, ‘You know what is so lovely about meeting another Indisch 

person? They know what I mean when I say pisang, babu or botol tjebok … We don’t have to explain 

our past to each other. We share our past. That is what makes it so special.’ Those who attend the club 

functions do so because they enjoy their shared heritage. 

 

The social gatherings in Australia of these ‘other Dutch’ (as Indo/Indies-born Dutch Australians often 

call themselves) centres on their collective memories of nostalgic imagining and the communicating of 

‘Tempo Doeloe’ – the good old times. In Western Australia the Bambu fellowship meets at a local 

suburban function centre. Here they gather to share experiences and their love of Indonesian food. Dutch 

from other clubs often also come to partake of the delicious ‘rijst tafel’ they serve and the friendship 

they find there. The fact that the members meet in a suburban function centre rather than the Neerlandia 

Dutch Clubhouse is a clear indicator of where Indisch Dutch feel at home and where they do not. 

Moreover, Bambu patrons are generally younger than Neerlandia Clubhouse regulars. They are closer 

in age to the migrants who came to Australia as children who we tend to call the second generation. 

 

Untold stories 

 

Indisch Dutch Australians are not only concerned with nostalgia. Their other serious concern is a 

platform on which to relate their untold wartime experiences. 

 

An important outcome from a letter about our project sent to Indisch Dutch Australians by ‘Stichting 

Het Gebaar’, the Dutch compensation agency for survivors of Japanese prisoner-of-war camps 1942-
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1945, was the feeling that their story had never been heard. An amazing one thousand sent us expressions 

of interest to be involved. Later, when we sent respondents an extended questionnaire, there was an 

astounding fifty percent return rate. It was not unusual to receive sixty page responses, additional life 

histories, a range of photographs and historic documents, and supplements to both stories and 

questionnaires. As one woman commented, ‘After receiving your request regarding my experiences 

during the war, it was as if the load was lifted from my shoulders. At last someone is interested in what 

that time was like. I’m 80 now, but those awful happenings are as clear in my mind as yesterday.’ 

 

A particularly fraught aspect of these Indisch Dutch wartime stories concerns Australia’s active 

indifference to their perilous predicament during the Bersiap months. Mary Briggs-Koning, who was 

among those evacuated from the NEI to join her father in Australia in 1945, recalls, ‘While people 

around the world celebrated the end of the war, we who had survived [Japanese concentration camps], 

were now at risk of being killed as we were thrust into a civil war – the Indonesian Nationalist 

Revolution. Consequently the banning of Dutch ships in Australian ports by the Australian wharf 

labourers, greatly diminished assistance to provide us (and all Indonesians) with much needed supplies 

of food, medicines and a means of leaving the country.’ 
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Alexander 

The Elder Generations Alexander 
 

The starting point is Samuel Frederik Alexander who died 21 May 1850 in Padang, 56 years old; i.e. 

born 1793/94 in Natal. His father was Samuel Alexander. 

According to tradition in the Plantema family “Alexander came to Padang with the troops of Raffles”. 

And according to tradition in the Aronds family “he was an English officer” and “they spoke English”. 

 

Let’s see what facts we have: 

Samuel Alexander’s death was registered on 13 November 1794 in Fort Marlborough, 25 years old; i.e. 

born in 1769. 

 
(British Library, N/7/1 Baptisms, Marriages and Burials for Fort Marlborough 1759 to 1825, Fort 

Marlbro 11th March 1795; A List of Deaths and Diseases from the 13th of November 1793 to the 11th 

March 1795) 

 

“Raffles” must be identical to Thomas Stamford Raffles who was well known and famous in the early 

18-hundreds in South East Asia. He was born on 6 July 1781 and he will not have supervised troops 

before 1794 at the age of 13 years.  

Samuel Frederik Alexander was born about 1794. In the “Memoir of the Life and Public Services of Sir 

Thomas Stamford Raffles” written by his widow Sophia (London 1830) (available from Google Books) 

we read that “in the beginning of the month of July (1818), Sir Stamford embarked [xx] Bencoolen to 

visit Padang,..”. Samuel Frederik is then 24 years old and one can imagine that he joined the troops of 

Raffles on his journey to Padang and stayed there. 

 

This above information and hypothesis supports an English background of the Alexander family. 

 

Samuel Alexander and the Chinese woman Njonja Tjoan are mentioned as parents of Samuel Frederik 

Alexander in his death record in 1850 and Natal as the place of birth. 

In the Bengal Calender of 1792 in the “General List of Civil / Military Servants on the Fort Marlborough 

Establishment including list of monthly writers” a Samuel Alexander, Native Infantry, ensign, 

Marlborough is registered as follows (via the Davies website) (I did/could not verify this): 

Alexander, Samuel Alexander, Ensign of Infantery, Date of Commission 20 August 1786; i.e. 17 years 

old. 

The ‘Alexander’, ensign, mentioned in a listing of officers of the Fort Marlborough on 11 September 

1787 is probably identical to our Samuel Alexander. (See also Annex III) 

 

List of Officers on the Bencoolen Establishment from the Return then before the Board [omission] 

Agreed that the Officers of the Fort Marlboro’ Establishment be ranged in a separate List for the 

present.(independent of that of Bengal) [omission] 

The respective Rank accruing to them from this Resolution. 

[omission] 

Ensigns  Chandler 

   Alexander 

Lt fireworker  Best  Artillery 

Signed for the Military Department Inspection on 11 September 1787. (LDS film nr. 1867 451 Bengal Army 

muster rolls and casualty returns) 

 

Bencoolen was a stronghold of the British and Natal was an associated Britsh trading post. In 1788 Natal 

was reinforced by the British (NA 1.04.02-8441, §168). 
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… dat de Engelsen te Nattal sterk besig zijn met zig fortificeren; [idem] Benkoelen. 

 

This coincides with the timeline of the Alexanders: Samuel Alexander was then 19 years old and may 

have been stationed in Natal where 6 years later Samuel Frederik was born. 

We can now summarize the events for Samuel Alexander as follows: 

 

- Born in 1769; 

- Joined the British army on 20 August 1786 as ensign, 17 years old; 

- Ensign, stationed in Fort Marlborough on 11 September 1787; 

- Birth of his son Samuel Frederik Alexander in 1794 in Natal (the mother is Njonja Tjoan); 

- Died on 13 November 1794 in Fort Marlborough, 25 years old; ensign. 

 

Samuel Frederik’s mother was a Chinese woman Njonja Tjoan. Njonja -or nyonya or nonah as used in 

the Fort Marlborough registrations- was used for women that were locally Chinese born (sometimes 

mentioned as Pernakans). It is remarkable that on 8 August 1827 a Njonja Tanjong dies in Padang; but 

unfortunately the original registration on the LDS microfilms is not available. I’m tempted to assume 

that she is identical to Samuel Frederik’s mother. Tanjong must be a Chinese name; in Pinying now is 

likely HUANG,黄, which comes from the second part: Jong. Most likely her ancestors come from Fujian 

province, Peoples Republic of China. (Thanks to William Liu Jun) 

 

Samuel (1769-1793) Alexander may be the son of either Samuel (1729->1778) Alexander or Samuel 

(1743->1776) Alexander, both in British military service. Please refer to Annex III for more details. If 

a birth registration around 1769 of our Samuel Alexander can be found in Fort William (Calcutta), we 

may have proof of his relationship. 

 

 

Descendants of Samuel Alexander (±1769-1794) 

Alexander - Generation I 

 

I Samuel Alexander, ensign of infantry is born in 1769 and died on 13 November 1794 at Fort 

Marlborough at the age of 25 years. 

Samuel had a wife Njonja Tjoan aka Njonja Sie Tanjong. She died on 08 August 1827 in Padang. 

Unfortunately this registration is not available not LDS microfilm. 

 

The child from this relationship: 

1 Samuel Frederik Alexander, born around 1794 in Natal, see II. 

 

Alexander - Generation II 

 

II Samuel Frederik Alexander was born in 1794 in Natal. 

He was innkeeper (1823), 1st clerk on residence office, assistant-collector import and export duties, 2nd 

clerk on the residence office, acting collector, living in Padang 

He died on 21 May 1850 in Padang, 56 years old. 

 

Nr.19 Heden den twee en twintigsten mei 1850 verschenen voor mij …. Lucas de Scheemaker, oud twee en veertig 

jaren, van beroep magazijnmeester van kleeding te Padang, living te Padang en Pieter Johannes Ungerer, oud xx 

dertig jaren, van beroep kommies Ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Baroes, thans met verlof te 

Padang, de eerste schoonzoon van den overledene, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den een en twintigsten mei 

1850 de klokke xx ure des namiddags te Padang is overleden Samuel Frederik Alexander, geboren te Natal, oud 

zes en vijftig jaren, van beroep tweede kommies op het Residentie kantoor te Padang, laatst gewoonde hebbende 
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te Padang, echtgenoot van Helena Cornelia Aronds, zoon van Samuel Alexander en de Chinesche vrouw Njonja 

Tjoan, beiden overleden 

No. 44. Hier rust S.F. Alexander, geb. Natal, overl. Padang 21 mei 1850, oud 56 jaar en H.C. Aronds, zijne 

echtgenoote, geb. Padang, overl. 11 juli 1866, oud 65 jaar. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, Padang) 

 

Samuel Frederik marries around 1819, 25 years old with Helena Cornelia Aronds (once mentioned as 

Helena Christina Aronds), 19 years old, daughter of Hartog Aronds and Christina Catharina Tegoea. 

Helena was born on 05 December 1800 in Padang. 

She died on 11 July 1866 in Padang, 65 years old. 

 

No.18 Heden den twaalfden julij 1866 verschenen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, in zijne betrekking van 

zoon tot de overledene, oud drie en veertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te 

Padang en Hendrik Lawa, oud vier en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van de Assistent Resident en 

Magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den elfden julij 1866 des voormiddags 

ten zeven ure te Padang is overleden Helena Cornelia Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud vijf en zestig jaren, zonder 

beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Samuel Frederik Alexander, dochter van Hartog Aronds 

en Christina Catharina Tegoea, beide overleden. 

 

The 13 children of Samuel Frederik Alexander and Helena Cornelia Aronds: 

 

1 Johanna Emilie Alexander, was born around 1819 in Padang. 

I did not find her death registration. 

Johanna Emilie married on 2 October 1847 in Padang, 28 years old with Lucas de Scheemaker, 

40 years old. 

Lucas de Scheeemaker was born around 1807 in Sint-Baafs-Vijve, West-Vlaanderen, Belgium. 

 

No. 6 Op heden zaterdag den tweeden october 1847 … gecompareerd de personen van Lucas de 

Scheemaker, oud veertig jaren, geboren te Saint Baafs-Vijve in de provincie West-Vlaanderen, van beroep 

magazijnmeester van kleeding te Padang, ongehuwd jongman, wonende te Padang en Johanna Emile 

Alexander, oud acht en twintig jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, ongehuwde jonge dochter, 

wonende te Padang 

 

Lucas De Scheemaker was storekeeper, living in Padang 

 
Magazijnmeester der militaire kleeding magazijnen L, de Scheemaker, te Padang. (1849) 

L. de Scheemaker lid kerkbestuur Padang 1858) 

Rooms-catholijke gemeente Batavia, kerk- en armenbestuur leden L. de Scheemaker (1864) 

Hulpfonds van den H. Vincentius a Paulo, te Batavia, bestuur, L. de Scheemaker (1864) 

 

Lucas De Scheemaker died shortly before 7 April 1866 in Weltevreden. 

 
Oproeping van Debiteuren en Crediteuren: door J. Matthijssen [his brother-in-law], te Padang, den boedel 

van wijlen den heer Lucas de Scheemaker, in leven directeur bij het groot-militair-hospitaal te Weltevreden 

(De Java bode d.d. 07-04-1866) 

 

Lucas de Scheemaker had a daughter, Helena Everdina from an earlier relationship with the 

Javanese woman Sarikam. And probably a son Leopold as well. 

 

No.15 Huwelijk van Johannes Hermanus Harinck en Helena Everdina de Scheemaker 

Heden den 8sten december 1855 verschenen voor mij … Johannes Hermanus Harinck, 30 jaren en Helena 

Everdina de Scheemaker, geboren te Weltevreden nabij Batavia, oud een en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonend te Padang, minderjarige, wettelijk erkende natuurlijke dochter van Lucas de Scheemaker, van 

beroep directeur van het groot militair hospitaal te Padang, wonende te Padang en de Javaansche vrouw 

Sarikam, overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest… Lucas de Scheemaker, oud 48 jaren, in de 

hoedanigheid van vader der bruid verleent zijn toestemming. 
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2 Eliza Maria Alexander, living in Padang was born in October 1821 in Padang. 

Eliza Maria is mentioned as 

Matthijssen, Wed. E —geb. Alexander - Batavia. Goenoeng Sahari. 3-44 (1899-1905) (Adresboek). 

She died on 5 August 1913 in Batavia (“echtgenote van ... Matthijssen”), 91 years old. 

Eliza Maria married on 15 August 1855 in Padang, 33 years old with Johannes Matthijssen, 33 

years old. 

 

Nr.xx Heden den vijftienden augustus 1855 verschenen voor mij …. Johannes Matthijssen, geboren te Elst, 

oud drie en dertig jaren, van beroep hoopmansklerk, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Hermanus 

Matthijssen, van beroep landbouwer en Johanna Rijnders, zonder beroep, beiden wonende te Elst in 

Gelderland, ongehuwd en Eliza Maria Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud drie en dertig jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Samuel Frederik Alexander, overleden en Helena 

Cornelia Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, ongehuwd, welke personen mij verzochten etc. De 

getuigen zijn Lucas de Scheemaker, in zijne betrekking van zwager der bruid, oud 48 jaren en James Truffet 

Alexander, in zijne betrekking van broeder der bruid, oud 32 jaren. 

 

Johannes Matthijssen was born on 9 March 1822 in Elst, the Netherlands, son of Hermanus 

Matijssen and Johanna Reijnders. (Family Search, LDS online microfilm records) 

He was a merchant’s clerk, living in Padang. He died on 25 May 1882 in Fort de Kock, 60 years 

old. 

 

3 James Truffet Alexander was born on 12 May 1823 in Natal (see III-A). 

 

4 Helena Herriet Alexander was born on 10 June 1825 in Padang. Declaration of her birth followed 

on 31 March 1830 in Padang. 

 

Nummer 11 Geboorte van Helena Herriet Alexander (1825-06-10) 

Op heden 31 maart 1830 is voor mij ondergetekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, eerste klerk op het residentiekantoor, alhier woonachtig, vergezeld van de personen van Daniel 

Pieter Aronds, tweede klerk op het residentiekantoor en William Ivatts, geëmployeerde bij de notaris ter 

dezer plaatse en beiden alhier woonachtig, zijnde de eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van de 

comparant als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op den tiende junij 

1825 van hem comparant en Helena Cornelia Aronds, zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de 

vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaard de voornaam te geven van Helena Herriet te geven. 

 

She died on 9 January 1911 in Ngawi at the age of 85 years. 

Helena Herriet married on 18 February 1847 in Padang, 21 years old with Pieter Johannes 

Werner, 29 years old. 

 

No.2 Op heden donderdag den 18 februarij 1847 de klokke vijf ure des namiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergetekende … gecompareerd de personen Pieter Johannes Werner, oud 29 jaren, geboren te Padang(?), 

van beroep kommies op het kantoor der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, ongehuwde jongman, 

wonende te Padang en Helena Herriet Alexander, oud 21 jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, 

ongehuwde jongedochter, wonende te Padang. Etc [huwelijksgetuigen niet leesbaar] 

 

Pieter Johannes Werner was born on 3 June 1817 in Rotterdam, son of Carel Frederik Werner and 

Catharina Laberdina de Coster. (Rotterdam.digitalestamboom.nl) 

Pieter Johannes Werner, living in Tapanoeli, died on 10 October 1875 in Soerabaija. 

 

5 Cornelia Jane Alexander was born on 23 March 1827 in Padang; declaration of her birth followed 

on 30 March 1830. 

 

Nummer 12. Geboorte van Cornelia Jane Alexander (1827-03-23) 
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Op heden 31 maart 1830 is voor mij ondergetekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, eerste klerk op het residentiekantoor, alhier woonachtig, vergezeld van Daniel Pieter Aronds, 

tweede klerk op het residentiekantoor en William Ivatts, geëmployeerde bij de notaris ter dezer plaatse en 

beiden alhier woonachtig, de eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van de comparant als getuigen, in 

wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op den drie en twintigsten maart 1827 van 

hem comparant en Helena Cornelis Aronds, zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke 

kunne, aan hetwelk de comparant verklaard de voornaam te geven van Cornelia Jane te geven. 

 

She died on 27 June 1901 in Padang at the age of 74 years. 

 

No.17 overlijden Cornelia Jane Alexander (1901-06-27) 

Heden den 28 juni 1901 verschenen voor mij … Charles Adriaan van Ophuijsen, zoon van de overledene, 

oud 46 jaren, van beroep inspecteur van het Inlandsch onderwijs en Johan Willem Maurer, oud 57 jaren, 

van beroep commies op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beide wonende te Padang, 

die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 27 juni 1901 des middags ten twaalf ure, te Padang is overleden 

Cornelia Jane Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 74 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te 

Padang, weduwe van Joannes Adriaan Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen, dochter van Samuel Frederik Alexander 

en Helena Cornelia Aronds, beiden overleden. Etc. 

No.40. C.J. Ophuijsen-Alexander, geb. Padang 23 maart 1827, overl. 27 juni 1901. (IGV, CD-ROM, 

Grafschriften Padang) 

 

Cornelia Jane married on 14 September 1850 in Padang, 23 years old with the 30 year old 

Johannes Adrianus Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen. 

 

No.12 Huwelijk Joannes Adrianus Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen en Cornelia Jane Alexander (1850-11-14) 

Heden den veertienden november 1850 verschenen voor mij ondergeteekende … Joannes Adrianus 

Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen, oud dertig jaren, van beroep controleur der eerste klasse belast met het civiel 

gezag in de negen en dertien Kotta’s, wonende te Solok, thans tijdelijk te Padang aanwezig, meerderjarige 

zoon van Joannes Henricus van Ophuijsen en Eva Perpetua Joanna Caspers, beiden overleden en Cornelia 

Jane Alexander, oud drie en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van 

Samuel Frederik Alexander, overleden en van Helena Cornelia Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

welke personen mij verzochten tot de voltrekking .. De getuigen zijn Lucas de Scheemaker, oud 43 jaren, 

zwager der bruid en James Truffet Alexander, oud 27 jaren, broeder der bruid. 

 

Johannes Adrianus Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen was born on 20 March 1820 in Anholt, Drente, The 

Netherlands, son of Johannes Henricus van Ophuijsen and Eva Perpetua Caspers. 

Johannes Adrianus Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen had earlier relationships with (1) Nangamin and (2) 

Intji Samiah (internet, www.genealogieonline.nl/en/stamboom-boerstra) 

He was inspector 1st class and living in Benkoelen, Padangse Bovenlanden and Solok. 

Johannes Adrianus Wilhelmus van Ophuijsen died on 21 December 1890 in Padang at the age of 

70 years. 

 

No. 39. J.A.W. van Ophuijsen, in leven O.I. hoofdambtenaar, geb. te Anholt 20 maart 1820, overl. 21 dec. 

1890. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften Padang) 

 

6 Anna Elizabeth Alexander was born on 11 December 1828 in Padang; declaration of birth 

followed on 30 March 1830 in Padang. 

 

Nummer 13. Op heden 31 maart 1830 is voor mij ondergetekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel 

Frederik Alexander, eerste klerk op het residentiekantoor, alhier woonachtig, vergezeld van Daniel Pieter 

Aronds, tweede klerk op het residentiekantoor en William Ivatts, geëmployeerde bij de notaris ter dezer 

plaatse en beiden alhier woonachtig, zijnde de eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van de comparant 

als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op den elfde december 1828 

van hem comparant en Helena Cornelia Aronds, zijn wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de 

vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaard de voornaam te geven van Anna Elizabeth te geven. 
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She died on 23 August 1862 in Banka. 

Anna Elizabeth married on 16 July 1856 in Banka, 27 years old with Eugenius Joannes 

Vermandel. 

He is mentioned in 1848 in Japara, afdeeling Pattie (RA, page 271) and furthermore: 

 

Banka en Onderhoorigheden, Personeel ter Hoofdplaats (RA 1859, page 117) 

E. J. Vermandel. algemeen- en zoutverkoop-pakhuismeester. tevens administrateur der houtstapelplaats. 

P. J. Werner. kommies ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten tevens havenmeester. 

[Please note that P.J. Werner was married with Helena Herriet Alexander, Anna Elizabeth’s sister.] 

 

Eugenius Johannes Vermandel died on 05 July 1889 in Soerabaija. 

 

7 Cornelia Maria Alexander was born on 14 February 1831 in Padang. 

 

Nummer zes Op heden den vijftiende februarij des jaars 1831 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags is voor 

mij ondergeteekende …. Gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander, klerk op het 

Residentie kantoor alhier woonachtig, vergezeld van de personen van Alexander Krijgsman en William 

Ivatts, beide klerken op het Residentie kantoor alhier, goede bekenden van den comparant als getuigen, in 

wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant verklaarde dat op gisteren den veertiende februarij de klokke drie ure 

des na de middags van hem comparant en Helena Cornelia Aronds zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een 

kind van de vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornaam van Cornelia Maria te 

geven. Aldus etc. 
 

She died on 6 March 1836 in Padang, 5 years old. 

 

Nummer vier Sterfgeval van Cornelia Maria Alexander 

Op heden maandag den zevenden maart des jaars 1836 de klokke xxxx xxx mij ondergeteekende ….. 

gecompareerd de personen van Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud twee en dertig jaren, kommies op het 

Residentie kantoor te Padang en James Saint Pourçain, oud een en twintig jaren, klerk op het Residentie 

kantoor te Padang. De welke ieder in zijne betrekking, als, de eerste in die van vader en de tweede in die 

van goede bekende tot den overledenen, verklaarden dat op zondag den zesden dezer des na de middags de 

klokke vier ure ten huize van den eersten comparant is overleden Cornelia Maria Alexander, oud vijf jaren 

en een en twintig dagen, geboortig van Padang, dochter van Samuel Frederik Alexander en Helena Cornelia 

Aronds, echtelieden, wonende te Padang. Aldus etc. 

 

8 Samuel Karbij Alexander, living in Padang was born on 3 June 1832. 

 

Nummer twaalf Op heden den vierden juni des jaars 1832 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags is voor mij 

ondergeteekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander, klerk op het Residentie 

kantoor alhier woonachtig, vergezeld van de personen van Daniel Pieter Aronds en William Ivatts, klerken 

op het Residentie kantoor, beide alhier woonachtig, de eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van de 

declarant als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op den derden juni 

des jaars 1832 de klokke half zes ure des voormiddags van hem declarant en Helena Christina Aronds, zijne 

wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne aan hetwelk den declarant verklaard den 

voornaam van Samuel Karbij te geven 

 

Samuel Karbij died on 14 November 1859 in Padang, 27 years old. 

 

Nr.44 Heden den 15 november 1859 verschenen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, in zijne betrekking 

van broeder tot den overledene, oud 36 jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende 

te Padang en Pieter Johannes Werner, oud 44 jaren, van beroep algemeen pakhuisxxx te Padang, wonende 

te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den veertienden november 1859 des avonds te tien ure te Padang 

is overleden Samuel Karbij Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 27 jaren, van beroep klerk bij de 

comptabiliteit te Padang, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, overleden en Helena Cornelia Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 
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9 Cornelia Helena Alexander was born on 11 April 1835 in Padang. 

 

Nummer zeven Op heden maandag den dertienden april des jaars 1835 des morgens om elf ure is voor mij 

ondergeteekende … gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander, adjunct ontvanger der 

inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang vergezeld van de personen van Frans van Daalen en James Saint 

Pourçain, beide klerken op het Residentie kantoor als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij 

heeft verklaard dat op gepasseerde zaterdag den elfden dezer des middernachts om twaalf ure van hem 

declarant en zijne wettige huisvrouw Helena Cornelia Aronds geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne 

aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornaam of voornamen van Cornelia Helena te willen geven. 

 

She died on 14 March 1878 in Fort de Kock, 42 years old (RA 1879/330) 

Cornelia Helena married on 01 August 1870 in Padang, 35 years old with Willem Saulus, 41 years 

old. 

 

Nr.6 Heden den eersten augustus 1870 verschenen voor mij …. Willem Saulus, geboren te Padang, oud een 

en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk op Residentie kantoor te Fort de Kock, wonende te Fort de Kock, thans 

met verlof te Padang aanwezig, meerderjarige zoon van Johannes Frans Saulus en Catharina Cristina 

Aronds, beiden overleden, zijnde gehuwd geweest met Christina Wilhelmina Ivatts, overleden en Cornelia 

Helena Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud vijf en dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

meerderjarige dochter van Samuel Frederik Alexander en Helena Cornelia Aronds, beiden overleden, zijnde 

vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Welke personen etc. De getuigen zijn John Frederik Alexander, broeder der 

bruid en neef des bruidegoms, oud 26 jaren, zonder beroep, en Gerrit Riekerk, oud 27 jaren. 

 

Willem Saulus was earlier married on 9 May 1863 in Padang with (1) Josephina Wilhelmina 

Ivatts. 

 

Nr.1 Heden den negenden mei 1863 verschenen voor mij … Willem Saulus, geboren te Padang, oud vier 

en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk op het Residentie bureau te Fort de Klerk en wonende te Fort de Klerk, 

thans met verlof te Padang, xxx, meerderjarige zoon van Johannes Frans Saulus, overleden, en Catharina 

Christina Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, en Josephina 

Wilhelmina Ivatts, geboren te Painan zuidelijke afdeling van Padang, oud achttien jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van William Ivatts, van beroep gepensioneerd ambtenaar, 

wonende te Padang en van Christina Wilhelmina Krijgsman, overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd 

geweest. Welke personen mij verzochten etc. De getuigen zijn Moritz Herstein, oud 39 jaren [geen foto van 

de rest] 

 

Christina Wilhelmina and Josephina Wilhelmina must be identical: 

1845 Josephina, her birth; 

1863 Josephina, her wedding; 

1869 Christina, her death; 

1870 Christina, 1 year after her death 

 

Josephina Wilhelmina Ivatts was born on 8 mei 1845 in Painan/Padang. Christina Wilhelmina 

Ivatts died on 17 August 1869 in Padangsche Bovenlanden. 

 

Willem Saulus was born on 10 April 1829 in Padang, son of Johannes Frans Saulus and Catharina 

Cristina Aronds. 

He was clerk at the residence office, living in Fort de Klerk and Fort de Kock 

He died on 08 April 1878 in Fort de Kock, 48 years old. 

 

10 Maria Helena Alexander was born on 11 December 1837 in Padang. 

Nummer twee en twintig Op heden dinsdag den twaalfden december … is gecompareerd de persoon van 

Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud vier en veertig jaren, kommies op het Residentie Kantoor, woonachtig te 

Padang vergezeld van de persoonen van James Saint Pourçain, oud drie en twintig jaren en Frans van 

Daalen, oud vijf en twintig jaren, beiden klerken op het Residentie Kantoor, woonachtig te Padang, goede 
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bekenden van den comparant als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat 

op den elfden december dezen jaars de klokke elf ure des avonds van hem declarant en Helena Cornelia 

Aronds zijn wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne hetwelk de comparant 

verklaarde de voornamen van Maria Helena te geven. 

 

She died on 20 January 1871 in Lahat, 33 years old (Java-bode d.d. 04-03-1871 via Delpher). 

Maria Helena, 24 years old married on 8 February 1862 in Padang, 24 years old with Eduard Leon 

Guillaume Joseph Verdooren, 27 years old. 

 

Nr.1 Heden den achtsten februarij 1862 verschenen voor mij … Eduard Leon Guillaume Joseph Verdooren, 

[in marge] geboren te Vlissingen, oud zeven en twintig jaren, van beroep eerste korporaal der infanterie, 

wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Gerrit Christoffel Verdooren, overleden en van Mathilda 

Isabelle van Zuijlen van Nijenvelt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, 

en Maria Helena Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud vier en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Samuel Frederik Alexander, overleden en van Helena Cornelia ronds, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Welke personen etc. Voorts is 

voor mij verschenen Helena Cornelia Aronds, oud 61 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die in 

hoedanigheid van moeder der bruid hare toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk heeft verleend. De 

getuigen zijn James Truffet Alexander, in betrekking van broeder tot de bruid, oud 38 jaren en Johannes 

Matthijssen in betrekking van zwager tot de bruid, oud ruim 39 jaren. 

 

Eduard Leon Guillaume Joseph Verdooren was born on 11 August 1834 in Vlissingen, the 

Netherlands, son of Gerrit Christoffel Verdooren and Mathilde Isabelle Judoca van Zuylen van 

Nyeveld. (wiewaswie and zeeuwen gezocht site) 

He was 1st corporal, living in Padang. 

They had 6 children. 

 

Eduard Leon Guillaume Joseph Verdooren married (2) on 30 January 1873 in Amsterdam, The 

Netherlands with Hendrika Carolina IJske (born about 1853). Divorced on 21 September 1898 in 

Amsterdam. 

He married (3) on 25 February 1904 in Amsterdam, 69 years old with Hendrika Elisabeth Sophia 

Keijser, 51 years old. 

He died on 17 February 1906 in Amsterdam, 71 years old. (Het nieuws van de dag d.d.26-02-

1906) 

 

 

11 Annette Carolina Alexander aka Annetta Carolina Alexander was born on 28 January 1841 in 

Padang. 

 

Nummer drie Op heden vrijdag den negen en twintigsten januarij des jaars 1841 de klokke vier ure des 

namiddags zijn voor mij ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander, 

oud zeven en veertig jaren van beroep kommies op het bureau van den Assistent Resident van Padang, 

wonende te Padang, vergezeld van de personen van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud zeven en dertig jaren, van 

beroep derde kommies bij het departement der inkomende en uitgaande regten alhier en William Saint 

Pourçain, oud twee en twintig jaren van beroep klerk op bureau van den Assistent Resident van Padang, 

beide almede te Padang woonachtig, de eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van de comparant xx 

als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op gisteren donderdag den acht 

en twintigsten januarij dezes jaars 1841 de klokke negen uren des voormiddags van hem declarant en 

Helena Cornelia Aronds, oud veertig jaren, zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke 

kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van Annetta Carolina te willen geven. Aldus 

etc. 

 

She died on 9 August 1914 in Wageningen, The Netherlands, 73 years old. 

Annette Carolina, 19 years old married on 15 September 1860 in Padang with 29 year old Eduard 

David Christiaan Middelaer, 1st lieutenant, living in Padang. 
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Nr.9 Heden den vijftienden september 1860 verschenen voor mij … Eduard David Christiaan Middelaer, 

oud ruim negen en twintig jaren, van beroep eerste luitenant xxx bij den militair kommandant der 

Padangsche Benedenlanden, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Jan Jacob, van beroepxx aan 

xxxxken, wonende te Ginneken en Adriana de Poorter, overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en 

Annetta Carolina Alexander, oud negentien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter 

van Samuel Frederik Alexander, overleden en Helena Cornelia Aronds, zonder beroep, wonend te Padang, 

zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Welke personen etc. Voorts is voor mij verschenen Helena Cornelia 

Aronds, oud 60 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die in hoedanigheid van ouder der bruid hare 

toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk heeft verleend. De getuigen zijn Pieter Johannes Werner, oud 

43 jaren, in zijne betrekking van zwager tot de bruid en James Truffet Alexander, oud 36 jaren, van beroep 

zoutverkooppakhuismeester, wonende te Padang, in zijne betrekking van broeder tot de bruid. 

 

Eduard David Christiaan Middelaer was born on 26 October 1830 in Ginneken and Bavel; son of 

Jan Jacob Middelaer and Adriana de Poorter. (www.wiewaswie.nl). Eduart David Christiaan 

Middelaer died on 2 June 1912 in Nijmegen, the Netherlands, 81 years old. 

 

No.329 in het jaar 1912 den 4den juni zijn voor ons … verschenen ..etc.. die ons hebben verklaard dat den 

2den juni 1912 des namiddags om 8 uur, binnen deze gemeente te Nijmegen is overleden Eduart David 

Christiaan Middelaer, zonder beroep, oud 81 jaar, geboren te Ginneken, wonende te Nijmegen, echtgenoot 

van Annetta Carolina Alexander, zoon van Joan Jacob Middelaer en van Adriana de poorter, beiden 

overleden. Etc. (via Wiewaswie en www.geldersarchief.nl) 

 

Tweede luitenant 17 February 1854 (1856), Eerste luitenant 24 April 1858 (1859), Adjudant, 1e 

luit. E.D.C. Middelaer (1863) (Sumatra’s Westkust en Onderhoorigheden) 

 

The above Eduard David Christiaan should not be mixed up with another –younger- E.D.Ch. 

Middelaer who was married to M.C.Ch. Schumacher; mentioned in Padang (1899-1905). I’m not 

even sure if the younger E.D.Ch. is a son of the older. More likely he is his nephew. 

 

12 Frederik Samuel Alexander is born on 20 April 1842 in Padang. 

 

Nummer vijftien Op heden donderdag den een en twintigsten april des jaars 1842 de klokke tien ure des 

voormiddags is voor mij ondergeteekende … gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander, 

oud acht en veertig jaren, van beroep xxx der ontvangst der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang en 

[in marge correctie: ook aanwezig Daniel Pieter Aronds] en William Pourçain, oud drie en twintig jaren, 

van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent Resident van Padang en beide wonende te Padang, de 

eerste zwager en de tweede goede bekende van den comparant als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de 

comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op gisteren woensdag den twintigsten april dezes jaars 1842 de klokke 

twee ure des namiddags van hem declarant en Helena Cornelia Aronds, oud twee en veertig jaren, zijne 

wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de 

voornamen van Frederik Samuel te willen geven. Aldus etc. 

 

He died on 15 June 1842 in Padang, almost 2 months old. 

 

13 Johan Frederik Alexander is born on 6 May 1843 in Padang; See III-B. 
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Alexander - Generation III 

 

III-A James Truffet Alexander, son of Samuel Frederik Alexander (II) and Helena Cornelia Aronds, 

clerk at the home office in Padang and supervisor of the salt store, living in Padang, was born on 12 

May 1823 in Natal. He died on 2 November 1882 in Padang, 59 years old. 

 

No.47 Heden den 3 november 1882 verschenen voor mij … Eugene Victor de Scheemaker, neef van den 

overledene, oud 28 jaren, van beroep griffier bij de landraden te Padang en Priaman en Emile de Torbal, oud 25 

jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang, 

die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 2 november 1882 des voormiddags ten zeven en een half ure te Padang is 

overleden James Truffet Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 59 jaren, van beroep gepensioneerd 

zoutverkooppakhuismeester, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Helena Adriana Aronds, zoon 

van Samuel Frederik Alexander ene Helena Cornelia Aronds, beiden overleden. Etc. 

No. 46. J.T. Alexander, geb. 12 mei 1823, overl. 2 nov. 1882. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, Padang) 

 

James Truffet married on 6 August 1853 in Padang, 30 years old with Helena Adriana Aronds, 24 years 

old. 

 

No.20 Heden den zesden augustus 1853 verschenen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, geboren te Padang, 

oud ruim dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den assistent resident van Padang, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige 

zoon van Samuel Frederik Alexander en van Helena Cornelia Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en 

Helena Adriana Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud ruim vier en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

meerderjarige dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds, overleden en van Adriana Petronella Londt, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, welke personen mij verzochten tot de voltrekking van hun voorgenomen huwelijk over te 

gaan, etc. 

Gedaan in tegenwoordigheid van Lucas de Scheemaker, in zijne betrekking van zwager van den bruidegom, oud 

zes en veertig jaren, van beroep magazijnmeester van kleding, wonende te Padang en William Richardson Davies, 

in zijne betrekking van halven broeder der bruid, oud vier en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij de algemeene 

ontvanger te Padang, wonende te Padang 

 

Helena Adriana was born on 11 June 1829 in Padang, daughter of Willem Frederik Aronds and Adriana 

Petronella Londt. See transcription in Part III Aronds Family. 

 

She died on 26 December 1897 in Padang, 68 years old. See transcription under Aronds family. 

 

James Truffet en Helena Adriana had 12 children: 

 

1 Olivia Clementine Alexander is born on 14 June 1854 in Padang [and not on 11 June as stated in 

RA-BS]. 

 

Nr.? Heden den vijftienden juni 1854 verscheen voor mij ….. James Truffet Alexander, oud een en dertig 

jaren, van beroep zoutpakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang 

op den veertienden juni 1853 des nachts te half twaalf ure is geboren een kind uit Helena Adriana Aronds, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot aan hetwelk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van 

Olivia Clementina. Deze aangifte is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van William Richardson Davies, oud 

vijf en dertig jaren en George Frederik Ungerer, oud negen en twintig jaren; de eerste van beroep klerk bij 

de algemeen ontvanger te Padang en de tweede van beroep klerk bij assistent resident te Padang, wonende 

te Padang. Van welke aangifte etc. 

 

She died on 14 August 1898 in Batavia, 44 years old. 

 

Batavia, Begraafplaats Tanahabang Weltevreden, ( Afdeeling 111) 

154. Rustplaats/van/Olivia Clementina/Simon-Alexander / geb. te Padang 14 Juni 1854 /, overl. 14 

Augustus 1898 / onze dierbare man en vader / Albert Simon / geb. te Cheribon 12 Mei 1884 / overl. te 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


34 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part II  

Version 1 April 2015 

Djocja 17 Maart 1921 / Rust zacht lieveling. [Albert Simon is probably the son the Olivia Clementina] 

(IGV, CDROM, Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

She married on ? [I could not find the registration] (1) with Willem Meijer. They divorced on 2 

September 1879 in Grissee. 

She married (2) on 29 June 1880 in Padang, 26 years old with Hendrik Simon. 

 

No.10 Heden den 29 Junij 1880 verschenen voor mij …. Hendrik Simon, geboren te Tagal, oud 41 jaren, 

van beroep kantoorchef der 1e klasse bij den Post- en Telegraafdienst, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige 

zoon van Johan Hendrik Simon en de Javaansche vrouw Katie, beiden overleden, vroeger gehuwd geweest 

met Christine Jeanette Louise Otté en Olivia Clementina Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 26 jaren, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van James Truffet Alexander, van beroep 

gepensioneerd zoutverkooppakhuismeester en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, beiden wondende 

te Padang, vroeger gehuwd geweest met Willem Meijer. Etc. ten 1ste … waaruit blijkt dat Hendrik Simon 

is geboren te Tagal op den 29 Junij 1839 en dat de ouders zijn Johan Hendrik Simon en de Javaansche 

vrouw Katie. Etc. ten 3de … waaruit blijkt dat Christina Jeanette Louisa Otte is overleden te Soerabaija op 

den 22 Maart 1877. Ten 4de … BS gehouden te Grissee, waaruit blijkt dat het tusschen Willem Meijer en 

Olivia Clementina Alexander bestaande huwelijk op den 2 September [doorgehaald; in marge niet te lezen] 

1879 is ontbonden. De getuigen zijn Willem Frederik Meijer, 46 jaar en Anton Schneider, 43 jaar. 

 

Hendrik Simon was born on 29 June 1839 in Tagal, son of Johan Hendrik Simon and the 

Javaansche vrouw Katie. 

 

2 Samuel Frederik Alexander was born on 20 October 1855. 

 

Nr.36 Heden den een en twintigsten october 1855 verscheen voor mij … James Truffet Alexander, oud 

twee en dertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den twintigsten october 1855 des voormiddags te half tien ure is geboren een 

kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne 

echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Samuel Frederik. De getuigen zijn William 

Richardson Davies, oud 37 jaren en George Frederik Ungerer, oud 30 jaren. 

 

He was clerk in Padang (1879-1890), in Siboga (as from 25 September 1891 until 13 February 

1892) and clerk in Priaman (as from 1892 until 1903) and 2nd lieutenant with the Schutterij in 

Padang (1884) (Bataviaasch handelsblad, 05-03-1884) 

He died on 16 October 1903 in Padang, almost 48 years old. 

 

Nr.25 Heden den 17 october 1903 verschenen voor mij …. Charles Gustave Broers, oud 50 jaren, van 

beroep commies en Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, aangehuwde neef van den overledenen, oud 32 

jaren, van beroep klerk, beiden op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te 

Padang, die mij hebben verklaard, dat op den 16 october 1903 des namiddags ten twaalf en drie kwart ure 

te Padang is overleden Samuel Frederik Alexander geboren te Padang, oud 48 jaren, van beroep commies 

op het bureau van den assistent resident van Priaman, laatst gewoond hebbende te Priaman, echtgenoot van 

Johanna Maria Maidman, zoon van James Truffet Alexander en Helena Adriana Aronds, beiden overleden. 

Etc. 

No. 45. Samuel Frederik Alexander, geb. 20 oct. 1855, overl. 16 oct. 1903. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, 

Padang) 

 

Samuel Frederik married on Monday 7 April 1879 in Padang, 23 years old with Johanna Maria 

Maidman, 29 years old. 

 

Nr.5 Huwelijk Samuel Frederik Alexander en Johanna Maria Maidman (1879-04-07) 

Etc.etc. Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud drie en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van James Truffet 

Alexander, van beroep gepensioneerd zoutverkooppakhuismeester en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder 
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beroep, beiden wonende te Padang en Johanna Maria Maidman, geboren te Padang, oud 29 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van John Terhoeff Maidman en Meriaan Francina 

Davies, beiden overleden. Welke personen mij verzochten.. Etc. de getuigen zijn Hendrik Albert von 

Kotzau, 43 jaar en Hendrik van der Valk, 33 jaar. 

 

Johanna Maria Maidman was born on 24 February 1850 in Padang, daughter of John Terhoeff 

Maidman en Meriaan Francina Davies. She died on 1 April 1937 in Padang, 87 years old. 

 

I did not find any children from this couple. 

 

3 Willem Frederik Alexander was born on 16 November 1856 in Padang. 

 

Nr.xx Heden den zeventienden november 1856 verscheen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, oud drie 

en dertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den zestienden november 1856 des morgens te drie ure is geboren een kind van 

de mannelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Willem Frederik. De getuigen zijn Jan Barend Sluiter van 

Staring, oud 45 jaren en George Frederik Ungerer, oud 31 jaren. 

 

He died on 12 February 1858, 1 year old. 

 

[eerste deel niet beschikbaar of LDS film] 1858 des voormiddags te half elf ure te Padang is overleden 

Willem Frederik Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud ruim een jaar, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende 

te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van voornoemde James Truffet Alexander en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

4 Mathilda Frederika Alexander was born on 5 February 1858 in Padang. 

 

Nr.4 Geboorte van Mathilda Frederika Alexander (1858-02-05) 

Heden den vijfden februarij 1858 verscheen voor mij … James Truffet Alexander, oud vier en dertig jaren, 

van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te 

Padang op den vijfden februarij 1858 des morgens te vijf ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne 

uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijn echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn gegeven 

de voornamen van Mathilda Frederika. De getuigen zijn William Richardson Davies, oud 40 jaren en 

George Frederik Ungerer, oud 32 jaren. 

 

She died on 1 November 1890 in Probolinggo, 32 years old. 

 

Probolinggo, Algemeene begraafplaats (CDROM IGV, Indische Bronnen) 

47) Hier rust / M. F. Plantema / Alexander / + 1 Nov. 1890. (379) 

 

Mathilda Frederika married on 13 October 1877 in Padang, 19 years old with Gerrit Plantema, 

27 years old. 

 

Nr.15 Heden den dertienden october achttien honderd zeven en zeventig verschenen voor mij …. Gerrit 

Plantema, geboren te Leeuwarden (provincie Friesland), oud zeven en twintig jaren, van beroep eerste 

hulponderwijzer aan de openbare eerste lagere school te Padang, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon 

van Gerrit Plantema en Antje Dijkstra, beide zonder beroep en wonende te Workum (provincie Friesland) 

en Mathilda Frederika Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud negentien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, minderjarige dochter van James Truffet Alexander, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester en 

Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, beide wonende te Padang. Elke personen etc.etc. actes ter hand 

gesteld etc.: extract uit het geboorteregister van den burgerlijken stand gehouden te Leeuwarden waaruit 

blijkt dat Gerrit Plantema is geboren te Leeuwarden op den derden februari achttien honderd vijftig en dat 

de ouders zijn Gerrit Plantema en Antje Dijkstra, dat Mathilda Frederika Alexander is geboren te Padang 

op den vijfden februari achttien honderd acht en vijftig en dat de ouders zijn James Truffet Alexander en 

Helena Adriana Aronds. Etc. Voorts zijn voor mij verschenen James Truffet Alexander van beroep 
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zoutverkooppakhuismeester en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, beiden wonende te Padang die in 

hoedanigheid van ouders der bruid hun toestemming etc.etc.  

 

Gerrit Plantema was born on 3 February 1850 in Leeuwarden, Friesland, The Netherlands; son of 

Gerrit Plantema and Antje Dijkstra; he was recognized when his parents married. He was teacher, 

freemason, public servant non-active, assistant teacher in Workum, Friesland, the Netherlands 

(1868), arrived in Batavia (1875), was appointed as assistant teacher in Soerakarta and in the same 

year placed in Padang (1875), teacher in Priaman (1881), member local school committee and 

secretary in Benkoelen (1884), teacher 1st class from Pati to Probolinggo (1890), on leave to the 

Netherlands together with his two eldest sons for their education in the Netherlands (October 

1891), teacher 1st class in Meester Cornelis (1899).  

Gerrit arrived in Batavia on 20 January 1875 by vessel from the Netherlands. Amongst his co-

passengers were J.A.W. van Ophuijsen, “echtgenoot en 1 kind”. J.A.W. van Ophuijsen married 

on 14 September 1850 in Padang with Cornelia Jane, Mathilda Frederika’s aunt. I guess that he 

was the reason for Gerrit to move to Padang. 

 

He died on 17 March 1900 in Meester Cornelis, 50 years old. 

 

Batavia, Begraafplaats Tanahabang Weltevreden, ( Afdeeling 111) (CDROM IGV, Indische Bronnen) 

495. Rustplaats / van / Gerrit Plantema / hoofdonderwijzer / geb. te Leeuwarden / 3 Februari 1850 / overl. 

te Mr. Cornelis / 17 Maart 1900. 

 

Gerrit later married (2) with her sister Jane Harriet Alexander (see III-A.5 hereunder). 

 

5 Jane Harriet Alexander was born on 6 August 1859 in Padang. 

 

Nr.10 Heden den zesden augustus 1859 verscheen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, oud zes en dertig 

jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te 

Padang op den zesden augustus 1859 na middernacht te twee ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke 

kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn 

gegeven de voornamen van Jane Harriet. De getuigen zijn George Frederik Ungerer, oud 33 jaren en 

Hendrik Carel Tessensohn, oud 25 jaren. 

 

She died on 15 September 1928 in Bandoeng, 69 years old. 

Jane Harriet married on 6 April 1894 in Padang, 34 years old with her sister’s widower Gerrit 

Plantema, 44 years old. see III-A.4. 

 

Nr.27 Heden den zesden april achttien honderd vier en negentig verschenen voor mij … Gerrit Plantema, 

geboren te Leeuwarden, Friesland, oud vier en veertig jaren, ambtenaar op non-activiteit, wonende te 

Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Gerrit Plantema, overleden en Antje Dijkstra, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Leeuwarden, vroeger gehuwd geweest met Mathilda Frederika Alexander, en Jane Harriet Alexander, 

geboren te Padang, oud vier en dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van 

James Truffet Alexander, overleden en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Welke 

personen mij verzochten tot de voltrekking van hun voorgenomen huwelijk over te gaan. Etc.etc.  

Gedaan in tegenwoordigheid van Pieter xxx, oud negen en veertig jaren, van beroep hoofdonderwijzer van 

de openbare tweede lagere school en Hendrik Lawa, oud een en vijftig jaren, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, 

beide wonende te Padang. Etc.etc. 

 

Gerrit was earlier married to Jane Harriet’s sister Mathilda Frederika Alexander (see III-A.4), 

deceased. 

 

6 Eduard Frederik Alexander was born on 13 November 1860 in Padang. 
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Nr.43 Heden den vijftienden november 1860 verscheen voor mij ….. James Truffet Alexander, oud zeven 

en dertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij verklaard 

dat te Padang op den dertienden november 1860 des namiddags te twee en een half ure is geboren een kind 

van de mannelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, 

aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Eduard Frederik. Deze aangifte is geschied in 

tegenwoordigheid van William Richardson Davies, oud een en veertig jaren en George Frederik Ungerer, 

oud vijf en dertig jaren; de eerste van beroep kommies bij ’s lands kas te Padang, wonende te Padang en de 

tweede van beroep postkommies te Padang, wonende te Padang. Van welke etc.etc. 

 

The E.G. Alexander mentioned below is probably our Eduard Frederik: 

 

Padang 21 Augustus 1875: Op 16, 17 en 20 dezer is alhier het klein ambtenaarsexamen afgenomen van 15 

personen, van welke 9 geslaagd zijn, als: …5. E. G. Alexander, leerling der 1ste school, voldoende; 

(Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad 21-08-1875) 

 

He died on 4 May 1880 in Padang, 19 years old. 

 

No.20 Heden den 5 mei 1880 verschenen voor mij … Albert de Haze Winkelman, oud 26 jaren, van beroep 

klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en Herman Frederik Matthijssen, neef 

van den overledene, oud 23 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den landraad te Padang, beiden wonende te Padang, 

die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 4 mei 1880 des namiddags ten drie ure te Padang is overleden Edward 

Frederik Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 19 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur 

van Sumatra’s Westkust, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van James Truffet 

Alexander van beroep gepensioneerd zoutverkooppakhuismeester en Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder 

beroep, beide wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

7 Helena Cornelia Alexander was born on 17 April 1862 in Padang. 

 

Nr.27 Heden den 17 april 1862 verscheen voor mij … James Truffet Alexander, oud 38 jaren, van beroep 

zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den 

17 april 1862 des morgens te vier ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana 

Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen 

Helena Cornelia. De getuigen zijn George Frederik Ungerer, oud 36 jaren en Carel Egeunius von 

Liebenstein, oud 30 jaren. 

 

She presumably lived together with her sister Frederika and her brother James Frederik in the 

same house in Padang. 

 

Mej. H.- zonder beroep – Padang, B(e)lantoeng. (1899-1910 

 

She died on 3 May 1942 in Padang, 80 years old. 

Her death registration in Bahasa Indonesia; translation in Dutch hereunder (thanks to Elsje 

Plantema for this): 

 

Heden, vier mei 1942, heb ik, Soeten Zamoeddin getiteld Soetan Sinar, plaatsvervangend ambtenaar van 

de burgerlijke stand te Padang (reeds=telah) ontvangen de kennisgeving met een brief over een sterfgeval 

die bij deze akte is ingesloten, luidende als volgt: 

Overlijdensbericht 

Het ziekenhuis concentratie te Padang [oftewel concentratiekamp-ziekenhuis] 

heden, 3 mei 1942, deelt ondergetekende Jagt Bouke, directie van het Concentratie-Ziekenhuis te Padang, 

mee – in de vorm van inschrijving in het register en de burgerlijke stand te Padang – dat op 3 mei 1942 om 

acht uur en dertig minuten ‘s ochtends (Japanse tijd) in bovenvermeld ziekenhuis is overleden Alexander, 

Helena Cornelia, geboren te Padang, oud tachtig jaar en zestien dagen, het laatst wonende te Padang 

(Hiligoo nr 4) 

Was getekend door B. Jagt. En na de kennisgeving ingeschreven in het register, en dus ondertekend door 

mij Kariman(?) 
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8 Josephine Elisabeth Alexander was born on 9 January 1864 in Padang. 

[I could not find her birth registration in LDS, because the 1st page was missing or was not filmed 

unfortunately] 

A Mej. J.E. Alexander is mentioned as passenger (from Batavia?) departing to Padang on 18 

August 1910. 

A mej. J.E. Alexander is mentioned as passenger on ss. Prins der Nederlanden departing from 

Batavia to the Netherlands (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 01-04-1914) (she 

travels together with her uncle’s widow A.C. Alexander-van Raadshoven) 

 

1914, Prins der Nederlanden (Dortenazoeker) 

thuisreis * vertrokken van Batavia 2 April en aangekomen te Genua 25 April 

uitreis * dat heden 23 Mei van Amsterdam naar Batavia vertrekt 

 

J.E. Alexander arrived from Pangkal Pinang (Banka) per ss. De Weert in Batavia on 27 August 

1914 (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 28-08-1914) 

Her visit in the Netherlands did not last very long; about 2 months only. 

 

I did not find her death registration. 

 

9 Emely Eliza Alexander was born on 1 October 1865 in Padang. 

 

Nr.37 Heden den tweeden october 1865 verscheen voor mij ….. James Truffet Alexander, oud twee en 

veertig jaren van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard 

dat te Padang op den eersten october 1865 des middags ten elfen en een half ure is geboren een kind van 

de vrouwelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds zonder beroep wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoote, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Emelij Eliza. De getuigen zijn Willem Saulus, oud zes en dertig jaren 

en Willem Daniel Londt, oud vijf en twintig jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van de Assistent 

Resident en Magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang. 

 

She died after 14 August 1929; see below. 

Emely Eliza, 23 years old marries on 7 May 1889 in Padang with Cornelis van Zeventer. 

 

Nr.13 Heden den 7 mei 1889 verschenen voor mij … Cornelis van Zeventer, geboren te Makasser, oud 28 

jaren, van beroep tijdelijk onder-opzichter der eerste klasse bij den dienst der staatsspoorwegen te 

Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Johannes Martinus van Zeventer en 

Margaretha Leenhoff, beide overleden en Emelij Eliza Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 23 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van James Truffet Alexander, overleden, en Helena 

Adriana Aronds(?), zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Welke personen etc. 

Voorts is voor mij verschenen Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, in hoedanigheid 

van moeder der bruid, hiertoe etc. Huwelijksgetuigen zijn Eugene Pieter de Scheemaker, neef der bruid, 

oud 34 jaren, van beroep griffier bij de landraden te Padang en Priaman en bij het residentie-gerecht(?) in 

de Padangsche Benedenlanden en August Hermann Altmann, oud 30 jaren, van beroep machinist bij den 

dienst der staatsspoorwegen ter Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang. 

 

Cornelis van Zeventer was born 2 April 1861 in Makassar, son of Johannes Martinus van 

Zeventer and Margaretha Leenhoff and stationed in Makassar / Celebes (Sulawesi). He was 

exempted on 18 March 1881 because of brother service. 

(militia-register, https://militieregisters.bitpub.nl, lot nr.319) 

 

Zeventer, C. van - opzichter 2e kl. B. O. W.-Tegal (1899), opzichter 2e klasse B.O.W., verlof Europa 

(1901), Opz. 2e kl. B.O.W. - Batavia (E..E. Alexander (1903), Opz. 2e kl. Ws. - Mr. Cornelis, Bidara 

Tjina 5-5 (E.E. Alexander (1904-1905), gepensioneerd architect waterstaat, Tandjong Pandan (1916) 

(1919) (1923) (1915) (E.E. Alexander) 
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He died shortly before 14 August 1929 in Meester-Cornelis (het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indie d.d 14-08-1929, via Delpher) E.E. is still living then. 

 

10 Frederika Catharina Alexander was born on 3 November 1867 in Padang. 

 

Nr.49 Heden den vierden november 1867 verscheen voor mij etc. James Truffet Alexander, oud vier en 

veertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den derden november 1867 des avonds ten tien ure is geboren een kind van de 

vrouwelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Frederika Catharina. Etc. getuigen zijn Hendrik Lawa, oud vijf 

en twintig jaren en Paulus Casper van Daalen. 

 

She was living in Padang, presumably with her sister Helena and her brother James Frederik. Mej. 

F.- zonder beroep – Padang, Blantoeng. (1899; being the ony and last registration) 

 

Uitslag van aanbestedingen, verkoopingen en verpachtingen: het perceel gelegen in de Rimbo Malintang 

te Padang No.472 der meetbr. En No.369 der verp., getax. Op f 2,400, toebehoorende aan den Niasser 

Badoe Saliem, koopster mej. F.C. Alexander voor f 1310 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 27-02-1892) 

Geveilde vastigheden: het perceel nr.146 der meetbrieven en nr.181 der verponding, aangeslagen bij de 

verponding voor f 3240, gelegen in de kampoeng Seblah [located in/near Padang] staande ten name van de 

klingaleesche vrouw Djambie gekocht door mejuffrouw F.C. Alexander voor f 710. (Sumatra-courant : 

nieuws- en advertentieblad 17-06-1899) 

 

I did not find her death registration, but based on the address registrations I estimate that she died 

around 1900. 

 

11 James Frederik Alexander was born on 8 August 1870 in Padang. 

 

Nr.26 Heden den negenden augustus 1870 verscheen voor mij etc. James Truffet Alexander, oud zeven en 

veertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den achtsten augustus 1870 des namiddags ten drie ure is geboren een kind van 

de mannelijke kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van James Frederik. De getuigen zijn Hendrik van Weerden en 

Hendrik Lawa, oud acht en twintig jaren. 

 

He was clerk living in Padang, presumably together with his sisters Helena and Frederika. 

J. F. — klerk, Gouv. bureau—Padang. Belantoeng. (1899) 

J. F. Jr.—Klerk, Gouv. bureau—Padang. Belantoeng (1901) 

J. F. Jr. — Klerk Gouv. Bureau — Padang, Belantoeng (A. J. M. Goes).(1903-1910) 

J. F. — Klerk Gouv. Bureau — Padang (A. J. M. Goes).(1915) 

J.F. – Kerk Gouv. Bureau – Padang (1920) 

 

I did not find his death registration; but he died about 1934-1936 based on the registrations in the 

Nieuw Adresboek; see Annex II 

James Frederik, 28 years old marries on 15 July 1899 in Padang with the 18 year old Alida 

Johanna Margaretha Goes. 

 

No.11 Heden den 15 Juli 1899 verschenen voor mij … James Frederik Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 

28 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te padang, 

meerderjarige zoon van James Truffet Alexander en Helena Adriana Aronds, beiden overleden en Alida 

Johanna Margaretha Goes, geboren te Padang, oud 18 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang Pandjang, 

minderjarige dochter van Jan Jasper Goes en Carolina Wilhelmina Nicolai, beiden overleden. Etc. de 

getuigen zijn Andries Theodoor Laurens Schönherr, 34 jaar en Auguste Jacques Henri de Vogel, 36 jaar. 
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They divorced on 10 August 1914 in Padang. 

Alida Johanna Margaretha Goes was born and erkend on 19 March 1881 in Padang, daughter of 

Jan Jasper Goes and Carolina Wilhelmina Nicolai (they actually married on 17 February 1883 in 

Soerabaja) 

 

On child is known: 

 

1 Frieda Cornelia Alexander was born on 24 August 1903 in Padang 

 

No.52 Heden den 25 Augustus 1903 verscheen voor mij … James Frederik Alexander, oud 33 jaren, 

van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, 

die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang, ten zijnen huize, op den 24 Augustus 1903, des voormiddags 

ten elf en een half ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Alida Johanna Margaretha 

Goes, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornamen Frieda Cornelia. 

De getuigen zijn Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, 31 jaar en Rudolph August Mathias Meijer, 

31 jaar. 

 

Vendutie ten huize van F.C. Alexander on 28 January 1929 at Semarangweg 23, Menteng (Het 

nieuws van de dag voor Nederlands-Indie 26-01-1929) 

Fianacien: wegens langdurigen dienst een jaar verlof naar Europa verl. Aan mevr. F.C. Alexander, 

belasting-ambt. 3de kl. Te Welt. met 2 Juni 1935 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 10-05-1935) 

She returned on board m.s. ‘Sibajak’ departing from Rotterdam on 13 May 1936 (De Indische 

courant 23-05-1936) 

 

She married on 21 May 1931 in Batavia with F. Mackenzie 

 

F.C. Alexander married on 21 May 1931, 27 years old in Batavia with F. Mackenzie (Bataviaasch 

nieuwsblad 23-05-1931) 

 

 

12 Charles Frederik Alfred Julius Leopold Alexander was born on 28 November 1871 in Padang. 

 

No.51 Heden den 29 november 1871 verscheen voor mij … James Truffet Alexander, oud 48 jaren, van 

beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, woonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang 

op den 28 november 1871 des morgens ten acht en een half ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke 

kunne uit Helena Adriana Aronds, zonder beroep, woonende te Padang, zijn echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn 

gegeven de voornamen van Charles Frederik Alfred Julius Leopold. 

De getuigen zijn Jozef Antonij Gomis, oud 25 jaren en Jan Walraven Borst, oud 25 jaren. 

 

Alexander, Ch. F. A. J. L. -klerk, politie kant. — Padang ( ) eervol ontslag. (1899) 

 

Wegens ongeschiktheid eervol uit zijn betrekking ontslagen Ch.F.A.J.L. Alexander, klerk op het bureau 

van den ass.-res. voor de politie te Padang. 

Tijdelijk belast met de waarneming der betrekking van opziener der wegen in de onderafd. Danaudistricten 

met standplaats Bajoer op f40 ‘s maands Ch.F.A.J.L. Alexander. (Sumatra-courant 30-03-1899) 

 

Alexander, Ch. F. A. J. L. in Agam (Fort de Kock) Naamlijst 1900 

Alexander, Ch. F. A. J. L. — Particulier — Fort de Kock (1901-1905) 

 

He died on 6 September 1914 in Buitenzorg, 42 years old. 

I did not find evidence that he was married. But he probably had children with a –so far- unknown 

wife: 
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1 Anna Alexander, born on 8 October 1897, erkend Fort de Kock 1900; 

2 Julia Alexander, born on 5 July 1899, erkend Fort de Kock 1900. 

 

 

III-B Johan Frederik Alexander, son of van Samuel Frederik Alexander (II) en Helena Cornelia Aronds 

is born on 6 May 1843 in Padang. 

 

Nummer xxxx Op heden maandag den achtsten mei des jaars 1843 de klokke xxx des voormiddags is voor mij 

ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Samuel Frederick Alexander, oud negen en veertig jaren, 

geboortig van Natal, van beroep tweede kommies op het bureau van den adsistent resident van Padang, wonende 

te Padang, in zijne betrekking van vader benevens de personen van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, oud drie en dertig 

jaren, geboortig van Padang en Michiel Hijshijer, oud drie en twintig jaren, geboortig van Padang, beide klerken 

op het bureau van den Assistent Resident van Padang, wonende te Padang, in hunne betrekking van goede 

bekenden tot den comparant als getuigen dezer acte, dewelke declarant verklaarde dat op zaterdag den zesden mei 

dezes jaars 1843 de klokke zes ure des morgens van hem declarant en Helena Cornelia Aronds, oud drie en veertig 

jaren, geboortig van Padang, zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne aan hetwelk 

de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van John Frederik te willen geven. Etc. 

 

He was zoutverkooppakhuismeester in Padang, 

 

Ontslagen: eervol, uit ’s lands, met behoud op pensioen, de zout-verkooppakhuismeester (Sumatra’s Westkust) 

J.F. Alexander Bataviaasch handelsblad d.d. 08-08-1878 (via Delpher) 

 

John Frederik died on 6 February 1902 in Batavia, 58 years old. 

 

J.F. Alexander, 58 jaren, gepensioneerd ambtenaar echtg. van A.C. van Raadshoven, Burgerlijke Stand Batavia 

van 2 t/m 8 Februari 1902. (Het nieuws van de dag voor Nederlandsch-Indie d.d. 11-02-1902) 

 

This J.[ohn] F.[rederik] Alexander should not be confused with his young nephew, J.[ames] F.[rederik] 

Alexander, the son of James Truffet Alexander (see III-A, 11). Please refer to Annex II. 

 

Johan Frederik, 34 years old marries (1) on 4 May 1878 in Siboga with Sarina. The children who were 

procured before the marriage were legalized by this marriage. The “Inlandsche christenvrouw” Sarina 

died on 16 October 1884 in Toeban. (RA, 1886 pag.350). She must be identical to John Frederik’s wife. 

Johan Frederik, 43 years old marries (2) on 27 August 1886 in Toeban with Maria Henriette Boudoin. 

She died 8 March 1888 in Toeban. (RA, Naamlijst 1889, pag.375) 

John Fredrick, 46 years old marries (3) on 17 September 1889 in Koedoes, Japara with Anna Carolina 

van Raadschooven, 36 years old. Anna Carolina van Raadshoven was born on 9 March 1853 in 

Afdeeling Pattie, Japara. A Antoinette Coenradina van Raadshoven married on 28 September 1876 in 

Koedoes with Daniel Beisser (or Bresser in Het nieuws van den dag of 22 November 1876). I assume 

that Anna Carolina is identical to Antoinette Coenradina, but this should to be verified on the LDS 

microfilms. 

 

6 children are known of Johan Frederik and (1) Sarina 

 

1 Maria Magdalena Johanna Francina Alexander is born on 25 August 1870 in Padang; erkend 26 

October 1871 

 

No.43 Heden den 26 october 1871 verscheen voor mij … John Frederick Alexander, oud 28 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den 25 augustus 1870 des namiddags 

ten een en een half ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Niassche vrouw Sarina, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Maria Magdalena Johanna 

Francina, hebbende gemelde John Frederick Alexander verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen voorts voor mij de Niassche vrouw Sarina, ouderdom onbekend, zonder beroep, wonende te 
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Padang, die mij naar aanleiding van artikel 42 etc, heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. Getuigen 

zijn Jozef Antonij Gomis, oud 24 jaren en Jan Walraven Borst, oud 24 jaren. 

[in margine] Maria Magdalena Johanna Francina is op den 4 mei 1878 door het huwelijk van deszelfs 

ouders John Frederick Alexander en de Inlandsche vrouw Sarina, blijkens acte van huwelijk te Siboga, 

gewettigd. 

I did not find her death registration, but I expect that she died around 1931; see below. 

She married on 12 March 1888 in Toeban, 17 years old with Jurriaan Remmers. 

 

Remmers, J — comm: 1e kl: P. T. d: — Banjoemas 

Remmers, J. — Com. 1e kl. P. T. d. — Tjilatjap (M.M.J.F. Alexander) (1903-1904 

Remmers, J. Wed. Commies- 1e klasse P. T. d., geb. M.M.J.F. Alexander (1905) 

Remmers, J. Wed. Commies- 1e klasse P. T. d., geb. M.M.J.F. Alexander, Semarang (1910) 

Remmers, J. Wed., geb. M.M.J.F. Alexander, Semarang (1915-1930) 

Not mentioned 1932 or later 

 

Jurriaan Remmers was born on 23 May 1855 in Afdeeling Indramaijoe, Cheribon. Son of Jurriaan 

Remmers and an unknown woman. 

Jurriaan Remmers died on 8 April 1904 in Tjilatjap. 

 

2 Augustina Geertruida Josephina Alexander is born on 14 August 1871 in Padang; erkend 26 

October 1871 

 

No.44 Heden en 26 october 1871 verscheen voor mij …. John Frederick Alexander, oud 28 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den 14 augustus 1871 des avonds ten 

elf en drie kwart ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Niassche vrouw Sarina, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Augustina Geertruida 

Josephine, hebbende gemelde John Frederick Alexander verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen voorts voor mij de Niassche vrouw Sarina, ouderdom onbekend, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, die mij naar aanleiding van artikel 42 etc. heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. Getuigen 

zijn Jozef Antonij Gomis, oud 24 jaren en Jan Walraven Borst, oud 24 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op 

het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang. 

[in margine] het in deze acte vermeld kind Augustina Geertruida Josephine is op den 4 mei 1878 door het 

huwelijk van deszelfs ouders John Frederick Alexander en de Inlandsche vrouw Sarina blijkens acte van 

huwelijk vor den gewoon ambtenaar van den burgerlijken stand te Siboga onder nummer 1 opgemaakt, 

gewettigd, etc. 

 

I did not find her death registration, but I assume that she died around 1923, when she was 

mentioned for the last time in the Nieuw Adresboek; see below. 

 

Augustina Geertruida Josephina, 18 years old marries on 16 May 1890 in Grisee with Wimtje 

August Bernardus David, 17 years old, son of A.B. David or L. David and an unknown woman. 

[or should we read A.D. David?; see below:] 

 

Magelang, (Nieuwe Begraafplaats aan den grooten weg naar Djokjakarta). 

241. Hier rust / August Dirk David / geboren / 14 Februari 1843 / overleden / 19 October 1919. (IGV, 

CDROM Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

Wimtje August Bernardus David was born on 23 January 1873 in Ambarawa; erkend in 1874. 

 

David, W.A.B. opzichter 2e kl. B.O.W. – wachtgeld Makassar (1901), 

Opz. 1e kl. B.O.W. - Semarang(1903), Kendal (1904-1906), Demak (1907); with A.J.G. Alexander). 

Oud Opzichter 1e klasse Waterstaat - Demak (1908-1923) with A.J.G. Alexander; 

Neither of them is mentioned as from 1924. 
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Wimtje August Bernard David died on 8 July 1913 in Soerabaja. It is remarkable that he is 

mentioned until 1923 in Demak together with his wife A.J.G. Alexander. 

 

3 Henry Maximiliaan Jacobus Theodorus Alexander is born around 1872 in Fort de Kock. 

Henry Maximiliaan Jacobus Theodorus was superintendent (1899), foreman (1901) with the 

railroad in Soerabaja, employee tram company in Grisee (1901-1905), poultry breeder in Malang 

(1906-1909), employee in sugar factories in Djatiroto and Sidoardjo (1910-1911), living in 

Soerabaja (1912-1915), (ex) foreman railways in Toengilis (1916-1929), and working with public 

civil works in Soerabaja (1930-1934). (see Annex IV) 

He died on 26 October 1937 in Soerabaija, 65 years old. The mother is mentioned as Mariah. 

(Roosje Roos, filmnr.: 1357858, nr. 127). I suspect that this is a wrong registration or 

transcription; however I did not check this. 

 

Henry Maximiliaan Jacobus Theodorus had a relationship with Koosje Heur, daughter of 

Anthonie Theodorus Heur and Louisa Leruschi. Koosje Heur was born on 13 March 1876 in 

Djokjakarta (Java) and died on Monday 5 May 1930 in Djokjakarta, 54 years old. 

Opmerking(en): Woonplaats: Soerabaja; ouders overleden (Aktenummer: 41, Filmnummer: 

1357858; Roosje Roos). He was apparently not married as K. Heur was never mentioned in the 

Nieuw Adresboek. I assume that he was childless. 

 

4 Adriana Wilhelmina Alexander born on 1 July 1875 in Siboga; erkenning) (RA 1877) 

She may be identical to the Adriana Wilhelmina who died on 11 April 1894 in Soengi Selan, 

Banka en Onderhorigheden. 

 

5 Antoinette Victoria Alexander was born in Siboga on 14 June 1878. 

She died 21 July 1878 in Tapanoli, 5 weeks old 

 

6 Victor Valentijn Alexander born on 15 July 1879 in Deli, Eastcoast Sumatra. 

An “Alexander” without name or initials was mentioned in Deli in 1881 (i.e. living in Deli in 

1880) and we know that J.F. Alexander was assigned as collector of in- and export taxes in 18 

March 1881 in East Sumatra. Since no other “Alexanders” are mentioned around 1880 in East 

Sumatra I believe that it is likely that J.F. Alexander lived in Deli in 1880. Together with the name 

Victor, named after his sister Antoinette Victoria, who died in July 1878, there is sufficient 

justification to allocate him as a son of Johan Frederik and Sarina. 

He is not mentioned in (1901) Nieuw Adresboek; I suspect that he died when he was young. 

 

 

One child is known of Johan Frederik and (2) Maria Henriette Boudoin: 

 

1 “Levenloos kind” born on 3 March 1888 in Toeban (RA, Naamlijst 1889, pag.375) 

 

Author did not find children of Johan Frederik and (3) Anna Carolina van Raadshoven. 
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Other Alexander’s 
The Londt’s and the Aronds’ in Nederlands-Indie are descendents from one ancestor. The Alexander’s 

not. The Register of the inhabitants of Padang in 1790 (Annex I) mentions: 

 

1. Jones Alexander, and wife (or adult daughter) and 1 daughter; 

2. Johannes Alexander, and wife and 2 daughters; 

3. David Alexander, and wife and 5 daughters. 

 

Samuel Alexander is not mentioned because he lived in Fort Marlborough and his son Samuel Frederik 

arrived in Padang in 1818 as mentioned earlier. 

 

In the death record of 6 February 1830 of Constantia Petronella Steenberg we see that she was married 

with Carl Fredrik Ungerer, chirurgijn. She died at the age of 75 years hence was born about 1755 in 

Padang. Her parents were Johan Steenberg and Petronella Alexander, both deceased. 

A Carl Ungerer arrived in Batavia on 25-05-1785 by ship “Spaarne” (VOC); he was second medical 

master from profession. His estimated birth date is 1755. We may assume that Carl and Carl Frederik 

are identical given the similar profession, name and age. 

Maybe the Johannes Steenbag, mentioned in the Register of 1790, with wife, 1 son and 3 daughters is 

identical to the above mentioned Johan Steenberg. In 1790 he would have been about 60 years old. 

 

 

A Sophia Alexander died on 1 May 1852 in Padang at the of 81 years; hence she was born about 1771. 

 

Nr.11 Heden den derden mei 1852 verschenen voor mij …. Christiaan de Haze Winkelman, oud een en vijftig 

jaren, van beroep Algemeen Ontvanger, wonende te Padang en William Richardson Davies, oud drie en dertig 

jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Algemeen Ontvanger, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 

eersten mei 1851 [sic] des namiddags te vijf ure te Padang is overleden Sophia Alexander, geboren te Padang, oud 

een en tachtig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Martin Borghardt, dochter 

van Johannes Alexander en de Niassche vrouw Sie xxx, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

She was married to Martin Borghardt and her parents were Johannes Alexander and the Niassche vrouw 

[unreadable]. 

She is probably identical to Sophia Alexander who married (1) on 14 March 1801 at Fort Marlborough 

with Christian Lautrec. (N/7/1) 

She could be Samuel (1769-1794) Alexander’s sister or her father could be any of the Jones, Johannes 

or David Alexander mentioned in the Registration of 1790. The first hypothesis is supported by the fact 

that she married at Fort Marlborough. Davies assigned her as daughter of Johannes Alexander and Sie 

Ansie but I could not find proof of this. In absence of further data it remains speculation. 

 

The Alexander, P. mentioned in the Naamlijst of 1828 is probably be an error. He is not mentioned in 

the Registration of 1823 or the Naamlijst 1829 and later. 
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Annex I, Oudste Inwoners Padang, Register 1790 
Naamlijst en zielsbeschrijving van alle zodanige Christeninwoonderen alhier (= Padang) van 21 dec. 

1790 (ARA, VOC inv. nr. 3962); extract uit eene memorie van het Padangsch Opperhoofd C.H. van 

Eratts d.d. 31 December 1790 §337 tevens afgedrukt in het Padangsch Nieuws- en Advertentieblad d.d. 

26 jan. 1861 (Delpher) 

  mannen vrouwen soons dogters 

de wed. Bronnekam 1 2 1 3 

id. id. Gabriel   1   2 

Jacob van Zeelen 1     1 

Jan Worrel 1       

weduwe Stolting   1   1 

Willem Gam 1 1   1 

Willem Ernst Gam 1 1   1 

weduwe Mertz   1 2 1 

weduwe Nolting   1 1 2 

weduwe Snijder   1     

weduwe Hartman   1   1 

Abraham van Moschil 1   2   

Jan van Staaten 1 1   1 

Pieter Jurriaans 1 1   1 

Leendert Pieter Lond 1   4 3 

Jones Alexander 1 1   1 

Josep Nicolaas 2       

de weduwe Pottrich   1   2 

Johannes Alexander 1 1   2 

Lodewijk Adriaan 1     2 

Jan Krijgsman 1 2 2 2 

de wed. Willem Krijgsman   2   1 

id. id. Krijgsman   1 3 2 

Fredrik Vogeling 1 1   2 

Wed. Manusama   1   1 

Gerardus Manusama 1 1   1 

Wed. Boudewijnsz   1   3 

Martijn Godlieb 1 1 1 1 

Coenraad Lantreer 1 4 3 4 

wed. Oukes   1     
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Carel van Moschel 1       

Francois Theuvenet 1 1 5 4 

Wed. de Buijser 1 2     

Paulus Steijn 1       

Dorothea Elizabeth   1 2   

Johannes Weijsheijer 1 1 1 2 

Wed. Carels   1   2 

id. de Bruijn   1 2 1 

id. Hen   1   1 

Paulus van der Maas 1       

Jan Wijnand Eringh 1 1   1 

de wed. Jacobsen     1 3 

Frans van Dalen 1 1 4 1 

Johannes Steenbag 1 1 1 3 

David Alexander 1 1   5 

Andries Carels 1     2 

wed. Bolman   1     

Cornelis Godlied 1 1 1   

Jan Rijswijk 1 1 1 2 

Willem van Lier 1 
 

    

wed. Lesnou   1 1   

          

somma 33 44 38 69 

check 33 46[!] 38 69 

 

Wij plaatsten volgaarne bovenstaand, ons door een geachte hand toegezonden stuk, in de 

veronderstelling dat het aan velen niet onverschillig zoude zijn, die namen te kennen, (Redactie.) 
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Annex II, J.F. Alexander 
Two J.F.’s lived for some time simultaneously in Nederlands-Indie and even in Padang: 

 

1. Johan Frederik Alexander (1843-1902); son of Samuel Frederik Alexander 

2. James Frederik (1870->1931); son of James Truffet Alexander 

 

In order to allocate them correctly the registrations in Nederlandsch-Indie were searched for John 

Frederik and J.F. Alexander. The summary follows hereunder; please be aware that the year of 

registration lags one year: 

Name Profession Place Source 
Alexander, John 

Frederik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1865 

Alexander, John 

Frederik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1866 

Alexander, Not 

mentioned 
  RA, Naamlijst, 1867 

Alexander, John 

Fredrik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1868 

Alexander, John 

Fredrik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1869 

Alexander, John 

Frederik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1870 

Alexander, Not 

mentioned 
  RA, Naamlijst, 1871 

Alexander, John 

Fredrik 
 Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1872 

J.F. Alexander Procuratie-houder, 30 Padang, 

December 1871, J. 

Matthijssen [his brother-in-

law] 

Fort de Kock Sumatra-courant d.d. 30-

12-1871 

Alexander, John 

Frederik 
 Agam (Fort de Kock) RA, Naamlijst, 1873 

J.F. Alexander procuratie voor onze zaken 

(Chatelin & Co.) te Fort de 

Kock, is op heden 

ingetrokken, 1 Augustus 1873 

Fort de Kock / Padang Sumatra-courant 20-08-

1873 

Alexander, John  Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1874 

Alexander, John 

Frederich 
 Tapanoli RA, Naamlijst, 1875 

Alexander, John 

Frederich 
 Tapanoli RA, Naamlijst, 1876 

Alexander, John 

Frederich 
 Tapanoli RA, Naamlijst, 1877 

Alexander, John 

Frederich 
 Tapanoli RA, Naamlijst, 1878 

Alexander, John 

Frederich 
 Tapanoli RA, Naamlijst, 1879 

J.F. Alexander Ontslagen: eervol, uit ’s lands, 

met behoud op pensioen, de 

zoutverkoop-pakhuismeester 

Padang (Sumatra’s 

Westkust) 

Bataviaasch handelsblad 

d.d. 08-08-1878 

J.F. Alexander, 

echtg. en 4 kinderen 
 Aangekomen 

passagiers te Batavia 

per stooms. ‘Koning 

Willem III’ van Padang 

Locomotief (Samarang) 

10-12-1878 

En 

Bataviaasch handelsblad 

07-12-1878 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1880 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, 1881 
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Alexander  Deli, Oostkust van 

Sumatra 
RA, Naamlijst, 1881 

J.F. Alexander. de hoofdopziener bij in- en 

uitvoerrechten en accijnsen 

 

is benoemd tot ontvanger der 

in- en uitvoerrechten en 

accijnsen,  

te Pertjoet (Oostkust 

van Sumatra) 

 

te Siak Sri Indrapoera 

(Oostkust van Sumatra) 

Java-bode 22-03-1881 

J.F. Alexander ontvanger Siak Sri Indrapoera en 

t.z.t. naar Poeloe 

Gontong 

Java-bode d.d. 12-05-1881 

Alexander, J.F.  Bengkalis, Siak, 

Laboean Batoe en 

Asahan, Oostkust van 

Sumatra 

RA, Naamlijst, 1882 

Alexander, J.F. ontvanger in- en uitvoer-

rechten, 18 maart 1881 
Siak Sri Indrapoera RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.414, 1883 
Alexander, J.F.  Bengkalis, Siak, 

Laboean Batoe en 

Asahan, Oostkust van 

Sumatra 

RA, Naamlijst, pag.188, 

1883 

Alexander, J.F.  ontvanger in- en uitvoer-

rechten, 31 Juli 1883 
Toeban, Rembang RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.428, 1884 
Alexander, not 

found 
  RA, Naamlijst, 1884 

Alexander, J.F. ontvanger in- en uitvoer-

rechten, 31 Juli 1883 
Toeban, Rembang RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.432, 1885 
Alexander, J.F.  Toeban RA, Naamlijst, pag.80, 

1885 
Alexander, J.F.  Toeban RA, Naamlijst, 1886 

Alexander, J.F. ontvanger in- en uitvoer-

rechten, 31 Juli 1883 
Toeban, Rembang RA, Kalender en Per-

sonalia, pag.430, 1886 
Alexander, J.F.  Toeban RA, Naamlijst, pag.83, 

1887 
Alexander, J.F.  Toeban RA, Naamlijst, pag.87, 

1888 
Alexander, J.F.  Toeban RA, Naamlijst, pag.89, 

1889 
J.F. Alexander ontvanger bij de in- en 

uitvoerrechten en accijnsen; 

overgeplaatst 

van Toeban naar Japara Soerabaijasch handelsblad 

d.d. 22-10-1888 

J.F. Alexander de onvanger geplaatst te Grisee Java-bode d.d. 13-07-1889 

En 

Bataviaasch handelsblad 

d.d. 13-07-1889 

Alexander, John 

Frederick 
 Grisee RA, Naamlijst, pag.111, 

1890 
Alexander, J. F.,  ontvanger in- en 

uitvoerrechten, 26 Juni 1889 
Grisee to Soerabaja RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, 1890, pag.519 
J.F. Alexander Geplaatst: de verificateur te Pasoeroean Java-bode 08-09-1890 

Alexander, J. F. Verificateurs 4de klasse, 

6 Sept. 1890 
Pasoeroean Kalender en Personalia, 

pag.457, 1891 
Alexander, J.F. not 

found 
  Naamlijst 1891 

J.F. Alexander.   Aangekomen 

passagiers per 

stoomschip ‘van 

Goens’ van Macassar, 

Java-bode d.d. 20-06-1891 
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Bali, Boleng, 

Soerabaja, Samarang 

en kustplaatsen 
J.F. Alexander ontslagen, eervol uit zijn 

betrekking, de geschorste 

verificateur der 4de kl. Bij de 

in- en uitvoerrechten en 

accijnzen 

te Pasoeroean Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 

d.d. 02-07-1891 

Alexander, Johan 

Frederik 
 Pasoeroean RA, Naamlijst, pag.131, 

1892 
Alexander, J. F. ontvanger in- en uitvoer-

rechten, 21 Juli 1892 
Siak Sri Indrapoera RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.470, 1893,  
J.F. Alexander  Benoemd tot ambtenaar bij de 

in- en uitvoer-rechten en 

accijnzen met ingang van 1 

augustus 1892, de gewezen 

verificateur der 4e kl. bij die 

middelen 

 Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 

22-07-1892 

en 

Java-bode 22-07-1892 

Alexander, J.F.  Siak, Oost-Sumatra RA, Naamlijst, pag.245, 

1894,  

J. F. Alexander Ontvanger in- en 

uitvoerregten, 21 Feb. 1894 
Tandjoeng Poera RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, 1895, pag.485 
Alexander, J. F. Ontvanger in- en 

uitvoerregten, 21 Feb. 1894 
Tandjoeng Poera, 

Oostkust van Sumatra 
RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.489, 1896 
Alexander, J.F.  Tandjoeng Poera RA, Naamlijst, pag.231, 

1895,  
J. F. Alexander 21 Feb. 1894 Tandjoeng Poera RA, Kalender en 

Personalia, pag.485, 1895,  
J.F. Alexander Ontslagen wegens volbrachten 

diensttijd eervol uit ’s lands 

dienst, de ontvanger der in- en 

uitvoerrechten en accijnzen 

Tandjong Poera 

(Oostkust van Sumatra) 
Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 

27-01-1896 

Alexander, J.F. met 

echtg. 
 Per stoomschip 

‘Speelman’ van Deli 
Java-bode d.d. 23-03-1896 

J.F. Alexander en 

echtgenoote 
 Vertrokken passagiers 

van Batavia, per 

stoomschip ‘De 

Carpentier’ naar 

Padang 

De locomotief (Samarang) 

d.d. 09-11-1896 

En 

Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 

06-11-1896 

J.F. Alexander en 

echtg. 
 Aangekomen 

passagiers te 

Emmahaven per ss ‘De 

Carpentier’ voor 

Padang 

De Locomotief 21-11-

1896 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.226, 

1897 
Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.215, 

1898 
Alexander, J.F. gepensioneerd Ontvanger 

Recherche 
Padang RA, Adresboek, pag.112, 

1899 
Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.225, 

1899 
Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.237, 

1900 
Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.245, 

1901 
Alexander, J.F. Gep. Ontvanger Recherche Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.9, 1901 
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Alexander, J.F. 

mentioned for the 

last time 

Gep. Ontvanger Recherge Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.10, 1903 

Alexander, Wed. 

J.F., geb. A.C. van 

Raadshoven 

 Batavia RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

1903, pag.10 

J.F. Alexander, 58 

jaren, echtg. van 

A.C. van 

Raadshoven 

gepensioneerd ambtenaar Burgerlijke Stand 

Batavia van 2 t/m 8 

Februari 1902 

Het nieuws van de dag 

voor Nederlandsch-Indie 

d.d. 11-02-1902 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadshoven 

 Langsee, Pati RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.10, 1905 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadshoven 

 Buit. RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.12, 1910 

Mevr. De wed. 

A.C. Alexander-

Alexander 

 Per ss. De Prins der 

Nederlanden naar 

Nederland 

Het nieuws van den dag 

voor Nederlandsch-Indië 

01-04-1914 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadshoven  

 Buit. RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.14, 1915 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadhoven  

 Buit. RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.16, 1920 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadshoven  

 Buit. of Mr Cor. RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.16, 1925 

Alexander, J.F. 

weduwe geb. A.C. 

van Raadshoven; 

mentioned for the 

last time 

  RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.16, 1930 

    

The above mentioned J[ohn].F[rederik]. Alexander should not be confused with his nephew, J.F. 

Alexander, who’s registration is summarized below. He is James Frederik Alexander, son of James 

Truffet Alexander (see III-A, 11). 

When both J.F.’s live in Padang James Frederik is mentioned as J.F. jr. 
 

James Frederik    

Alexander, J. F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.199, 

1892 

Alexander, J. F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.206, 

1893 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang, Sumatra’s 

Westkust 
RA, Naamlijst, pag.218, 

1894 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.207, 

1895 

Alexander, J.F.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.212, 

1896 

Alexander, J.F jr.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.215, 

1898 

Alexander, J.F. klerk bij het Gouvernements 

bureau 
Pandang, Belangtoeng RA, Adresboek, pag.112, 

1899 

Alexander, J.F jr.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.225, 

1899 

Alexander, J.F jr.  Padang RA, Naamlijst, pag.237, 

1900 
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Alexander, J.F. Jr. Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang, Belantoeng RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.9, 1901 

Alexander, J.F. Jr. 

(A.J.M. Goes)  

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang. Belantoeng RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.10, 1903 

Alexander, J.F. Jr. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang. Belantoeng RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.10, 1904 

Alexander, J.F. Jr. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang. Belantoeng RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.11, 1905 

Alexander, J.F. jr. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang, Belantoeng RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.13, 1910 

Alexander, J.F.—. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.13, 1911 

Alexander, J.F.—. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 
 Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

1912, pag.13 

Alexander, J.F. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.14, 1913 

Alexander, J.F. 

(A.J.M. Goes) 

Klerk, Gouv. bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.14, 1915 

Alexander, J. F. Com. Gouv. Bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag. 16, 1920 

J.F. Alexander Ontslagen: met ingang van 2 

Juli 1922, wegens lichamelijke 

ongeschiktheid, eervol uit ’s 

lands dienst, commies op het 

gewestelijk kantoor te 

Padang Het nieuws van de dag 

voor Nederlandsch-Indie 

22-06-1922 

Alexander, J. F. Ex. Com. Gouv. Bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag. 16, 1925 

Alexander, J. F. Ex. Com. Gouv. Bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag. 16, 1930 

Alexander, J.F. ex. Com. Gouv. Bureau Padang RA, Nieuw Adresboek, 

pag.16, 1931 
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Annex III, Alexander in the Military Lists 
 

125 

 

 

Bengal Army List / Military Records L/MIL/10/1 (LDS film 186705) 

126 #54 John Alexander, Assistant, commission date 4 Septr 1783 

127 #45 James Alexander, Lt Fireworker 

128 #53 John Alexander, Assistant 

129 #36 James Alexander, Lt Fireworker, commission date 10 March 1785, Adjt. 3rd Battalion Artillery 

130 #52 John Alexander, Assistant, commission date 4 September 1783 

131 

132 #33 James Alexander, Lt Fireworker, 10 March 1785 Adjt 3rd Battalion Artillery 

133 #87 John Alexander, Assistant, warrant date blank 

134 Fort William xxx Military Department the 12th January 1788, signed 25 June 1788, List of the Bengal Army 

135 

136 James Alexander, lieutenant fireworker, commission date 10 March 1785, Adjutant 3rd Battn of Artillery 

137 #81 John Alexander, assistant, warrant date blank 

138 

139 John Alexander, assistant, warrant date blank 

140 James Alexander, Lieutenant fireworker, commission date 10 March 1785, Adjutant 3rd Battalion 

141 John Alexander 

142 John Alexander, assistant surgeon, warrant date 6 May 1783 

 

143 list of appointments, removals and officers brought on full pay in the month of October 1791; by colonel 

MacKenzie 

 3d October 1791 Mr. J. Alexander, asst surgn, removed from 4th Sepoy battalion and appointed to 6th 

European European battalion 

143 By Earl Cornwalliz 14 Septr 1791; by colonel MacKenzie 

14 October Mr. J. Alexander, asst surgn, 6 European Battn, and appointed to 23rd Sepoy battalion 

144 same page as above 

145 same page as above 

146 

146 Mr. J. Alexander removed from 4th Sepoy Battalion 

 

147 

 

 

Military Records L/MIL/10/2 

148 list of officers on the Bencoolen establishment /omssion/ agreed that the officers of the Fort Marlboro’ 

establishment be ranged in a separate list than the present (independent of that of Bengal) /omission/ 

149 Ensign, Alexander [surname only] 

Signed for mility dept inspect on 11 September 1787 by N.D. Waugh 

 

 

151 A list of casualties from the 1st of January to the 31st December 179x 

150 Nathaniel Alexander, captain, corps infantry, deceased 5 Jany 1792 at Monghyr 

152 James Alexander, Lieut Fireworkers 10 March 1785 

 

153 
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L/MIL/10/134, Bengal Army Service Records 

154 

155 Alphabetical annual Long Roll of the     and privates of the 1st brigade, … commencing from the 30th 

November xxxx 

Alexander, John on ship ‘Francis’on Augst 1785 from country England, corps 1st E. Battn, private, inlisted 

London Decr 1784, re-inlised Berhampore 

156 same page as above 

 

157 Annual alphabetical Long Roll of the non commissed officers and privates from the 1st November 1785 to 

the 1st November 1786 

Alexander, Charles, age 26, Serjeant, 5th Eurpn Battn, town Newark, county Nottingham, on ship 

‘Cumberland’on October 1776, enlisted London Febry 1776, renewed Berhampore 

158 same page as above 

159 same page as above 

 

160 xxx officers and privates xxxx xxxxx from the 30 of November 1785 to the 30th of November 1786 

Alexander, Thos, age 51, from North Britton, Corporal, Artily InvdsLondon, 1772, on vessel ‘Haughton’ in 

1773, renewed Calcutta 1778 

161- 

251 not relevant for this study 

 

252 Long Roll (casualties included) of one company xxx to the presidency under the command of captain xxx 

Alexander, Samuel on vessel ‘True Britton’ from North Britain, age 48, Private, inlisted London 1762 

253 same page as above 

 

254 Long Roll (including casualties) of the Corps European Infantry attached to the Presidency Fort Williams 

Garrison xxx commanded by Major Christian Fischer for the year 1778. 

255 Alexander, Saml on vessel ‘True Briton’, from North Briton, age 49, private, inlisted London 1762 

 

256 Long Roll (including casualties) of the Hon[oura]ble Company’s Second Brigade commanded by colonel 

Chas Chapman for the year 1772 

257 Alexander, Samuel, on vessel ‘Lioness’, from England, age 29, infantry, private, inlisted London, Octr 1768 

258 same page as above 

 

259 Long Roll (including casualties) of the Hon[oura]ble Company’s Second Brigade commanded by colonel 

Charles Chapman for the year 1773 

260 Alexander, Samuel, on vessel ‘Lioness’, from England, age 30, infantry, private, inlisted London, Octr 1768 

 

261 Long Roll (casualties included) of the ho[our]ble compn second brigade commanded by colonel Primrose 

Gailliez for the year 1774 

Alexander, Samuel, age 31, Worcestershire, private, Regiment, on ship ‘Lioness’, inlisted London, October 

’68 comment June 1774(?) 

262 same page as above 

263 same page as above 

 

264 General Long Roll of All the Troops under the Presidency of Fort William for the year 1775 

265 Long Roll (casualties included) of the hon[oura]ble company’s second brigade commanded by colonel 

Primrose Gailliez for the year 1775 

266 Alexander, Samuel, on vessel ‘Lioness’, from Bedfordshire, age 32, private, inlisted London Octr 1768, 

June 1774(?) 

267 This list is signed on March the 22nd 1776 at Fort William. 

268 #19 Alexander, Samuel, on vessel ‘Lioness’, from England, age 33, infantry, private, inlisted London Octr 

1768, re-inlisted Belgram June 1774, Invalid 31 August 1776, Berhampore 

269 same page as above 
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270 Long Roll (casualties included) of the hon[oura]ble company’s second brigade commanded by colonel 

Primrose Galliez for the year 1776 

271 same page as above 

272 Invalid 31 August 1776, Berhampore 

 

273 Long Roll (casualties included) of one company’s European invalids xx presidency commanded by captn 

Willim Campbell for the xxx 

274 Alexander, Samuel, on vessel ‘True Briton’, age 47, private, inlisted London, October 1768 

275 not relevant 

 

Please note that the transcriptions above are always complete, sometimes due to the picture that I made. 

For my purpose it is sufficient. 

Also I may have missed certain records of the ‘Alexander’s’ as the LDS film is not easlily structured. 

 

Dodwell and Miles: Officers of the Bengal army, London 1838 (available from Google Books) 

 

Officers of the Indian army at the Bengal Presidency 

Alexander, James, first lieutenant 10 March 1785; resigned 17 August 1792 

Alexander, N., cadet 1771, cornet/ensign 15 December 1772, lieutenant 14 March 1777, captain 14 March 1781, 

died 31 January 1793 at Monghyr 

Alexander, Samuel, cornet/ensign August 1786, lieutenant 7 December 1793, died 13 September 1799 at Fort 

Marlbro’ 

 

Dodwell and Miles, alphabetical list of the medical officers of the Indian army, London 1838 (available 

from Google Books) 

 

Alexander, John, assistant surgeon 1783. Died 31 January 1792 at Monghyr. 

 

Hodson, V.C.P.: List of the officers of the Bengal army, 1758-1834, London 1924-47 (LDS film 

845177/78/79) 

 

Alexander, Samuel (d.1794). lieutenant, infantry. From the Bencoolen est. ensign Aug. 1786. Lieut. 7 Dec. 1793. 

D. Bencoolen, Sumatra 13 Sept. 1794. 

Services: reverted to the Bencoolen est. N.F.P. 

 

Addenda 

Alexander, Samuel, add b.1772/73. Bur. Fort Marlbro’ 13 Nov. 1794, aged 21. Note according to the burial register 

he was an ensign. 

 

In the British Association for Cemeteries in South Asia (BACSA): 

 

Alexander, Samuel, ensign, died 13 November 1794 in Fort Marlborough age 25, cause of death: obstruction, 

cemetery record book Bencoolen p44, 62 

Alexander, John, surgeon, died 14 August 1805 in Fort marlborough, cemetery record book p49 

 

Dodwell & Miles provide a wrong date for Samuel’s death and Hodson a wrong age. Furtermore both 

state that Samuel was lieutenant as from 7 December 1793. This is in contradiction to the death 

registration where he is an ensign. I have not traced the original source wherein a certain Samuel became 

a lieutenant. But I conclude from the above mentioned listings that there are in fact three different 

Samuel Alexander’s: 
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1 Samuel Alexander arrived on vessel ‘True Briton’, birth around (1778-49=) 1729 from North 

Brittain. He is a private and enlisted in London in 1762 and served in the Corps European Infantry 

attached to the Presidency Fort William’s garrison (1778); 

2 Samuel Alexander arrived on vessel ‘Lioness’, birth around (1772-29=) 1743 from Bedfordshire 

or Worcestershire. He is a private and enlisted in London in October 1768 and served in the 

[Bengal] Second Brigade. Mentioned ‘invalid’ in 1776; 

3 Samuel Alexander, birth around (1794-25=) 1769. He is ensign at the Fort Marlborough 

establishement. 

 

In the absence of any arrival details from England for #3 Samuel in combination with the young age 

(17) when he was commissioned, one could conclude that he may be born in South East Asia. In that 

case his father could be #1 or #2 Samuel; both arrived in India before and are alive in 1769. Further 

research into the available sources should be made to substantiate this hypothesis or even provide hard 

evidence. Birth records of Fort William around 1769, if existing, may provide such evidence. 
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Annex IV, H.M.J.Th. Alexander 
Alexander H. M. J. Th. — Opz. N.I.S. Mij. — Dapoer, Lamongan. Soerabaja. (1899) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th—Werkbaas, Ned. Ind. Sp. Mij—Lamongan (1901) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Empl. Stt. Goendih—Soerabaja — Grisee (1903) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Empl. Stt. Goendih—Soerabaja — Grisee (1904) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Empl. Stt. Goendih—Soerabaja — Grisee (1905) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Pluimveefokker — Malang. (1906) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Pluimveefokker — Malang. (1907) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Pluimveefokker — Malang. (1908) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Pluimveefokker — Malang. (1908) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Pluimveefokker — Malang. (1909) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Daggelder Sf. Djatiroto — Djatiroto (1910) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Empl. Sf. Tjandi — Sidoardjo. (1911) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — ……..—Soer. (1912) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — ……..—Soer. (1913) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — ……..—Soer. (1915) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1916) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Ex Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1917) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Ex Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1918) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Ex Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1920) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Ex Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1925) 

Alexander, H. M. J. Th. — Ex Werkbaas S.S. —Toengilis. (1929) 

Alexander, H.M. J.Th. — Daggelder B O.W. — Soer. (1930) 

Alexander, H.M. J.Th. — Daggelder B O.W. — Soer. (1932) 

Alexander, H.M. J.Th. — Daggelder Lands Ws. — Soer. (1934) 

) 
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Aronds 

Elder Generations Aronds 
Hartog Aronds and Christina Magdalena Tegoea are mentioned as parents of their five known children. 

I could not find evidence that they were formally married. 

I searched the VOC sea voyagers database (vocopvarenden.nationaalarchief.nl) and found a person 

named Hartog Arons who embarked on 19 October 1785 on the ‘Vrouwe Katharina Johanna’ as sailor 

for the Chamber of Hoorn. His employment was terminated on 31 August 1790 in Asia. He is from 

Dessauw, Germany. 

He probably is identical with Hartog Aronds mentioned above but in such situations I strongly 

recommend to request a copy of the original registration; the inventory number and folio are mentioned 

in the “details”. Here is what I found: 

 
 

• Hartog Arons departs on 19 October 1785 from Texel, Netherlands as mattross employed by VOC 

on board vessel ‘Vrouwe Catharina Johanna’; 

• On arrival at the Cape on 11 February 1786 he remains onshore in hospital; 

• Hartog Arends, from Desjauwe, embarks on 12 August 1786 on vessel ‘Zeeland’ 

• He departs again on board vessel ‘Zeeland’ on 16 September 1786; 

• On 20 November 1786 he disembarks in Ceylon; 

• He is employed on the vessels “Middelwijk” and ‘Standvastigheid’ until 20 December 1787; 

• Whereafter he is in VOC service in Padang until August 1790. 

 

In another source in the Dutch National Archive (NA 1.04.02-8441, page 184) we read that the 

‘Standvastigheid’ arrives on Saturday 17 November 1787 in Padang Roadsted. From the same source 

(Dagregister van het voorgevallene tot Padang op Sumatras Westcust beginnende met primo September 
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1787 tot ultimo Augustus 1788 (ontvangen anno 1788), par.149) we learn that Hartog Aronds changed 

his career from sailor to soldier in Padang. 

 

§149 … hebbende wij om hun aanhoudende dronkenschap en liederlijk en quaadaardig gedrag meede tot 

mattroosen gedeporteerd de zoldaten Johan Schader en Pieter Minder, waar en teegen van het schip de 

‘Standvastigheijd’ op hun verzoek tot zoldaten gechangeerd zijn de mattroosen Hartog Arends en George Scott; 

gelijk wij mede etc. 

 

As the ‘Standvastigheid’ sets sail on Thursday 31 January 1788 to Batavia (NA 1.04.02-8441, §162, 

page 187), Hartog Aronds must have settled in Padang somewhere between mid November 1787 and 

end of January 1788. 

Hartog Aronds is not mentioned in the Register of 1790 with the European inhabitants in Padang. 

Supposedly he is then still in military service in garrison in Padang. I estimate that his 6 –known- 

children are born between 1796 and 1806, which fits in well with the above mentioned dates. 

 

The suggestion that the Aronds family came from England or perhaps France as stated in the Aronds 

CBG dossier (see Annex II) is simply wrong as I have demonstrated in the beginning of this Section.  

We now know that Hartog Aronds was born in Dessau, Sachsen-Anhalt, Germany. I made a quick search 

in Dessau by means of the LDS microfilms but did not find any traces. I’m not sufficiently familiar with 

German genealogy sources to follow up on this. 

 

Hartog’s wife Catharina Christina Tegoea is probably a native woman but it is remarkable that she is 

mentioned consequently with her surname (at least I assumed that “Tegoea” is her surname). If someone 

has any suggestions, please contribute. 

 

Johan Arons from Weert, Limburg, The Netherlands 

I like to share a finding that is remarkable and is probably quite relevant: 

 

Acte de décès: l’an mil huit cent dix le onze du mois de janvier [11 January 1810] a huit heures du matin par devant 

nous Jean Nien adjoint au maire officies de l’etat civil de la commun de Weert, canton de Weert, departement de 

la Meuse interieure, sont comparus Theodore van der Piepen, age quarante un ans, boulanger et Jean Smeets, age 

soixante deux ans, boucher, tous deux demeurant a Weert en ville Rue de la Meuse Noisins du depent, les quels 

nous ont declare que Jean Arons, age soixent dix ans [age 70] né en Saxen [born in Saxen], demeurant a Weert, 

le pere et mere inconnu aux declarans, epouse de Elisabeth van den Manacker est decede hier dix de ce mois vers 

huit heures du soir dans sa maison site en la dit Rue Maestraat, et ont les declarons signe avec nous le pretent etc 

[I’m not an expert in the French language]. 

 

The name Arons combined with a birthplace in Saxen made me curious and triggered a small research 

in Weert, the Netherlands. (FamilySearch) 

 

- Anno 1775: 7 Januarii praevus tribus consuetis ecclesiae bannis coram me J. Janssens pastore Werthensi 

contraserts matrimonium Joannes Aaron, viduus Clara David, cum Elizabeth filia van de Manacker et 

praesentibus testibus Jacobo Homans et Helena Gielis. 

- In 1774 21 [June?] in civitate obiit Clara Davidts conjux Joannis Aarons 22 ob faetorem sep: in coem:. 

(Familysearch, Limburg, church recors 1542-1910, rooms-katholiek, Weert, begraven 1769-1778, image 

60). 

- Baptisms: (Familysearch, Limburg Parish Register Transcripts 1562-1822, Weert, Baptisms) 

• Joannes 14 August 1771, parents ??? Aaron and ???. Witness Joannes Keuten; 

• Maria Joanna 5 February 1772, parents Joannes Aaron and Clara David. Witness Josephus Janssens and 

Maria Joanna Frencken; 

• Jacobus 13 November 1775, parents Joannis Aaron and Elizabeth van de Manacker. Witnesses Petrus 

van de Manacker and Maria van den Heuvel; 
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• Maria Lucia 27 February 1778, parents Joannis Aaron and Elizabeth Janssen van den Maenacker. 

Witness Henricus Janssen van den Maenacker and Lucia Fiddelaers; 

• Petrus 16 February 1780, parents Joannes Aron and Elisabeth de Manacker. Witness Hendricus Grasten 

and Joanna van de Manacker; 

• Joannes Michael 4 April 1785, parents Joannes Arons and Elisabeth van den Mannacker. Witness 

Michael Vaessens and Catharina Smeets; 

• Catharina Elisabeth 30 October 1789, parents Joannes Arons and Elisabeth van den Mannacker. Witness 

Jacobus Baesen and Gertrudis Souts; 

 

Then I decided to try to find the original registration of the first baptism, because it apparently lacked 

information of the parents. I was lucky that LDS placed a copy on the internet (FamilySearch) 

 

 
o Augustus, 14ta baptisati sunt judai conjuges: Joannes Aaron aetatis triginta duorum annorum, natus 

Dessaviae et Clara David aetatis viginti octo annorum, nata in Derenbergh prope Halberstadium 

susceptor utriusque R.D. Joannes Keuten huius parochial vicepastor (Family Search, Netherlands, 

Limburg, Church Records 1542-1910, rooms katholiek, Weert, Dopen 1763-1762, image 128 and 54 of 

756) 

 

I’m not familiar with church-Latin but I understand from the above that Joannes Aaron, 32 years old, 

born in Dessau and Clara David 28 years old, born in Derenberg were baptized (Rooms Katholiek) on 

14 August 1771. I also understand that Joannes and Clare were a Jewish couple. 

Clara David was born (came from) Derenberg im kreis Halberstadt, which is located 92 kilometers due 

West from Dessau. 

Joannes Aaron is born in 1740 in Dessau. He could be the father of Hartog. In that case Joannes was 

probably married (Jewish marriage) with Clara David in Dessau and they had a son Hartog, born in 

Dessau. Hartog was about 6 years old when his supposed parents were baptised in Weert. 

In other words the Parish Register Transcripts were a bit misleading in this case. 

I could not find a registration where Hartog was baptized in Weert neither evidence that he lived in 

Weert. Hence there is no concrete evidence that Hartog is the son of Joannes Arons and Clara David. 

The fact that he embarked in the Netherlands on a vessel, has a Jewish name and fits in age-wise make 

it –very- likely that Joannes and Clara are his parents. However, in absence of further evidence I shall 

start the pedigree chart from Hartog Aronds onwards. 

 

 

Descendants of Hartog Aronds 

Aronds - Generation I 

 

 

I Hartog Aronds aka Hartog Arons is son of N.N. Aronds is born around 1765 in Dessau, Sachsen-

Anhalt, Germany. He is sailor from 19 October 1785 until he arrived and settled in Padang somewhere 

between mid November 1787 and end of January 1788 and became soldier. He died probably before 

1823 as he is not mentioned in the registration of 1823 (NA, Archief Koloniën, 1814-1849, 

toegangsnummer 2.10.01, Register van het Europese personeel op Java en Madoera, als mede van hunne 

mannelijke afstammelingen, 1 augustus 1823). 

Hartog married around 1794, about 29 years old with Christina Catharina Tegoea. Christina Catharina 

died before 1843 (according to the death registration of Daniel Pieter Aronds) 
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Five children are known: 

 

1 Willem Frederik Aronds born around 1796 in Padang, see II-A. 

 

2 Catharina Christina Aronds aka Cristina Catharina Aronds was born around 1799 in Padang. 

She died on 20 November 1864 in Padang, about 65 years old. 

 

Nr.54 Heden den een en twintigsten november 1864 verschenen voor mij … Carl Friederich Emil 

Holtzinger, in zijne betrekking van schoonzoon tot de overledene, oud veertig jaren, van beroep 

waarnemend kommies bij de comptabiliteit ter Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang en Carl Eguinius 

von Liebenstein, oud drie en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Assistent Resident en Magistraat van 

Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij verklaard dat op den twintigsten november 1864 des voormiddags ten 

elf ure te Padang is overleden Catharina Cristina Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud vijf en se[stig jaren 

zon]der beroep, laatst [gewoond] hebbende te Pa[dang], weduwe van wijlen Johannes Frans Saulus, dochter 

van Hartog Aronds en van Christina Catharina Tegoea, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Catharina Christina marries around 1821, about 22 years old with Johannes Frans Saulus, about 

36 years old, son of Frans Saulus and Laurentia Magdalena. Johannes Frans Saulus, shoemaker 

lived in Padang, was born around 1785 in Padang. He died on 26 January 1849 in Padang, 63 

years old. 

 

No.zes Op heden vrijdag den zes en twintigsten januarij 1849 de klokke drie ure des namiddags zijn voor 

mij ondergeteekende … gecompareerd de personen van Dirk Pieter Borghardt, oud drie en veertig jaren, 

geboren te Padang en George Frederik Ungerer, oud drie en twintig jaen, geboren te Padang, beiden klerk 

op het Residentie kantoor te Padang en beide wonende te Padang [niet op foto: hun betrekkingen tot de 

overledene] verklaard dat op heden den zes en twintigsten januarij des jaars 1849 de klokke tien ure des 

voormiddags ten zijnen huize in de Damat alhier is overleden Johannis Frans Saulus, oud drie en zestig 

jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, echtgenoot van Christina Catharina Aronds, 

zoon van Frans Saulus en Laurentia Magdalena, Frans [??], echtelieden, beiden overleden. 

 

Johannes Frans and Catharina Christina had 7 children. 

One of these, nr.4, is Willem Saulus, who married (1) Josephina Wilhelmina Ivatts and (2) 

Cornelia Helena Alexander. See above under Alexander-II-9. 

 

3 Helena Cornelia Aronds aka Helena Christina Aronds was born on 5 December 1800 in Padang. 

She died on 11 July 1866 in Padang at the age of 65 years. 

 

No.18 Heden den twaalfden julij 1866 verschenen voor mij …. James Truffet Alexander, in zijne betrekking 

van zoon tot de overledene, oud drie en veertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, 

wonende te Padang en Hendrik Lawa, oud vier en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van de 

Assistent Resident en Magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 

elfden julij 1866 des voormiddags ten zeven ure te Padang is overleden Helena Cornelia Aronds, geboren 

te Padang, oud vijf en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Samuel 

Frederik Alexander, dochter van Hartog Aronds en Christina Catharina Tegoea, beide overleden. Van 

bovenstaande etc. 

No. 44. Hier rust S.F. Alexander, geb. Natal, overl. Padang 21 mei 1850, oud 56 jaar en H.C. Aronds, zijne 

echtgenoote, geb. Padang, overl. 11 juli 1866, oud 65 jaar. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, Padang) 

 

Helena Cornelia marries around 1819 about 19 years old with Samuel Frederik Alexander (See 

Part II Aleaxander Family, Decendants of Samuel Alexander, II) 

Samuel Frederik and Helena Cornelia had 14 children. 

 

4 Daniel Pieter Aronds born around 1804 in Padang, see II-B. 
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5 Christina Helena Aronds aka Cristina Helena Aronds was born around 1806 in Padang. 

She died on 30 April 1872 in Padang, at the age 65. 

 

Nr.18 Heden den eersten mei 1872 verschenen voor mij … James Truffet Alexander, neef van de 

overledene, oud negen en veertig jaren, van beroep zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te 

Padang en Jan Walraven Borst, oud vijf en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den dertigsten 

april 1872 des morgens ten vier ure te Padang is overleden Christina Helena Aronds, geboren te Padang, 

oud vijf en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Friedrich Wilhelm 

Albrecht August von Kotzau, dochter van Hartog Aronds en Christina Catharina Tegoea, beiden overleden. 

Etc. 

 

Cristina Helena married on 14 October 1835 in Padang with with freiherr Friederich Wilhelm 

Albrecht August von Kotzau, son of freiherr Friedrich Aemilius von Kotzau en Anna Elizabeth 

Justine von der Hude. 

 

Nummer vier Op heden woensdag den veertienden october des jaars 1835 de klokke vier ure des na de mid 

dagen zijn voor mij ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de personen van Friederich Wilhelm Albrecht 

August von Kotzou, van beroep klerk op het Residentie kantoor te Padang, oud circa vijf en dertig jaren, 

woonachtig te Padang en Christina Helena Aronds, oud circa negen en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, 

woonachtig te Padang, … De getuigen zijn Willem Frederik Aronds, oud 38 jaren, van beroep h???ilder 

woonachtig te Padang, broeder van de comparante en Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud een en veertig jaren, 

van beroep adjunct ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten, woonachtig te Padang, zwager van de 

comparante. 

 

Friederich Wilhelm Albrecht August was born on 23 October 1800 in Dergeloh [=Dörrieloh, 

Landkreis Diepholz, Niedersachsen], Germany. He was clerk at the home office in Padang. He 

died on 28 April 1837 in Padang, 36 years old. 

 

Nummer zestien Sterfgeval van Friederich Wilhelm Albrecht August von Kotzau 

Op heden zaterdag den negen en twintigsten april des jaars 1837 de de klokke xxx des xxxx xxxddags zijn 

voor mij ondergeteekende …. gecompareerd de personen van Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud drie en 

veertig jaren, kommies op het Residentie kantoor, woonachtig te Padang en James Saint Pourçain, oud drie 

en twintig jaren, klerk op het Residentie kantoor, woonachtig te Padang, ieder in zijn betrekking als de 

eerste die van zwager, de tweede in die van goede bekende tot den overledenen, verklaarden dat op den 

acht en twintigsten april dezes jaars de klokke twaalf ure des middags ten zijne huize aan den overkant van 

de Padangsche rivier is overleden Friederich Wilhelm Albrecht August von Kotzau, oud zes en dertig jaren, 

geboortig van Dergeloh district Ehrenburg en Hagen, echtgenoot van Christina Helena Aronds, zoon van 

Friederich Emelius von Kotzau en Anna Elizabeth Justina von der Hude, echtelieden, beide overleden 

zijnde, de laatste woonplaats der ouders niet bekend. Aldus etc. 

 

Friederich Wilhelm Albrecht August and Cristina Helena had two children. 
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Aronds - Generation II 

 

II-A Willem Frederik Aronds aka Willem Frederik Henderik Aronds, son of Hartog Aronds (I) and 

Christina Catharina Tegoea, clerk at the police office, tradepost holder in Poelo Batoe, merchant and 

seaman. He lived in Padang.  

He was born around 1796 in Padang. 

He died on 30 August 1851 in Padang, 55 years old. 

 

Nr.xx [de tekst is nauwelijks leesbaar] Heden den xxx augustus 1851 de klokke xxx verschenen voor mij …. 

William Richardson Davies in zijne betrekking tot schoonzoon tot den overledene, oud xx en dertig jaren, van 

beroep klerk(?) bij den xxxx te Padang, wonende te Padang en James Truffet Alexander(?) in zijne betrekking van 

xxx  xxxxx, oud acht(?) en twintig jaren, van beroep xxxx, wonende te Padang xxxx die mij hebben verklaard dat 

op den dertigsten augustus 1851 des morgens te half zes ure te Padang is overleden Willem Frederik Aronds, 

geboren te Padang, oud vijf en vijftig jaren, van beroep zeevarende, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

echtgenoot van Adriana Petronella Londt, zoon van Hartog Aronds en Christina Catharina Tegoea, echtelieden, 

beiden overleden. Aldus etc. 

 

Willem Frederik married around 1825, about 29 years old with Adriana Petronella Londt, about 25 

years old, daughter of Jacob Pieter Londt en Elizabeth Florentina. Adriana Petronella was born around 

1800 in Padang. She died on 6 January 1857 in Padang, about 57 years old. Please refer to Part IV the 

Londt Family for the transcription. 

 

Adriana Petronella was earlier married with (1) Thomas Richardson Davies. 

 

Willem Frederik and Adriana Petronella had 8 known children: 

 

1 Catharina Cristina Aronds was born around 1824/25 in Padang. 

She died on 28 August 1892 in Padang, 66 years old. 

 

No.46 Heden den 30 augustus 1892 verschenen voor mij, … Jozef Antonij Gomis, oud 45 jaren en Giliam 

Ros, oud 44 jaren, beiden van beroep eerste commies op het bureau van de Gouverneur van Sumatra’s 

Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 28 augustus 1892 des namiddags ten 

vijf en een half ure te Padang is overleden Catharina Christina Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud 66 jaren, 

zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Lambertus van Roode, verdere gegevens 

ontbreken. Etc. 

 

Catharina Cristina maried on 19 February 1846 about 21 years old with Lambertus van Roode. 

 

No.?? Op heden xxxx dezes jaars 1846 de klokke xxx ure des xx middags, zijn voor mij ondergeteekende 

… gecompareerd de personen van Lambertus van Roode, oud drie en dertig jaren, geboren te xxxxman, 

van beroep civiel gezaghebber te xxx xxxx, woonende te xxxx, en thans met verlof te Padang, xxx 

ongehuwd jongman, zoon van Jan van Roode en van de Javaansche vrouw xxx xxxx, beide overleden en 

Catharina Christina Aronds, oud een en twintig jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, ongehuwde jonge dochter, dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, 

echtelieden, beiden overleden en te Padang woonachtig. 

 

Lambertus van Roode was born in 1813 in Pekalongan, son of Jan van Roode and the Javanese 

woman Tjoembring. He was civil lieutenant governor and lived in Priaman, Tapanoeli and the 

Batoe Eilanden. He died on 4 August 1869 in Padang. 

 

No.34 Heden den 5 Augustus 1869 verschenen voor mij … Hendrik Lawa, zwager van den overledene, oud 

27 jaren en James Bennet Siant Pourçain, oud 29 jaren, beide van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 4 Augustus 

1869, des namiddags ten een ure te Padang is overleden Lambertus van Roode, geboren te Pekalongan, oud 
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56 jaren, van beroep gepensioneerd ambtenaar, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van 

Catharina Christina Aronds, zoon van Jan van Roode en de Javaansche vrouw Tjoembring, beide overleden. 

Etc. 

No. 34. L. van Roode, overl. Padang 4 aug.1869, oud 56 jaar. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, Padang) 

 

Lambertus van Roode and Catharina Cristina had probably only one child, Jacobus Casparus 

Frederikus van Roode who died on 8 January 1847. 

 

2 Carolina Elisabeth Aronds was born in 1827 te Padang. 

She died on 27 January 1891 in Batavia, 64 years old. 

 

Den 27e Januari jl. overleed Caroline Elizabeth van de Pol, geb. Aronds. Batavia, 14 Februari 1891. Wegens 

familiebetrekkingen eerst heden geplaatst. (RA 1892 en Java-bode: nieuws, handels- en advertentieblad 

voor Nederlandsch-Indie) 

 

Carolina Elizabeth married on 6 March 1847 in Padang, 19 years old with Hendrik Tieben. 

 

No.3 Huwelijk van Hendrik Tieben (weduwnaar van Maria Helena Reborgh) en Carolina Elisabeth Aronds 

Op heden Zaterdag den 6 Maart 1847, de klokke vijf ure des namiddags zijn voor mij ondergeteekende … 

gecompareerd de personen Hendrik Tieben, oud 26 jaren, geboren xxxx, van beroep xxx, wonende te 

Priaman, thans met verlof te Padang aanwezig, weduwnaar van wijlen Maria Helena Reborgh en Carolina 

Elisabeth Aronds, oud 19 jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, ongehuwde jonge dochter, wonende te 

Padang, die uitwijzens acte van den 7 Februarij des jaars 1847 nummer drie etc.etc. De getuigen zijn Emile 

Victor Joseph Waersegers, 32 jaar en Frederik van der Errelen, 31 jaar. 

 

Hendrik Tieben was born on 17 December 1820 in Utrecht, the Netherlands (WieWasWie), son 

of Hendrik Tieben and Johanna Rodina van Waard. He lived in Priaman and Airbangis & Rau. 

In the Almanak Hendrik (H.) Tieben is mentioned as ambtenaar ter beschikking in Natal (1853-

1854), Tappanolie (1853-1854) 

He died on 19 April 1854 in Padang. 

 

No.8 Heden den 20 April 1854 is voor mij … ontvangen een schriftelijke aangifte van overlijden hierna 

woordelijk als volgt. 

Militair Hospitaal te Padang 

Heden den 19 April 1854 xxxx dat op den 19 April 1854 des namiddags ten vijf ure in het hospitaal in 

hoofd dezes vermeld, is overleden Hendrik Tieben, geboren te Utrecht, oud 34 jaren, kommies bij het xx 

xxx te Priaman, laatstsgewoond hebbende te Priaman, echtgenoot van Carolina Aronds, zoon van Hendrik 

Tieben, overleden en Johanna Rodina van Waard, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. 

 

Hendrik earlier married on 27 May 1841 in Padang with Maria Helena Reborgh. 

 

Nummer twee Op heden den 27 Meij des jaars 1841, de klokke vier uren des namiddags, zijn voor mij …. 

gecompareerd de personen van Hendrik Tieben, oud 21 jaren, van beroep zoutpakhuismeester te Priaman, 

thans alhier aanwezig en Maria Helena Reborgh, oud 22 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die 

uitwijzend acte van den 5 Meij dezes jaars van 1841 behhorlijk in ondertrouw zijnde aangetekend, alwie 

van mij verzochten over te gaan tot het voltrekken van hun voorgenomen huwelijk, etc.etc. De getuigen 

zijn George Severing, 34 jaar en Anthonie Berkhoff Brand, 24 jaar. 

 

Hendrik Tieben and Carolina Elizabeth had three children. 

 

Carolina Elizabeth married on 14 January 1857 in Padang, 30 years old (2) with Henri Antoine 

van de Pol, 24 years old. 

 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


65 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part III 

Version 1 April 2015 

Nr.xx Henri Antoine van de Pol, geboren te Fort Bath in xxxx, oud ruim 24 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den 

agent der Nxxxxxx maatschappij, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Gerrit van de Pol, van beroep 

magazijnmeester der artillerie en Maria Josephina Antonia de Mahieu, zonder beroep, beide wonende te 

Groningen, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en Carolina Elizabeth Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud 

dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds en 

Adriana Petronella Londt, beiden overleden, vroeger gehuwd geweest met Hendrik Tieben, overleden, 

welke personen mij verzochten etc. De getuigen zijn Johan Frederik Christoffel Leijder, oud 26 jaren en 

Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, zwager der bruid, oud 43 jaren. 

 

Henri Antoine van de Pol was born on 5 November 1832 in Fort Bath, Zeeland, the Netherlands, 

son of Gerrit van de Pol and Maria Anthonia Josephina de Mahieu. (Zeeuws Archief, Zeeuwen 

Gezocht and Wiewaswie). He died on 29 February 1908 in Batavia, 75 years old. 

He was clerk in Padang (1858, in Padangsche Bovenlanden (1865), in Aijer-Bangis and Rau 

(1866-1867), Padang (1868). He was 2 ½ years on leave to the Netherlands due to illness (1868-

1870). Soon after his return he was placed in Batavia as clerk (18xx), president of the wees- en 

boedelkamer in Soerabaja (1880-1884) and in Batavia (1885-1893) 

 

Pol. Henri Antoine van de, Padang (1858) 

1865 April 27 Doodgeboren kind van de mannelijke kunne van Henri Antoine van de Pol; afdeeling Aijer-

Bangis en Rau 

Pol. Henri Antoine van de, Afdeeling Aijer-Bangis en Rau (1866-1867) 

Pol. Henri Antoine van de, Padang (1868) 

Pol. Henri van de, Batavia (1869) 

Verleend een tweejarig verlof naarNederland wegens ziekte, aan den kommies bij den assistent-resident 

voor de policie te Padang (Sumatara’s Westkust), H.A. van de Pol (Sumatra-courant 16-05-1868) 

Bij beschikking van Zijne Excellentie den Minister van Koloniën van 20 Januarij 1870 litt. APZ . no 13, is 

aan den Oost-Indischen ambtenaar met verlof in Nederland H A. van de Pol. laatstelijk kommies bij den 

assistent-resident voor de policie te Padang (Sumatra’s Westkust), verleend eene verlenging van verlof voor 

den tijd van zes maanden. (De locomotief (Samarang) 19-03-1870) 

Benoemd tot commies op het bureau van den assistent-resident van Buitenzorg (Batavia) de ambtenaar op 

non-activiteit H.A. van de Pol, laatstelijk commies op het bureau van den assistent-resident voor de politie 

te Padang (Sumatra’s Westkust) (De locomotief (Samarang) 20-04-1872) 

Pol. Henri Antoine van de Batavia (1872) 

Tot lid van de wees- en boedelkamer te Samarang, de kommies op het bureau van den assistent-resident 

van Buitenzorg H.A. van de Pol (Java-bode 06-01-1874) 

Pol, Henri Antoine van de Batavia 1873-1874-1875-1876-1877 

Pol, Henri Antoine van de Soerabaia 1883 

Pol, Henri Antoine van de Soerabaia 1884 

 

Henri van de Pol and Carolina Elizabeth had 6 children. 

 

3 Helena Adriana Aronds was born on 11 June 1829 in Padang. 

 

Nr.6 Op heden den dertiende juni 1829 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags is voor mij …. Gecompareerd 

de persoon van Falida, vroedvrouw alhier, vergezeld van Daniel Aronds en Alexander Krijgsman, beiden 

klerken op het residentiekantoor, alhier woonachtig als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant 

in betrekking van vroedvrouw mij heeft verklaard dat op donderdag den elfde juni 1829 de klokke vier ure 

des namiddags van Adriana Petronella Londt, huisvrouw van Willem Frederik Aronds geboren is een kind 

van de vrouwelijke kunne, wordende aan hetzelve kind de voornaam van Helena Adriana te geven. 

 

She died on 26 December 1897 in Padang, 68 years old. 

 

No.59 overlijden Helena Adriana Aronds (1897-12-26) 

Heden den 27 december 1897 verschenen voor mij … Giliam Ros, oud 50 jaren, van beroep eerste commies 

en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 44 jaren, van beroep tweede commies beiden op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 26 

december 1897 des voormiddags ten negen ure te Padang is overleden Helena Adriana Aronds, geboren te 
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Padang, oud 68 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van James Truffet 

Alexander, dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, beiden overleden. Etc. 

43. H.A. Alexander-Aronds, 11 juni 1824 [sic] - 26 dec. 1897. (IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften Padang) 

 

Helena Adriana married on 6 August 1853 in Padang, 24 years old with James Truffet Alexander, 

30 years old (See Part II Alexander Family, Decendants of Samuel Alexander, III) 

James Truffet Alexander and Helena Adriana had 12 children. (mentioned in Part II Alexander 

Family, under Decendants of Samuel Alexander, III) 

 

4 Magdalena Francina Aronds was born on 21 July 1832 in Padang. 

 

Nummer zeven Op heden den een en twintigsten julij des jaars 1832 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags is 

voor mij ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Pambala, vroedvrouw vergezeld van de 

persoenen van Daniel Pieter Aronds en Samuel Frederik Alexander, klerken op het Residentie kantoor, 

beide alhier woonachtig als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparante in betrekking van 

vroedvrouw mij heeft verklaard dat op heden de klokke half zeven ure des morgens van Adriana Petronella 

Londt, huisvrouw van Willem Frederik Aronds geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne, xxx aan 

hetzelve kind de voornaam van Magdalena Francina te geven. Alhier ten voorschreven dage etc. Hebbende 

de declarante geteekend met een kruisje verklaarde zij niet te […] 
 

She died on 20 June 1857 in Padang, 24 years old. She died in child-birth. 

 

No.10 Heden den twintigsten junij 1857 verschenen voor mij …. Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, in zijne 

betrekking van echtgenoot tot de overledenen, oud xxx en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij de 

vendu(?)meester te Padang, wonende te Padang, en William Richardson Davies in zijne betrekking van 

halve broeder tot de overledenen, oud acht en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den algemeen ontvanger te 

Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den twintigsten junij 1857 des morgens te half negen ure te Padang 

is overleden Magdalena Francina Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud vier en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, 

laatstgewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van voornoemden Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, dochter 

van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, beide overleden. 

No. 30. M.E. [sic] Aronds, echtgenoot van J.C. Frankhanel, geb. Padang 21 juli 1832, overl. 20 juni 1857. 

(IGV, CD-ROM, Grafschriften, Padang) 

 

Magdalena Francina married on 27 January 1855 in Padang, 22 years old with Johan Christiaan 

Frankhanel, 41 years old. 

 

Nr.xx Heden den xx 1855 verschenen voor mij … Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, geboren te Batavia, oud 

ruim een en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij het xxxxxment te Padang, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige 

zoon van Johan Daniel Frankhanel, van beroep adjudant landmeter(?) te Batavia, wonende te Batavia en 

Helena Dorothea van Campen, overleden, ongehuwd en Magdalena Francina Aronds, geboren te Padang, 

oud ruim twee en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Willem 

Frederik Aronds, overleden en Adriana Petronella Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, ongehuwd. 

Welke personen mij verzochten etc. 

 

Johan Christiaan Frankhanel was born on 17 December 1813 in Batavia, son of Johan Daniel 

Frankhanel and Helena Dorothea van Campen. 

He was employee at the port and pilot department in Padang. He died on 18 February 1860 in 

Padang, 46 years old. 

 

No.4 Heden den 20 Februarij 1860 verschenen voor mij … Cornelis Kuhr, oud 47 jaren, van beroep 

voorzitter der Sumatrasche Weeskamer, wonende te Padang en Leonardus Johannes Andrée Wiltens, oud 

43 jaren, van beroep secretaris der Sumatrasche Weeskamer, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard 

dat op den 18 Februarij 1860 des namiddags te vijf ure te Padang is overleden Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, 

geboren te Batavia, oud ruim 46 jaren, van beroep klerk bij het Havendepartement te Padang, echtgenoot 

van Magdalena Francina Aronds, overleden, zoon van Johan Daniel Frankhanel en Helena Dorothea van 

Kampen, beiden overleden. Etc. 
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Johan Christiaan Frankhanel and Magdalena Francina had two children. 

 

5 Amelius Hartman Aronds was born on 26 June 1834 in Padang. See III-A 

 

6 Sara Adriana Aronds was born on 6 January 1837 in Padang. 

 

Nummer drie Op heden zaterdag den zevenden januari des jaars 1837 de klokke twaalf ure middags (?) is 

voor mij ondergeteekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Willem Frederik Aronds, oud negen en dertig 

jaren, zeeman van beroep, woonachtig te Padang, vergezeld van de persoonen van Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, oud drie en veertig jaren, kommies op het Residentie Kantoor, woonachtig te Padang, zwager 

van den declarant en James Saint Pourçain, oud twee en twintig jaren, klerk op het Residentie Kantoor, 

woonachtig te Padang, goede bekende van den declarant, als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de 

comparant mij heeft verklaard dat om middernacht van den vijfden op den zesden januarij dezes jaars, de 

klokke twaalf ure, van hem declarant en Adriana Petronella Londt zijn wettige huisvrouw, geboren is een 

kind van de vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van Sara Adriana te 

willen geven. Aldus etc. 

 

She died on 20 October 1838 in Padang, one year and nine months old 

 

Nummer drie en zeventig Sterfgeval van Sara Adriana Aronds 

Op heden zaterdag den twintigsten october de jaars 1838 de klokke tien ure des morgens zijn voor mij 

ondergeteekende …. Gecompareerd de personen van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud vier en dertig jaren, van 

beroep derde kommies bij den Ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten en Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, oud vijf en veertig jaren, van beroep tweede kommies op het Residentie kantoor, beide wonende 

te Padang, dewelke, ieder in zijne betrekking, de eerste als omi en de tweede als goede bekende van de 

overledene, verklaarden dat op heden morgen de klokke vijf ure ten huize van ouders is overleden Sara 

Adriana Aronds, oud een jaar en negen maanden, geboortig van Padang, welke van Willem Frederik Aronds 

en Adriana Petronella Londt, echtelieden, den ouders te Padang. Aldus etc. 

 

7 Clementina Adriana Aronds was born on 15 December 1839 in Padang. 

 

Nr.xx Op heden maandag xxx des jaars 1839 de klokke tien ure des morgens zijn voor mij ondergeteekende 

... Willem Frederik Aronds, oud drie en veertig jaren, van beroep zeeman, wonende te Padang, vergezeld 

van de personen van Christiaan de Haze Winkelman, oud negen en dertig jaren, kommies op het kantoor 

van den Kolonel Civiel en Militair Gouvernement xxx Westkust van Sumatra en James Saint Pourçain, oud 

vier en twintig jaren, klerk bij den Kolonel Civiel en Militair Gouverneur xxxx, beide alhier woonachtig, 

goede bekenden van den comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op gisteren zondag den vijftienden december 

des jaars 1839 de klokke acht ure des avonds van hem declarant en Adriana Petronella Londt, oud een en 

dertig jaren, zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne van hetwelk de 

comparant verklaarde de voornamen van Clementina Adriana te willen geven, Aldus etc. 

 

She died on 12 January 1868, 28 years old. 

 

Nr.4 Heden den veertienden januarij 1868 verschenen voor mij … Eduard Schönherr, oud negen en veertig 

jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang en 

Paulus Casper van Daalen, oud drie en twintig jaren van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur 

van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den twaalfden januarij 1868 

des morgens ten vijf en een half ure te Padang is overleden Clementina Adriana Aronds, geboren te Padang, 

oud acht en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Hendrik 

Lawa, dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, beide overleden. Etc 

 

Clementina Adriana married (1) on 12 January 1857, 17 years old in Padang with Johannes 

Rudolph Hoffmann, 28 years old. 
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Nr.1 Heden den twaalfden januarij 1857 verschenen voor mij …. Johannes Rudolph Hoffmann, geboren te 

xxxxxxxxx in de xxxxxxxx, oud acht en twintig jaren, van beroep koopman geëmployeerde, wonende te 

Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Christiaan Frederik Hoffmann, gepensioneerd kapitein der infanterie van 

het xxxx xxx Indische xxxx, geboren te Heus bij Nijmegen en de Inlandsche vrouw Reila(?), overleden, 

zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en Clementina Adriana Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud zeventien 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana 

Petronella Londt, beiden overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Welke personen etc. De getuigen 

zijn William Richardson Davies, halve broeder der bruid, oud 37 jaren en Johan Christiaan Frankhanel, 

zwager der bruid, oud 43 jaren. 

 

Johannes Rudolph Hoffmann was son of Christiaan Frederik Hoffmann and the native woman 

Reila(?). He was merchant in Padang He died on 1 February 1860 in the Padangse Bovenlanden. 

Johannes Rudolph Hoffmann and Clementina Adriana had one child. 

 

Clementina Adriana married (2) on 15 January 1866, 26 years old with Hendrik Lawa, 24 years 

old son of Hendrik Lawa en Sie Rapat. 

 

Nr.1 Heden den vijftienden juni 1866 verschenen voor mij …. Hendrik Lawa, geboren te Padang, oud vier 

en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent Resident en Magistraat van Padang, 

wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Hendrik Lawa, overleden en de Maleische vrouw Sie Rapat, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, en Clementina Adriana Aronds, 

geboren te Padang, oud zeven en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter 

van Willem Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, beiden overleden, vroeger gehuwd geweest met 

Johannes Rudolph Hoffmann, overleden. Welke personen etc. De getuigen zijn Willem Daniel Londt, in 

zijne betrekking van neef der bruid, oud ruim 25 jaren en Frederik Willem Ramballais Tessensohn, oud 

ruim 26 jaren. 

 

Hendrik Lawa was born on 21 December 1841 in Padang and was clerk with the assisant resident 

in Padang. He died on 20 April 1916 in Padang, 74 years old. 

 

No.6 Heden den 20 April 1916 verschenen voor mij …. Giliam Ros, oud 68 jaar, van beroep hoofdcommies 

op het bureau van den Resident van Sumatra’s Westkust en Charles Gustave Broers, zwager van den 

overledene, oud 62 jaar, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard 

dat op den 20 April 1916, des voormiddags ten zeven ure en tien minuten te Padang is overleden Hendrik 

Lawa, geboren te Padang, oud 74 jaar, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

echtgenoot van Cristina Broers, zoon van Hendrik Lawa em de Maleische vrouw Si Rapat, beiden 

overleden. Etc. 

 

Hendrik Lawa, weduwnaar van Clementina Adriana Aronds, married on 14 January 1872 with 

Cristina Broers, daughter of Augustinus Broers en Sie Carora. 

 

Hendrik Lawa and Clementina Adriana had one child. 

 

8 Christina Aronds was born on 5 June 1842 in Padang. 

 

Nummer achttien Op heden maandag den zesden junij des jaars 1842 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags 

is voor mij ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud [..] van beroep 

waarnemend ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, vergezeld van de personen van 

William Richardson Davies, oud drie en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Recherche alhier en Dirk 

Pieter Borghardt, oud drie en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk op het policie kantoor, beide wonende te 

Padang, als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de eerst genoemde comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op 

gisteren zondag den vijfden junij dezes jaars 1842 de klokke vier uren des namiddags van Adriana 

Petronella Londt, oud drie en dertig [sic!] jaren, huisvrouw van Willem Frederik Aronds, oud vijf en veertig 

jaren, van beroep zeeman en als zoodanig op het oogenblik van deze plaats afwezig, ten huize van hem 

voornoemde Willem Frederik Aronds is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne, wordende van 

hetzelve kind den voornaam van Christina gegeven. Aldus etc. 
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Christina died on 12 April in Padang, 16 years old. 

 

No.?? Heden den dertienden april 1859 verschenen voor mij … William Richardson Davies in zijne 

betrekking van halve broeder tot den overledene, oud een en veertig jaren, van beroep kommies bij ‘slands 

kas te Padang, wondende te Padang, en Carl Egeunius von Liebenstein, oud acht en twintig jaren, van 

beroep klerk bij den Adsistent Resident van Padang, wondende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op 

den twaalfden april 1859 des nachts te elf ure te Padang is overleden Christina Aronds, geboren te Padang, 

oud ruim vijftien jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, dochter van Willem 

Frederik Aronds en Adriana Petronella Londt, beiden overleden. 

 

 

II-B Daniel Pieter Aronds aka Daniel Aronds, son of Hartog Aronds (I) and Christina Catharina 

Tegoea was born about 1804 in Padang. 

He was clerk with various public services in Padang. 

He died on 24 September 1843 in Padang, 39 years old. 

 

Nummer acht en vijftig Op heden dingsdag [sic] den zes en twintigsten september des jaars 1843 de klokke tien 

ure des morgens zijn voor mij …. Gecompareerd de personen van James Saint Pourçain, oud negen en twintig 

jaren, geboortig van Padang, oud xxx bij den koopman xxxx, wonende te Padang en Willem Frederik Aronds, oud 

zes en veertig jaren, van beroep zeevarende, en te Padang woonachtig, die ieder in zijn betrekking, de eerste als 

stiefzoon en de tweede als broeder des overledene verklaarden dat op zondag den vier en twintigsten september 

dezes jaars 1843 de klokke vijf ure des namiddags ten zijnen huize te Padang is overleden Daniel Pieter Aronds, 

oud negen en dertig jaren, geboortig van Padang, van beroep tweede kommies bij het Departement der inkomende 

en uitgaande regten te Padang, echtgenoot van Elizabeth Maria Hartog, zoon van Hartog en Christina Catharina 

Tegoea, beide overleden. Aldus etc. 

 

Daniel Pieter married on 7 December 1831 in Padang, 27 years old with Elizabeth Maria Hartog, 31 

years old. 

 

Nr. vier Op heden woensdag den zevenden december 1831 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergeteekende …. De personen van Daniel Pieter Aronds, klerk op het Residentie kantoor te Padang en 

Elizabeth Maria Hartog, zonder beroep, beide alhier woonachtig, die uitwijzens acte, van den xxx november 

jongstleden behoorlijk in ondertrouw zijnde aangekondigd als nu van mij verzochten over te gaan tot het 

voltrekken van hun voorgenomen huwelijk, aangezien de drie afkondigingen hebben plaats gehad de eerste op den 

twintigsten, de tweede op den zeven en twintigsten november jongstleden en de derde op den vierden dezer maand, 

zonder dat verzet tegen het huwelijk geopperd zij, zoo heb ik aan hen verzocht … De getuigen zijn Jan Frederik 

van Ginkel, kommies bij den ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, William Ivatts, klerk op het 

Residentie kantoor te Padang en Cornelis Krijgsman, burger alhier woonachtig, zonder beroep. 

 

Elizabeth Maria Hartog was born in 1799/1800 in Padang, daughter of Dirk Hartog and the native 

woman Sie Pikier. She died on 11 June 1875 in Padang 75 years old. 

 

Nr.136 Heden de elfden junij 1875 verschenen voor mij … James Bennet Saint Pourçain, oud vier en dertig jaren 

en Carel James Peltzer, oud drie en dertig jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van 

Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den elfden junij 1875 des morgens ten 

zes ure te Padang is overleden Elizabeth Maria Hartog, geboren te Padang, oud zes en zeventig jaren, zonder 

beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Daniel Peter Aronds, dochter van Dirk Hartog en de 

Inlandsche vrouw Sie Pikier, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Daniel Pieter and Elizabeth Hartog adopted two children on 23 january 1839. By then they were married 

for 7 years and –to my knowledge- childless. 

 

1 Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold was born on 28 April 1826 in Padang. She was adopted on 23 January 

1839. 

 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


70 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part III 

Version 1 April 2015 

Nummer twee Heden den drie en twintigsten januarij des jaars van 1839 is voor mij …. Verschenen de 

persoon van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud vier en dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, kommies bij den ontvanger 

der inkomende en uitgaande regten aldaar, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard te zijn geadopteerde 

vader van de persoon thans bekend onder de naam van Louisa Wilhelmina, geboren 28 april van het jaar 

1826 te Padang en aangezien deze persoon nog geen vasten geslachtsnaam heeft en dezelfde grootvader 

van vaderszijde alsmede dezelfde vader onbekend zijn, mij verder de voldoening aan het besluit van het 

Gouvernement van den 12 april des jaars 1837 nummer xxx heeft verklaard voor gemelde Louisa 

Wilhelmina aan te nemen den geslachtsnaam Reijnold en de voornamen van Louisa Wilhelmina te 

behouden die zich mits dien in den vervolge zal hebben de namen in te schrijven Louisa Wilhelmina 

Reijnold. 

 

She died on 23 March 1894 in Padang,68 years old. 

 

Nr.10 Heden den 31 maart 1894 verschenen voor mij … James Bennet Saint Pourçain, neef van de 

overledene, oud 52 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den havenmeester te Padang en Charles 

Richardson Davies, oud 33 jaren, van beroep handels-geëmployeerde, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij 

hebben verklaard dat op den 30 maart 1894 des voormiddags ten acht en een half ure te Padang is overleden 

Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold, geboren te Padang, oud 68 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te 

Padang, weduwe van William Saint Pourçain, verdere gegevens ontbreken. Etc. 

Ten huize van de Weduwe J.P. Krijgsman overleed zacht en kalm na eene kortstondige ziekte Vrouwe L.W. 

St. Pourçain geb. Reinhold in den ouderdom van 68 jaren. Padang, 6 April 1894. (Bataviaasch handelsblad 

23-04-1894) 

 

2 Eduard Lucius Aronds was born on 23 March 1835 in Padang and adopted on 23 January 1839 

(on the same day as Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold). 

 

Nummer drie Geboorte en Adoptie Eduard Lucius (later genaamd) Aronds (1835-03-23) 

Heden den drie en twintigsten januarij 1839 is voor mij …. Verschenen de persoon van Daniel Pieter 

Aronds, oud vier en dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, kommies bij de ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande 

rechten aldaar, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard te zijn geadopteerde vader van den persoon 

thans bekend onder de naam van Eduard Lucius, geboren drie en twintigsten maart 1835 te Padang en 

aangezien deze persoon nog geen vaste geslachtsnaam bezit en deszelfe grootvader van vaders zijde 

alsmede deszelfe vader onbekend zijn, mij verder in voldoening aan het besluit van het gouvernement van 

12 april 1837 nr. 3, heeft verklaard, voor melde Eduard Lucius aan te nemen de geslachtsnaam van Aronds 

en de voornamen van Eduard Lucius te behouden, die zich mitsdien in den vervolg zal hebben te noemen 

en te schrijven Eduard Lucius Aronds. Etc. 

See Generation III-B 

 

On 23-01-1839 Daniel Pieter Aronds appeared before the ambtenaar of the BS in Padang to declare 

Eduard Lucius as his adopted son, .born in 23-03-1835. As his father or grandfather from father’s side 

are unknown; he was given the family name Aronds. 

On the same day Daniel Peter appeared to declare Louisa Wilhelmina as well; she was given the family 

name of Reijnold. 

Later in 26-05-1860, at the marriage declaration of Eduard Lucius with Liontina Broers, Elizabeth Maria 

Hartog is mentioned as Eduard Lucius’ adop[tie]moeder (adoptive mother). 

 

Author did not find evidence that Daniel Pieter Aronds and Elizabeth Maria Hertog did have natural 

children. 
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Aronds – Generation III 

 

III-A Amelius Hartman Aronds, son of Willem Frederik Aronds (II-A) en Adriana Petronella Londt 

(see under Londt III-A-3), was born on 26 June 1834 in Padang. 

 

Nr.xx Op heden donderdag den zes en twintigsten junij des jaars 1834 de klokke elf ure des morgens is voor mij 

ondergeteekende …. Gecompareerd de persoon van William Frederik Aronds, handelaar van beroep en te Padang 

woonachtig, vergezeld van de personen Frans van Daalen en James Saint Pourçain beide klerken op het Residentie 

kantoor als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op heden datum de klokke 

negen ure van hem declarant en Adriana Petronella Londt zijne wettige huisvrouw geboren is een kind van de 

mannelijke kunne aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen te geven van Amelius Hartman. Aldus etc. 

 

He was living in Padang (1852-1859) Padangsche Bovenlanden (1860-1865), Tapanoli (1866-1870), 

Padang (1871), Padangsche Bovenlanden, Fort de Kock (1872-1874), ?? (1875), Tjeringin (1876-1877),  

Meester Cornelis (1878-1879), Batavia (1880-1883), Buitenzorg (1883-1886), ?? (1887-1890). 

He apparently made a trip to Batavia in 1872: 

 

Aangekomen passagiers te Padang, den 29 Mei van Batavia met het N.I. stoomschip ‘Vice President Prins’ .. A.H. 

Aronds. (Sumatra-courant 30-05-1872) 

 

And later, on 18 August 1875, he moved to Batavia: 

 

Vertrokken persoonen: den 18 dezer [augustus] naar Batavia per stoomer ‘Mackinnon’ … A.H. Aronds met 

echtgenoot en 9 kinderen. (Sumatra-courant 21-08-1875) 

 

He was zoutverkooppakhuismeester: 

 

En is tijdelijk belast met de waarneming der betrekking van zoutverkopppakhuismeester te Bekassie (residentie 

Batavia) A.H. Aronds, eervol uit zijne betrekking ontslagen zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Laboean (residentie 

Bantam) (Batviaasch handelsblad 28-07-1877) 

Ontslagen: uit ’s lands dienst, de gewezen zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Bekassi [at 20km distance from Batavia], 

A.H. Aronds (Bataviaasch handelsblad 18-06-1879) 

 

Shortly before he died: 

 

De gewezen zoutverkooppakhuismeester A.H. Aronds heeft zich candidaat gesteld voor 3e deurwaarder bij den 

Raad van Justitie alhier [Batavia] (Bataviaasch handelsblad 24-07-1891) 

 

He died on 21 August 1891 in Buitenzorg, 57 years old. 

 

Op den 22 Augustus 1891 overleed te Buitenzorg in den ouderdom van 57 jaar onze geliefde vader Amelius 

Hartman Aronds. Namens de familie, K.F. Aronds. Blora, 23 Augustus 1891 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 29-08-

1891) 

 

Amelius Hartman married on 20 November 1867 in Sidempoean, 33 years old with Sie Rapia aka Maria 

Magdalena, 33 years old. Sie Rapia was born around 1834 in Nias. 

 

Getrouwd: A.H. Aronds met de moeder zijner kinderen, Padang-Sidempoean, den 29 Nov. 1867. (Sumatra-courant 

07-12-1867) 

 

She died on 6 March 1888 in Batavia / Weltevreden, see below. 

 

Amelius Hartman and Sie Rapia had 10 children at least; the first 3 were legalized by their marriage in 

1867: 
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1 Willem Frederik Aronds was born on 6 January 1860 in Pajacomba, Padangse Bovenlanden. See 

IV-A. 

 

2 Francina Petronella Aronds was born on 8 April 1861 in Fort de Kock. 

She died on 12 july 1930 in Batavia, 69 years old. 

 

Meester Cornelis, (Algemeene Begraafplaats). 

376. Hier rust / onze lieve moeder en grootmoeder / Francoise Petronellla / Gossiaux geb. Aronds / geb. te 

Fort de Kock 8 April 1861 / overl. Te Weltevreden 12 Juli 1930 / Rust in vrede. (701) (IGV, CDROM 

Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

Francina Petronella married on 27 December 1889 in Batavia, 28 years old with Willem August 

Gossiaux, 26 years old. 

 

P.F. Aronds [sic] moved to Nieuwe Laan 11, van Soerabaja [to Batavia] (Het nieuws van den dag 

voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 08-07-1929) 

 

Willem August Gossiaux was born on 18 October 1863 in Padang, son of August Theodoor 

Gossiaux and Susan Sophie Maidman. He died on 25 February 1918 in Batavia, 54 years old. 

 

3 Carolina Christina Aronds was born on 27 June 1862 in Fort de Kock. 

She died on 24 December 1921 in Batavia / Weltevreden, 59 years old. 

 

Batavia, Begraafplaats op Tanahabang Weltevreden (Afdeeling 11) 
306. Hier rusten / onze geliefde moeder / en grootmoeder,’ Maria Magdalena Aronds [=Sie Rapia] / 

overleden te Weltevreden / den 6 Maart 1888 / en / onze geliefde dochter / en zuster / Henriette Amelia 

Westhoff / geboren te Doetamatie,/ den 22 October 1889 / overleden te Mr. Cornelis den le Juni 1912 / en 

mijne lieve echtgenoote en onze lieve / moeder G. G. Westhoff-Aronds [G.G. = print- transcription error or 

stonecutter mistake] geboren te Fort / de Koek 27 Juni 1862 en overleden / te Weltevreden 24 December 

1921. (IGV, CDROM Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

Carolina Christina married on 23 May 1885 in Buitenzorg, 22 years old with Johannes Barend 

Westhoff born on 8 April 1864 in Pekalongan. His parents can only be established after 

verification of his births registration in Pekalongan as there are several ‘Westhoff”s living in 

Pekalongan in 1864. 

 

4? Louisa Henriette Aronds is probably a daughter born in the period 1863-1867. Please refer to my 

argumentation just prior to child number 8 below. I did not find her death registration. 

She married (1) on 22 August 1892 in Blora with Willem Frederik George Mente. Her brother(?), 

K.F. Aronds x H.Ch. Von Mosch lived in Blora in 1892. 

Willem Frederik George Mente died on 28 December 1914 in Pati. 

She married (2) on 3 October 1921 in Tjiandjoer with Anton Schrall. 

 

5? Antoinette Aronds is probably a daughter born in 1866. 

Antoinette Aronds died in Rembang on 6 August 1901, 35 years old, 72chtgenoote van … 

Cirkens. Her death registration in Rembang can confirm her parents. 

She (A. Aronds) married on 6 December 1894 in Djati Bagoes, Blora with Charles Henri Emile 

(Ch.H.E.) Cirkens. Charles Henri Emile Cirkens was born and christened on 26 February 1860 in 

Brugge, Belgium; son of Charles Philibert Cirkens and Rosalie Francisca Storm. He died on 13 

July 1905 in Ambarawa. 
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6 Karel Frederik Aronds was born on 1 June 1868 in Sidempoean, zie IV-B. 

 

7 Johanna Carolina Aronds was born on 30 September 1869 te Sinkel. 

I did not find her death registration. 

She (J.C. Aronds) married on 7 December 1894 in Blora with J.M. Mente. 

 

8 Eliza Cornelia Aronds was born on 4 September 1871 in Fort de Kock. 

She died on 14 September 1875 in Tjeringin, 4 years old. 

 

9 Henrie Ferdinand Maximiliaan Aronds was born on 17 August 1873 in Fort de Kock. 

He is particulier in Batavia (1899) 

 
Afgewezen is het verzoek van den heer H.F.M. Aronds, gewezen tijdelijk betaalmeester bij de werken en 

opnemingen aan de Solo-rivier, thans te Soerabaia, om toekenning van onderstand. (Soerabaijasch 

handelsblad, 06-02-1900) 

Benoemd: met ingang van 3 April 1900 tot zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Klaten, Soerakarta, de gewezen 

tijdelijk betaalmeester bij de werken en opnemingen [aan de] rivier de Solo, H.F.M. Aronds (De locomotief 

(Samarang) 21-03-1900) 

 

, zoutverkooppakhuismeester in Klaten (1901-1913), gepensioneerd zoutpakhuismeester in 

Klaten (1914-1915), maandgelder railways (1916-1919) and gepensioneerd zoutpakhuismeester 

in Bandoeng (1916-1919), in Buitenzorg (1920-1924), in Bandoeng (1925-1934), 

He is buitengewoon deurwaarder in Bandoeng (1827-1934) 

 
Uit een exploit van mij, deurwaarder, den 8en Augustus 1927 … te Bandoeng …… met van waarde-

verklaring van het bij procesverbaaal van den buitengewoon deurwaarder H.F.M. Aronds gelegd derden 

arrest. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 25-08-1927) 

Het interneeringsbesluit … werd ter hand gesteld aan den bg. Deurwaarder bij den Raad van Justitie te 

Batavia, in Bandoeng gevestigd, den heer H.F.M. ronds, teneinde … (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië 30-11-1934) 

 

He is not mentioned in1938 

 

He was mentioned in Bandoeng for a biljart match for the Java Biljart Bond (Het nieuws van den 

dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 04-06-1927) and in 1932 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 11-06-1932) I 

could not find his death registration 

 

He married on 4 November 1903 in Klaten, 30 years old with the Chinese women Ting Giang 

Nio, 24 years old. Ting Guang Njo was born around 1881 in Toeban, daughter of Ting Sik Bing 

and native woman Kasimah. She died on 7 April 1919 in Bandoeng. 

 
Bandoeng, (Oudste der nog bestaande Begraafplaatsen). 

569. Hier rust / onze geliefde / vrouw en moeder / Haar assche ruste in vrede / overleden te Bandoeng 7-4-

’19. (Zij was Ting Guang Njo, 38 jaar, geb. Toeban, hv. Henri Ferdinand Maximiliaan Aronds, gep. Ambtr. 

En dr. Van Ting Sik Bing en Inl. vrouw Kasimah). (IGV, CDROM Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch 

onderzoek) 

 

Two children who were acknowledged according to RA 1905 

1 Piet Henri Arends, born on 10 June 1900 in Klaten and 

2 Johanna Francisca Arends, born on 23 January 1903 in Klaten. 

They were probably erkend and legalized with this marriage. This shall better be verified. 

 

For sake of good order I like to mention that I allocated two more children –Louisa Henriette and 

Antoinette, whose birth I did not find- to Amelius Hartman based on the fact that A.H. Aronds is 

travelling in August 1875 with 9 children from Padang to Batavia. They might be erkend at the marriage 
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of Amelius Hartman and Sie Rapia in 1867. To my knowledge the marriages at that time are not available 

or not filmed by LDS. 

 

10 Johan David Aronds was born on 28 April 1876 in Tjeringin. 

He is clerk Post- en Telegraafdienst (P.T.d.) in Soerabaja (1899-1903), Weltevreden (1904-1918), 

Meester Cornelis (1919-1926), Weltevreden (1927), Bandoeng (1929-1934), gepensioneerd in 

Buitenzorg (1938-1941). 

 

Benoemd tot Hoofdcommies bij het Hoofdbureau bij den Post- en Telegraafdienst J. D. Aronds, thans Iste 

commies aldaar. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 26-11-1926) 

Op verzoek wegens volbrachten diensttijd, eervol en met recht op pensioen, uit ‘s lands dienst ontslagen, 

met ingang van 3 Augustus 1931 J.D. Aronds, hoofdcommies bij het hoofdbestuur van den Post-, Telegraaf 

en Telefoondienst. (De Indische courant 15-12-1930) 

 

He died after 1958 as he was interviewed around 1958 according to notes received by Centraal 

Bureau voor Genealogie on 5 May 1958. For convenience I have incorporated relevant text of 

these “aantekeningen” in Annex X. 

I did not find his death registration. 

He married on 17 October 1917 in Meester-Cornelis with Sitie Willemina (M. [Mien]) Simon. 

 

11 Frans Lodewijk Aronds was born on 27 April 1878 in Batavia. 

He died on 2 November 1878 in Meester Cornelis, 6 months old. 

 

12 Clementina Adriana Aronds was born on 29 April 1881 in Batavia. 

She died on 20 September 1885 in Buitenzorg, 4 years old. 

 

 

III-B Eduard Lucius Aronds, son of unknown father and mother as mentioned in the previous Section 

under II-B, 2 was born on 23 March 1835 and adopted on 23 January 1839. He was corporal (1856) and 

clerk and lived in Padang until 1875. 

 

E.L. Aronds moved on 18 August 1875 to Batavia: 

 

Vertrokken persoonen: den 18 dezer [augustus] naar Batavia per stoomer ‘Mackinnon’ … E.L. Aronds met 

echtgenoote en 6 kinderen (Sumatra-courant 21-08-1875) 

 

He died on 18 September 1875 in Soerabaja, 40 years old. 

registration 

 

Intermezzo - Investigation into Eduard Lucius Aronds’ Parents 

As we saw earlier in the registration of the adoption of Eduard Lucius his father and grandfather’s name 

were unknown: 

 

Heden den drie en twintigsten januarij 1839 is voor mij …. verschenen de persoon van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud 

vier en dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, … die mij heeft verklaard te zijn geadopteerde vader van den persoon 

thans bekend onder de naam van Eduard Lucius, geboren drie en twintigsten maart 1835 te Padang en aangezien 

deze persoon nog geen vaste geslachtsnaam bezit en deszelfe grootvader van vaders zijde alsmede deszelfe 

vader onbekend zijn, … 

 

Regarding his unknown father I like to recall the family tradition as mentioned by Johan David in an 

interview in 1958; please refer to Annex II for the full text. 
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+++ 

De enige overlevering, waarin iets over de historie van de familie Aronds wordt verhaald, doch welke helaas nog 

nergens is gecontroleerd, is de volgende: 

De famile Aronds zou oorspronkelijk uir Frankrijk afkomstig zijn, doch in die tijd een andere (thans niet bekende) 

naam hebben gehad. Om geloofsredenen is deze familie of enige leden daarvan uitgeweken naar Engeland, en daar 

een andere naam (dat is de huidige) hebben aangenomen. Door een houthandel is een Aronds vanuit Liverpool 

uitgezonden naar Oost Indie, waar hij zich op Sumatra’s Westkust, hetzij op het eiland Nias, hetzij in Padang 

gevestigd heeft. 

Aldus deze overlevering. In vroegere jaren zijn er familiepapieren geweest, waaruit het een en ander omtrent de 

juistheid van deze overlevering zou kunnen blijken, doch deze papieren zijn tijdens een brand verloren gegaan. 

+++ 

 

Earlier I demonstrated clear that ‘Aronds’ came from Germany, Dessau and that Hartog Aronds came 

into Padang more or less straight from the Netherlands. In other words: the family tradition is 

misleading. 

But what if we focus on Eduard Lucius’ natural father instead and assume that the name-change into 

‘Aronds’ did not happen in the UK or France but rather in Nederlands-Indië, in Padang when Eduard 

Lucius was adopted by Daniel Pieter Aronds and got the surname ‘Aronds’? His natural father could 

have a French sounding name and could have been sent from Liverpool to the East Indies for the timber 

trade. 

An interesting candidate is James Saint Pourçain, who shows up frequently as a witness in birth, 

marriage and death registrations in relation to the Aronds family. James Saint Pourçain was 21 years old 

when Eduard Lucius was born. The marriage registration of James Saint Pourçain and Anna Elizabeth 

Maidman on 23 August 1837 supports my hypothesis. 

 

Nummer vier Huwelijk van James Saint Pourçain en Anne Elizabeth Maidman 

Op heden den 23 augustus des jaars 1837, de klokke vijf ure des namiddags zijn voor mij …. Gecompareerd de 

persoonen van James Saint Pourçain, oud 23 jaren, geboortig van Padang, ongehuwd jongman, van beroep klerk 

op het Residentie kantoor en Anne Elizabeth Maidman, oud 21 jaren, geboortig van Benkoeloe, ongehuwde jonge 

dochter, zonder beroep, beide woonachtig te Padang, die uitwijzens acte van den 5 augustus dezes jaars nummer 

4 behoorlijk in ondertrouw zijnde aangeteekend. In tegenwoordigheid van Daniel Pieter Aronds, 33 jaren, 

kommies bij het Departement der inkomende en uitgaande regten, woonachtig te Padang en Samuel Frederik 

Alexander, oud 43 jaren, kommies op het Residentie kantoor, woonachtig te Padang. De eerste [=Daniel Pieter 

Aronds] stiefvader van den eersten comparant [=James Saint Pourçain] en de tweede goede bekende van de 

comparanten als getuigen. 

 

From the above we may conclude that Daniel Pieter’s wife Elizabeth Maria Hartog is James’ mother 

from an earlier marriage with a Saint Pourçain. James is born in 1814, and Elizabeth Maria in 1799. 

A possible scenario is that James had in 1835 a son –Eduard Lucius- with a native woman. But James 

married a European woman in 1837 and Eduard Lucius was not erkend or integrated into James’ 

marriage. The reason for adopting Eduard Lucius by Daniel Pieter in 1839 might be that Eduard Lucius’ 

natural mother died and James & Anne Elizabeth –still- not prepared for erkenning. 

 

James and Anne Elizabeth had children: on 11 May 1840 William Joseph and on 22 April 1843 

Margarret Evelina were born in Padang. ‘James’, ‘William Joseph’, ‘Margarret’ sound like English 

names whilst ‘Saint Pourçain’ sounds rather French. 

 

In this context it is remarkable that Eduard Lucius’ ‘step’sister Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold was married 

to a William Saint Pourçain. 

 

No.26 overlijden van William Saint Pourçain (1871-07-06) 

Heden den 10 Augustus 1871 heb ik … ontvangen een uittreksel uit het register tot inschrijving der acten van 

overlijden van Padang Pandjang aan deze acte gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt: 
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Etc. heden den 7 Julij 1871 verschenen voor mij … Henri Theuvenet, oud 31 jaar, van beroep transportaannemer 

en Carel Frederik Borgen, oud 33 jaar, van beroep opziener der tweede klasse bij de cultures, beiden wonende te 

Padang Pandjang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op donderdag den 6 Julij 1871 des namiddags ten twee ure te 

Padang Pandjang is overleden William Saint Pourçain geboren te Padang, ouderdom onbekend, van beroep klerk 

bij den kontroleur der recherche te Padang, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Louisa Wilhelmina 

Reijnold, ouders onbekend. Etc. 

 

William Saint Pourçain was born in 1819 and is probably James’ brother. 

 

The following advertisement in a local newspaper made me wonder if William is maybe an even more 

likely candidate as Eduard Lucius’ father? 

 

Oproeping van Debiteuren: William Saint Pourçain, klerk bij de recherche te Padang, overleden. Voor 31 October 

aan de execut test E.L. Aronds en C.E. von Liebenstein te Padang (De locomotief : Samarangsch handels- en 

advertentie-blad 15-11-1871) 

 

In order to answer this question a more precise birth date assessment shall be made plus respective ages 

at certain events: 

 

event name date age birth date 

    after before 

Decease Daniel Pieter Aronds James 1843-09-26 29 1813-09-26 1814-09-25 

Marriage Eduard Lucius Aronds James 1860-05-26 45+1 1813-05-26 1814-05-25 

Marriage James St.P. James 1837-08-23 23 1813-08-23 1814-08-22 

Birth daughter Alexander-Aronds James 1837-12-12 23 1813-12-12 1814-12-11 

Decease daughter Alexander-Aronds James 1836-03-07 21 1814-03-07 1815-03-06 

Birth daughter Alexander-Aronds James 1835-04-13 x x  

Birth Sara Adriana Aronds James 1837-01-07 22 1814-01-07 1815-01-06 

Birth Clementina Adriana Aronds James 1839-12-16 24+1 1813-12-16 1814-12-15 

Birth Amelius Hartman Aronds James 1834-06-26 x   

Decease von Kotzau, married Aronds James 1837-04-29 23 1813-04-29 1814-04-28 

      

Birth daughter Alexander-Aronds William 1841-01-29 22 1818-01-29 1819-01-28 

Birth son Alexander-Aronds William 1842-04-21 23 1818-04-21 1819-04-20 

Birth son of Eduard Lucius Aronds William 1861-01-28 42 1818-01-28 1819-01-27 

      

Marriage Eduard Lucius Aronds E.M. 1860-05-26 60 1799-05-26 1800-05-25 

Decease Elizabeth Maria E.M. 1875-06-11 76 1798-06-11 1799-06-10 

 E.M. 1831-12-07 x   

 

We may assume that 

• James Saint Pourçain was born in March/April 1814 (considering that 2 ages are probably wrong in 

the registration) 

• William Saint Pourçain was born in between end April 1818 and January 1819; 

• Elizabeth Maria Hartog was born in endMay/early June 1799 

 

• Elizabeth Maria Hartog was 14 years old when James was born; 

 

• William Saint Pourçain was 17 years old when Eduard Lucius was born; 

• William Saint Pourçain was 20 years old when Eduard Lucius was adopted; 
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When considering William as a candidate for Eduard Lucius’ father one could image that William had 

a relationship with a native woman and Eduard Lucius was born when William was 17 years old. 

William at that time living with his mother and stepfather in Padang. After 3 years, when William was 

20 years old, his parents decided to adopt Eduard Lucius, rather than William taking the burden of 

raising his child. Unfortunately I could not find William’s marriage date and associated registration with 

his –adopted- sister Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold.  

 

In the Registration of 1823 (including Padang) the Saint Pourçain’s are not mentioned. In the Naamlijst 

of 1831 J. St. Pourkain in Padang is mentioned for the first time; in 1832 J. St. Pourçain. 

I could not find passenger lists from vessels from Liverpool to the East Indies. It is possible that the 

Saint Pourçain’s settled in Nias –under Britsh rule until 1824- first and thereafter came to Padang. 

 

The following person would fit as the father of James and William: 

 

B.D. Pourcaine, merchant at Padang, aged about 40 years was buried on the 24 of April 1819 at Fort Marlbro’ 

(extracted from the factory records and the register of baptisms, mariages and burials of Fort Marlborough, with a 

wrong date, delivered by Alan Harfield, Bencoolen, the Christian cemetery & the Fort Marlborough monuments, 

London 1985 and N/7/1, Register of Marriages, Christenings and Burials at Fort Marlborough and its Subordinates, 

page 257; copy made available from British Library Imaging Services 

 
 

The thereupon following investigation into the East-India Registers (LDS film numbers xxx xxx xxx ) 

returned unfortunately no results. I conclude that timber trade company from Liverpool was not 

associated with the East India Company. The following supports my conclusion 

(forebears.co.uk/england/lancashire/Liverpool) 

 

The merchants of Liverpool trade to all parts of the world, except the East Indies; but the most beneficial trade is 

to the West Indies, the Baltic, America, Spain, Portugal, the ports of the Mediterranean, and the north and south 

Whale Fisheries. During the last war, this port carried on more foreign trade than any town in England; and such 

is the state of it at present, that there are near eight thousand vessels cleared from it in one year to different parts 

of the world. 

 

In the year 1792 an effort was made by the merchants to obtain a share of the East India trade. The approaching 

expiration of the East India Company’s charter, and the possibility of a partial or total abolition of the slave trade, 

led them to hope that this would be a favourable moment for their application. A public meeting of the merchants 

and inhabitants was accordingly held, within the Exchange, and some strong resolutions on the subject were 

unanimously voted. The situation of the country, however, about this time becoming more critical with respect to 

France, and the derangement which soon took place throughout the commercial part of the kingdom, and by which 

Liverpool was equally affected, suppressed the attempt, and no further public exertions were made for the 

attainment of an object, in which the interests both of Britain and the East Indies appear to be deeply concerned. 

An act was obtained, entitled (amongst other things) an Act for regulating the "Trade to and from the Places within 

the Limits of the East India Company’s Charter." By this Act of Parliament, the trade to the East Indies (China 

excepted) was thrown open, and since then about seventy vessels belonging to merchants of the port of Liverpool 

have been employed in the trade; chiefly to Calcutta, Bombay, and Fort William. 

And from a chonological list of events in the same article: First ship sailed from Liverpool to the East Indies in 

1814. [This entry is in slight friction with the estimated birth date of James Saint Pourçain in March/April 1814]. 
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The East India Company Act 1813', also known as the Charter Act of 1813, was an Act of the Parliament of the 

United Kingdom which renewed the charter issued to the British East India Company, and continued the 

Company's rule in India. However, the Company's commercial monopoly was ended, except for the tea trade and 

the trade with China. (Wikipedia) 

 

ABSTRACT of 54 Geo. III. Cap. 34. (17th December 1813.) Intituled " An Act for the further Regulation of the 

Trade to and from the Places within the Limits of the Charter of the East India Company”. 

1st. After the 10th of April 1814, British subjects may trade to any intermediate port or place between the United 

Kingdom and the limits of the Charter of the East India Company situate in North and South America, (except any 

British colony in America,) and to the Island of Madeira, the Canaries, and Cape de Verde Islands, the Island of 

St. Helena, and the Cape of Good Hope, and to take on board any goods which can be legally carried from any of 

such intermediate ports or places. And British subjects may carry on trade in ships navigated according to law, 

directly and circuitously, between all ports and places within the limits of the said Company's Charter, except the 

dominions of the Emperor of China, any thing contained in any Charter of the said Company, or in any Act of 

Parliament to the contrary notwithstanding. Provided that nothing in this Act shall extend to authorize any of His 

Majesty's subjects, other than the said Company, to trade in tea between any such ports or places and the United 

Kingdom. 

2d. Provided 1st, That nothing in this Act shall extend to repeal or alter the restrictions and provisions of the 53 

Geo. III. cap. 155, as to the size of vessels allowed to clear out or enter at any port of the United Kingdom, or as 

to any licences, certificates, or lists, or any of the restrictions or provisions respecting the resort to and residence 

of any persons in the East Indies : Provided also, that all trade with all ports and places upon the Continent of Asia, 

from the river Indus to the town of Malacca inclusive, or any Island under the Government of the said Company, 

lying to the north of the Equator, or the said Company's factory at Bencoolen and its dependencies, shall continue 

subject to all such regulations and provisions, as shall from time to time be in force, under the authority of the 

Company's local Governments in India. (A treatise on the wealth, power, and resources of the British empire in 

every quarter of the world incliding East Indies, by Patrick Colquhoun, London 1814 delivered by GoogleBooks) 

[in short this Charter abolished the monopoly of the EIC in India, but kept it in China] 

 

But within the East India Company Padang and Bencoolen had a very low profile and the correctness 

of the registrations may be doubtfull. 

 

(Check death registration of Eduard Lucius in Soerabaja, LDS and weeskamer documentation as well 

as notariele documenten from Padang around 1875)  

 

In summary the family tradition and facts & findings can be aligned as follows: 

 

Family tradition Findings and facts 

The Aronds family came from France bearing 

another name 

Saint Pourçain is probably French; 

Saint Pourçain sur Sioulle is actually a small town 

in the Allier department in Auvergne in central 

France 

For reasons of faith the family emigrated to 

England 

 

The family adopted another name in England The name change happened in Padang, when 

Eduard Lucius was adopted 

An Aronds was sent by a timer trading company 

from Liverpool to the East Indies, Sumatra’s 

Westcoast and  

He is not mentioned in the East India registers 

he settled in Nias or Padang B.D. Pourcaine was merchant in Padang 

Johan David Aronds recollects this family 

tradition 

He is a son of Amelius Hartman Aronds and NOT 

liaised with Saint Pourçain 

 

Only the last item weakens the case somewhat, but I see no direct conflict. 
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If the reader accepts the above argumentation, the following amendments are justified: 

 

Saint Pourçain – Generation I 

 

I B.D. Pourcaine was born in 1779. He was a merchant in Padang (1819). He was buried on 24 

April 1819 at Fort Marlborough. 

He had a relationship with Elizabeth Maria Hartog. Elizabeth Maria Hartog was born between 26 May 

and 10 June 1799 in Padang, daughter of Dirk Hartog and the native woman Sie Pikier. She died on 11 

June 1875 in Padang 75 years old. 

Elizabeth Maria Hartog, 32 years old married (2) on 7 December 1831 in Padang, 27 years old with 

Daniel Pieter Aronds (IIB) 

 

From this relationship two children are known: 

 

1 James Saint Pourçain was born between 5 and 23 April 1814 in Padang. See IIA. 

 

2 William Saint Pourçain was born between 21 April and 11 May 1818 in Padang(?). See IIB 

 

II-A James Saint Pourçain was born between 5 and 23 April in Padang. He was clerk in Padang (1834-

1838), merchant (1843-1860), diaken bij de Maleische gemeente (1854). He died on 7 July 1871 in 

Batipoe en X Kotta’s. But this registration appears to be an error. Later I made a search on the Roosje 

Roos website for Saint Pourçain’s and found his death on 6 August 1874; which can also be found in 

the RA. And the registration on LDS film was available as well: 

 

No.187 Heden den 7 Augustus 1874 heb ik … ontvangen eene schriftelijke aangifte van overlijden aan deze acte 

gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt: 

Dood attest, Militair Hospitaal te Padang 

Heden den 7 Augustus 1874 wordt door ons ondergeteekenden Wijnandus Lambertus Hendrikus Wilhelmus 

Rechij, directeur van het Militair Hospitaal te Padang en Johan Karel Stateman(?) Bosse, geneesheer/officier van 

gezondheid der tweede klasse bij datzelfde Hospitaal dienstdoende, ter inschrijving in het register van den 

Burgerlijken Stand te Padang aangifte gedaan dat op den 6 Augustus 1874 des namiddags ten vijf en tiende ure in 

het Hospitaal in hoofde dezer vermeld, is overleden James Saint Pourçain, geboren te Padang, oud ruim 60 jaren, 

zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwnaar van Anne Elizabeth Maidman, zoon van Bennet 

Saint Pourçain, overleden en van Maria Elizabeth Hartog, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, etc. 

 

James married on 23 August 1837 in Padang with Anna Elizabeth Maidman. 

The following children are known: 

 

1 James Bennet was born on 4 april 1839 in Padang (via Davies website).  

See III-A. 

 

2 Margarret Evelina was born on 22 April 1843 in Padang. 

 

Nummer 22 geboorte van Margarret Evelina Saint Pourçain 

Op heden Maandag den 24 April des jaars 1843, de klokke tien uren des voormiddags is voor mij … 

gecompareerd de persoon van James Saint Pourçain, oud 29 jaren, geboortig van Padang, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang in zijne betrekking van vader, benevens de personen van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud 39 

jaren, geboortig van Padang, van beroep kommies bij het departement der inkomende en uitgaande regten 

alhier en Richard Robert Maidman, oud 49 jaren, geboortig van Natal, van beroep pakhuismeester alhier, 

beide wonende te Padang, in hunne betrekking de eerste [=Daniel Pieter Aronds] van stiefvader en de 

tweede van goede bekende tot den comparant als getuigen dezer acte. Dewelke declarant verklaart dat op 

Zaterdag den 22 April dezes jaars 1843, de klokke half twaalf uren des nachts van hem declarant en Ann 
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Elizabeth Maidman, oud 25 jaren, geboortig van Benkoelen, zijne wettige huisvrouw, geboren is een kind 

van de vrouwelijke kunne, aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van Margarret Evelina te 

willen geven. Etc. 

 

She died on 4 August 1885 in Padang, 42 years old. 

 

II-B William Saint Pourçain was born between between 21 April and 11 May 1818 in Padang(?). 

He died on 6 July 1871 in Padang Pandjang; One day before his brother James! 

 

He had a relationship with an unknown woman. One child is known: 

 

1 Eduard Lucius was born on 23 March 1835. He was adopted by Daniel Pieter Aronds in 1839 and 

obtained the the surname Aronds. For further details please refer to IIIB, Aronds family. 

William was 19 years old when Eduard Lucius was born 

He married, 21 years old, on 10 April 1839 in Padang with Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold. The wedding 

date is not mentioned in the RA but emerged from 

 

25jarige echtvereeniging van W. St. Pourçain en L.W. Reijnold. Padang. 10 April 1864 (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- 

en advertentieblad 09-04-1864) 

 

And is confirmed in the original registration (which is actually not registered in the RA) 

 

Nummer 2 Op heden Woensdag den 10 April des jaars 1839 de klokke twaalf uren des middags zijn voor mij …. 

Gecompareerd de personen van William Saint Pourçain en Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold, die uitwijzens acte van 

den 20 Maart dezes jaars nummer xxx behoorlijk in ondertrouw zijnde aangeteekend als xx van mij verzochten 

over te gaan tot het voltrekken van hun voorgenomen huwelijk. Etc afkondigingen. 

Aldus ten voorschreven dage en plaatse gedaan en verleden, in tegenwoordigheid van Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud 

34 jaren, derde kommies bij den ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang en Willem Caspar van 

Daalen, oud 23 jaren, klerk bij den algemeenen ontvanger te Padang, beiden aldaar woonachtig als getuigen, de 

eerstgemelde van stiefvader van den comparant en van geadopteerde vader van de comparante en de laatstgemelde 

goede bekende van de comparanten. Etc. 

 

The wedding date is remarkable, because shortly after she was adopted on 23 January 1839. It appears 

that her adoption and timing thereof was no coincidence. Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold was born on 28 

April 1826 in Padang. But the age at her wedding is even more remarkable: she was almost 13 years 

old! The following registration confirms: 

 

1 William Joseph was born on 11 May 1840 in Padang. [The reader will note that I earlier allocated 

him, wrongly, to James] 

 

Nummer 13, geboorte van William Joseph Saint Pourçain 

Op heden Dingsdag den 12 Mei 1840, de klokke tien ure des voormiddags zijn voor mij …. gecompareerd 

de persoon van William Saint Pourçain, oud 22 jaren, van beroep klerk op het kantoor van den adsistent 

resident te Padang en aldaar woonachtig, vergezeld van de personen van Daniel Pieter Londt, oud 36 jaren, 

van beroep kommies bij het departement der inkomende en uitgaande regten alhier en James Saint Pourçain, 

oud 25 jaren, van beroep klerk op het kantoor van den kolonel civiel en militair gouverneur ter Westkust 

van Sumatra, beide wonende te Padang, de eerste [=Daniel Pieter Aronds] stiefvader en de laatste 

[=James Saint Pourçain] broeder van den comparant, als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de 

comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op gisteren Maandag den 11 mei dezes jaars 1840, de klokke tien ure des 

voormiddags van hem declarant en Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold, oud 14 jaren, zijne wettige huisvrouw, 

geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne, aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van 

William Joseph te willen geven. Etc. 
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He died on 8 September 1840 in Padang, almost 4 moths old. 

 

III-A James Bennet Saint Pourçain was born on 4 April 1839 in Padang 

 

Nummer 9 Op heden Vrijdag den 5 April 1839 de klokke 11 uren des morgens zijn voor mij …. Gecompareerd de 

persoon van James Saint Pourçain, oud 24 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Gouverneur alhier vergezeld van de 

personen Alexander Krijgsman, oud 29 jaren en John Terhoeff Maidman, oud 21 jaren, beide klerken op het 

residentie bureau alhier, goede bekenden van den comparant, als getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparant 

mij heeft verklaard dat op gister Donderdag den 4 April 1839 de klokke twee ure na de middags van hem declarant 

en Anne Elizabeth Maidman, zijne wettige huisvrouw, oud 22 jaren, geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne, 

aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van James Bennet te willen geven. Etc. 

 

He died on 22 August 1904 in Padang. 

 

No.22 Heden den 23 Augustus 1904 verschenen voor mij … Carel Andreas Hedel, oud 47 jaren, van beroep 

bouwkundige en Carll Joseph Kihm, oud 44 jaren, van beroep boekhouder kassier bij het vendukantoor te Padang, 

beiden wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 22 Augustus 1904, des namiddags ten negen ure 

te Padang is overleden James Bennet Saint Pourçain, geboren te Padang, oud 65 jaren, van beroep klerk bij het 

havendepartement te Padang, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Amalia Mathilda Tieben, zoon 

van James Saint Pourçain en Anne Elizabeth Maidman, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

He is mentioned on 31 March 1894 in Padang as nephew of Louisa Wilhelmina Reijnold, William Saint 

Pourçain’s wife. 

 

He married on 8 December 1864 in Padang with Amalia Mathilda Tieben. 

 

No.12 Heden den 8 December 1864 verschenen voor mij … James Bennet Saint Pourçain, geboren te Padang, oud 

25 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, 

meerderjarige zoon van James Saint Pourçain, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en van Anne Elizabeth 

Maidman, overleden; zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en Amalia Mathilda Tieben, geboren te Padang, oud 16 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Lolo, thans tijdelijk te Padang aanwezig, minderjarige dochter van Hendrik 

Tieben, overleden en van Carolina Elizabeth Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Lolo; zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd 

geweest. Welke personen mij verzochten tot de voltrekking etc. 

Voorts zijn voor mij verschenen James Saint Pourçain, oud 51 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, in zijne 

hoedanigheid van vader van den bruidegom, Henri Antoine van de Pol, oud 32 jaren, van beroep civiel 

gezaghebber te Lolo, wonende te te Lolo, thans met verlof te Padang, in zijne betrekking van stiefvader der bruid 

en Carolina Elizabeth Aronds, oud 35 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Lolo, thans te Padang aanwezig, in hare 

hoedanigheid van moeder der bruid, die hunne toestemming to het aangaan van dit huwelijk hebben verleend. Etc. 

Gedaan in tegenwoordigheid van William Saint Pourçain, in zijne betrekking van oom van den bruidegom, oud 

46 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den controleur der inkomende en uitgaande [regten] te Padang, wonende te Padang 

en Thomas Richardson Davies, in zijne betrekking van oom der bruid, oud 42 jaren, van beroep onderkommies bij 

de recherche te Padang, wonende te Padang. 

 

Amalia Mathilda Tieben was born on 2 February 1848 in Padang, daughter of Hendrik Tieben and 

Carolina Elisabeth Aronds. 

 

5 children are known: 

 

1 Frederika Alexandrina Josephina was born on 31 October 1865 in Padang. 

 

2 Emily Arabella Eleanor was born on 17 March 1867 in Padang 

 

3 Albertine Victoria was born on 22 February 1869 in Padang. 
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4 Nicolas Eugene François was born on 27 September 1871 in Padang. 

 

No.36 geboorte van Nicolas Eugène François Saint Pourçain 

Heden den 28 September 1871 verschenen voor mij … James Bennet Saint Pourçain, oud 31 jaren, van 

beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den 27 September 1871 des morgens ten zes ure is geboren een kind van de 

mannelijke kunne uit Amalia Mathilda Tieben, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Nicolas Eugène François. De getuigen zijn Jan Cobet, 30 jaar 

en Gustaaf Adolf des Celles, 26 jaar. 

 

I could not find his death registration 

He married on 6 April 1920 in Padang with the Inlandsche Christenvrouw Frederika 

 

No.9 huwelijk van Nicolas François Saint Pourçain met Frederika 

Heden den 6 April 1920 verschenen voor mij … Nicolas Eugène François Saint Pourçain, geboren te 

Padang, oud 48 jaar, van beroep klerk bij den dienst van den Staatsspoorweg ter Sumatra’s Westkust, 

wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van James Bennet Saint Pourçain en Amalia Mathilda Tieben, 

beiden overleden en de Inlandsche Christenvrouw Frederika, geboren te Padang, oud naar aanzien 35 jaar, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, dochter van den Inlander Si Ali en de Inlandsche vrouw Si Reno, beiden 

overleden. Etc. Gedaan ten huize van den bruidegom en zulke uithoofde van ziekte welke hem belet om 

zich naar het gebouw te begeven waar de acten van den burgelijken stand worden opgemaakt. De getuigen 

zijn Willem Brandon, 57 jaar en Edmond Guillaume Frederic Pierre Antoine Saint Pourçain, broeder van 

den bruidegom, 44 jaar. Etc. 

 

5 Julie Helene Philibertine Eugenie was born on 2 October 1873 in Padang. 

 

6 Edmond Guillaume Frederic Pierre Antoine was born on 2 January 1877 in Priaman. 

E.G.F.P.E. Saint Pourçain is 25 jaar in dienst bij de factorij te Padang (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië 12-02-1921) 

 

 

Eduard Lucius Aronds continued 

 

Eduard Lucius had a relationship with (1) Sie Djamie, born around 1837. 

 

One child is known: 

 

1 Adolphine Henriette Aronds was born on 28 July 1855 in Padang. 

 

Nr.12 Heden den negende augustus 1856 verscheen voor mij … Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud ruim een en 

twintig jaren, van beroep korporaal bij het Garnizoen Bataillon te Sumatra’s Westkust, in garnizoen te 

Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den acht en twintigsten julij 1855 des morgens te vijf ure 

is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Djamie, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Adolphine Henriette, hebbende gemelde Eduard 

Lucius Aronds verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen en de verplichting op zich te nemen om dat 

kind te verzorgen en in de christelijke godsdienst op te voeden. Verscheen voor mij … de Inlandsche vrouw 

Sie Djamie, oud naar gissing negentien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, dewelke etc. 

 

She died on 19 November 1879 in Sidoardjo, Soerabaja 

 

Adolphine Henriette married on 3 March 1874 in Padang, 18 years old with Johannes Lambertus 

Huijsdens. 
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Nr.4 huwelijk van Johannes Lambertus Huijsdens en Adolphine Henriette Aronds (1874-03-03) 

heden den 3 Maart 1874 verschenen voor mij … Johannes Lambertus Huijsdens, geboren te Delft, provincie 

Zuid-Holland, oud 26 jaren, van beroep 2de machinist aan boord van het aan de Nederlandsch-Indische 

Stoomvaart Maatschappij behoorend stoomschip ‘Vice President Prins’, wonende te Batavia, vroeger niet 

gehuwd geweest, meerderjarige zoon van Johannes Machiel Huijsdens en Ida Catharina van Vuuren, beiden 

overleden en Adolphine Henriette Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud 18 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Etc. voorts is voor mij verschenen Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud 39 

jaren, van beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendukantoor te Padang, wonende te padang, die in 

hoedanigheid van vader der bruid zijne toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk heeft verleend. De 

getuigen zijn Carl Titus van Collani, 56 jaar en Daniel Helbert Lawa, 28 jaar. 

 

They divorced on 20 November 1878 in Soerabaija. 

Johannes Lambertus Huijsdens was born on 25 August 1847 in Delft, the Netherlands, son of 

Johannes Machiel Huijsdens and Ida Johanna van Vuuren (delft.digitalestammboom). 

Johannes Lambertus lived in Soerabaija in 1868 (RA 1869, naamlijst, page 84) and Batavia 

(1874). After their wedding in Padang the couple apparently moved to Soerabaija again. 

Lambertus Johannes Huijsdens died on 12 September 1889 in Sragen. 

 

Eduard Lucius married (2) on 26 May 1860 in Padang, 25 years old with Liontina Broers, 15 years old, 

daughter of Augustinus Broers en Sie Carora. 

 

Nr.6 Huwelijk Eduard Lucius Aronds en Liontina Broers (1860-05-26) 

Heden den 26 Mei 1860 verschenen voor mij … Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud 25 jaren, van beroep klerk op het 

bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, geadopteerde minderjarige zoon van 

Daniel Pieter Aronds, overleden en van Elizabeth Maria Hertog, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger 

niet gehuwd geweest en Liontine Broers, oud vijftien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige 

dochter van Augustinus Broers, van beroep adjudant onder officier provoost geweldiger, wonende te Padang en 

de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Carora, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, welke 

personen etc., tot welk einde mij de volgende stukken zijn ter hand gesteld, welke aan deze acte zijn gehecht, als: 

Eene acte van bekendheid van den bruidegom 

Xxxx 

Xx zal hebben gezworen en xx van Liontina Broers zal hebben voldaan aan al de verplichtingen xx haren opzichte 

tot het aangaan van een huwelijk bij de wet voorgeschreven en xx bewijs dat de huwelijks afkondigingen hebben 

plaats gehad en zonder stuiting zijn xxgeloopen. Daarna verklaard den bruidegom onder eede dat hij buiten staat 

is eene acte van geboorte of ter vervanging derzelve eene acte van bekendheid over te leggen. Voorts zijn voor mij 

verschenen Augustinus Broers, oud twee en veertig jaren, van beroep adjudant onder officier provoost geweldiger 

en de weduwe Elizabeth Maria Aronds, geboren Hartog, oud zestig jaren, zonder beroep, beide wonende te Padang, 

die in hoedanigheid, de eerste van vader der bruid en de tweede van adop[tie]moeder tot den bruidegom, hunne 

toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk te hebben verleend. Etc. Gedaan in tegenwoordigheid van James 

Saint Pourçain, oud 45 jaren, van beroep geëmployeerde bij de firma P. van Overzee en compagnie en Wilson 

Theuvenet, oud 39 jaren, van beroep particulier, beide wonende te Padang. En is hiervan etc.etc. 

 

Liontina was born on 26 May 1845 in Padang; erkend 1849 (the LDS film is unreadable) 

 

She died on 25 April 1876 in Padang, 30 years old. The exact date is mentioned in the registration of 

her daughter’s (Adeleide) marriage in 1878 and in RA (Liontiana Broers) 

 

Nr.xx [pagina is overlangs weggescheurd] … [] Charles Gustave Broers, [.] en Giliam Ros, oud [.] beiden van 

beroep klerk [.] die mij hebben verkl[aard ..] [.] en twintigsten april 18[zes en ze]ventig des namiddags ten [.] te 

Padang is overleden Lion[tina Broers, geboren] te Padang, oud een en dertig [jaren, ] laatst gewoond hebbende te 

[.] Eduard Lucius Aronds, [.] [.. Augus]tinus Broers, overleden en [.] vrouw Carora, zonder beroep [] 

 

Augustinus Broers, the father of Liontina and Christina and Charles Gustave Broers died on 21 

April 1872 

No.15 Overlijden van Augustinus Broers 
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Heden den 22 april 1872 heb ik …. ontvangen eene schriftelijke aangifte van ovelijden aan deze acte 

gehecht luidende woordelijk als volgt: Militair Hospitaal te Padang. Heden de 21 april 1872 wordt door ons 

…. Aangifte gedaan dat op den 21 april 1872 des morgens ten vier ure in het hospitaal in hoofde dezes 

vermeld, is overleden Augustinus Broers, geboren te Eibergen, oud 54 jaren, van beroep adjudant 

onderofficier provoostgeweldige bij ’s lands provoosthuis te Padang, laatst in garnizoen te Padang, 

ongehuwd, zoon van Pieter Broers en Hermina Elisabeth Odelia van Hooijland, beiden beroep en 

woonplaats onbekend. 

 

The three known children of Augustinus Broers are: 

1 Liontina born on 26 May 1845; erkend in 1850; 

2 Christina, born on 18 December 1850 and erkend in 1856; 

3 Charles Gustave, born on 23 April 1853 and erkend in 1856. 

 

Eduard Lucius and Liontina Broers had 8 children: 

 

1 Daniel Pieter Aronds was born on 26 January 1861 in Padang. See IV-C. 

 

2 Adeleida Aronds was born on 22 August 1862 in Padang. 

 

Nr.47 (?) Den drie en twintigsten augustus 1862 verscheen voor mij ….. Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud zeven 

en twintig jaren, van beroep venduschrijver, wonende te Padang die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op 

den twee en twintigsten augustus 1862 des namiddags ten half een ure is geboren een kind van de 

vrouwelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan welk kind 

is gegeven de voornaam Adeleida. Deze aangifte is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Levi Abraham van 

Praag, oud vijf en veertig jaren en Carl Eguinius van Liebenstein, oud een en dertig jaren; de eerste van 

beroep schout en de tweede van beroep klerk, beiden wonende te Padang. Van welke aangifte etc.etc. 

 

Adeleida (Adeleide) died on 17 August 1879 in Semarang, 17 years old. 

 

Adeleida married on 31 August 1878 in Padang, 16 years old with Matthew Albert Maijes, 21 

years old, son of John Maijes and Jane Otteline de las Sossaij. 

 

Nr.12 Heden den 21 augustus 1878 verschenen voor mij … Matthew Albert Maijes, geboren te 

Wonolangin, residentie Probolingo, oud 21 jaren, van beroep kommies der derde klasse bij de post- en 

telegraafdienst te Padang, wonende te Padang, minderjarige zoon van Johm Maijes en van Jane Etteline de 

las Sossaij, beiden overleden en Adeleida Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud zestien jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Eduard Lucius Aronds en van Liontina Broers, beiden 

overleden. Etc.etc. waaruit blijkt dat Adeleida Aronds is geboren te Padang op den twee en twintigsten 

augustus achttien honderd twee en zestig en dat de ouders zijn Eduard Lucius Aronds en Liontina Broers. 

Eene acte van bekendheid van den negen en twintigsten augustus achttien honderd acht en zeventig 

afgegeven door den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, waaruit blijkt dat Eduard Lucius Aronds is 

overleden te Soerabaija op den achttienden september achttien honderd vijf en zeventig. Een extract uit het 

sterfregister van den burgerlijken stand te Padang waaruit blijkt dat Liontina Broers is overleden te Padang 

op den vijf en twintigsten april achttien honderd zes en zeventig. Etc. Daniel Pieter Aronds is overleden te 

Padang op 24 september 1843, Augustinus Broers is overleden te Padang op 21 april 1872, etc. Gedaan in 

tegenwoordigheid van Hendrik Simon, oud acht en dertig jaren, van beroep chef van het post- en 

Telegraafkantoor te Padang en Gerrit Riekerk, oud vijf en dertig jaren, van beroep venduschrijver, beide 

wonende te Padang. Etc.etc. 

 

Matthew Albert Maijes was born on 1 March 1857 in Probolingo, son of John Maijes and Jane 

Otteline de Lassosaij. 

He died on 11 March 1883 in Djokjakarta. 

 

3 Eduard Augustinus Aronds was born on 23 August 1865 in Padang. See IV-D. 
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4 Ida Aronds was born on 17 December 1867 in Padang. 

 

Nr.55 Heden den achttienden december 1867 verscheen voor mij etc. Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud ruim twee 

en dertig jaren, van beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendu-departement te Padang, wonende te Padang, 

die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den zeventienden december 1867 des avonds ten tien en een half 

ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

zijne echtgenoot aan welk kind is gegeven de voornaam van Ida. Etc. getuigen zijn Hendrik Lawa, oud ruim 

vijf en twintig jaren en Paulus Casper van Daalen. 

 

Ida married on 4 January 1886 in Padang, 18 years old with Christiaan Frederik Anthonij Kemper, 

34 years old, son of Aloijsius Anthonius Kemper and Maria Jacoba Gijsbers. 

 

Nr.1 Heden den vierden januari 1886 verschenen voor mij … Christiaan Frederik Anthonij Kemper, 

geboren te Batavia, oud vier en dertig jaren, van beroep lichtopzichter der tweede klasse bij de 

kustverlichting te Poelo Pandan, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Aloijsius Anthonius Kemper, 

van beroep gepensioneerd administrateur der tinmijnen en Maria Jacoba Gijsbers, zonder beroep, beiden 

wonende te Batavia en Ida Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud achttien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, minderjarige dochter van Eduard Lucius Aronds en Liontina Broers, beiden overleden. Etc.etc. 

Ten achtste: een extract uit het register der besluiten van de Weeskamer te Soerabaia gedagteekend den 

negen en twintigste october 1885 nummer 4315. 

Voorts is voor mij verschenen Charles Gustave Broers, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur 

van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die in de hoedanigheid van voogd der bruid zijne 

toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk heeft verleend. Etc.etc. 

Getuigen zijn Abraham Gerhard van Maanen, 42 jaar en Fredrik Hendrik Scholten, 36 jaar. 

 

Christiaan Frederik Anthonij Kemper was supervisor of lights “lichtopziener” in Padang and born 

around 1852 in Batavia. I did not find his birth registration. 

I did not find the his death registration but he died after 29 August 1902. 

 

Het aan C.F.A. Kemper, lichtopzichter der eerste klasse bij den dienst der kustverlichling, wegens ziekte 

voor den tijd van twee maanden naar Tjibadak en Soekaboemi verleend binnenlandsch verlof, welk verlof 

om dezelfde reden met een maand is verlengd, is om gelijke reden andermaal verlengd met een maand 

(Bataviaasch nieuwsblad, 29-08-1902) 

 

5 Jan Aronds was born on 5 September 1869 in Padang. See IV-E 

 

6 Liontina Aronds was born on 31 August 1871 in Padang. 

 

Nr.32 Heden den tweeden september 1871 verscheen voor mij … Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud zes en dertig 

jaren, van beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendu-kantoor te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den een en dertigsten augustus 1871 des namiddags ten een ure is geboren een 

kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot 

aan welk kind is gegeven de voornaam Liontina. De getuigen zijn Theodorus Henricus Ronkes en Jozef 

Antonij Gomis. 

 

She died on 3 July 1872 in Padang, 9 (10) months old. 

 

Nr.23 Heden den vierden junij 1872 verschenen voor mij …. James Bennet Saint Pourçain, oud twee en 

dertig jaren en Jan Walraven Borst, oud vijf en twintig jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van 

den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den derden 

junij 1872 des avonds ten elf ure te Padang is overleden Liontina Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud negen 

maanden, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, dochter van Eduard Lucius Aronds van 

beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendu-kantoor te Padang en van Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, beide 

wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

7 Charles Lucius Aronds was born on 25 May 1874 in Padang. 
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No.28 geboorte van Charles Lucius Aronds (1874-05-25) 

Heden den 26 mei 1874 verscheen voor mij …. Daniel Helbert Lawa, oud 28 jaren, van beroep handels-ge-

emploijeerde, wondende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den 25 mei 1874 des morgens 

ten halfvier ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, echtgenoot van Eduard Lucius Aronds van // aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van 

Charles Lucius 

 

He died on 12 October 1876 in Padang, 2 years old. 

 

Nr.xx Heden den dertienden october 1876 verschenen voor mij …. Charles Gustave Broers, oom van den 

overledene, oud drie en twintig jaren en Giliam Ros, oud negen en twintig jaren, beiden van beroep klerk 

op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard 

dat op den twaalfden october 1876 des namiddags ten vijf en een half ure te Padang is overleden Charles 

Lucius Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud ruim twee jaar, zoon van Eduard Lucius Aronds en Liontina Broers, 

beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

8 Dido Leonard Aronds was born on 29 February 1876 in Padang. 

 

Nr.16 Geboorte van Dido Leonard Aronds (1876-02-29) 

Heden den eersten [rechterdeel pagina ontbreekt op microfilm] [maart] [Gus]tave Broers, oud drie en […] 

[be]roep klerk op het bureau [   ] Sumatra’s Westkust, mij heeft verklaard dat te [Padang ten huize] van 

hem aangever op den [29 (zie BS)] februarij 1876 des voormiddags ten vijf en een half ure is geboren een 

kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, weduwe van Eduard 

Lucius Aronds, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Dido Leonard. Getuigen zijn Giliam Ros en 

Willem de Haze Winkelman, oud drie en twintig jaren. 

 

He is mentioned in the adreslijst as superintendent in the Ombilien –coal- mines in Sawah Loento 

(1904-1917) 

He died on 9 November 1917 in Sawah Loento, 41 years old. 
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Aronds - Generation IV 

 

Before I continue with this generation I like to advise that I could not allocate all Aronds children who 

were born in Batavia to their parents. The problem is that four families were living in Batavia (i.e. 

Batavia, Buitenzorg, Meester-Cornelis, Weltevreden) within the same period from 1893 until 1902: 

 

1. Willem Frederik Aronds was living in Buitenzorg in 1899 (x Sie Rapia); 

2. Eduard Augustinus Aronds was living in Batavia from 1890 until 1920 (x Turk); 

3. Jan Aronds was living in Batavia from 1895 until 1905; possibly already since 1893 (x Westerkamp); 

4. Karel Frederik was living in Batavia in 1899-1900. 

 

We shall keep in mind that the father may have been registered in another place than where the mother 

gave birth; sometimes at her mothers’, brothers’ or sisters’ place. And that is where the birth was usually 

registered. 

 

The following children weren born in Batavia. The allocated fathers are authors’assumption only, 

mainly based on information from newspapers. 

 

Name Birth Date Father 

Frans Lodewijk Aronds 1878-04-27 Amelius Hartman 

   

Clementina Adriana Aronds 1881-04-29 Amelius Hartman 

   

Willem Frederik Aronds 1886-11-16 Willem Frederik Sr.? 

   

Liontina Wilhelmina Aronds 1891-11-12 

Eduard Augustinus Sr. (ook bevestigd 

via Delpher, dochter 

   

Ida Aronds 1893-01-23 Eduard Augustinus Sr. 

Eduard Johannes Aronds 1893-11-18 

Jan (if Adele hereunder is allocated 

correctly) 

Adèle Aronds 1893-12-01 

Eduard Augustinus Sr (via internet, 

http://www.uwstamboomonline.nl/pass

ie) 

   

August Hendrik Aronds 1894-12-15 Jan (Delpher (Zoon)) 

Clara Augusta Aronds 1894-12-22 

Eduard Augustinus Sr. (as a 

consequence of the above) (confirmed 

algemeen handelsblad 06-02-1895; 

dochter) 

   

   

Hendrika Aronds 1896-06-24 ??? 

Daniël Pieter Aronds 1896-07-03 Eduard Augustinus Sr. or Jan 

   

   

John Alexander Aronds 1898-01-03 Jan Delpher (Delpher; Zoon) 
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Eduard Augustinus Aronds 1898-01-05 

Eduard Augustinus Sr. (positive; 

Delpher) 

   

Albert Willem Aronds 1900-02-03 

Jan? 

Albert Willem Aronds overleden te 

Tjiandjoer, Preanger regentschappen 

1903-01-03 

   

Charles Gerard Aronds 1902-01-13 Jan (Delpher) 

Gerbrant Jan Aronds 1902-09-30 Eduard Augustinus Sr. (Delpher) 

Amanda Aronds 1902-11-04 

Karel Frederik (mevr. K.Ch. Aronds, 

geb. Van Mosch; Delpher) 

   

Freddi Rudolf Aronds 1903-03-23 Jan (Delpher) 

Helene Aronds 1903-10-16 

Eduard Augustinus Sr. (Delpher) 

& verified & found in BS Den Haag 

A definite answer can only be provided by consultation of the original registrations (I presume that these 

are available on LDS film) 

 

 

IV-A Willem Frederik Aronds, son of Amelius Hartman Aronds (III-A) and Sie Rapia was born on 6 

January 1860 in Pajacomba, Padangse Bovenlanden. Lived in Meester-Cornelis (1879, together with his 

father W.F.) Indramajoe, Cheribon (1882), Batavia (1880-1882 together with his father A.H.), 

Buitenzorg (1883, 1884 and 1886 together with his father A.H.), Batavia (1885), Batavia (1887, 1888 

and 1890), Tandjoeng Pinang (1889-1897), Palembang (1898), Riouw (adresboek 1899), Buitenzorg 

(Naamlijst 1899), Bankalan, Madoera (Naamlijst 1900, 1901), Pontianak, Westerafdeling van Borneo 

(1902), Sambas (1903-1904), Bandoeng (1905), Bandjermasin (1906-1908), Weltevreden (1909-1911), 

Klaten (1912-1917 [sic]), he is brandspuitmeester (1890 Kalender en Personalia) and deurwaarder in 

Riouw (adresboek 1899). In 1890 he is mentioned in Tandjoeng Pinang and Batavia 

Riouw, Landraad te Tandjoeng Pinang. 

Deurwaarder W. F. Aronds, 20 Febr. 1893. (RA, kalender en personalia 1895, 1896, 98); idem wees- en 

boedelkamer, agent,  

Wester-afdeeling van Borneo, hoofdplaats Pontianak. Commiezen. … W.F. Aronds, 4 Juni 1901. (RA, 

1902, kalender en personalia) 

 
Padang, 21 Augistus. Op 16, 17 en 20 dezer is alhier het klein ambtenaars-examen afgenomen van 15 personen, 

van welke 9 geslaagd zijn, als: 6. W.F. Aronds, voldende (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad 21-08-

1875) 

Op het residentie bureau te Riouw is benoemd tot 1e klerk op een tractement van f 100 ’s maands de klerk bij het 

het departement van Binnenlandsch Bestuur W.F. Aronds (Bataviaasch handelsblad 20-05-1887) 

Deurwaarders. Op verzoek is eervol ontslagen als buitengewoon deurwaarder bij den Raad van Justitie alhier, voor 

de zaken in de residentie Riouw, H. Jacobs, an als zoodanig in diens plaats benoemd W.F. Aronds, 1e klerk op het 

residentie-kantoor te Riouw (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad14-03-1893) 

Benoemd: tot agent van de Bataviasche Wees- en Boedelkamer te Tandjong-Pinang, residentie Riouw en 

onderhoorigheden, W.F. Aronds, 1e klerk op het residentiekantoor aldaar (Java-bode : nieuws, handels- en 

advertentieblad voor Nederlandsch-Indie 30-05-1894) 

Tot schout bij de politie ter hoofdplaats Palembang, op een tractement van f 100 ’s maands, is benoemd W.F. 

Aronds, thans 1e klerk op het residentie-kantoor te Riouw (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 22-07-1897) 

Passagiers: op hedenmiddag 5 uur vertrekkende per ss ‘van Goens’ naar Palembang: schout W.F. Aronds 

(Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 08-10-1897) 

Van Palembang schrijft men aan het Batviaasch Nieuwblad dat de tijdelijke schout aldaar W.F. Aronds, ofschoon 

pas een half jaar als zoodanig gediend hebbende, met de laaste boot vertrokken is en zijn ambt vaarwel heeft 

gezegd. De politie daar laat veel te wenschen omdat men aan de oppassers zoo goed als als niets heeft. Deze toch 

heeft men uit Palembangers zelf gerecruteerd, wat ten gevolge heeft, dat zij de overtredingen en isdrijven door hun 
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landgenoooten gepleegd, eenvoudig laten lopen. (De locomotief : Samarangsch handels- en advertentie-blad 28-

01-1898) 

Aan den eervol ontslagen tijdelijke schout te Palambang W.F. Aronds is voor den tijd van een jaar wachtgeld 

toegekend, betaalbaar te Batavia (De locomotief : Samarangsch handels- en advertentie-blad 22-03-1898) 

Ter Algemeene Secretarie is een traktements-verhooging van f 10 toegekend aan de klerken: …, W. F. Aronds, … 

(Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 02-12-1898) 

Benoemd: tot commies op het residentie kantoor te Pontianak (Westerafdeeling van Borneo), de klerk op het 

assistent-residentie-kantoor te Bangkalan (Madoera), W.F. Aronds (De locomotief : Samarangsch handels- en 

advertentie-blad 11-06-1901) 

Civiel Departement: benoemd tot commies op het assistant residentiekanoor te Sambas, in de residentie 

Westerafdeeling van Borneo, tevens vendumeester aldaar, de commies op het residentiekantoor te Pontianak, W.F. 

Aronds (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 08-08-1902) 

De gewezen commies op het residentiekantoor te Pontianak W.F. Aronds heeft het verzoek gedaan om herplaatsing 

in zijn vorige betrekking (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 20-01-1905) 

Benoemd tot commies op het assistent-residentiekantoor te Painan de ambtenaar op wachtgeld W.F. Aronds, 

laatstelijk commies op ’t kantoor te Sambas. (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 23-03-1905) 

Benoemd: tot commies op het Residentiekantoor te Bandjermasin, de benoemde commies te Painan W.F. Aronds 

(6 April 1905) (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 07-04-1905) 

Met de boot van den 29en a.s. zullen naar Banda Neira vertrekken de van Garoet derwaarts overgeplaatste 

onderwijzer J. Weithofl, en naar Bandjermasin de tot commies op het residentie kantoor aldaar benoemde klerk 

W. F. Aronds. (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 26-04-1905) 

Civiel Departement. Ontslagen: op verzoek, eervol uit ’s lands dienst, de commies op het residentiekantoor te 

Bandjermasin (Zuider- en Oosterafdeeling van Borneo) W.F. Aronds (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 15-02-1908) 

 

He is mentioned in the Nieuw Adresboek until 1917 inclusive in Klaten. As from 1918 weduwe W.F. 

Aronds, geboren H.C. Sweebe is mentioned in Garoet. 

 

He died on 3 October 1912 in Garoet, 52 years old. 

 

Garoet, (Oude Begraafplaats in de kotta). 

89. Hier rust / onze / geliefde echtgenoot / vader en behuwdvader / W.F. Aronds / geb. te Pajacombo / 6-1-1860 / 

overl. te Garoet / 3-10-1912 / R. I. P. 

(Willem Frederik A., gep. ambtr., man van Helena Carolina Sweebe, zn. van Amelius Hartman A. en Inl. vr. Sie 

Rapia). (IGV, CDROM Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

Willem Frederik married on 30 October 1886 in Batavia, 26 years old with Helena Carolina Sweebe, 

26 years old aka Helena Carolina Leeke. Helena Carolina was born on 7 July(?) 1860 in Batavia 

(erkenning, RA 1875, page 213), probably daughter of Frederik Willem Sweebe (Swebe) and a yet 

unknown woman; the registration on microfilm of her acknowledgement will probably disclose her 

parents. 

 

Willem Frederik en Helena Carolina Sweebe had 8 children: 

 

1 Otto Theodoor Christiaan Aronds (born as Swebe) was born on 1 December 1884 in Batavia. 

He is mentioned in the Adreslijst as “daggelder”, living in Buitenzorg (1899-1901), clerk with the 

National Railways, living in Soerabaja (1903), Bandoeng (1904-1907), unspecified (1908). 

 

Personeel der StaatsSpoorwegen: Het aan den klerk O.Th.Ch. Aronds wegens ziekte voor den tijd 

van 2 maanden verleend verlof, is om dezelfde reden met een gelijk tijdvak verlengd. (Het nieuws 

van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 06-02-1906) 

 

He died on 2 January 1907 in Bandjermasin, 23 years old; probably childless 

 

2 Willem Frederik Aronds was born on 16 November 1886 in Batavia (or Buitenzorg). 

 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


90 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part III 

Version 1 April 2015 

W.F. Aronds klerk ass.-res. kant. – Amoentai (1909-1919), com. res. kant. (w.g.) – Soerabaja (1920), com. 

gewest. kant. – Bandoeng (1921-1923) 

Justitie-zaken: eervol ontslagen als deurwaarder van den Raad van Justitie te Batavia voor de zaken te 

Garoet, P.G. Michel; in diens plaats is benoemd W.F. Aronds (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-

Indie 26-05-1915) 

Raad van Justitie: Eervol ontslagen als deurwaarder van den Raad van Justitie te Batavia voor de zaken te 

Garoet, W.F. Aronds (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 31-03-1917) 

In- en uitvoerrechten en accijnzen: oppp verzoek: eervol uit zijne betrekking ontslagen W.F. Aronds 

commies van het residentie kantoor re Soerabaja (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 04-11-1919) 

Benoemd tot commies op het assistant residentiekantoor te Japara W.F. Aronds, ambtenaar op wachtgeld, 

laatstelijk commies te Soerabaja (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 20-07-1920) 

Benoemd tot commies op het assistent residentiekantoor te Bandoeng W.F. Aronds thans commies op het 

assistent residentie kantoor te Japara (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 28-01-1921) 

Rechtzaken: voor den Raad van Justitie te Batavia is heden tegen W.F. Aronds, commies op het kantoor 

van den assistent-resident-kotta, wonende te Bandoeng, wegens oplichting tien maanden gevangenisstraf 

geëischt. Uitspraak over 9 dagen. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 06-03-1926) 

Ontslagen: ger. van 20 Maart uit ’s lands dienst, W.F. Aronds, gew[ezen] commies bij den Algemeen 

kantoor van het Binnenlandsch Bestuur in de provincie West-Java (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië 23-06-1926) 

 

He died on 15 February 1932 in Batavia, 45 years old. (Het Nieuws van den Dag voor 

Nederlansch-Indië 20-02-1932) 

Willem Frederik married on 21 September 1912 in Garoet, 25 years old (1) with Christina 

Wilhelmina Giesker. They probably divorced as she married on 4 September 1918 with Jacob 

Riemersma. 

She died after 1941 as she was mentioned as wife of J. Riemersma in 1941 in the Adreslijst. 

Willem Frederik married on 24 June 1916 in Garoet, 29 years old (2) with Maria Josina Cornelia 

Wilhelmina van Beekom, 20 years old. Maria Josina Cornelia Wilhelmina van Beekom was born 

on 26 December 1896 in Meester-Cornelis, supposedly daughter of Antonie Hendrikus Karel van 

Beekom and Maria Krajenbrink. 

She died between 16 and 23 June 1934, 37 years old, “ongehuwd”, in Tjimahi (Bataviaasch 

nieuwsblad, 27-06-1934). I did not find their divorce registration, but it must be after 14 May 

1929 when she gave birth to a daughter. 

 

Geboorten: 14 mei W.F. Aronds – M.J.C.W. van Beekom, d[ochter]. (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië, 21-05-1929) 

 

3 Josephine Elize Aronds (Sweebe) was born on 13 September 1887 in Tandjoeng Pinang. 

She died on 16 September 1887 in Tandjoeng Pinang, 3 days old. I suppose she was born 

premature. 

 

4 Petronella Wilhelmina Aronds was born on 8 July 1888 in Tandjoeng Pinang. 

She died [privacy] in the Netherlands. 

 

She was married with Johan Lodewijk Doppert. He was born on 10 April 1890 in Djokjakarta, 

supposedly son of A.H. Doppert 

 

Garoet, Oude Begraafplaats in de kotta 

Hier rust / onze lieveling / J.F. Doppert / geb. te Garoet / 6-4-1914 / en aldaar overl. 22-6-1914 / R.I.P. 

(Johan Frederik D., zn. van Johan Lodewijk D., 24 j. employé Mij. Limbangan Industrie en Petronella 

Wilhelmina Aronds) 

 

5 Henrietta Margaretha Theresia Aronds was born on 1 July 1889 in Tandjoeng Pinang. 
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She died on 17 December 1903 in Sambas, 14 years old. 

 

6 Frans Joseph Aronds was born on 23 May 1890 in Tandjoeng Pinang. 

He died on 31 July 1910 in Soerabaja, 20 years old. 

 

7 N.N., son Aronds was stillborn on 31 December 1890 in Tandjoeng Pinang. I suppose he was born 

premature. 

 

8 Philip Martijn Aronds was born on 22 December 1891 in Tandjoeng Pinang. 

In the Adresboek 1908-1912 he is not mentioned; if alive he should have been registered. My 

conclusion is that he died young and childless. 

 

x ?John Alexander 1898 and ?Albert Willem 1900. Born in Batavia; please refer to the above 

mentioned introduction for ‘Generation IV’. 

 

9 Ferdinand Alexander Aronds was born on 5 March 1905 in Bandoeng. 

He died on 21 June 1917 in Garoet, 12 years old. 

He was probably an afterthought; his mother was 45 years old when he was born. 

 

Garoet, (Oude Begraafplaats in de kotta). 

16. Hier rust / onze geliefde ] zoon en broeder / F. A. Aronds / geb. te Bandoeng / 5-3-1905 / ‘overl. te 

‘Garoet / 21-6-1917 / R.I.P. 

(IGV, CDROM Bronnen voor Indisch genealogisch onderzoek) 

 

The birth and death location correspond with the places where his parents lived at that time. But 

to be sure that he allocated correctly his birth and/or death registration need to be verified. 

 

 

IV-B Karel Frederik Aronds, son of Amelius Hartman Aronds (III-A) en Sie Rapia, was born on 1 June 

1868 in Sidempoean. 

Karel Frederik was clerk in public service; he is mentioned in the Naamlijst and Adresboek in 

Buitenzorg (1885), Blora (1891-1893), Rembang (1894-1898), Batavia (1899-1900), Brebes (1901-

1902), Madoera (1902), Benkoelen (1903-1904), Palembang (1905), Bandoeng (1906-1919), 

Weltevreden (1920-1924), 

On 7 November 1898 in the Locomotief, Samarangsch Handels- en Advertentieblad: 

 

By besluit 'van den Resident van Rembang van 3 dezer is wegens vertrek eervol ontheven van de functiën van 

buitengewoon deurwaarder b\j den Raad van Justitie te Semarang voor de zaken te Rembang K. F. Aronds en in 

diens plaats benoemd W. A. Claasz. 

 

He was mentioned in 1904 K.F. Aronds, Commies Residentie kantoor, Seloema (Benkoelen), 

Neerlandia Jaargang 8. 

He is mentioned in Hogewoerd 142, Leiden, the Netherlands, entry date 22 June 1823 (Bevolkings-

Register, Leiden, 1 juni 1868, folio 347. Collectie Archief van het algemeen en dagelijks bestuur, (1545) 

1816-1929 (1963); Bevolkingsboeken, Boek 81/82. supplement XX A. (1 - 473)). 

He was mentioned living in Nijmegen (together with his wife) at the marriage registration of his daughter 

Amanda (1927). I did not find his death registration. 

Karel Frederik married on 1 September 1892 in Blora, 24 years old with Helene Charlotte von Mosch, 

20 years old, daugther of Wilhelm August Hermann von Mosch en Charlotte Amelia Gaerthé. Helene 

Charlotte was born on 1 October 1870 in Samarang. She died on 22 September 1933 in Samarang (Java), 

about 61 years old. 
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(De Indische courant, 22-09-1933) 

Karel Frederik and Helene Charlotte von Mosch had 6 children: 

 

1 Theodoor Hugo Ludwig Aronds was born on 7 January 1894 (mentioned wrongly 1896 on his 

grave) in Rembang. 

He was constructural engineer for National Railways. 

He died in August 1943 in Bandoeng, 49 years old. (Oorlogsgravenstichting, Slachtoffer register, 

http://srs.ogs.nl/slachtoffer/4143/theodor-hugo-ludwig-aronds). He was buried in Nerderlands 

ereveld Ancol, Batavia, vak II, number 93:94. 

Theodoor Hugo Ludwig married on 7 January 1922 in Padang, 26 years old with Siti Rahma, 

about 22 years old. Siti Rahma was born around 1900. 

She died [privacy] 

They had about 4 children. 

 

2 Ferdinand Adolf Aronds was born on 12 December 1896 in Rembang. 

He was a bank employee and commies with Staatsspoorwegen and is mentioned in Kalender en 

Personalia in Poerwokerto (1920) as agent for the Wees- en Boedelkamer. In the Nieuwe 

Adresboek he is mentioned in Poerwokerto (1917, 1918, 1919, 1920, 1921, 1922), ?? (1923), 

Pajacombo (1924, 1925, 1926, 1927, 1929, 1930), verlof Europa (1932), Soerabaja (employee fa. 

Steinhardt, handelshuis) (1934-1941),  

He died on 19 May 1948 in Bergen (Noord-Holland) the Netherlands, 51 years old. 

 

Ferdinand Adof Aronds married in 1917 in Poerwokerto, Banjoemas (engaged on 12 February 

1917), with Elisabeth Charlotta van Dorst. She is mentioned as F.A.’s wife until 1932. She died 

probably in the Netherlands as she was mentioned as Ferdinand Adolf’s wife in 1948. 

 

I did find two children but did not continue my search: 

 

1 Petra Charlotta Aronds was born [privacy] in Poerwokerto 

2 Rudolf Ferdinand Aronds was born [privacy] in Weltevreden 

 

3 Elly Hertha Aronds was born and died on 23 May 1898 in Rembang. 

 

4 Beatrice Aronds was born on 25 September 1900 in Bandoeng. 

She died [privacy] in the Netherlands 

Beatrice married on 1 April 1921 in Buitenzorg, 20 years old with Guillaume Pierre Dumont, 25 

years old. 
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Guillaume Pierre Dumont was born on 22 July 1895 in Bankalan, Madoera and (maybe) son of 

Henri Guillaume Dumont and Antje Moen. 

She married (2) between 4 and 15 February 1932 in Soerabaja with J.G. Gerlach (De Indische 

courant, 17-02-1932) (see announcement of death of von Mosch above). He could be the Johan 

Gabriel Gerlach who was born 24 November 1897 in Schiedam, the Netherlands with parents: 

Pieter Benjamin Gerlach and Johanna Maria van der Laan. 

 

5 Amanda Aronds was born on 4 November 1902 in Batavia. 

She died [privacy] in the Netherlands. 

Amanda married on 8 December 1927 in Amsterdam, 25 years old with Jacobus Gerardus Hamel, 

37 years old, son of Willem Hamel and Judith van Dalem. (Wie was Wie site) 

 

6 Irma Aronds was born on 20 October 1905 in Palembang. 

She died [privacy] in the Netherlands 

She married on 21 February 1923 in Den Haag, 17 years old with Pieter Anthony Oetgens van 

Waveren Pancras Clifford, 29 years old. One of the witnesses was Guillaume Pierre Dumont, 

living in Den Haag. (virtuele studiezaal) 

Pieter Anthony was born on 16 May 1893 in Pasoeroean, [but I could not find his entry in BS 

registration]. He died [privacy] in the Netherlands. He was the son of Richard Daniel Oetgens 

van Waveren Pancras Clifford and Wilhelmina Johanna Amalia Haaxman. 

 

 

IV-C Daniel Pieter Aronds, son of Eduard Lucius Aronds (III-G) en Liontina Broers, was born on 26 

January 1861 in Padang. 

 

Nr.3 Heden en acht en twintigsten januarij 1861 verscheen voor mij …. Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud vijf en twintig 

jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust te Padang, wonende te Padang, 

die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den zes en twintigsten januarij 1861 des avonds te acht en een half ure is 

geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne 

echtgenoot, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Daniel Pieter. Deze aangifte is geschied in 

tegenwoordigheid van William Saint Pourçain, oud twee en veertig jaren en Carl Egeunius van Liebenstein, oud 

negen en twintig jaren; de eerste van beroep klerk op het bureau van den kommies kontroleur der in- en uitgaande 

regten te Padang, wonende te Padang en de tweede van beroep klerk op het bureau van den assistent Resident en 

Magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang. Etc.etc. 

 

He was mentioned as extraordinary substitute clerk (griffier) for the ‘landraad’in Priaman as from 12 

February 1883 (RA, 1884, kalender en personalia, page 84). He lived in Padang (1887-1905) with some 

interruptions in the registration. 

He died on 21 January 1909 in Fort van der Capellen, 47 years old. 

 

Daniel Pieter married on 7 January 1890 in Padang, 28 years old with Sie Boontjie, about 28 years old, 

daughter of Si Pandjang en Nangajoe. 

 

No.1 huwelijk Daniel Pieter Aronds met Si Boontjie 1890-01-07 

Heden den zevenden januari 1890 verschenen voor mij … Daniel Pieter Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud acht en 

twintig jaren, van beroep zaakwaarnemer, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Eduard Lucius Aronds en 

Liontina Broers, beiden overleden en de Inlandsche vrouw Si Boontjie, geboren te Padang, oud naar aanzien zes 

en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van de Inlander Si Pandjang, overleden 

en de Inlandsche vrouw Nangajoe, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang etc. 

De getuigen zijn Pieter Thomas Simon, 41 jaar, deurwaarder bij de Landraden te Padang en Herman Frederik 

Matthijssen, 33 jaar, van beroep klerk ter griffie van de genoemde Landraden, beiden wonende te Padang. 

 

Sie Boontjie was born around 1862. She died on 20 September 1892 in Padang, about 30 years old. 
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Nr.52 overlijden Sie Boontje (1892-09-20) 

Heden den 22 september 1892 verschenen voor mij … Daniel Pieter Aronds, echtgenoot van de overledene, oud 

31 jaren, van beroep zaakwaarnemer en Edmund Eduard James Townsend, oud 24 jaren, van beroep klerk op het 

bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op 

den 20 september 1892 des voormiddags ten elf ure te Padang is overleden de Inlandsche vrouw Si Boontjie, 

geboren te Padang, oud 28 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van genoemde 

Daniel Pieter Aronds, dochter van den Inlander Si Pandjang, overleden en de Inlandsche vrouw Nangajoe, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

Daniel Pieter and Sie Boontjie had –at least- 4 children: 

 

1 Eduard Lucius Aronds was born on 14 May 1883 in Padang. 

 

Nr.35 Heden 16 mei 1887 verscheen etc.etc. Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud 26 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat ten zijnen huize op den 14 mei 1883 des namiddags ten een ure is 

geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Si Boontjie, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Eduard Lucius hebbende gemelde Daniel Pieter 

Aronds verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. Verscheen tevens voor mij de Inlandsche vrouw Si 

Boontjie, oud naar aanzien 25 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang die mij etc.etc. heeft verklaard in 

die erkenning toe te stemmen. Deze verklaringen zijn geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Pieter Thomas 

Simon, oud 39 jaren, van beroep deurwaarder bij de Landraden van Padang en Priaman en etc.etc. 

 

He is komediant mentioned in Siboga (1904-1911), unknown profession and place (1912-1913), 

and muzikant Padang (1914-1923). He died probably in 1923 as he was not mentioned in the 

Nieuw Adresboek 1924] 

I did not find an evidence of marriage or children. 

 

2 Geertruida Leontina Aronds was born on 7 October 1885 in Padang. 

 

Nr.36 Geboorte van Geertruida Leontina Aronds (1885-10-07) 

Heden 16 mei 1887 verscheen voor mij …. Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud 26 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 7den october 1885, des voormiddags 

ten zeven ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke sekse uit de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Boontjie, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Geertruida Leontina, hebbende 

gemelde Daniel Pieter Aronds verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. Verscheen tevens voor mij de 

Inlandsche vrouw Si Boontjie, oud vijf en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc.etc. heeft 

verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. Deze verklaringen zijn geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Pieter 

Thomas Simons, oud 39 jaren, van beroep deurwaarder bij den Landraden van Padang en Priaman en 

etc.etc. 

 

She was mentioned on 4 September 1956 as living in Djakarta in the death registration of her 

daughter Wilhelmina Amalia Johanna Pietersz in Nieuwer-Amstel, the Netherlands. 

Mevr. G.L. Pietersz –Aronds was evacuated from Indonesia on 21 December 1957 on board ss 

Captain Cook, which left from Tandjong Priok and arrived in Amsterdam on 18 Janauaru 1958. 

(Het Vrije Volk and Telegraaf d.d. 18 Janauary 1958, via Delpher) 

I did not find her death registration. 

She married on 17 August 1917 in Batavia, 32 years old with Johan George Pietersz. 

 

3 Alphonse Lucius Aronds was born on 7 February 1890 in Padang. 

He is sciber and mentioned in Weltevreden (1909), Soerabaja (1910), Loeboek Pakam (1915), 

 

In 1916 overgeplaatst naar Weltevreden de com. Der 3e kl. A.L. Aronds (De Telegraaf, 11-11-1916) 

 

Weltevreden, (1918), verlof Europa (1920), Tjangkring (1924), Bandoeng (1925), Ambon (1930), 

Bandoeng (1935). 

Alphonse Lucius died 27 December 1957 in Haarlem, 67 years old. 
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Alphonse Lucius married 24 January 1924 in Haarlem, the Netherlands, 33 years old with Hilligje 

de Groot, 23 years old. Hilligje was born on 25 September 1900 in Haarlemmermeer and was 

daughter of Henderikus de Groot and Alida Maria Betz. 

 

4 Maria Leontina Aronds was born on 20 September 1892 in Padang. 

 

Nr.55 Heden den twee en twintigsten september 1892 verscheen voor mij … Daniel Pieter Aronds, oud een 

en dertig jaren, van beroep zaakwaarnemer, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang, ten 

zijne huize op de twintigste september 1892 des voormiddags ten acht ure is geboren een kind van de 

vrouwelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Si Boontjie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne 

echtgenoot, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Maria Leontina. Getuigen zijn Charles Gustave 

Broers, oud acht en dertig jaren en Frederick Wilhelm Lageman. 

 

She died on 13 July 1894 in Padang, 1 year, 11 months old. 

 

No.28 Heden den 13 juli 1894 verschenen voor mij … Daniel Pieter Aronds, vader van de overledene, oud 

32 jaren, van beroep zaakwaarnemer en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 40 jaren, van beroep tweede commies 

op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beide wonende te Padang, die mij hebben 

verklaard dat op den 13 juli 1894 des voormiddags ten vijf en een half ure te Padang is overleden Maria 

Leontina Aronds, geboren te Padang, oud twee jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

dochter van genoemden Daniel Pieter Aronds en de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Boontjie, overleden. Etc. 

 

 

IV-D Eduard Augustinus Aronds [Sr.] son of Eduard Lucius Aronds (III-G) and Liontina Broers, was 

born on 23 August 1865 in Padang. 

 

Nr.33 Heden den vier en twintigsten augustus 1865 verscheen voor mij ….. Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud dertig 

jaren, van beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendu-kantoor te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang op den drie en twintigsten augustus 1865 des avonds ter tien ure is geboren een kind van 

de mannelijke kunne uit Liontina Broers, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn 

gegeven de voornamen van Eduard Augustinus. De getuigen zijn Ferdinand Heeger, oud 34 jaren en Jacobus 

Georgius Feijtes, oud 38 jaren. 

 

He has a career in the post- and telegraph-service: 

Clerk as from 27 juni 1884 (1885, 1886, 1887, Kalender en Personalia), Supervising clerk as from 29 

april 1892 (1895, Kalender en Personalia), Administrator of the seal and ‘beheerder van het zegel en 

van het magazijn van postwaarden’as from 1899 (1900, Kalender en Personalia) 

Eduard Augustinus died on 9 May 1920 in Batavia, 54 years old. 

 

Eduard Augustinus married on 13 November 1890 in Batavia, 25 years old with Wilhelmina Christina 

Turk, 18 years old. 

Wilhelmina Christina Johanna Albertina Hendrika Turk was born (erkenning) on 10 April 1872 in 

Ambarawa (Java) and daughter of –probably- Gerbrand Jan Turk (mentioned as witness in 1903 in Den 

Haag; see under Helene’s birth below). Her father and mother can probably be verified and found 

respectively in the LDS microfilm. 

She died around 1931 (in 1930 she was mentioned in the Adresboek, not in 1932 and thereafter). I could 

not find her death registration. 

 

I allocated the following children to Eduard Augustinus and Wilhelmina Christina Johanna Albertina 

Hendrika Turk. Please note that the original birth registrations should be verified for confirmation. 

 

1 Liontina Wilhelmina Aronds was born on 12 November 1891 in Batavia. 

I did not find her death registration; The Adresboek mentions A.L.Donker van Heel with L.W. 

Aronds in Soerabaja (1930), Malang(1934) and pensionado in Batoe (1938-1941). 
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She married 17 April 1912 in Weltevreden with August Lodewijk Donker (later mentioned as 

Donker van Heel) 

 

Getrouwd: A.L. Donker en L.W. Aronds ook namens wederzijdsche ouders hun dank betuigen voor de 

betoonde belangstelling, Weltevreden, 17 April 1912, 3405. (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-

Indië, 18-04-1912) 

Gehuwd: A.L. Donker en L.W. Aronds, Batavia (Algemeen Handelsblad, 15-05-1912) 

Bandoeng, Oudste der nog bestaande Begraafplaatsen. 

539. ‘Hier rust / onze kleine lieveling / Joyce Donker van Heel / geb. 1 Oct. 1916 / overl. 30 Sept. 1917. 

(‘Zij was geb. Malang, dr. van August Lodewijk D.v.H., ambtr. P. T. T., en Liontina Wilhelmina Aronds). 

 

2 Ida Aronds was born on 23 January 1893 in Klaten (Gondang-Winangoon) (het nieuws van den 

dag 07-03-1893, geboorteberichten uit de Indische bladen 28 Jan. tot 3 Febr.) 

Is she identical to I. Aronds as mentioned here below? 

 

Getrouwd: L. van Leer en I. Aronds die mede namens hunne ouders hartelijk dank zeggen voor de 

ondervonden blijken van belangstelling. Batavia 14 Augustus 1913 (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië, 16-08-1913) [haar beide ouders leefden toen nog; zie hierboven] 

Familie berichten, Verloofd I. Aronds en P.C. Ebbink, Semarang, 3 April 1936 (Soerabaijasch handelsblad, 

03-04-1936) 

Married in Medan on 6 August 1936 (Soerabaijasch handelsblad, 07-08-1936) 

 

Ida’s marriage to ‘van Leer’is likely based on place (Batavia; her parents and probably Ida as well 

lived there) and Ida’s age (20 years old). 

The Adresboek mentions L. van Leer and I. Aronds in Soerabaja (1930), pensionado in Meester 

Cornelis (1934), Malang (1938) 

I’m not so sure about her marriage to ‘Ebbink’ 

 

3 Adèle Aronds aka Delly Aronds was born on 1 December 1893 in Batavia 

She died on 16 april 1958 te Amsterdam, 64 years old (internet, Family Search) 

Adele (Delly; Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indie, 27-11-1913) married on 16 

November 1913 in Batavia, 20 years old with Willem Hartenlust, 22 years old. 

Ondertrouwd: Delly Aronds en W. Hartenlust. Huwelijksvoltrekking 26-11-13. Receptie in den vooravond 

ten huize van de bruid, Laan Passer Baroe-Oost B. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 20-11-1913) 

 

Willem Hartelust was born on 6 June 1889 in Poerworedjo, son of Pieter Willem Hartelust and 

Henriette Maria Elisabeth Dumont 

The Adresboek mentions W. Hartelust, eigenaar Bloemenhandel Tandj. Sarie in Bandoeng (1941) 

He died on 19 December 1942 in Bandoeng, 51 years old. 

She might have married (2) with F.C. Baar van Slangenburg [privacy] 

 

4 Clara Augusta Aronds was born on 22 December 1894 in Batavia (allocation confirmed 

Algemeen handelsblad 06-02-1895; dochter) 

She died after 1941 as she was mentioned in the 1941 Adresboek as wife of J.H. Abuys in 

Magelang. 

Clara Augusta married on 30 November 1911 in Batavia, 16 years old with Juste Henri Abuijs 

 

5 Eduard Augustinus Aronds was born on 5 January 1898-01-05 in Batavia. 

He died 13 December 1963 in Den Haag, the Netherlands (Internet) 

He was stationscommies and moved from Soerabaja to Bandoeng (1929) 

 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


97 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part III 

Version 1 April 2015 

Overgeplaatst met [ingang van] 1 Febr. 1929 van de exploitatie der Oosterlijnen (inspectiekantoor te 

Soerabaja) naar het hoofdkantoor te Bandoeng, dienstvak beweging en Handelszaken, de stations-commies 

2de kl. E.A. Aronds (Nieuwe Rotterdamsche Courant 14-04-1929) 

 

He married on 14 November 1919 in Batavia with Wilhelmine Stam. 

Wilhelmine Stam died was buried in Soerabaja on 29 July 1923, 27 years old (grafnr.B 2794; 

http://www.krancher.com/peneleh-soerabaja/) / Het nieuws van den dag voor NI 01-08-1923. 

 

He married on 17 December 1925 in Soerabaija with Betty van Nooyen (aka Elizabeth van 

Nooyen). (de Indische courant 18-12-1925, Delpher) 

They travelled with two children on board ‘Johan van Oldenbarnevelt’ from Amsterdam to 

Pandjong Priok; ETA 24 March 1932 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad, 10-03-1932) 

 

6 Gerbrant Jan Aronds was born on 30 September 1902 in Batavia (confirmed by Delpher). 

Employee of Javastaal (1945) 

Departed on 8 March 1924 from Rotterdam with ss ‘Patria’ to [Tandjong] Priok with ETA 11 

April 1924 (De Indische courant 07-04-1924). Moved from Semarang to Batavia as per 18 

November 1929 (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 18-11-1929) 

Gerbrand Jan Aronds died on 21 July 1945 in a Japans Burgerkamp in Batavia. 

(Oorlogsgravenstichting, OGS, Slachtofferregister,). He was buried on the Nederlands ereveld 

Menteng Pulo in Batavia, vak XIII, number 1. 

 

He engaged on 10 February 1934 with W.O. de Korte in Soerabaja (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 

09-02-1934), ondertrouwd between 9 and 14 April 1934 (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 16-04-1934), 

married between 30 April and 5 May 1934 in Batavia (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 08-05-1934) 

 

7 Hélène Aronds was born on 16 October 1903 in Den Haag, the Netherlands. 

 

Heden den 17 october 1903 compareerde voor ons … Eduard Augustinus Aronds, oud 38 jaren, Oost-

Indisch ambtenaar met verlof. Verklarende dat van hem comparant en zijne echtgenoote Wilhelmina 

Christina Johanna Albertina Hendrika Turk, zonder beroep, beiden wonenede alhier, ten zijnen huize op 

den 16den dezer des morgens ten half zeven ure is geboren alhier een kind van het vrouwelijke geslacht, 

waaraan hij verklaarde de voornaam te geven van Hélène. 

Deze verklaring is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Gerbrand Jan Turk, oud 61 jaren, zonder beroep en 

Herman Harbord, oud 32 jaren, Oost-Indisch ambtenaar met verlof, beiden wonende alhier. Etc. 

(digitalestamboom Den Haag) 

 

Apparently I missed one child; see below: 

 

De heer E.A. Aronds, echtg. en 8 kind. per ss ‘Sindoro’ van Rotterdam naar Nederlands-Indie vertrokken (de 

Indische Mercuur nr.3 1904) (via dordtena zoeker) 

 

 

IV-E Jan Aronds, son of Eduard Lucius Aronds (III-G) and Liontina Broers, was born on Sunday 5 

September 1869 in Padang. 

 

Nr.36 Geboorte van Jan Aronds (1869-09-05) 

Heden den zesden september 1869 verscheen voor mij etc. Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud ruim vier en dertig jaren, 

van beroep kommies boekhouder bij het vendu-kantoor te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat 

te Padang op den vijfden september 1869 des namiddags ten twee ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne 

uit Liontina Aronds, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan welk kind is gegeven de voornaam 

van Jan. Etc. Getuigen zijn Hendrik Lawa en Johannes Hendrik Anastatius Dommers. 
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I believe that the J. Aronds mentioned in 1886 in Batavia is identical to Jan Aronds: 

 

Tot burgerschrijver der 5de klasse bij de onderintendance te Batavia zijn benoemd F.F.J. Lopolang en J. Aronds 

(Bataviaasch handelsblad, 20-05-1886) 

 

He was clerk and lived in Batavia (1895-1901), Tjandjoer (1903-1906), Batavia (1907-1908), 

Weltevreden (1909-1911), unspecified (1912-1926); not mentioned anymore as from 1927 

He died around 1926. I did not find his death registration. 

He married on 3 May 1893 in Batavia, 23 years old with Paulina Wilhelmina Frederika Westerkamp, 

15[!] years old. Polina Wilhelmina Frederika Westerkamp was born on 24 February 1878 in Batavia and 

daughter of Jacobus Johannes Westerkamp and Sophia Mathilda Hendrik. She died on 24 August 1926 

in Batavia, 48 years old (Delpher, Het Nieuws van den Dag voor Nederlandsch-Indie and Bataviaasch 

Nieuwsblad, both d.d. 28 August 1926). She was mentioned as Jan Aronds’ wife until 1926, so that co-

incides. 

 

Jan and Paulina Wilhelmina Frederika Westerkamp had children but as mentioned earlier some of them 

cannot be allocated without positive verification. 

 

x August Hendrik Aronds was born on 15 December 1894 in Batavia. 

He died on 27 September 1896 in Batavia, 1 year, 9 months old. 

 

x John Alexander Aronds was born on 3 January 1898 in Batavia. 

He died on 11 May 1909 in Batavia. 

 

x? Albert Willem Aronds was born on 3 February 1900 in Batavia 

He died on 3 January 1903 in Tjandjoer, Preanger regentschappen. 

 

x Charles Gerard Aronds was born on 13 January 1902 in Batavia (confirmed by Het nieuws van 

de dag voor NI 21-01-1902 J. Aronds en P.F. Westerkamp, Ch.G. between 12-18 January) 

He is probably identical to the Ch.G. Aronds mentioned in 1928 together with T. Anderson on 

the occasion of the birth of a son. (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 15-10-1928) 

 

x Freddi Rudolf Aronds was born on 23 March 1903 in Batavia (confirmed by Het nieuws van den 

dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 28-03-1903, mevr. P.F. Aronds, geb. Westerkamp between 22-29 

March) 
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Uitzoeken & personen te plaatsen of niet te plaatsen 
 

27 September 1897 overleden te Klaten Filip Amary Arends. 

 

August Theodoor Christiaan Aronds overleden te Samarinda 6 June 1911 

August Theodoor Christiaan Aronds who died on 6 June 1911 in Samarinda might be a son Willem 

Frederik Aronds junior who lived in that period in Kalimantan. 
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Annex I, Oudste Inwoners Padang, Register 1790 
Naamlijst en zielsbeschrijving van alle zodanige Christeninwoonderen alhier (= Padang) van 21 dec. 

1790 (ARA, VOC inv. nr. 3962); extract uit eene memorie van het Padangsch Opperhoofd C.H. van 

Eratts d.d. 31 December 1790 §337 tevens afgedrukt in het Padangsch Nieuws- en Advertentieblad d.d. 

26 jan. 1861 (Delpher) 

  mannen vrouwen soons dogters 

de wed. Bronnekam 1 2 1 3 

id. id. Gabriel   1   2 

Jacob van Zeelen 1     1 

Jan Worrel 1       

weduwe Stolting   1   1 

Willem Gam 1 1   1 

Willem Ernst Gam 1 1   1 

weduwe Mertz   1 2 1 

weduwe Nolting   1 1 2 

weduwe Snijder   1     

weduwe Hartman   1   1 

Abraham van Moschil 1   2   

Jan van Staaten 1 1   1 

Pieter Jurriaans 1 1   1 

Leendert Pieter Lond 1   4 3 

Jones Alexander 1 1   1 

Josep Nicolaas 2       

de weduwe Pottrich   1   2 

Johannes Alexander 1 1   2 

Lodewijk Adriaan 1     2 

Jan Krijgsman 1 2 2 2 

de wed. Willem Krijgsman   2   1 

id. id. Krijgsman   1 3 2 

Fredrik Vogeling 1 1   2 

Wed. Manusama   1   1 

Gerardus Manusama 1 1   1 

Wed. Boudewijnsz   1   3 

Martijn Godlieb 1 1 1 1 

Coenraad Lantreer 1 4 3 4 

wed. Oukes   1     

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


101 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part III 

Version 1 April 2015 

Carel van Moschel 1       

Francois Theuvenet 1 1 5 4 

Wed. de Buijser 1 2     

Paulus Steijn 1       

Dorothea Elizabeth   1 2   

Johannes Weijsheijer 1 1 1 2 

Wed. Carels   1   2 

id. de Bruijn   1 2 1 

id. Hen   1   1 

Paulus van der Maas 1       

Jan Wijnand Eringh 1 1   1 

de wed. Jacobsen     1 3 

Frans van Dalen 1 1 4 1 

Johannes Steenbag 1 1 1 3 

David Alexander 1 1   5 

Andries Carels 1     2 

wed. Bolman   1     

Cornelis Godlied 1 1 1   

Jan Rijswijk 1 1 1 2 

Willem van Lier 1 
 

    

wed. Lesnou   1 1   

          

somma 33 44 38 69 

check 33 46[!] 38 69 

 

Wij plaatsten volgaarne bovenstaand, ons door een geachte hand toegezonden stuk, in de 

veronderstelling dat het aan velen niet onverschillig zoude zijn, die namen te kennen, (Redactie.) 
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Annex II, Family Tradition regarding Aronds 
 

Notes from the CBG dossier of the Aronds family: 

 

Behorende bij de gegevens van het CBG ontvangen per brief d.d. 5 mei 1958 

 

Ad 1) tot op heden zijn de gegevens omtrent Hartog Aronds nog zeer schaars gebleven. Er zijn enkele 

aanwijzingen dat hij van Engelse afkomst is, doch dit is nimmer bevestigd. Deze aanwijzingen steunen in 

hoofdzaak op familieoverleveringen, waarin de verwantschap tussen de families Aronds en in Padang levende 

Engelse families (onder andere de famile Alexander) wordt gewezen. Van een thans nog levend en tevens 

hoogbejaard lid van de familie (te weten Johan David Aronds, 83 jaar [hij is geboren op 28 april 1876 te 

Tjeringin, zoon van Amelius Hartman Aronds]) werd vernomen, dat in zijn jeugd thuis nog Engels gesproken 

werd. De enige overlevering, waarin iets over de historie van de familie Aronds wordt verhaald, doch welke 

helaas nog nergens is gecontroleerd, is de volgende: 

De famile Aronds zou oorspronkelijk uir Frankrijk afkomstig zijn, doch in die tijd een andere (thans niet 

bekende) naam hebben gehad. Om geloofsredenen is deze familie of enige leden daarvan uitgeweken naar 

Engeland, en daar een andere naam (dat is de huidige) hebben aangenomen. Door een houthandel is een Aronds 

vanuit Liverpool uitgezonden naar Oost Indie, waar hij zich opSumatra’s Westkust, hetzij op het eiland Nias, 

hetzij in Padang gevestigd heeft. 

Aldus deze overlevering. In vroegere jaren zijn er familiepapieren geweest, waaruit het een en ander omtrent 

de juistheid van deze overlevering zou kunnen blijken, doch deze papieren zijn tijdens een brand verloren 

gegaan. Het is echter wellicht mogelijk deze overlevering als werkhypothese te gebruiken. 

Reeds heeft het CBG de uittreksels uit de doop-, trouw- en begraafboeken van Londern en omgeving 

nagekeken.het zou aanbeveling verdienen hetzelfde te doen met dergelijke registers van Liverpool. Tevens 

vraag ik mij af, of het niet mogelijk is de passagierslijsten of scheepsregisters in Liverpool te pakken te krijgen, 

waarin de namen van passagiers die naar de Oost gingen (voor die tijd toch geen alledaagse gebeurtenis) 

vermeld zijn. Misschien kunnen ook de registers van de Engelse Oostindische Compagnie over de tijd tussen 

1700 en 1790 (geschatte aankomst van Hartog Aronds of diens vader op Sumatra) iets opleveren. 
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Londt 

About this revision 
In the first issue of Part IV about the Londt family in March 2015 I expressed my doubts regarding the 

reliability of transcriptions of the DTB fiches of Padang as published on the internet; see Annex II, 

“Londt Registrations in mid 18th Century”. At that time these data contributed to my understanding of 

the elder generations Londt, but apparently some of these data were doubtfull or obviously wrong. I 

made a request as follows: 

I would be very interested if someone could provide me with scans of the fiches from the Arsip or even 

with scans of the original church registers. I’m sure that some of the doubts and uncertainties raised in 

the above sections can then be taken away. 

 

In May 2015 a study was published of various Padang families around the 19th century in the Jaarboek 

2014 of the “De Indische Navorscher”, “Gezinsreconstructies en fragmentgenealogien van Padangse 

families rond het begin van de negentiende eeuw” by Reinoud Vissers and Rob Mostert (DIN 2014). 

This publication covered also the elder generations of the Alexander and Londt families in Padang. A 

comparison showed that the reconstructions of these families correlated rather well, although sometimes 

different sources were used in both studies. 

 

One source in particular, mentioned and used by Vissers & Mostert, the Lach de Bère (LdB) collection 

(available in the CBG, The Hague), was not known to me until then. I got in contact with one of the 

authors and thereupon copies of the original fiches of the baptisms of the Londt family in Padang from 

1748-1753 and 1760-1770 were made available to me kindly by mr. Reinoud Vissers, thus fulfilling my 

request above. The original fiches provided some new insights for me. I’m not sure if the ‘real’ original 

source, i.e. the registers of baptisms in Padang still exists. 

 

Furthermore I collected more information from the VOC archives and from an online database of the 

CBG, which makes the reconstruction more complete and robust. 

 

The turbulent history of Padang in the period of the Napoleontic wars in Europe and after the bankruptcy 

of the VOC is very well described in DIN 2014, Geschiedenis en demografie van Padang omstreeks 

1780-1830 by R. Vissers. 

 

And finally I have traced the ancestors of Jacob Lont in Amsterdam (Annex VII) and the presumed 

father of Adriana Arons. Regarding this father of Adriana Arons I have developed a hypothesis as 

described in Annex VI. 

 

Elder Generations Londt 
Leendert Pieter Londt is mentioned in the list of European inhabitants of Padang in 1790; the list 

mentions no wife, 4 sons and 3 daughters. I estimate his birth around 1750, based on his –at least- 7 

children. Please refer to Annex I. 

 

Europeans in Nederlands-Indie in the 18th century were often in service of the VOC. Many young man 

decided to make their career in the Far East, probably attracted by a well paid job. Their journey to 

Nederlands-Indie was by VOC-ship. They sailed out for one of the “kamers” of the VOC, which kept 

proper administration in the “Grootboek” for that vessel, registering payments for each year, often until 

the death of that person. 

 

+++Source: GaHetNa site “I’m looking for a VOC sea voyager” 

The Dutch East India Company (VOC) was established in 1602. The States-General granted the VOC a 

trade monopoly for the area from the east of the Cape of Good Hope to the Strait of Magellan. The 
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organisation of the VOC in the Dutch Republic was decentralised. There were six governmental and 

administrative units known as Chambers: these were located in Amsterdam, Middelburg, Delft, 

Rotterdam, Hoorn and Enkhuizen. The governing body of the VOC was the Heeren XVII, or 'Lords 

Seventeen', who were chosen by the six Chambers. 

Each Chamber of the VOC kept its own personnel records, though following centrally predefined rules. 

The basis of the salary records was the ship’s pay ledger, in which were noted all personal particulars 

and salary information for all paid crew members of every VOC ship. Each crew member’s particulars 

were logged, and the accounts start on the date on which the ship sailed. The accounts close upon 

termination of employment, with payment of the amount owed by the VOC to the crew member or his 

claimants. The VOC was disbanded in 1795. 

+++ 

 

The information on internet regarding the Londt family mentiones a Jacob Londt, who procured some 

children in Padang. 

A search of the VOC opvarenden (http://vocseavoyagers.nationaalarchief.nl/search.aspx) returns several 

Jacob Londt’s and one interesting candidate in particular who sails to the Dutch Indies in 1734. A scan 

of his registration was requested via the GaHetna website (*). In addition to interesting information 

about his career, his last will was included and this provided his wife’s and children’s names. It included 

proof that Leendert Pieter was one of his sons. 

*) Now, in 2017, all scans of the “Grootboeken” are available online. 

 

I will start the reconstruction from the “grootboek”/ledger registration of the ‘Reijgersbroek’, continue 

with the will and then add the fiches’ data. 
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The Grootboek 

Jacob Lont from Amsterdam went into VOC service for the kamer van Enchuijsen on 13 May 1732 as 

“onder zeijlmaker”, sailmakers assistant. He boarded the VOC vessel ‘Reijgersbroek’, which sailed on 

15 May 1732 from Texel and arrived, via the Cape, on 4 June 1733 in Batavia. (voyage 2883.3 from 

Texel to Batavia). After a short lodging in Batavia Jacob was relocated to Padang in August 1733. 

Since then he stayed in Padang and his salary was registered each year until 1752. In 1753 the 

registration states” 

als vooren tot heden na vrouw en kinderen; nalatende is overleden. 

He died late 1752 or early 1753 as he was registered as passed away in 1753 (NA, 1.04.02, VOC, inv.nr. 

14721, Reigersbroek) 

 

 

The Will [Dutch: Testament] 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

a pantchiallang 

 

On 18 November 1751 Jacob Lond (Lont) empowered Willem Krijgsman and Pieter van der Stallen as 

executors, just prior his trip to Poulo Bato an island offshore Padang, with his vessel the pantchiallang 

‘De Overmaas’ 

Op heden den 18 9ber [=November] 1751 compareerde voor mij François de Valbert, onderkoopman en 

secretaris van politie deses commandement, present de natenoemene getuijgen D’E Jacob Lond, 

opperstuurman en gesaghebber op de panjalling De Overmaas, staande op zijn vertrek naar Poulo Bato, den 

welken verklaarde te constitueren en op de kragtigste wijze magtig te maken, gelijk hij constitueert en magtigh 

maakt bij deesen D’E: Willem Krijgsman, opperstuurman en equipagie opziender, en Pieter van der Stallen 

baas der smitsgezellen beijde 

In his will he assigned his wife Adriana Arontsz as heir and gives her the usufruct until mature age or 

marriage of his children, procreated from Adriana as well from his former, deceased wife Geertruij 

Johanna. His children are: Jan, Leijsje, Antje, Adriaan, Jacob, Aagje and Leendert. 

het zuijvere provenue uijt te keeren en overtegeven aan desselfs huijsvrouw Adriana Arontsz die hij constituant 

derhalven bij deze nomineerten institueert tot zijn enige universele erffgenaamen ten eijnde van alles het geene 

hij constituant met en dood zal komen te ontruijmenen naar te laeten goud, zilver gemunt en ongemunt actien 

en crediten slaven en slavine niets uijtgezondert door haar als eijgen verkregen goed vrij en liber bezeten te 

werden onder deze conditie nogthans dat wanneer zij haar wederom in den huwelijkken staat mogt komen te 
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begeeren zij als dan gehoude zal zijn aan des testateurs 7 kinderen in name Jan, Leijsje (Leijsse), Antje, 

Adriaan, Jacob, Aagie (Aagje) en Leendert /: alle zoo wel bij dit huwelijk als bij desselfs eerste overledene 

vrouw Geertruij Johanna geprocreert uijt te keeren, der zelver ligitime portie. Dog anderzints het zelve 

zoolange onder haar te mogen houden tot der zelver mondige jaren ofte huwelijke staat. 

He recovokes earlier wills and especially his will dating from 13 December 1748. 

The integral text of the will is captured in Annex III. 

 

A regular report of the directors of Padang to their superiors in Batavia (VOC archives, NA 1.04.02, 

inv.nr.8554, page 252-254) states that: 

Sumatra’s WestCust onder dato 15 april 1752 

Chincos resident Willem van Rhijn, en absent den Bandhara door indispositie 

Door den heer commandeur gecommuniceert zijnde ten eenen dat den opperstuurman en gesaghebber vanden 

pantjallang de ‘Overmaas’ Jacob Lond nevens de twee Padangse panghoulous [Wikipedia: Penghulu is the 

headman or chief of a region in traditional Malay society] Radja Ibrahim en Bagindo Radja met dat bodemtje 

een eenige inlandse vaartuijgen van het eijland Plo Batoe gereverteert waeren werwaards ter resol: vanden 12 

november des voorleden jaars sijn gecommitteert, principaal ten onderzoek en beslissing soo veel mogelijk der 

geschillen en eenigheeden die tussen die Eijlandersen en de aldaar bij vergunning mede huijsvestende Niasse 

volkeren al sedert eenigen tijd dog wel principaal inden jaare 1749 geresen en niet tegenstaande de dier tijd 

derwaarts gesondene commissie van vier Padangse panghoulous zulx egter nog al levende gebleven ware en 

ten anderen mede een ontfangen briefje van dies regenten Radja Mara en Iman nevens een schriftelijk rapport 

van opgem: Lond, principaal behelsende datere voorsz oneenigheeden kunnen oorspronkx voornamentlijk 

gehad zouden hebben, door den de Niassers off wel eijgentlijk d’inwoonde is van’t Eijland Sugattali met al 

bevorens hunne landsproducten en gewoone eerbewijsinge aan die van Boluars quame aan te bieden [etc]. 

 

The above description correlates perfectly with Jacob Londt’s will: 

 

- in a resolution of 12 November 1751 it was decided that local disputes on the island on the island 

Poulo Batoe had to be investigated; 

- The will is dated 18 November 1751 and it is mentioned herein that Jacob Londt will make a trip 

to Poulo Bato imminently; 

- The report is dated 15 April 1752. Jacob Londt has returned and submitted a report of his findings 

 

 

The Fiches 

The information that is available on the Padang DTB fiches is structured as follows: 
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Two baptisms are denoted separated by semi-columns (;). The same for the respective dates. 

Furthermore two events are registered for Anna Johanna Londt whereby she witnessed a baptism. 

I have extracted the individual events and put them in an excel sheet, line by line, in order to sort by 

baptism-date. Please refer to Annex IV, DTB Padang 1737-1769 for the overview. 

 

Jacob Lond and Geertruyt [Johanna] had one child for sure, Jacobus who was baptized on Sunday 13 

October 1737. 

 

Jacob Londt and Adriana Arons have the following children: 

 

1. Antje Londt, born 17-04-1745; 

2. Adriaan Daniels Londt, born on 19-07-1746; 

3. Jacob Willem Londt, born on 25-12-1747; 

4. Aagje Pieternella, born on 01-07-1749 and 

5. Leendert Pieter, born on 10-05-1750. 

 

Apparantly the will uses the given / nick names rather than the Christian names, Jan, Leijsje (Leijsse), 

Antje, Adriaan, Jacob, Aagie (Aagje) en Leendert. 

In the will Antje, Adriaan, Jacob, Aagje and Leendert are mentioned in a row, so we may assume that 

his children were mentoned from oldest to youngest. 

 

Jacobus Londt was baptized on 13 October 1737 in Padang; he probably died at young age. The ‘Jacob’ 

mentioned in the will is identical to Jacob Willem who was born in 1747. 

 

Jan Londt had two daughters: one, Adriana Geertruijda was christened: on Sunday 19 December 1762 

and the other on Sunday 9 November 1766. I estimate that Jan was born around 1740. 

 

The Elizabeth mentioned in the fiches must be identical with Leijsje. She was married with 

Bartholomeus François Forcade. She also may be born around 1740. 
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Sedelam aka Sidilam van Padang 

The free Malay woman Sedelam appears twice, in close relation to the Londt family: 

 

- Abraham was christened on 9 November 1766 in Padang. He was born on 24 February 1766. He 

was adopted by Adriana Arensz, widow of Jacob Londt. The mother is Sidilam van Padang. 

Witnesses are Jan Londt en Petronella Pasqual, widow of Fokke Jansz; 

- Catharina Adriana was christened on 5 November 1769 in Padang. She was born as an illegitmate 

child on 9 July 1768. She was adopted by Adriaan Daniel Londt. The mother is the free Malay 

woman Sedelam. Witnesses were Leendert Pieter Londt en Adriana Aronsz, widow Londt 

 

Jacob Londt, a bookkeeper of VOC 

In the fiches a Jacob Londt appears as follows: 

 

- Lond, Jacob – boekhouder. He adopts a Maria on 21 November 1753 in Makassar. 

- Maria Magdalena Lontds, orphan girl marries with Johannes Jacobus Esser on 30 March 1777 in 

Makassar. 

- Maria Lont is mentioned in 1780 in Makassar as housewife of Johannes Jacobus Esser, 

meesterknecht der metselaars.  

 

The Makassar Jacob Londt cannot be identical with ‘our’ aforementioned Londt. The Padang Jacob 

Londt was a skipper, whereas the Makassar Londt was a bookkeeper. And we know that the Padang 

Jacob Londt died in 1752 or early 1753. In order to take away any remaining doubts I checked 

candidates, who were in VOC service and alive in 1753: 

 

Information concerning Jacob Lont from Saxenburg 

Date of commencement of employment: 26-12-1741 and termination of employment: 05-07-1755 

Occupation at commencement of employment: Ship gunner 

Reason for terminating employment: Deceased 

Sailed away with the ship: Ouwerkerk; Where ended tenure of service: Asia 

Information concerning the voyage 

Ship: Ouwerkerk; Departure: 26-12-1741, Chamber: Enkhuizen, Arrival: 17-07-1742, Batavia 

Inventory number: 14744, Folio: 57 

 

From the Grootboek registration it appears that this Jacob Lont was stationed ‘op Macassar’ as from 

ultimo June 1743 until 5 July 1755, when he died. This confirms that another Jacob Lont was in VOC 

service and located in Makassar. The date of the adoption falls within this period. There is certainly no 

apparent family relation between the ‘Makassar’ and the ‘Padang’ Jacob Londt. 

 

Joris Londt 

In many publications a Joris Londt is nominated as eldest or even only son of Leendert Pieter Londt. 

This is based on the information on the fiches, which are in this case wrongly interpreted. Achie and 

Leendert Pieter Londt are witnesses for the baptism of a Joris on 23 or 25 November 1769 in Padang. 

In order to take away all doubts the fiche with the baptism of Joris should be found. 

 

Pieter Pieterse Londt 

In the VOC archives of the Dutch National Archive we read that a Pieter Pieterse Londt was mentioned 

in 1788 in relation to the barque the ‘Kreeft’; the captain/’gezagvoerder’ deceased. 

 

§15 
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Op de barcq de ‘Kreeft’ hebben wij geen ander als een nader inventaris, in een met Comps cachet verzeegeld 

couvert gevonden, zoowel het woord(?) van nader als ook veele op dit kieltje van aangeleegendheijd gevondene 

equipagie goederen die op deesen inventaris niet bekend staan doen ons begrijpen dat nog een voorgaande 

inventaris moet geweest zijn, die wij niet gevonden hebben. 

 

§16 

Wij hebben intusschen direct bij dies komst alle goederen door gecommitteerden laten opnemen en eenen 

inventaris daarvan laten formeeren. en also den gesaghebber door zijn overlijden geen verandwoording heeft 

doen kunnen, heeft den daar op zijnde schiemansmaat Pieter Pieterse Londt ons eene aanteekening gegeeven 

geteekend door drie mattroosen, en door hem particulier gehouden van hetgeene hem bekend is, op den reijs 

gebruijkt, en aan de Caabse Cust absent geraakt te zijn. Zoolang als den gesaghebber geleeft heeft, gelijk meede 

nog nader verantwoording gedaan van ’t geene, dat door hem geduurend hij het commando gevoerd heeft, 

gebruijkt is, en also dit kieltje eene zeer sware reijse gehad heeft, hebben wij g’oordeeld de afschrijving van 

de opgegeevene verbruijkte goederen te mogen permitteeren 

 

§17 

Uijt desselve lading zijn niet meer gekomen als 80’042 lb nog bruijkbare rijst die egter zeer vol worm en stof 

is, dog zoo goed als moogelijk is, zal geconsumeerd worden. 

 

§18 

Door den schiemansmaat [= Pieter Pieterse Londt] is bij verklaring opgegeeven 20 zakken uijtmackende na 

gissing circa 18’00 lb die bij gebrek uijt de lading geconsumeerd zijn, aan bedorven rijst is uijt denselven 

gekomen 14’828 lb en tekort aan de lading lb 15’330. Welke parthijen bij elkanderen getrokken aantoonen, dat 

aan de lading 31’958 lb tekort komen, die na Uw Hoog Edelheeren hooger goedvinden op reekening van den 

geweesene gesaghebber Huijbers, en dies sousluijtenant, dienen gesteld te worden, neemende [….] 

 

§21 

Hebbende wij van het schip de ‘Standvastigheijd’, den luijtenant ter zee Jonas Tilander genomen en als 

gezaghebber daar op [=barcq de ‘Kreeft’] geplaatst, immers wij den door Uw Hoog Edelheedens tot sous-

luijtenant bevorderden Londt aan gem: schip [= de ‘Standvastigheijd’] gegeven hebben. [deze bevordering 

door ‘Batavia’ zou terug te vinden moeten zijn; ik heb het tot nu toe niet gevonden] 

 

§22 

Voorts heeft het schip ‘De Standvastigheijd” zijn lading, excepto eenige articuliere wel uijtgeleevert, gelijk 

dan […] 

(NA 1.04.02 8441) 

 

My presumption is that Pieter Pieterse is about 18 years old in 1788; i.e. he is born in 1770. Pieter 

Pieterse is not mentioned in the doopregisters of Padang until 1769 inclusive. But there appears to be a 

serious shortage of qualified personnel in Padang in a period that is characterized by the British’ pressure 

on the Far East possessions the Dutch, resulting in the British taking over Padang in 1795. This could 

have led to quick promotions. 

 

Cornelis aka Kees Londt 

A Kees Lond is mentioned in 1789 regarding the settlement of the inventory of the deceased Johannes 

Andriessen (CBG online VIBDNI000125): 

Den boedel van wijlen den overleeden boekhouder Johannis Andriessen; debet aan Johannes Wijsheijr voor ’t 

volgende, als 

1 paar schoen voor zijn edele [=Johannes Andriessen]  rds 1:32:- 

1 paar schoen voor Kees Lond      rds 1:12:- 

Somma         rds 2:44:- 

Padang ultimo maij Ao 1789 

 

It appears that he was employed by Johannes Andriessen, bookkeeper. 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


112 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part IV 

Revision November 2017 

 

A Cn Lond(t) is mentioned on 12 and 13 February 1799 in Padang regarding an auction (vendutie) of 

the inventory of the deceased Pieter Oland (CBG online VIBDNI012966) 

He buys several items for his household. 

 

I believe that Kees and Cornelis are identical. 

 

Jan Londt 

A Jn Lond is mentioned on 13 February 1799 in Padang regarding an auction (vendutie) of the inventory 

of the deceased Pieter Oland (CBG online VIBDNI012966) 

He buys 9 picures in glass frame. 

However Jacob Londt’s son Jan who was married to Maria Magdalena Pietersz, died before 1771; see 

further below under II-A. 

 

Summary of Jan, Cornelis and Pieter Pieterse Londt 

We know that Leendert Pieter had 3 sons: Jacob Pieter, Jacob and Pieter; see Section Londt – Generation 

II, II-B below. 

Leendert Pieter is mentioned in the Lijst van Oudste Inwoners van Padang in 1790 with 4 sons and 3 

daughters. 

His children were born between 1773 and 1790; see II-B below. 

Jacob Pieter was born around 1773, Jacob around 1775 and Pieter around 1777. 

 

On 30 November 1795 Padang was transferred to the English. Just prior to that event, on 5 November 

1795, the Europeans of Padang supplemented with the VOC officers signed a statement. Amongst the 

signatories are a Jacob Lend and P.J. Lend. (DIN 2014, Vissers, Geschiedenis en demografie van Padang 

omstreeks 1780-1830, sourced from E. Netscher, Padang in het laatst der XVIIIe eeuw, Verhandelingen 

van het Bataviaasch genootschap van kunsten en wetenschappen 41, ’s Gravenhage 1880). 

- Jacob Lend must be identical with Jacob Londt born in 1775, then 20 years old; 

- P.J. Lend is probably identical with Jacob Pieter Londt born in 1773, then 22 years old; 

- Pieter did not sign because he was probably a minor at that time. 

In absence of a signature of Leendert Pieter or L.P., I conclude that Leendert Pieter died before 5 

November 1795. 

 

Cornelis/Kees, Jan and Pieter Pieterse Londt are not mentioned in the statement of 1795. Based on this 

I will make some assumptions: 

 

- Pieter Pieterse would be about 25 years in 1795. In absence of his signature I presume that he 

died before 1795; 

- Cornelis/Kees is –probably- Johannes Andriessen’s assistant in 1789 and of age in 1799. An 

explanation for his absence as signatory is that he is an illegimate son of a Londt. He is not 

mentioned in the List of 1823; 

- Jan is of age in 1799. He could be a minor in 1795 or an illegimate son of a Londt, or both. He is 

not mentioned in the list of 1823. 

 

Based on the above, I believe that Pieter Pieterse is the 4th son of Leendert Pieter, alive in 1790 but 

deceased before 1795. 

This assumption correlates with the registration in 1790, wherein it is stated that Leendert Pieter has 4 

sons and 3 daughters: 

1 Pieter Pieterse born around 1770; 

2 Jacob Pieter    1773; 
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3 Jacob     1775; 

4 Pieter     1777; 

5 Johanna Helena   1782; 

6 Adriana Magdalena  1787; 

7 Sara Maria    1790. 

The will of Adriana Arons in 1786 Padang (LdB, inv.nr.690) stated that her son Leendert Pieter Londt 

had five children, which correlates with the above. 

 

Please note that Jacob Pieter, Jacob and Pieter were three brothers -the three alive in the early 1800’s) 

as will be demonstrated in III-A, B and C respectively. On many of the Internet publications the 3 

brothers are –wrongly!- merged (e.g. “Jacob (Pieter)”) 

 

 

Descendants of Jacob Londt (1716 – 1752) 

Londt - Generation I 

 

Jacob Lont was baptised on 24 June 1716 in the Westerkerk. Parents Jan Sijmonse and Antje Elekes de 

Haan. Witnesses Arent Bloker en Antje Cornelis 

 

I Jacob Londt was baptised on 24 June 1716 in the Westerkerk, Amsterdam, son of Jan Sijmonse 

Lont and Antje Elekes, witnesses were Arent Bloker and Antje Cornelis. Jacob -almost 16 years old-

embarked on 13 May 1732 for the kamer Enkhuizen as sailmakers assistant the VOC vessel 

‘Reijgersbroek’, which sailed out on 15 May 1732 from Texel and arrived, via the Cape, on 4 June 1733 

in Batavia. After a short lodging in Batavia Jacob was relocated to Padang in August 1733, where he 

stayed until his death by end 1752. He was skipper on the pantchiallang De Overmaas (1751) and 

witnessed the christening of a child of Molet on 31 October 1751 and a child from van der Stallen and 

a child from de Leeuw on 7 November 1751. 

 

Jacob Londt was married (1) with Geertruij Johanna. 

In absence of a surname I presume that she was a native woman and that Geertruij Johanna was her 

Christian name. 

 

The sequence of the first three children is not sure, but as mentioned earlier, based on Jacob Londt’s 

will, Jan is older than Elizabeth. 

 

1 Jacobus Londt was christened on Sunday 13 October 1737 in Padang (witnesses were Daniel 

Buurman and Petronella). I suppose he died before 1747 when Jacob Willem was born; 

 

2 Jan Londt was born around 1739; see II-A; 

 

3 Elizabeth Londt was born around 1741 

She was witness at the christening of a child on 4 July 1760. She died before 26 March 1771. 

Elizabeth married around 1760 in Padang with Bartholomeus François Forcade, christened on 

15 January 1739 in Vianen, son of Philippus Forcade and Cornelia Valentijn/Falentijn. 

 

Bartholomeus Francoijs Verhade [sic] from Vianen, The Netherlands, embarked on 4 July 1751, 

12 years old [!!] on the ship ‘Nieuw Nieuwerkerk’ as sailor for the Kamer Zeeland in VOC 

service. 

In this context I like to mention that his grandfather, mothers side, François Valentijn, was minister, in 

VOC service, on Ambon, Nederlands-Indië from 1686-1694 and from 1705-1713, amongst others, to 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


114 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part IV 

Revision November 2017 

serve as army chaplain on an expedition in eastern Java. He was a strong supporter of the VOC strategy 

and had a wide network in Nederlands-Indie. He finally returned to Dordrecht where he found time to 

write his “Oud en Nieuw Oost-Indiën” (1724–26) a massive work of five parts published in eight 

volumes and containing over one thousand engraved illustrations and some of the most accurate maps 

of the Indies of the time. (Wikipedia). 

I presume that Bartholomeus François was sent to Nederlands-Indië in order to complete his 

education. 

 

The ship arrived on 1 May 1752 in Batavia. The following details were found in the Grootboek 

registration (NA 1.04.02, inv.nr.13053, fo.123) 

 

He remained “in logies” in Batavia(?) until ultimo August 1756, whereafter he appears in Padang, 

where he is registered until 3 May 1771. 

Dat testeert en sterft 

30 December 1773 betaalt aan de gesubstitueerde gemagtigde Nicolaas van Eekelen f 1287:17:10 voor 

de nagelaeten kinderen uijt kragte van 8 ps rect: met procuratie en licentie liassen W19 no.296. en belove 

ik ondergetekende De Edele Compagnie voor alle namaninge te bevrijden borgen en principael te 

blijven onder renuntiatie van het benefitie ord[ini]s [divisionis] et ex[cu]ss[ionis] <ondertekend> Jan 

Lugts 

 

Bartholomeus François Forcade is mentioned as boekhouder in Padang, secretaris van justitie 

[from] 1759 until 1766. In 1773 he is mentioned as resident of Baros, deceased. (Naamboek van 

de Wel Edele Heeren der Hoge Indiasche Regering, 1762-1773, online copy -amongst others- 

available from the Indische Genealogische Vereniging; The ‘naamboek’ 1773 contains the 

registration between primo January until ultimo December 1771. Boekhouder en first clerck on 

21 November 1766 (regarding the will of J.W.F. Nicolai, CBG online VIBDNI013627, pag.9) 

 

On 26 March 1771 Bartholomeus François Forcade made his will (NA 1.04.02, inv.nr.6877). 

uijt hoofde mijner dagelijx meer en meer toeneemende siekelijke lichaamsconstitutie te raaden 

geworden te maken mijn testament en uijterste wille, beveelende ten dien eijnde de in de eerste plaats 

mijne onsterfelijke ziel aan God mijnen schepper en mijn lichaam den schoot der aarde met een eerlijke 

begravenis. 

 

The date of the will, 26 March 1771 correlates with the information in the Grootboek. 

Based on this I estimate that Bartholomeus died around 3 May 1771. 

 

His sole universal heirs are his two daughters, Adriana Johanna and Cornelia Elizabeth. He 

requests that the weesmeesters van Padang be the guardian of the infant children and their 

administrators. His daughters shall be assisted by his three slaves: 

Laatstelijk begeer ik, als dat mijn drie slaeven namens Junij en Maloer met hun kind dan wel nog te 

procureerende kinderen, benevens Januarij, alle van Nias, mijn twee hiervoren gemelde kinderen 

Adriana Johanna en Cornelia Elisabeth sullen oppassen tot hun mondige jaaren ofte huwelijke staat 

omme als dan wel opgepast en geene reedenen van ongenoegen gegeven te hebben hun vrijdom en als 

het de kinderen te dier tijd mogte covenieeren ijder een sommetje van vijfentwintig rds, ijder van 48 

stuivers, te genieten. 

 

Furthermore he devises certain parts of his inheritance as follows: 

1. The balance of his wages with VOC to his mother, Cornelia Valentijn, widow of Philippus 

Forcade. But in case she is not alive by the time of his death, this sum shall transfer to his 

universal heirs, his daughters; 

2. Two slaves and clothing, that belonged to his deceased wife Elizabeth Londt, to Maria 

Magdalena Pietersz, widow of Jan Lond who died in Padang. Maria Magdalena took care 
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and nursed Bartholomeus François in Baros. Maria Magdalena is also nominated as 

‘executeur testamentair’, i.e. executor of his will. 

3. 100 ducats each for the two daughters of Maria Magdalena [and Jan Londt, deceased], 

named Geertruijda Adriana and Johanna Christina. Bartholomeus François is the guardian 

of the two girls (‘welke thans onder mijn opsigt sig bevinden’) and requests that 

guardianship is transferred to the weesmeesters of Padang after his death; 

4. 10 rds for the poor of the diaconate (diaconie armen). 

 

Jan Londt’s wife Maria Magdalena Pietersz has nursed Bartholomeus François and Bartholomeus 

François is guardian of Jan and Maria Magdalena’s two daughters. This strengthens the 

assumption that Jan and Elizabeth are full brother and sister and that their mother is probably 

Geertruij Johanna. 

Actually I assume that Maria Magdalena and her two daughters moved in with Bartholomeus 

François after his wife Elizabeth Londt (and Jan Londt, Maria Magdalena’s husband) died and 

relocated to Baros. 

 

From Bartholomeus François Forcade’s will, dated 26 march 1771, we may conclude that: 

- Bartholomeus’ mother, Cornelia Valentijn, is still alive; 

- His wife Elizabeth Londt deceased earlier; 

- His two daughters are alive: Adriana Johanna and Cornelia Elisabeth; 

- His brother in law, Jan Londt has deceased; 

- Maria Magdalena Pieters, Jan Londt’s wife, is alive a plays a significant role in the will. I 

presume that she moved in with Bartholomeus François after Jan Londt and Bartholomeus 

François’ wife Elizabeth Londt died. Together with her two daughters, Geertruijda Adriana 

and Johanna Christina. 

 

The children of Elizabeth Londt and Bartholomeus François Forcade: 

 

a Adriana Johanna Forcade was christened on 6 July 1760 in Padang; witnesses were Jan Lont 

and Johanna Lont; 

b Cornelia Elisabeth Forcade was christened on 19 December 1762 in Padang; witnesses were 

Jan Londt and Maria Magdalena Pieters. 

 

Jacob was married (2) with Adriana Arontsz aka Adriana Arons. 

My rough estimate is that she was born around 1723. 

The name Adriana Arontsz is apparently not a Christian name for a native woman. As far as I know not 

many women travelled to the Far East in those times and even fewer landed up in Padang. The surname 

Arontsz could suggest that she is the daughter of a man named Aron. As Aron is a name that appears is 

not too often, I made search for VOC voyagers who travelled to Batavia and were stationed in Padang 

in the period 1620-1625. One candidate matched this profile: 

Kamer Enkhuizen, schip: Korssloot: Grootboek 1712 

Aron van Macassar 

Datum indiensttreding 1712-01-19. Soldaat 

Aankomst Batavia 1712-07-28 

Hij wordt vermeld van augustus 1712 t/m 1736 te Padang Datum uit dienst als soldaat in juni 1732, daarna vrij 

man tot 1736-08-31, laatste vermelding 

Schuldbrief Nee, Maandbrief Nee 

(NA, toegangsnr.1.04.02, invnr.14666, folionummer: 131 en 131v) 

 

Hence Adriana Arons is probably the daughter of Aron van Macassar and an unknown native woman. 
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She was witness at the christening of two children Krijgsman on 14 November 1751 in Padang (LdB 

inv.nr.689 and DIN 2014), and several of her grandchildren between 19 December 1762 and 5 

November 1769. She adopts a child Abraham (probably on behalf of her son Adriaan Daniel) on 9 

November 1766. 

She is mentioned on 9 November 1772, when she (i.e. widow J. Lond) instructed to measure a small 

piece of land in Padang. 

(CBG online, Stukken betreffende de nalatenschap van Johannes Andriessen en later zijn dochter 

Susanna Petronella Andriessen. periode 1789 t/m 1796, Padang, archiefnr.VIBDNI000125) 

Wij ondergestelden certificeeren en verklaaren bij deezen dat wij ons, op verzoek van mejuffrouw de weduwe 

J: Lond, hebben vervoegt aan de overzijde deezen rivier en aldaar op aanwijzing van gemelde juffrouw de 

weduwe Lond, gemeeten hebben een stuk land, haar in eijgendom toebehoorende, dat wij bevonden te strekken 

Westelijk Zuide en Oostelijk Noorde van vooren aan de rivierkant aan de Oostzijde naast het land van den 

capitain der Chineezen Louw Powanko tot in de ½ zeekere spruijt die dit land van(?) een ander stuk land van 

gemelde weduwe J: Lond van elkander schied [=scheid] ter breeten van vier roeden en zeeven voeten 

alsmeede van agteren aan de voet van de Bergh ter breeten van vijff roede en een voet. Item Zuidelijk Ooste 

en Noordelijk Weste van vooren aan de rivier tot agter aan de voet van de Berg ter dieptevan 39 roeden. 

Waarvoor deze tot bewijs dient. 

Padang op Sumatras WestCust den 9e november 1772 

<getekend> Gerrit Coerte, F Thierens en Jacop de Wendt 

 

The widow J. Lond, mentioned above may be Jacob Londt’s wife Adriana Arons or Jan Londt’s wife 

Maria Magdalena Pietersz. But the legacy of Johannes Andriessen shall not be associated with Jan 

Londt, as Jan Londt’s parents were Jacob Londt and Geertuij Johanna, whereas Anna Johanna Londt’s 

(Johannes Andriessen’s wife) parents were Jacob Londt and Adriana Arons. 

 

Adriana Arons made her will on 1 May 1786 in Padang with notary Alexander von Koningsmark (LdB, 

inv.nr.690). the beneficiaries were: 

 

- her daughter [= Anna Johanna Londt] who married with Johannes Andriessen and their two 

children Susanna Peternella and Digna Adriana Andriessen and 

- her son Leendert Pieter Londt and his five children 

 

Adriana Arons died after 1 May 1786. 

 

The children of Jacob Londt and Adriana Arons: 

 

1 Antje Londt aka Anna Johanna Londt aka Johanna Lont was born on 17 April 1745 and christened 

on Sunday 10 November 1748 in Padang (witnesses were Hendrik van der Stallen en Johanna van 

der Stallen). She was witness at the christening of a child on 4 July 1760, 8 and 17 October 1769. 

Antje is mentioned in her mother’s will on 1 May 1786 and in Johannes Andriessen’s legacy (as 

from 9 May 1789) as deceased, so she died between these dates. 

 

Antje was married with Johannes Andriessen. 

 

Johannes Andriessen was christened on 9 March 1739 in Kapelle/Biezelinge, Zeeland, the 

Netherlands, son of Nikolaas Andriessen and Laurijna Cornelia Kok. 

Nr.54 den 9 maart [1739] is gedoopt Johannes, zoon van Nikolaas Andriessen & Laurijna Cornelia Kok. 

Getuige den eerwaarde heere Johannis Andriessen [zijn grootvader] predikant te Goes. (LDS, 

Netherlands, Zeeland, Kapelle, volume nr.7, 1691-1771, starts page 483 of 680) 

<in margine: geboren den 8 maart 1739> 

Nicolaas Andriessen was minister in Biezelinge as from 1734. 

 

He died on 8 May 1789 in Padang. (CBG Online VIBDNI000125) 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


117 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part IV 

Revision November 2017 

 

He embarked on 29 March 1761 the ship ‘Vosmaar’ as konstabelmaat in VOC service, for kamer 

Zeeland and arrived in Batavia on 25 September 1761. 

Gegevens van Johannes Andriessen uit Bieselingen 

Datum indiensttreding: 29-03-1761, Datum uit dienst: 08-05-1789 

Functie bij indiensttreding: Konstabelsmaat. Reden uit dienst: Overleden. Waar uit dienst: Azie 

Uitgevaren met het schip: Vosmaar 

Schip: Vosmaar Vertrek: 29-03-1761. Kamer: Zeeland. Aankomst: 25-09-1761, Batavia 

Inventarisnummer: 13116, Folio: 11 

In het grootboek staan betalingen te Padang vermeld vanaf ultimo augustus 1765 (fo.11) tot zijn 

overlijden (fol.257) “8 meij 1789 fo:201 dat 2 kinderen nalaat en sterft” 

 

The children of Johannes Andriessen and Anna Johanna Londt: 

 

a Johannes François Andriessen was christened on 26 December 1766 in Padang; witnesses 

were Barth. Fr. Forçade and Adriana Arens widow of Londt. He deceased before 1 May 1786; 

 

b Jacobus Andriessen was born on 2 April 1769 and christened on 17 October 1769 in Padang; 

witnesses were Adriaan Daniel Londt and Adriana Aronds. He deceased before 1 May 1786; 

 

c Susanna Petronella Andriessen. She is mentioned in the records regading the inventory of 

Johannes Andriessen in 1789 as a minor (CBG online VIBDNI000125) and as deceased in 22 

December 1796, mentioned in the same records. 

 

d Digna Adriana Andriessen was born in 1774. She is also mentioned in the records in 1789 and 

is alive on 22 December 1796. She married to (1) Jan Hendrik Nolting and (2) Christoffel van 

Houten, She died on 7 January 1857 in Padang, 82 years old. (DIN 2014, Vissers & Mostert) 

 

2 Adriaan Daniels Londt was born on 19 July 1746 and christened on Sunday 10 November 1748 

in Padang, witnesses were Daniel Bierman [sic] en Pieternella Pothuijs. See II-B; 

 

3 Jacob Willem Londt was born on 25 December 1747 and christened on Sunday 10 November 

1748 in Padang, witnesses were Willem Krijgsman en Pieternella Pothuys. He is mentioned in 

Jacob Londt’s will dating 18 November 1751, but no further details are known; 

 

4 Aagje Pieternella Lont aka Achie Londt was born on 1 July 1749 and christened on 7 November 

1751 in Padang, witnesses were Willem Crijgsman en Pieternella Pothuijsen. She was witness at 

christening of a ‘Joris’, together with her brother Leendert Pieter, on 23 or 25 November 1769 in 

Padang; 

 

5 Leendert Pietersz [sic] Lont was born on 10 May 1750 and christended on 7 November 1751 in 

Padang, witnesses were Pieter van der Stallen en Pieternella Pothuijsen; see II-C. 
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Londt - Generation II 

 

II-A Jan Londt, son of Jacob Londt (I) and Geertruyt Johanna, was born around 1735. 

Jan married with Maria Magdalena Pietersz. 

 

Jan Londt is mentioned as witness at christenings on 4 July 1760, 19 December 1762, 9 January 1763 

and on 9 November 1766. 

 

Jan Lond is mentioned in a letter from the College van Weesmeesters Batavia to the Weeskamer Padang 

regarding the legacy of Sara Petronella Breslaar. The letter dates from 19 April 1769 and the trip of Jan 

Londt to Batavia took place some time before that. 

 

[…] Het antwoord van Jurgen Obering, dat van den boedel van meerm[elde] Sara Petronella niets meer 

uijtstaande was, is gantsch niet voldoende en decideerd niets. Wij twijffelen niet zoo u eerw[aarde] attentie 

beeter gevestigd was geweest op den in copie aan u eerw[aarde] toegezonden brief, van hem zelf aan de 

overl[edene] geschreven disteerende in nibis 

Ik doe uw bij dezen kennis, als dat ik het geld van uw land, dat ik hier van uw gekogt heb, voor rdt 300:- 

met Jan Londt, die in korten tijd weder na Batavia vertrekt, zal overzenden. 

U eerwaarde, zoowel als wij, zouden hebben begreepen dat d’geheele questie was, waar gemelde rd: 300:- zijn 

beland. Opering [sic] moet dezelve betaalen, of de verandwoording van dien voldoende demonstreeren. 

Geplad(?) het eerste zoo kunnen u eerwaarde het zelve voor den erfgenaam Jan Joseph Veldhuijsen, aanhouden 

en administreeren, egter onder korting van 3 percents voor onse kamer leges. (CBG online VIBDNI001049, 

Uitgaande brieven van de weeskamer Batavia, deelbibliotheek Weeskamer Batavia 1629-1847, 15/186) 

 

In the will of Bartholomeus François Forcade, dated 26 March 1771, Jan Londt is mentioned as 

deceased. Hence Jan Londt died between 1769 and 26 March 1771. 

 

Jan and Maria Magdalena Pieters had two daughters: 

 

1 Adriana Geertruyda Londt was christened on Sunday 19 December 1762 (witnesses were 

Bartholomew François Forcade and Adriana Arondsz); 

 

2 Johanna Maria Londt was born on 24 April 1766 and christened on Sunday 9 November 1766 in 

Padang (witnesses were Dirk Stolting and Christina Florinda) 

2a Johanna Christina Londt (according to the text in Bartholomeus Francois Forcade’s will) 

She is most likely identical to Joana Christina Londt who was buried in Bencoolen on 7 September 

1791, 25 years old (i.e. born in 1766) from Padang. (N/7/1) 

 

  
Another registration is slightly different: 8 Sept 1791 Chrisa Johana Lundt, a Dutch lady, 

consumption 26 years old. (N/7/1). And Christina Johanna Lautt, a dutch lady, consumption, 26, 

(Allan Harfield, Bencoolen cemeteries) 

 

Johanna Maria and Johanna Christina are identical, based on similar birth date and name. Taking into 

account that the fiches are not the original registration, I presume that ‘Johanna Maria’ is an error and 

should read ‘Johanna Christina’. 

 

II-B Adriaan Daniel Londt, son of Jacob Londt (I) and Adriana Aronsz, was born on 19 July 1746 and 

christened on Sunday 10 November 1748 in Padang (witnesses were Daniel Buurman en Pieternella 

Pothuys). 
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Adriaan Daniel –supposedly- had a relation with Sedelam and 2 known children: 

 

1 Abraham Londt was born on 24 februari 1766 and christened and adopted on Sunday 9 November 

1766 in Padang (witnesses were Jan Londt (zie II-A) and Petronella Pasqual, weduwe Fokke 

Jansz. He was adopted by Adriana Arensz, Adriaan Daniel’s mother; 

 

2 Catharina Adriana Londt was born on 9 July 1768 and christened and adopted on Sunday 5 

November 1769 in Padang, witnesses were Leendert Pieter Londt (see II-C) en Adriana Aronsz. 

She was adopted by Adriaan Daniel Londt. 

 

On 9 November 1766 Adriaan Daniel was 20 years old and a minor by law [I’m not 100% about this]. 

Hence Abraham was adopted by his mother. 

 

 

II-C Leendert Pieter Londt aka Leendert Pieter Lond, son of Jacob Londt (I) and Adriana Aronsz, was 

born on 10 May 1750 and christended on 7 November 1751 in Padang, witnesses were Pieter van der 

Stallen en Pieternella Pothuijsen in Padang. He was witness at the christening of a child on 5 and 25 (or 

26) November 1769. 

He died between 1790 and 1795 as he was mentioned in the Lijst van oudste inwoners van Padang of 

1790 but does not appear in the List of 1795 

 

Leendert Pieter married after 1769 with Adriana Magdalena. She died before 1790 as Leendert Pieter 

Lond was mentioned without wife in the Lijst van de the Oudste Inwoners te Padang of 1790. 

 

I will make an exeption for their daughters and treat their respective families in more detail. The reason 

is that this probably improves the understanding of the –rather complicated- Londt family in this period. 

 

They had the following children. 

The sequence and estimated birth dates of the children is/are not sure. 

 

1 (?) Pieter Pieterse Londt was born around 1770. He died between 1790 and 1795; 

 

2 Jacob Pieter Londt was born around 1773 in Padang;see III-A; 

 

3 Jacob Londt was born around 1775; see III-B; 

 

4 Pieter Londt was born around 1777 in Padang; see III-C; 

 

5 Johanna Helena Londt was born around 1782 in Padang. 

She died on 18 May 1843 in Padang, 60 years old 
Nummer twee en dertig Overlijden van Johanna Helena Londt, weduwe Simon 

Op heden vrijdag den negentienden mei des jaars 1843 de klokke tien ure des voormiddags zijn voor 

mij ondergeteekende …. Gecompareerd de personen van Christiaan de Haze Winkelman, oud twee en 

veertig jaren, geboortig van Middelburg in Zeeland, van beroep kommies en Andries Hermanus Simon, 

oud acht en twintig jaren, geboortig van Padang, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Kolonel civiel 

en militair Gouvernement Westkust van Sumatra en wonende te Padang. Dewelke in betrekking de 

eerste van schoonzoon en de tweede van zoon tot de overledene verklaarden dat op gisteren donderdag 

den achttienden mei dezes jaars 1843 de klokke drie uren des ochtends ten huize van de tweede 

comparant aan de Goerong is overleden Johanna Helena Londt, weduwe Simon, overleden, oud zestig 

jaren, geboortig van Padang. Aldus etc. 
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The registration above suggests that Johanna Helena was married to a N.N. Simon and had a 

daughter married to Christiaan de Haze Winkelman and a son Andries Hermanus. But the 

daughter, Neeltje Elizabeth and the son, Andries Hermanus were actually both children of Adriana 

Magdalena Londt, Johanna Helena’s younger sister. The registrations below, under 6, for Adriana 

Magdalena Londt, are clear about that. Adriana Magdalena Londt probably died around 1817, 

when the children were 8, 4, 2 and 0 years old. I presume that Johanna Helena moved in with her 

brother in law, Jan Willem Simon(s), to help him raising the children, who regarded her as their 

mother. Only in the above death declaration of Johanna Helena the declarants Christiaan de Haze 

Winkelman and Andries Hermanus Simon indicate that their relation to the deceased was son in 

law and son respectively. 

 

6 Adriana Magdalena Londt was born around 1787 in Padang. 

I presume she died around 1817, when she gave birth to Adriana Magdalena (see d below), who 

was named after her mother. 

Adriana Magdalena was married with Jan Willem Simon aka Willem Simon aka Jan Willem 

Simons. 

Jan Willem Simon was born around 1776 in Padang. Willem Simon was carpenter living in 

Padang (Register 1823; 47 years old). 

 

He died 3 October 1836 in Padang, 60 years old. 

Nummer acht en dertig Sterfgeval van Jan Willem Simons 

Op heden donderdag den zesden october des jaars 1836 de klokke twaalf ure voormiddags is voor mij 

ondergeteekende …. gecompareerd den persoon van Christiaan de Haze Winkelman oud zes en dertig 

jaren, van beroep kommies op het Residentie Kantoor, woonachtig te Padang en Frans van Daalen oud 

vier en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het Residentie Kantoor, woonachtig te Padang, dewelke ieder 

in zijn betrekking als de eerste in die van schoonzoon en de tweede in die goede bekende tot den 

overledene, [verklaarde de eerste] dat op den vijfde october dezes jaars de klokke half tien in den avond 

ten zijne huis is overleden Jan Willem Simons oud zestig jaar, geboortig van Padang, echtgenoot van 

Adriana Magdalena Londt, zijnde ouders des overledene niet bekend. 

Aldus etc.etc. 

 

Adriana Magdalena and Jan Willem Simon had 4 known children: 

 

a Neeltje Elizabeth Simon was born around 1809. 

She died on 23 October 1845 in Padang, about 36 years old. I could not find this 

registration. 

Neeltje Elizabeth married in 1827 in Padang, about 18 years old with Christiaan de Haze 

Winkelman, 26 years old. Christiaan was born on 19 November 1801 in Middelburg, the 

Netherlands, son of David Winkelman and Johanna Helena Stroes de Haze. 

He was clerk at the residentie kantoor and tax collector in Padang. 

He died on 1 September 1861 in Padang, 59 years old. 

Christiaan de Haze Winkelman married (2) on 24 June 1854 in Padang with Maria 

Carolina Borghardt. 

Nr.xx Huwelijk Christiaan de Haze Winkelman en Maria Carolina Borghardt 

…. Christiaan de Haze Winkelman geboren te Middelburg in Zeeland, oud drie en vijftig jaren, 

van beroep algemeen ontvanger te Padang, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van David 

Winkelman en Johanna Helena Stroes de Haze, beiden overleden, vroeger gehuwd geweest met 

Neeltje Elizabeth Simon, en Maria Carolina Borghardt, geboren te Padang oud twee en dertig 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Christina Borghardt, 

overleden, zijnde de vader onbekend, vroeger gehuwd geweest met Johannes Christiaan van de 

Brink, welke personen mij xxx tot de voltrekking van hun voorgenomen huwelijk. Een van de 

getuigen Rosalia Maria Margaretha die niet kan tekenen. 

…. welke aan deze acte zijn gehecht waaruit blijkt dat op den zesden november 1852 zijn 

geboren twee kinderen aan welke zijn gegeven de voornamen van Willem en Albert en waarvan 
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de moeder is de in hoofde dezer vermelde Maria Carolina Borghardt hebbende de mede in hoofde 

dezer vermelde Christiaan de Haze Winkelman verklaard deze kinderen voor de zijne te 

erkennen, van welke erkenning deze aantekening is gehouden. Gedaan ten huize van den eersten 

comparant Christiaan de Haze Winkelman  

 

b Anna Sara Maria Simon was born around 1813 in Padang. 

She died on 3 November 1848 in Padang, 35 years old, unmarried. 

Nr.xx Overlijden van Anna Sara Maria Simon 

Op heden maandag den zesden november 1848 de klokke negen ure des voormiddags zijn voor 

mij ondergeteekende …. Gecompareerd de personen van Andries Hermanus Simon, oud drie en 

dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van 

Sumatra’s Westkust en Christiaan de Haze Winkelman, oud zeven en veertig jaren, geboren te 

Middelburg in Zeeland, van beroep waarnemend algemeen ontvanger te Padang, beide wonende 

te Padang, dewelke in hunne betrekking de eerste van broeder(?) en de tweede van zwager tot de 

overledene verklaarden dat op den derden november des jaars 1848 de klokke negen ure des 

avonds ten haren huize op de Goeroeng Ketjil alhier is overleden Anna Sara Maria Simon, oud 

vijf en dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, ongehuwde jonge dochter, wonende te 

Padang, dochter van Jan Willem Simon en Adriana Magdalena Londt, echtelieden, beiden 

reeds(?) overleden, doch laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang. Aldus etc. 

 

c Andries Hermanus Simon aka Andries Simon, was born around 1815 in Padang. 

He was clerk in civil service and retired clerk in Padang. 

He died 6 October 1876 in Padang,61 years old. 

No.185 Overlijden van Andries Hermanus Simon 

Heden den zevenden october 1876 verschenen voor mij … Johan Willem Simon, zoon van den 

overledenen, oud drie en twintig jaren en Willem de Haze Winkelman, oud drie en twintig jaren, 

beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende 

te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den zesden october 1876 des namiddags ten elf en 

een half ure te Padang is overleden Andries Hermanus Simon, geboren te Padang, oud een en 

zestig jaren, van beroep gepensioneerde klerk, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot 

van Metje Catharina Creemer, zoon van Jan Willem en Adriana Magdalena Londt, beiden 

overleden. Van bovenstaande etc. 

 

Andries Hermanus Simon married on 10 May 1844 in Padang, about 26 years old with 

Metje Catharina Creemer, 16 years old. She was born in 1828 and natural daughter of 

Pieter Thomas Creemer and Sie Sanbang. 

Nr. ? Huwelijk van Andries Hermanus Simon en Metje Catharina Creemer 

Op heden den tienden mei dezes jaars 1844 de klokke drie ure des namiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de personen van: Andries Hermanus Simon, oud negen en 

twintig jaren, geboortig van Padang, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur ter 

Sumatra’s Westkust, ongehuwd jongman, woonachtig te Padang, zoon van Jan Willem [Simon] 

en Adriana Magdalena Londt, echtelieden, beide overleden; en Metje Catharina Creemer, oud 

zestien jaren, geboortig van Priaman, zonder beroep, ongehuwde jonge dochter, wonende te 

Padang, dochter van Pieter Thomas Creemer en de vrije Inlandsche vrouw Sie Sanbang, onechte 

lieden, beiden overleden, die etc.etc. [afkondigingen] 

 

d Adriana Magdalena Simon was born in 1817 in Padang. 

She died on 9 October 1865 in Padang, 48 years old, unmarried. 

No 36 Overlijden Adriana Magdalena Simon 

Heden den 10 October 1865 verschenen voor mij …. Willem Daniel Londt, oud 25 jaren, van 

beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent resident en magistraat van Padang, wonende te 

Padang, en Willem Eduard Hendrik Latumeten, oud ruim 40 jaren, van beroep koster bij de 

protestantsche kerk te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 9 

October 1865 des namiddags ten drie- en een half ure te Padang is overleden Adriana Magdalena 

Simon, geboren te Padang, oud 48 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

ongehuwd, dochter van Jan Willem Simon en Adriana Magdalena Londt, beiden overleden. Etc. 
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7 Sara Maria Londt was born around 1790 in Padang. 

She died on 10 April 1862. Her age of 92 years that is is mentioned in her death certificate cannot 

be correct. In such case her birth would be in 1770. Women normally don’t procure children when 

they are 45 to about 52 years old. For this reason I took the liberty to ‘reset’ her birth date to 1790. 

Nr.9 Overlijden Sara Maria Londt 

Heden den elfden april achttien honderd twee en zestig verschenen voor mij…. Michil Fisscher, in zijne 

betrekking van zoon van den overledene, oud vier en dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang 

en Thomas Richardson Davies, oud ruim negen en dertig jaren, van beroep onderkommies bij de 

recherche, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den tienden april achttien honderd twee 

en zestig, des namiddags ten vijf ure, te Padang is overleden Sara Maria Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

twee en negentig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Carel 

Lodewijk Fisscher, overleden, dochter van Leendert Pieter Londt en Adriana Magdalena, beiden 

overleden. Van bovenstaande etc.etc. 

 

Sara Maria married around 1815, presumably about 25 years old with Carel Lodewijk Fisscher 

aka Karel Fischer, around 60 years old. Carel Lodewijk was born around 1755 in Wannweil, 

district Reutlingen in Baden-Württemberg, Germany. 

 

Carl Fischer arrived in Batavia in 1787 by ship “Barbestein” (VOC); he came from Weinwieler, 

Germany. He embarked on 25 November 1786 as a soldier. In the grootboek he is mentioned as 

from 1788 in Padang until 1792 (NA, VOC inv.nr.13260, fo.206 e.v., scan nr.539) 

In the Register of 1823 Karel Fischer is mentioned as from Wenwiler, Duitschland, arriving in 

1787 and 66 years of age. Carl Lodewijk Fisscher was born between 1755 and 1757. 

He died on 22 April 1838 in Padang, 83 years old. His parent unknown/not mentioned. 

Nummer 22 sterfgeval van Carl Lodewijk Fisscher 

Op heden maandag den drie en twintigsten april 1838 de klokke elf ure des morgens zijn voor mij ….. 

gecompareerd de personen van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher oud dertig jaren, klerk bij den controleur der 

inkomende en uitgaande regten, woonende te Padang en James Saint Pourçain oud vier en twintig jaren 

en Alexander Krijgsman oud acht en twintig jaren beiden klerken ter secretarie, woonende te Padang, 

dewelke ieder in zijne betrekking, de eerste als zoon en de tweede als die van goede bekende van den 

overledenen, verklaarden dat op zondag de klokke elf ure des morgens in deszelfs huis is overleden 

Carel Lodewijk Fisscher, oud drie en tachtig jaren, geboortig van Wanweiler vader van den eerste 

comparant, wonende te Padang. 

 

Carel Lodewijk Fisscher had an earlier relationship with (1) met Sie Peko. I presume not 

married because she did not have a ‘christian’ name. Sie Peko died around 1815. 

 

Carel Lodewijk Fisscher and Sie Peko had children: 

 

a Caroline Charlotte Fisscher was born around 1807 in Padang. 

She married in 1827 in Padang with Jan Sander van Loon. 

She died before 23 December 1840 when Jan Sander van Loon re-married in Padang and 

was mentioned as weduwnaar van Charotta Carolina Fisscher 

 

b Thomas Hendrik Fisscher was born around 1809 in Padang. 

He died on 1 July 1855 in Padang, 46 years old. 

No. 23 Overlijden Thomas Hendrik Fisscher 

Heden den 3 Julij 1855 verschenen voor mij …. Adriaan Fisscher, oud 44 jaren, van beroep klerk 

bij den Ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang en Willem Fisscher, oud 41 

jaren, van beroep klerk bij den magazijnmeester der artillerie te Padang, beiden in hunne 

betrekking van broeder tot de overledene en beiden woonende te Padang, die mij hebben 

verklaard dat op den 1 Julij 1855 des namiddags ten vijf ure te Padang is overlijden Thomas 

Hendrik Fisscher, geboren te Padang, oud 47 jaren, van beroep boomwachter te Padang, laatst 

gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Constantie Adriana Krijgsman, zoon van Carel 

Lodewijk Fisscher en de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Peko, beiden overleden. Etc. 
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Thomas Hendrik Fisscher married on 12 November 1842 in Padang, 33 years old with with 

Constantie Adriana Krijgsman, 24 years old. 

Nummer twee Huwelijk van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher en Constantie Adriana Krijgsman 

Op heden zaterdag den 12 november 1842,de klokke drie uren des namiddags zijn voor mij … 

gecompareerd de personen van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, oud drie en dertig jaren, van beroep 

geëmployeerde bij den xxx alhier en Constantie Adriana Krijgsman, oud vier en twintig jaren, 

zonder beroep, beide wonende te Padang, die uitwijzens acte van den twee en twintigsten october 

dezes jaars etc. de getuigen zijn Jan Sander van Loon, oud 39 jaren en Daniel Pieter Aronds [in 

marge vermeld] 

 

c Adriaan Fisscher was born around 1812 in Padang. 

He died 8 May 1862 in Padang, 49 years old. 

Nr.10 Overlijden Adriaan Fisscher 

Heden den 8 mei 1862 verschenen voor mij … Carl Eguinius von Liebenstein, oud 31 jaren, van 

beroep klerk op het bureau van den assistent resident en magistraat van Padang, wonende te 

Padang en Eduard Lucius Aronds, oud 27 jaren, van beroep venduxxx te Padang, wonende te 

Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 8 mei 1862 des namiddags ten half zeven ure te 

Padang is overleden Adriaan Fisscher, geboren te Padang, oud 49 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den 

ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

echtgenoot van Wilhelmina Elizabeth Carolina, zoon van Carel Lodewijk Fisscher en van de 

Inlandsche vrouw Sie Peko, beide overleden. Etc. 

 

He married on 1 August 1857 with the vrije Niassche, Inlandse vrouw Wilhelmina 

Elizabeth Carolina, formerly named Sie Anto. 

 

e? Daniel Fisscher was born on 20 October 1808 in Padang. He is mentioned in Padang the 

Register 1823 van het Europese personeel op Java en Madoera, as clerk, 16 years old 

(Davies website). 

He died on 27 March 1880 in Palembang. I did not check if this is the same Daniel. 

 

g? Coenraad Fisscher. He married in 1829 in Padang with Johanna Josephina Welling. (no 

registration on microfilm) 

 

Carel Lodewijk Fisscher and Sara Maria Londt had 4 known children: 

 

 

aa Willem Fisscher was born in 1815. 

He died 18 December 1862 in Padang, 47 years old. 

No.34 Overlijden van Willem Fisscher 

Heden den 19 December 1862 verschenen voor mij … Arnold Hendrik Fisscher, in zijne 

betrekking van zoon van den overledene, oud 25 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en 

William Richardson Davies, oud 34 jaren, van beroep kommies bij den algemeen ontvanger te 

Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op de 18 December 1862 ten negen 

ure te Padang is overleden Wilem Fisscher, geboren te Padang, oud 47 jaren, zonder beroep, 

laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van van Carel Lodewijk Fisscher en Sara 

Maria Londt, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

bb Pieter Fisscher was born in 1817 in Padang. 

He died on 10 augustus 1833 te Padang, 16 years old. 

No.10 sterfgeval van Pieter Fisscher 

Op heden den 12 augustus 1833 de klokke 10 ure des voormiddags zijn voor mij ondergetekende 

… gecompareerd de persoonen van Christiaan de Haze Winkelman, ambtenaar der secretarie 

alhier en Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, klerk bij de kooplieden Pollxxx xx Lantier, beide alhier 

woonachtig, ieder in hunne betrekking, de eerste als goede bekende en de tweede broeder van de 

overledene, verklaarde dat op den 10 augustus jongstleden de klokke half elf ure des nachts ten 
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huize van zijn vader is overleden Pieter Fisscher, oud 16 jaren, geboren te Padang, zijnde de 

ouders Carel Fisscher en Sarah Maria Londt echtlieden woonende alhier,. Etc. 

 

cc Sarah Fisscher was born in 1819 in Padang. 

She died on 16 August 1833 in Padang, 14 years old. 

No.12 Sterfgeval van Sarah Fisscher 

Op heden den 17 augustus 1833 de klokke 10 ure des voormiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergeteekende … gecompareerd de persoonen van Willem Frederik Aronds, posthouder van 

Pulo Batou thans alhier aanwezig en Daniel Londt, burger alhier woonachtig, dewelke in hunne 

betrekking de eerste als goede bekende en de tweede neef van de overledene, verklaarde dat op 

gisteren de klokke half een ure des namiddags ten huize van hare ouders is overleden Sarah 

Fisscher, oud 14 jaren, geboren te Padang, zijnde de ouders Carel Fisscher en Sarah Maria Londt, 

echtelieden, wonende alhier. Etc. 

 

dd Johan Michiel Fisscher was born in 1822/23. 

He died on 12 januari 1866 in Padang 43 years old; hence born in 1822/23. 

No.2 Overlijden van Johan Michiel Fisscher 

Heden den 12 janurij 1866 verschenen voor mij …. Willem Daniel Londt, oud ruim 25 jaren, 

van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent resident en magistraat van Padang, wonende 

te Padang en Carel James Peltzer, oud 24 jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Algemeenen ontvanger 

te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 12 januarij 1866 des morgens 

ten twee ure te Padang is overleden Johan Michiel Fisscher, geboren te Padang, oud ruim 43 

jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van Carel Fisscher 

en Sara Londt, beiden overleden. Etc. 

John Michiel Fisscher, age 34 years, is mentioned as son of Sara Maria Londt, when she 

dies on 10-04-1862, which would indicate that he is born around 1828. He is also 

mentioned at the death registration of Pieter Londt in July 1849; he is then 27 years old; 

hence born in 1822, which is confirmed by the registration quoted hereabove. Since the age 

of Sara Maria in her death registration cannot be correct as I demonstrated earlier, we shall 

disregard John Michiel’s age in that same registration as well. 
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Londt - Generation III 

 

III-A Jacob Pieter Londt, son of Leendert Pieter Londt (II-C) and Adriana Magdalena, was born in 

1773 in Padang. 

Jacob [sic; see note below] is mentioned in the Register of 1823 as “baas timmerman”/ carpenter, 50 

years old. 

He died on 3 June 1851 in Padang, 78 years old. 

Nr 15 Overlijden Jacob Pieter Londt 

Heden den vijfde junij 1851 verschenen voor mij …. William Richardson Davies in zijn betrekking van 

kleinzoon tot den overledenen, oud twee en dertig jaren, van beroep onder kommies bij de recherche te Padang, 

wonende te Padang en James Truffet Alexander, oud acht en twintig jaren van beroep klerk bij den adjudant 

resident van Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den derden junij achttien honderd 

een en vijftig des namiddags om zes ure te Padang is overleden Jacob Pieter Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

ruim acht en zeventig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwnaar van Elizabeth 

Florentina, zoon van Leendert Pieter Londt en Adriana Magdalena, beide overleden. 

 

Note: This death registration and the 1823 registration indicate his birth in 1773. 

 

Jacob Pieter married around 1797 in Padang, around 24 years old with Elizabeth Florentina. 

I did not find any particulars regarding Elizabeth Florentina; I assume she was a native woman. 

 

Jacob Pieter and Elizabeth Florentina had 3 known children: 

 

1 Daniel Londt was born in 1795 te Padang, see IV-A. 

 

2 Andries Londt was born in 1799 te Padang, see IV-B. 

 

3 Adriana Petronella Londt was born in 1800 

She died on 6 Januariy 1857 in Padang, 57 years old. 
Nr. 2 Overlijden Adriana Petronella Londt 

Heden den zevenden januarij achttienhonderd zevenen vijftig verschenen voor mij … William 

Richardson Davies in zijne betrekking van zoon tot de overledene, oud zeven en dertig jaren, van beroep 

klerk bij den algemeen ontvanger te Padang, wonende te Padang en James Truffet Alexander, in zijne 

betrekking van schoonzoon tot de overledene, oud drie en dertig jaren, van beroep 

zoutverkooppakhuismeester te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den zesden 

januarij achttien honderd zeven en vijftig des avonds ten negen ure, te Padang is overleden Adriana 

Petronella Londt, geboren te Padang, oud zes en vijftig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende 

te Padang, weduwe van Willem Frederik Aronds, dochter van Jacob Pieter Londt en Elizabeth 

Florentina, beiden overleden. 

Van bovengenoemde verklaring is deze akte opgemaakt en na voorlezing ondertekend. 

 

Adriana Petronella married in 1821 in Padang, 21 years old (1) with Thomas Richardson 

Davies, 30 years old. Thomas was born in 1791 te Soerabaja. He died in 1822 in Padang, 31 

years old. 

 

Adriana Petronella and Thomas Richardson Davies had 3 known children (from the Davies 

website): 

 

1 William Richardson Davies was born on 24 May 1819 in Padang. He was clerk in Padang. 

He died on 27 February 1867 in Padang, 47 years old. 

 

2 Meriaan Francina Davies was born around 1820 in Padang. 

She died on 12 mei 1876 in Padang, about 56 years old. 

 

3 Thomas Richardson Davies was born in 1822, probably after his fathers death, as he was 
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named after him. He was clerk in Padang. 

He died on 19 April 1908 in Padang, 86 years old. 

 

Adriana Petronella married around 1815 in Padang (2) with Willem Frederik Aronds. Details are 

provided in the Section regarding the Aronds family and include their 8 known children as well 

 

 

III-B Jacob Londt, son of Leendert Pieter Londt (II-C) and Adriana Magdalena, was born around 1775 

in Padang. 

He supposedly died before the Registration 1823. 

A “Jacob Londt” is mentioned in the Register of 1823, but I’m sure that this is actually “Jacob Pieter 

Londt” who is certainly alive in 1823 and the age of ‘Jacob’ as mentioned in the Register 1823 matches 

perfectly with ‘Jacob Pieter’s’ age in his death registration. 

 

Jacob was married with Elisabeth Francina Arnold. 

 

Jacob en Elisabeth Francina Arnold had 3 children (one is not 100% sure): 

 

1? Salie Emelia Lond was born around 1799 in Padang. She may be daughter of Jacob and Elisabeth 

Francina Arnold. She married on 12 June 1824 in Soerabaja with Jacob Johannis Gezwind. She 

does not fit in to Jacob Pieter Londt’s children. I have her marriage registration only: 
Op heden den 12e Junij 1824 compareerden voor mij … Jacob Johannis Geschwind, jongman, oud 23 

jaren, geboren te Sourabaija en Salie Emeliea Lond, jonge dogter, oud 25 jaren, geboren te Padang, 

beiden woonende alhier. De getuigen zijn Salomon Hoogenboom en A.G. Hoogenboom, geb. Sasse. 

(LDS 1214 988 huwelijk Soerabaija, bundle 63, 64 en 65) 

 

2 Willem Cornelis Londt was born between 1803-1806 in Padang (see IV-D). 

 

3 Jan Londt was born around 1808 in Padang. 

Jan died on 4 February 1892 in Padang, 84 years old, unmarried. 

No 12 Heden den 5 February 1892 verschenen voor mij …. Robbert Hendrik Londt, neef van den 

overledenen, oud 53 jaren, zonder beroep, en Auguste Jacques Henri de Vogel, oud 29 jaren, van beroep 

klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij 

hebben verklaard dat op den 4 februari 1892, des namiddags ten acht ure te Padang is overleden Jan 

Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 84 jaren, zonder beroep, laatstgewoond hebbende te Padang, zoon van 

Jacob Londt en Elisabeth Francina Arnold, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

 

III-C Pieter Londt, son of Leendert Pieter Londt (II-C) and Adriana Magdalena, was born around 1777 

in Padang. 

Pieter Londt is mentioned in the register of 1823 as “baas timmerman” / carpenter in Padang, 46 years 

old. 

He died on 23 July 1849 in Padang, 72? years old. 

Nummer xx Overlijden van Pieter Londt 

Op heden dinsdag den vier en twintigsten julij des jaars 1849 klokke twee ure des namiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergetekende …. gecompareerd de personen van William Richardson Davies, oud dertig jaren, geboren te 

Padang, van beroep onderkommies bij de recherche te Padang, en Johann Michiel Fisscher, oud zeven en 

twintig jaren, geboren te Padang, van beroep klerk bij den ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te 

Padang, beiden wonende te Padang 

Dewelks in hunne betrekking van neven tot den overledene xxx gisteren den drie en twintigsten julij dezes 

jaars een duizend acht honderd negen en veertig de klokke vijf ure des namiddags ten huize    tweede comparant 

in de xxx alhier is overleden Pieter Londt xxxxx geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zoon 

van Leendert Pieter Londt en Adriana Magdalena, echtelieden, beiden overleden, laatst gewoond hebbende te 

Padang, weduwnaar van Aaltje Julien laatst woonachtig te Padang. Aldus etc.etc. 
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Pieter was married with Aaltje Julien. I did not find details regarding Aaltje Julien. 

The couple probably had no children. 
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Londt - Generation IV 

 

 

IV-A Daniel Londt, son of Jacob Pieter Londt (III-B) and Elizabeth Florentina, was born in 1795 in 

Padang. He is mentioned in the Register 1823 as “posthouder”/tradepost holder in Poelo Batoe, 28 years 

old. He is also mentioned as living in Padang. 

He died on 25 July 1857 in Padang, 67, but more likely 62, years old 
No.21 Overlijden van Daniel Londt 

Heden den zeven en twintigsten julij 1857 verschenen voor mij … William Richardson Davies in zijne 

betrekking van neef tot den overledenen, oud acht en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Algemeen 

Ontvanger te Padang, wonende te Padang en Jan Hendrik Riekerk, oud twee en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk 

bij den Ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard 

dat op den vijf en twintigsten julij 1857 des nachts te drie en een half ure te Padang is overleden Daniel Londt, 

geboren te Padang, oud zeven en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot 

van Johanna Simon [sic] zoon van Jacob Londt [sic] en Florentina Frederika [sic], beiden overleden. Van 

bovenstaande etc. 

On 27-07-1857 William Richardson Davies, as nephew of the deceased and Jan Hendrik Riekerk appear 

before the ambtenaar of the BS at Padang to declare the death of Daniel Londt on 25-07-1857, husband 

of Johanna Simon and son of Jacob Londt and Florentina Frederika, both deceased. 

This entry appears to contain multiple errors: 

• Johanna Simon should be Johanna Frontina;see below 

• Jacob Londt should be Jacob Pieter Londt and 

• Florentina Frederika should be Elizabeth Florentina; 

• And I have serious doubts about Daniel’s age of 67: I estimated 62 years. 

 

Daniel married on 18 February 1835 in Padang, 40 years old with Johanna Frontina. 
Nummer twee Huwelijk van Daniel Londt en Johanna Frontina 

Op heden woensdag den achttienden februarij des jaars 1835 de klokke acht ure des voormiddags zijn voor mij 

ondergetekende … gecompareerd de persoonen van Daniel Londt, zonder beroep en Johanna Frontina 

insgelijks zonder beroep die uitwijzens acte van den een en dertigsten januarij dezes jaars behoorlijk in 

ondertrouw zonder aangetekend, als nu van mij verzoeken over te gaan etc. De getuigen zijn Martijn xxx en 

Johannes Frans Saulus, schoenmaker, beide alhier woonachtig, de eerste oud vier en zestig(?) en de laatste 

gemeld is oud acht en veertig(?) jaren. 

 

An illustration of two of the above mentioned mistakes is provided by the registration of Andries Londt’s 

death, Daniel’s brother, about 1 ½ years later: 

On 28-02-1859 William Richardson Davies, as nephew of the deceased and Jan Hendrik Riekerk, as son 

in law of the deceased appear before the ambtenaar of the BS at Padang to declare the death of Andries 

Londt on 27-02-1859, husband of Johanna Christina van Zeelen and son of Jacob Pieter Londt en 

Elizabeth Florentina, both deceased. 

 

 

IV-B Andries Londt aka Andries Pieter Londt, son of Jacob Pieter Londt (III-B) and Elizabeth 

Florentina, was born in 1796/97 in Padang. He is mentioned in the Register 1823 as “timmerman”/ 

carpenter in Padang, 26 years old. 

He died on 27 February 1859 in Padang, 62 years old. 
Nr.12 Overlijden Andries Londt 

Heden den acht en twintigsten februarij 1859 verschenen voor mij …. Jan Hendrik Riekerk in zijne betrekking 

van schoonzoon tot den overledene, oud drie en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den ontvanger der 

inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, wonende te Padang en William Richardson Davies in zijne 

betrekking van neef tot den overledene, oud een en veertig jaren, van beroep kommies bij s’lands kas te Padang, 

wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den zeven en twintigsten februarij achttien honderd negen 

en vijftig des namiddags te vijf en een half uur te Padang is overleden Andries Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

twee en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoot van Johanna Christina 
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van Zeelen, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zoon van Jacob Pieter Londt en Elizabeth Florentina, beide 

overleden. 

Van bovenstaande verklaring is deze acte opgemaakt en na voorlezing ondertekend. 

 

Andries married around 1817 in Padang, 18 years old with (1) Johanna Christina van Zeelen, about 18 

years old. 

 

Johanna Christina van Zeelen was born around 1799/1800 in Padang. 

She died on on 18 July 1862 in Padang, 62 years old 
Nr.17 Heden den twee en twintigsten julij achttien honderd twee en zestig verschenen voor mij ….. Jan Hendrik 

Riekerk, in zijne betrekking van schoonzoon van de overledene, oud zeven en veertig jaren, van beroep klerk 

bij den Ontvanger der Inkomende en Uitgaande regten, wonende te Padang en William Richardson Davies, 

oud drie en veertig jaren, van beroep kommies bij den Algemene Ontvanger, wonende te Padang, die mij 

hebben verklaard dat op den achttienden julij achttienhonderd twee en zestig des namiddags ten drie ure te 

Padang is overleden Johanna Christina van Zeelen, geboren te Padang, oud drie en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, 

laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, weduwe van Andries Pieter Londt, ouders onbekend. Etc. 

 

Andries and Johanna Christina van Zeelen (mentioned as Johanna Florentina in the registration below) 

had one kown child: 

 

1 Johanna Helena Londt was born around 1817. 

She died on 11 november 1884 in Padang, 66 years old. 
No.38 Heden den 12 november 1884 verschenen voor mij … Samuel Frederik Alexander, oud 29 jaren 

en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 31 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur 

van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 11 november 1884 

des namiddags ten twaalf en een half ure, te Padang is overleden Johanna Helena Londt, geboren te 

Padang, oud 66 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoote van Jan Hendrik 

Riekerk, dochter van Andries Londt en Johanna Florentina [sic] van Zeelen, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Johanna Helena married on 17 October 1838 in Padang, 21 years old with Jan Hendrik Riekerk, 

23 years old. Jan Hendrik Riekerk, born in 1815 was koster, boomwachter and clerk in Padang. 

He died on 22 November 1890 in Padang, 75 years old. 

Johanna Helena and Jan Hendrik Riekerk had –at least- 7 children. 

 

Andries had an –extramarital- relationship with (2) Sie Kambang aka Cambang aka Anna Soesana. 

 

Andries en Sie Kambang had one known child: 

 

1 Elizabeth Florentina Londt was born on 5 November 1830 in Padang. 
Nummer xx Geboorte Elizabeth Florentina Londt 

Op heden den zesde November des jaars een duizend acht honderd en dertig de klokke tien ure des voor 

middags is voor mij ondergetekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Andries Londt, timmerman, 

vergezeld van de personen van: Daniel Londt, zonder beroep en Frederik Altman, timmerman, de eerste 

broeder en de tweede goede bekende van de comparant als getuigen, mitsgaders de vrije Niassche vrouw 

Cambang, alhier woonachtig, in wier tegenwoordigheid de eerste comparant verklaarde dat op gisteren 

vrijdag den vijfde November de klokke zes ure des morgens van de comparante de vrije Niassche vrouw 

zoo even genoemd, ongehuwde jonge dochter, geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne, 

verklarende de comparant zich te erkennen voor den vader van hetzelve kind, en daaraan de voornamen 

te geven van Elizabeth Florentina en belovende de eerste comparant hetzelve te zullen verzorgen in 

christelijken godsdienst op te voeden alsmede de comparante, dat zij toestemd dat haar kind zoo even 

genoemd zodanig wordt verzorgd en opgevoed. Aldus ten voorschreven etc. de eerste comparante met 

zijn handmerk als kunnende noch lezen noch schrijven. 

 

Elisabeth Florentina died 25 September 1859 in Padang, 28 years old. 
Nr.40 Heden den zes en twintigsten september 1859 verschenen voor mij …. Karel Pieter Altman, oud 

zes en dertig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Controleur der Eerste Klasse te Baros, wonende te Baros, 

thans met verlof te Padang en George Frederik Ungerer, oud vier en dertig jaren, van beroep 

postkommies te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den vijf en twintigsten 
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september 1859 des voormiddags te negen en een half ure ten huize van den tweeden comparant te 

Padang is overleden Elizabeth Florentina Londt, geboren te Padang, oud acht en twintig jaren, zonder 

beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Baros, echtgenoot van voornoemden Karel Pieter Altman, dochter 

van Andries Londt, overleden en de christenvrouw Sie Kambang, thans hernoemd Anna Soesana, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Van bovenstaande verklaring etc. 

 

Elizabeth Florentina married on 7 October 1848 in Padang, 17 years old with Karel Pieter Altman, 

25 years old. 
Nr. vijf Huwelijk van Karel Pieter Altman en Elizabeth Florentina Londt 

Op heden zaterdag den zevenden october dezes jaars 1848 de klokke xxx ure des namiddags zijn voor 

mij … gecompareerd de personen van: Karel Pieter Altman, oud vijf en twintig jaren, geboren te Padang 

van beroep klerk bij de Dienst van het Militair Hospitaal te Padang, ongehuwd jongman, wonende te 

Padang, en Elizabeth Florentina Londt, oud zeventien jaren, geboren te Padang, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, etc. etc. [afkondigingen] 

Karel Pieter Altman, a public officer is mentioned in Baros and Tappanolie (1859-1860). He died 

on 13 February 1860 in Tappanolie. 

 

 

IV-D Willem Cornelis Londt aka Willem Londt, William Londt and William Cornelis Londt, son of 

Jacob Londt (III-F) and Elisabeth Francina Arnold, was born in April 1806 in Padang. He was seaman, 

carpenter, superintendent with the waterstaat, he lived in Padang and Loeboeksikaping. 

He died on 21 September 1887 in Padang, 84 years old. 
No.40 Heden den 23 september 1887 verschenen voor mij … Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, schoonzoon 

van den overledene, oud 42 jaren, van beroep gepensioneerde sergeant der Infanterie en Charles Gustave 

Broers, oud 34 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden 

wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 21 september 1887 des namiddags ten een ure te 

Padang is overleden William Cornelis Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 84 jaren, zonder beroep, laatstgewoond 

hebbende te Padang weduwnaar echtgenoot van Emilij Jacob, zoon van Londt, voornamen onbekend, en 

Elisabeth Francina Arnold, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Willem Cornelis married on 19 April 1837 in Padang, 31 years old with Emily Jacobs, 20 years old. 
Nummer 1 Huwelijk van Willem Cornelis Londt en Emelij Jacobs 

Op heden woensdag den negentienden april des jaars achttienhonderd zeven en dertig de klokke vier ure des 

namiddags zijn voor mij ondergetekende …. gecompareerd de personen van Willem Cornelis Londt, oud circa 

een en dertig jaren, van beroep zeevarende, geboortig van Padang, ongehuwd jongman, woonachtig te Padang, 

en Emilij Jacobs, oud circa twintig jaren, zonder beroep, geboortig van Benkoelen, mede alhier woonachtig, 

ongehuwde jonge dochter, etc.etc [afkondigingen] 

Aldus ten voorschreven dage en plaatse gedaan en verklaren in tegenwoordigheid van Christiaan de Haze 

Winkelman, oud zes en dertig jaren, ambtenaar in dienst van het Nederlandsch Indisch Gouvernement, 

woonachtig te Padang, en Daniel Londt, oud een en veertig jaren, ambteloos burger, woonachtig te Padang. 

De eerste goede bekende van de twee eerstgenoemde comparanten en de tweede broeder van den eersten 

comparant, als getuigen van nevens de eerstgenoemde comparanten, na dat hen allen deze acte van woord tot 

woord was voorgelezen in… met mij alhier hebben ondertekend. 

 

The bold italics above state that Daniel Londt is a brother of Willem Cornelis. This does not correlate 

with other data; Willem Cornelis’ parents are Jacob Londt and Elizabeth Francina Arnold whilst 

Daniels’parents are Jacob Pieter Londt and Elizabeth Florentina. Hence ‘nephew’ would be more 

appropriate. An explanation may be that Willem Cornelis and Jan, his brother, were raised in the Jacob 

Pieter Londt / Elizabeth Frontina family. Which may be expected in case that Jacob Londt and Elizabeth 

Francina Arnold died when their children were still young. I did not find a death registration of Jacob 

or Elizabeth Francina which would indicate that they died before 1829 and as Jacob was not mentioned 

in the Registration of 1823, he probably died even before 1823. 

 

Emily Jacob aka Emelij Jacobs, Emilij Jacobs, Emilij Jacob and Emilij Nancy Jacobs was born in 1816 

in Benkoelen and daughter of James Jacobs and Si Rimboen, later named Nancy (see below). 

I could not find the date that she was baptized but I found her sister’s (Caroline) entry (Register of 

Marriages, Christenings and Burials at Fort Marlborough and its Subordinates, page 253: On 25 
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December 1818). 

 
On the same day in the entry before the one shown above a native woman was baptized, named Nancy. 

I presume that she was the mother, formerly named Si Rimboen. 

 
My presumption is supported by another, later entry, on 1 January 1819, when James Jacobs and Nancy 

were married: 

 
Nancy died and was buried on 26 May 1822 

On this 26th day of May 1822 Nancy Jacobs, wife of James Jacobs, overseer at Captain Salmons’Plantation, 

aged 29 years was buried by me (signed) C. Winter, chaplain (N/7/1, Register of Marriages, Christenings and 

Burials at Fort Marlborough and its Subordinates, page 270; copy made available from British Library Imaging 

Services), (also Alan Harfield, Bencoolen, the Christian cemetery & the Fort Marlborough monuments, London 

1985) 

 

Emily Jacobs died on 24 September 1887 in Padang, 71 years old. 
No.42 Heden den 26 september verschenen voor mij …. Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, schoonzoon van de 

overledene, oud 42 jaren, van beroep gepensioneerd sergeant der infanterie, en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 

34 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te 

Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 24 september 1887 des namiddags ten drie ure, te Padang is 

overleden Emily Jacob, geboren te Benkoelen, oud 71 jaren, zonder beroep, laatstgewoond hebbende te 

Padang, weduwe van William Cornelis Londt, dochter van Jamens Jacob en de Inlandsche vrouw Si Rimboen, 

beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Willem Cornelis and Emily Jacobs had 10 known children: 

 

1 Robbert Hendrik Londt was born on dinsdag 29 May 1838 in Padang; see V-C. 

 

2 Willem Daniel Londt was born on 15 September 1840 in Padang; see V-D. 

 

3 Adriana Magdalena Londt aka Anna Magdalena Londt was born on 25 April 1842 in Padang. 
Nummer 16 Geboorte van Adriana Magdalena Londt 

Op heden maandag den vijf en twintigsten april des jaars 1842 de klokke tien uren des voormiddags is 

voor mij ondergeteekende ….. gecompareerd de persoon van Willem Cornelis Londt, oud vier en dertig 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, vergezeld van de personen Dirk Peter Borghardt oud … dertig 

jaren, van beroep klerk op het policie … en William Richardson Davies, oud drie en twintig jaren van 
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beroep klerk bij den controleur van het middel der inkomende en uitgaande regten, en beide wonende 

te Padang. De eerste goede bekende en de tweede neef van de comparant, als getuigen in wier 

tegenwoordigheid de comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op heden den vijf en twintigsten april dezes 

jaars van duizend acht honderd een en veertig de klokke drie uren des morgens van hem declarant en 

Emilij Jacobs, oud zes en twintig jaren, zijne wettige huisvrouw, geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke 

kunne, aan hetwelk de comparant verklaarde de voornamen van Adriana Magdalena te willen geven. 

Aldus ten voorschreven dag en plaatse etc. 

 

Anna Magdalena Londt died on 16 August 1902 in Padang. 
No.33 overlijden van Anna Magdalena Londt 

Heden den 18 Augustus 1902 verschenen voor mij …. Andries Londt broeder van de overledene, oud 

51 jaren, zonder beroep en Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, oud 30 jaren, van beroep klerk op het 

bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, beide wonende te padang, die mij hebben 

verklaard dat op den 16 Augustus 1902 des namiddags ten drie ure te Padang is overleden Anna 

Magdalena Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 59 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, 

dochter van Willem Cornelis Londt en Emelij Jacobs, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

4 William Londt was born on 5 March 1844 in Padang; see V-E. 

 

5 Emily Caroline Londt was born on 3 September 1845 in Padang; see V-F. 
Nummer een en twintig Op heden de vierden september des jaars achttien honderd vijf en veertig de 

klokke twaalf ure des middags is voor mij ondergetekende ….. verschenen de persoon van William 

Londt, oud zeven en dertig jaren, geboortig te Padang, van beroep timmerman, wonende te Padang, in 

zijne betrekking van vader, benevens de personen van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, oud vier en dertig 

jaren, geboren te Padang van beroep klerk xxx houden te Padang en Dirk Pieter Borghardt, oud acht en 

dertig jaren xxx te Padang, van beroep klerk op het Residentiekantoor te Padang, beide te Padang 

woonachtig, in hunne betrekking van goede bekenden tot den comparant als getuigen dezer xxxx xxxxx 

verklaarde dat xxxx den derden september des jaars een duizend acht honderd xxxxx klokke zeven 

xxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxxx van Emi[lij Jacobs, oud] xx en dertig ja[ren] xxx zonder be[roep] 

[zijn]e wettige huisvrouw is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne wordende voorts aan hetzelve 

kind de voornamen van [Emilij] Carolina gegeven. Aldus ten etc. 

 

She died on 27 September 1920 in Padang, 75 years old. 
No.? Heden den 27 September 1920 verschenen voor mij … Adolph Bernardus Charles David Hansen, 

zoon van de overledene, oud 41 jaar, van beroep werkbaar bij de havenwerkers te Emmahaven, wonende 

te Emmahaven en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 67 jaar, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, wonende te Padang, 

die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 27 September 1920, des voormiddags ten een ure te Emmahaven 

is overleden Emilij Caroline Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 74 jaar, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond 

hebbende te Emmahaven, weduwe van Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, dochter van Willem Londt en 

Emilij Jacob, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Emily Caroline married on 25 March 1872 in Padang, 26 years old with Charles Rudolph Albert 

Hansen, 28 years old. 
No.5 Heden den 25 Maart 1872 verschenen voor mij …. Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, geboren te 

Magelang (residentie Kedoe) oud 27 jaren, van beroep fourier bij het 15de bataillon infanterie, in 

garnizoen te Padang, natuurlijke erkende meerderjarige zon van Carel Rudolph Albertus Hansen en de 

Chinesche vrouw Barienten, beiden overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en Emilij Caroline 

Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 26 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van 

Willem Londt en Emilij Jacob, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd 

geweest, welke personen mij verzochten etc. 

Voorts zijn voor mij verschenen Willem Londt, oud 63 jaren en Emilij Jacob, oud 60 jaren, beiden 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Zij verlenen hun toestemming. 

De echtgenoten overhandigen nog een extract waaruit blijkt dat “op den 19 Augustus 1870 is geboren 

een kind aan hetwelk zijn gegeven de voornamen van Sophia Mathilda Maria Magdalena, en waarvan 

zij de ouders zijn, wordende dat kind naar luid(?) van artikel 272 van het burgerlijk wetboek door dit 

huwelijk gewettigd. De getuigen zijn Johan August Rijnders, 33 jaar en Jan Gerrit Nicolaas Willemsen, 

29 jaar. Etc. 

 

Charles Rudolph Albertus Hansen was born on 4 January 1845 in Magelang, Kedoe and son of 
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Carel Rudolph Albertus Hansen en Barienten. He was fourier and retired sergeant living in 

Padang. He died on 2 March 1904 in Padang. 
No.6 Heden den 2 Maart 1904 verschenen voor mij … Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, oud 32 jaren 

en Rudolph August Mathias Meijes, oud 32 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 2 Maart 

1904 des voormiddags ten één en een half ure te Padang is overleden Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, 

geboren te Magelang (Kedoe), oud 59 jaren, gegageerd sergeant der Infanterie, laatst gewoond hebbende 

te Padang, echtgenoot van Emely Caroline Londt, zoon van Carel Rudolph Albertus Hansen en de 

Chineesche vrouw Barienten, beiden overleden. Etc. 

 

Emily Caroline and Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen had children. Before their marriage a child 

named Sophia Mathilda Maria Magdalena was born on 18 September 1870 in Padang; named 

after her: ‘Londt’. She was legalized when they married; see above. 
No. 28 Geboorte van Sophia Mathilda Maria Magdalena 

Heden den 20 Augustus 1870 verscheen voor mij … Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, oud 25 jaren, van 

beroep fourier in het 15de bataillon infanterie in garnizoen te Padang die mij heeft verklaard dat te 

Padang ten huize van hem aangever op den 19 Augustus 1870 des morgens ten zes ure is geboren een 

kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Emilij Caroline Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk 

kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Sophia Mathilda Maria Magdalena. De getuigen zijn Franciscus 

Paes en Fredrik George Efrinkhoff. 

[in margine] Sophia Mathilda Magdalena, op 1872 door Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen voor het zijne 

erkend, blijkens acte van erkenning etc. 

Geboorte 19 augustus 1870 S.M.M. Londt, dochter (Sumatra-courant 14-09-1870) 

 

6 Florentina Londt was born on 14 August 1847 in Padang; see V-G. 
Nummer zeventien Op heden maandag den zestienden augustus dezes jaars een duizend acht honderd 

en zeven en veertig de klokke des middags xx xxx mij ondergeteekende xxx Maximiliaan xxx xxx 

Resident te Padang als ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand te Padang gecompareerd de persoon van 

xxxx oud naar aanzien vijf en zestig jaren, geboren te Nias, van beroep vroedvrouw, wonende te Padang 

in hare betrekking van vroedvrouw benevens de personen van: William Richardson Davies, oud acht 

xxx xxxxxxxx 

In hunne betrekking van goede bekenden xxxx als getuigen dezer acte; dewelke declarante verklaarde, 

dat op den veertienden augustus des jaars een duizend acht honderd zeven en veertig, de klokke acht 

ure des morgens van Emilij Jacobs, oud zeven en dertig jaren, geboren te Benkoelen, huisvrouw van 

Willem Londt, oud negen en dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, van beroep timmerman, wonende te 

Padang, thans echter afwezig, zijnde op eene reis naar de Batoe Eilanden, ten huize van haar de 

voornoemde Emilij Jacobs op de Goeroeng alhier, geboren is een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne, 

wordende aan hetzelve kind de voornaam van Florentina gegeven. Aldus ten etc. 

 
Florentina died on 21 juni 1881 in Mandheling en Ankola, 33 years old 

Florentina married on 30 June 1870 in Sidempoean with Johannes Hendrikus Pieter Houtam.  

Johannes Hendrikus Pieter Houtam was born on 7 September 1845 in Rotterdam (via 

Militieregisters.nl and verified in BS Rotterdam Digitale Stad), son of Johannes Hendrikus 

Houtam and Willemina Bermans. 

He married (2) on 19 May 1883 in Priaman with Neeltje Cornelia van der Heyde. They divorced 

shortly before 7 January 1901 in Garoet (De locomotief (Samarang) 07-01-1901) 

 

7 Andries Londt was born on 7 July 1849 in Padang; see V-H. 

 

8 Jacob Londt was born on 31 December 1851 in Padang. He was korporaal in Padang. 
Nr.xx Heden den een en dertigsten december des jaars 1851 verscheen voor mij …. Frans Willem Karel 

Holtzinger, oud xxx dertig jaren, van beroep onder kommies op de xxx [de rest is onleesbaar] 

 

He died on 15 November 1873 in Padang, 21 years old, unmarried. 
Nr.32 Heden den zeventienden november 1873 heb ik ….. ontvangen eene schriftelijke aangifte van 

overlijden aan deze acte gehecht luidende woordelijk als volgt: 

Militair Hospitaal te Padang 
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Heden den zestienden november 1873 wordt door ons ondergeteekenden … ter inschrijving in het 

Register van den BS te Padang aangifte gedaan dat op den vijftienden november 1873 des avonds ten 

zeven ure in het Hospitaal in hoofde dezes vermeld, is overleden Jacob Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

een en twintig jaren en tien maanden van beroep korporaal bij de derde kompagnie van het half 

coepeditionaire Bataillon Barigens van Madura, laatst in garnizoen te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon van 

William Cornelis Londt en Emelij Jacob, beiden van beroep en woonplaats onbekend. Etc. 

 

9 Johannes Henricus Londt was born on 4 December 1853 in Padang 
Nr.46 Heden den vijfden december 1853 verscheen voor mij ….. Willem Cornelis Londt, oud vier en 

veertig jaren van beroep opziener bij den waterstaat en ’s lands gebouwen te Padang, wonende te 

Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den vierden december 1853 des middags te twaalf ure 

is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Emilij Jacobs, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang zijne 

echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Johannis Henricus. Deze aangifte is geschied 

in tegenwoordigheid van William Richardson Davies, oud vier en dertig jaren en Adriaan Fisscher, oud 

twee en veertig jaren; de eerste van beroep klerk op den algemeen ontvanger te Padang, wonende te 

Padang en de tweede van beroep klerk bij den ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande regten te Padang, 

wonende te Padang. Van welke aangifte etc.etc. 

 

I did not find his death registration. In 1891 a J.H. Londt is mentioned in Pajakombo. He is witness 

at the birth registration of Emilie Sophia Wilhelmina Johanna Londt, daughter of his brother 

William Londt, on 7 May 1891; he is 38 years old without profession. 

 

10 Maria Catharina Londt was born on 20 August 1855 in Padang. 
Nummer?? Heden den xxx twintigsten augustus achttien honderd vijf en vijftig verscheen voor mij …. 

William Cornelis Londt, oud zeven en veertig jaren, van beroep opziener bij den waterstaat in slands 

gebouwen te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den twintigsten 

augustus achttien honderd vijf en vijftig, des middags te twaalf uren is geboren een kind van vrouwelijke 

kunne uit Emilij Jacobs, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot, aan welk kind zijn 

gegeven de voornamen van Maria Catharina. 

Deze aangifte is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van William Richardson Davies, oud zeven en dertig 

jaren en Adriaan Fisscher, oud vier en veertig jaren, de eerste van beroep klerk bij den algemeen 

ontvanger te Padang en de tweede van beroep klerk bij den ontvanger der inkomende en uitgaande 

regten te Padang, en beide wonende te Padang. 

 

She died on 19 October 1871 in Padang, 16 years old. 
Nr.34 Heden den een en twintigsten october 1871 verschenen voor mij … Jan Gerrit Nicolaas Willemse, 

oud zeven en twintig jaren, van beroep sergeant majoor bij het vijftiende bataillon infanterie en Charles 

Rudolff Albert Hansen, oud zeven en twintig jaren, van beroep fourier bij het vijftiende bataillon 

infanterie, beiden in garnizoen te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den negentienden october 

1871 des namiddags ten vier ure te Padang is overleden Maria Catharina Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

zestien jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, ongehuwd, dochter van William 

Cornelis Londt en Emilij Jacobs, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 
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Londt - Generation V 

 

V-C Robbert Hendrik Londt aka Robert Londt, son of Willem Cornelis Londt (IV-D) and Emily Jacobs, 

was born on 29 May 1838 in Padang. 
Nummer? Geboorte van Robbert Londt 

Op heden vrijdag den eersten junij 1838 klokke xx ure des morgens is voor mij …. gecompareerd de persoon 

van Sie Sante, van beroep doekon, vergezeld van de personen van Daniel Londt, oud twee en veertig jaren, 

zonder beroep en Andries Sijmons, oud drie en twintig, klerk ter Secretarie, beide woonende te Padang, als 

getuigen, in wier tegenwoordigheid de comparante in hare betrekking van doekon [= inlands geneeskundige] 

heeft verklaard dat op den negen en twintigsten mei dezes jaars des middags om twaalf uren van Emelij Jacobs, 

oud twee en twintig jaren, huisvrouw van Willem Cornelis Londt, oud twee en dertig jaren, van beroep zeeman, 

in des zelfs woning is geboren een kind van den mannelijke kunne, wordende aan hetzelve kind de voornaam 

gegeven van Robbert. 

Aldus ten etc.etc. 

 

 

Robbert Hendrik was supervisor and clerk in Padang. 

He died on 9 March 1905 in Kiambang, 66 years old. 
No.11 Heden den 23 Maart 1905 heb ik … ontvangen een uittreksel uit het register tot inschrijving der 

acten van overlijden gehouden te Kajoetanam aan deze acte gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt: 

Nummer 1 

Heden den 9 Maart 1905 veschenen voor mij …. Anthonij Pascal van Alphen, oud 30 jaren, van beroep 

landbouwer, woonende te Kiambang en Jacobus Cornelis Londt, zoon van den overledene, oud 24 jaren, 

van beroep werknemer bij de Staatsspoorwegen, woonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 

9 Maart 1905, des morgens ten zeven en een kwart ure te Kiambang is overleden Robbert Hendrik Londt, 

geboren te Padang, oud 66 jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, zoon van William 

Londt en Amelie Jacobs, beide overleden.etc. 

 

Robbert Hendrik had several relationships; I suppose he married according to ‘adat-recht’. 

 

Robbert Hendrik’s relationship (1) with Sie Waris. 

 

1 Diana Londt is born on 3 December 1857 in Goenung Sitoli / Loeboeksikaping; erkend op 20 

april 1887 in Loeboeg Begaloeng. 

 

Diana died on 18 November 1898 in Padang. 
No.52 Heden den 19 november 1898 verschenen voor mij … Frederik Wilhelm Kornmann, oud 30 jaren 

en Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, oud 27 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 18 

november 1898 des voormiddags ten acht ure ten minstens te Padang is overleden Diana Londt, geboren 

te Goenung Sitolie, oud veertig jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, echtgenoote 

van Barend Alexander Dessouw, dochter van Robbert Hendrik Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang en de Niassche vrouw Sie Waris, overleden. Etc. 

 

Diana married on 18 April 1890 in Padang, 32 years old with Barend Alexander Dessouw, 38 

years old. 
No.9 Heden den achttienden april 1890 verschenen voor mij … Barend Alexander Dessauw, geboren 

te Padang, oud acht en dertig jaren, van beroep zaakwaarnemer, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon 

van Jan Alexander Dessauw, overleden en de Niassche vrouw Sarie Atie, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang en Diana Londt, geboren te Goeroeng Sitolie, oud twee en dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Robbert Hendrik Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en de 

Niassche vrouw Si Waris, overleden. Etc. de getuigen zijn Pieter Thomas Simon, 42 jaar, deurwaarder 

bij de Landraden te Padang en Priaman en Frans Hakkers, neef van de bruidegom, 41 jaar. 

 

Barend Alexander Dessouw was born 7 November 1851 (erkend in 1864) in Padang and son of 

Jan Alexander Dessouw and Sarie Atie. He died on 30 November 1906 in Padang, about 54 years 

old. 
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Robbert Hendrik’s relationship (2) with Saria aka Kina. 

 

1 Stephanus Londt was born on 15 July 1859 in Goenung Sitoli, Tapanoli. (According to RA 1894 

he was born on 14 July 1889; this is obviously wrong) and erkend 1892. See VI-A. 

 

 

Robbert Hendrik’s relationship (3) with Sarie Ambon. Saria Ambon was born around 1848. 

 

1 Leo Joseph Londt was born on 10 September 1870 in Padang; erkend on 17 November 1881 in 

Padang. 

  

2 Mathilde Leonie Londt was born on 7 April 1872 in Padang; erkend on 25 November 1881 in 

Padang. 
No.75 Heden 17 november 1881 verschenen Robbert Hendrik Londt, 43 jaar, schrijver bij den 

administrateur van het Militaire Hospitaal, wonende te Padang, die heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten 

zijnen huize op 7 april 1872 is geboren Mathilde Leonie uit de Inlandsche vrouw Sarie Ambon, oud 31 

jaar, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en Robert Hendrik Londt erkent dit kind als het zijne. De 

getuigen zijn Willem Hoijer, 40 jaar en Willem Fisscher, 24 jaar. 

 

She died on 16 August 1944 in Bangkinang, the Japans burgerkamp. She is buried Nederlands 

ereveld Leuwigajah te Cimahi, M.L. Gevelhof-Londt, Vak V, Nummer 30 

(http://srs.ogs.nl/slachtoffer/49246/mathilde-leonie-gevelhof-londt). On this site her birth date is 

actually her ‘erkennings’ date. 

 

Mathilde Leonie married on 7 November 1896 in Padang Pandjang, 24 years old with Johan 

Baptist Gevelhof. 

 

Robbert Hendrik’s relationship (4) with Sie Lina. They had one known child. 

 

1 George Leonard Londt aka George Leonard Londt-Schultz was born on 14 May 1873 in Padang; 

erkend in 1901[!!]. 
No.4 Heden den 16 Januari 1901 heb ik … ontvangen de grosse eener beschikking van den Raad van 

Justitie te Padang aan deze acte gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt 

In naam der Koningin! 

De Raad van Justitie te Padang heeft de navolgende beschikking genomen op het request, woordelijk 

luidende als volgt: 

Aan Heeren President en Leden van den Raad van Justitie te Padang 

Geeft met eerbied te kennen 

Robbert Hendrik Londt, 

Oud twee en zestig jaar, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, dat hij vele jaren geleden samen leefde met 

de Niassche vrouw Si Lina te Padang, uit welke samenwoning op 14 Mei 1873 ’s namiddags twee uur 

een kind van de mannelijke kunne geboren is; 

dat hij dat kind, hoe gaarne overigens ook, destijds niet als het zijne heeft kunnen erkennen, omdat die 

samenwoning eeniger tijd na de geboorte van het kind heeft opgehouden, dat na dien tijd van de 

erkenning van het kind door adressant met toestemming der moeder geen sprake meer kon zijn, om 

verschillende redenen, dan eens wegens langdurige afwezigheid van adressant van de hoofdplaats 

Padang, dan weder omdat adressant voornoemde Si Lina niet wist te wonen, enzovoort; 

dat dat kind sedert in de Europpeesche maatschappij opgegroeid is, een Europeesche opvoeding heeft 

genoten, behoorlijk school is gegaan, goed Hollandsch spreekt, zich uitsluitend in de Europeesche 

maatschappij beweegt, een betrekking bekleedt in ’s lands dienst speciaal voor Europeanen weggelegd 

en onberispelijk van gedrag is, evenwel zonder een naam te dragen, waarop hij krachtens een authentiek 

stuk recht heeft, wat moeilijkheden oplevert bij eventueel huwelijk, pensionering en overlijden van dat 

kind; 

dat adressant nu zijn verzuim ten opzichte van dat zijn natuurlijk kind alsnog wenscht te herstellen, door 

het met toestemming der moeder als het zijne te erkennen, waartoe artikel 42 reglement Burgerlijken 
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Stand en artikel 284 Burgerlijk Wetboek zooals het luidt volgens Staatsblad 1896 nummer 108 en 115 

alle vrijheid geeft; 

dat de ambtenaar van den Burgelijken Stand te Padang evenwel dezer dagen bezwaren opperde tegen 

de inschrijving van de geboorte van het kind in de geboorte registers, omdat een ander Europeaan met 

den naamlozen toestand van dat kind begaan, buiten adressant om, dat kind ook reeds had willen helpen 

aan een voor- en een geslachtsnaam met gelijktijdige aangifte van diens geboorte en erkenning met 

toestemming der moeder en zulks op het voorbeeld van zoovele aangiften van geboorte en erkenning, 

als het wars dagelijks in schier alle plaatsen in Nederlandsch-Indie gedaan en door de betrokken 

ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand klakkeloos aangenomen; 

dat die aangifte echter door den Ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand alhier moeilijk aangenomen kon 

worden op grond van te gering verschil in leeftijd tusschen aangever en kind; 

dat tengevolge daarvan de moeder natuurlijkerwijze zich tot adressant wendde, die nu alsnog wenscht 

te doen wat hij reeds zoovele jaren had behooren te verrichten; 

Redenen waarvan adressant zich tot uwen Rade wendt met het eerbiedig verzek, dat het U behage; 

Den Ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand te Padang te machtigen op daartoe strekkend verzoek van 

adressant alsnog in de betrekkelijke geboorte registers in te schrijven adressants aangifte der geboorte 

van zijn natuurlijk kind (waaraan hij wenscht te geven de voornamen George Leonard, geboren te 

Padang ’s namiddags twee uur van 14 Mei 1873) met zijne gelijktijdige erkenning van het kind met 

toestemming der moeder voornoemd. 

Hetwelk doende enzovoort 

Was geteekend R.H. Londt / Padang / 20 Juli 1900 / Requesten Register nummer 46 / 1900 

Beschikking nummer 62 / 1900 

De Raad van Justitie te Padang 

Gelezen het hieraan gehecht request van R.H. Londt, wonende te Padang, de dato 20 Juli 1900; 

Overwegende dat uit een nader door reketrant overgelegde verklaring van den ambenaar van den 

Burgerlijken Stand te Padang de dato 17 Augustus 1900, is gebleken dat bedoelden ambtenaar door den 

rekestrant het verzoek is gedaan om van de geboorte van het ten roxxte bedoeld kind en de gelijktijdige 

met toestemming der Inlandsche moeder door rekestrant gedane erkenning eene acte in de registers van 

geboorte in te schrijven en die amenaar daaraan niet heeft willen voldoen en zulks op den enkelen grond 

dat eenigen tijd te voren reeds door een anderen persoon aangifte van de geboorte van dat kind was 

gedaan met gelijtijdige erkenning daarvan, waarvan echter eveneens geene akte was opgemaakt en wel 

om het geringe verschil in leeftijd tusschen de aangever en het kind; 

Overwegende dat echter het feit dat een ander te voren reeds de geboorte van een kind heeft aangegaan 

aangegeven met gelijktijdige erkenning daarvan als het zijne den rekestrant niet kan verhinderen 

hetzelfde kind als geboren aan te geven en met toestemming der moeder als het zijne te erkennen, 

waartoe hem bij artikel 281 van het Burgerlijk Wetboek de bevoegdheid is gegeven. 

Overwegende dat dus terecht het bedoeld verzoek door rekestrant is gedaan, en nu daaraan geen gevolg 

is gegeven aan de registers van den Burgelijken Stand eene acte ontbreekt, zoodat aanvulling daarvan 

behoort te worden gelast. 

Gelet op de artikelen 13, 14 en 16 van het Burgerlijk Wetboek, op de artikelen 844 en volgende van de 

Burgerlijke Rechtsvordering, alsmede op artikel 9 van het Reglement op het houden der registers van 

den Burgerlijken Stand, 

Beschikkende 

Staat het ten rekeste gedaan verzoek toe; 

Machtigt, desnoods gelast den ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand te Padang om alsnog in de lopende 

registers van geboorte in te schrijven, dat op den 14 Mei 1873 uit de Niassche vrouw Si Lina te Padang 

is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne aan hetwelk zijn gegeven de voornamen 

George Leonard, 

En dat rekestrant met toestemming der moeder dat kind als het zijne heeft erkend; 

Beveelt dat daartoe van deze beschikking, zoodra zij in kracht van gewijsde zal zijn gegaan de grosse, 

dadelijk na vertoon zal worden ingeschreven, door den ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand te Padang 

in het door hem aangehouden loopend register van geboorten. 

Aldus gedaan te Padang in raadkamer gehouden op donderdag den 18 October 1900 door de heeren 

etc.etc. 

Uitgereikt voor grosse aan R.H. Londt 

[in margine] bij besluit van den Gouverneur Generaal van Nederlandsch-Indie is op den twaalfden 

augustus 1906, nummer 12, in het xxx register van geboorten te Padang ingaaxxx , is aan het in deze 

acte vermeld kind George Leonard vergund achter zijn geslachtnaam “Londt”die van “Schultz”te 

voegen, en zich alzoo voortaan te noemen en te schrijven “George Leonard Londt Schultz”etc. 
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In summary: George Leonard was born on 14 May 1873 in Padang and erkend in 1901 as son of 

Robbert Hendrik Londt and Si Lina. On 12 August 1906 he got permission from the authorities 

to change his surname into Londt-Schultz. 

His decendents have some doubt if George Leonard is really Robbert Hendrik’s son; see Annex 

V. 

The above text of the registration states that Robbert Hendrik’s relationship with Si Lina ended 

(soon) after George Leonard’s birth and that they did not maintain communication. George 

Leonard received an ‘European’ education since then. 

Shortly before 1901 another –unknown- person tried to register George Leonard under his 

surname, but the public officer refused to do so, based on the small difference in age between 

George Leonard and this person. 

Si Lina was alive in 1901. 

Combining the facts from the above registration and the family tradition and my mini-

investigation regarding the Schultz family in Annex V my conclusion is that Si Lina raised George 

Leonard together with the three children named ‘Schultz’. 

This is probably the reason that George Leonard decided in 1906, when he was 33 years old, to 

change his name into Londt-Schultz. It would be interesting to find the exact wording of George 

Leonard’s request for this name change. Anyway, in my opinion George Leonard is the son of 

Robbert Hendrik: the text in the registration is clear and you don’t acknowledge your son after 28 

years when he’s not really your son. 

 

Robbert Hendrik’s relationship (5) with Mananga. Mananga was born around 1852. They had 9 known 

children. 

 

1 Betje Cornelia Londt was born on 7 July 1877 in Padang; erkend on 17 March 1887. 
No.24 Heden den 17 maart 1887 verscheen voor mij …. Robert Hendrik Londt, oud 49 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijne huize op 17 juli 1877 des 

voormiddags ten drie ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke sekse uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, 

zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Betje Cornelia, hebbende 

gemelde Robert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 35 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang die mij naar aanleiding van artikel 42 etc verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. 

De getuigen zijn Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, 42 jaar, van beroep gepensioneerd sergeant der 

infanterie en Charles Gustave Broers, 33 jaar, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van 

Sumatra’s Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang. 

 

She died on 6 June 1913 in Padang, 35 years old. 
No.9 Heden den 7 Juni 1913 verschenen voor mij …. James Frederik Alexander, oud 32 jaar en Jan 

Groenendijk, oud 25 jaar, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s 

Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 6 Juni 1913, des voormiddags ten 

xxx uur is overleden Betje Cornelia Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 35 jaar, zonder beroep, laatst 

gewoond hebbende te Padang, dochter van Robert Hendrik Londt, overleden en de Niassche vrouw 

Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

2 Jacobus Cornelis Londt was born on 4 November 1879 in Padang; erkend on 17 March 1887 
No.25 Heden den 17 maart 1887 verscheen voor mij … Robert Hendrik Londt, oud 49 jaren, zonder 

beroep, woonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijne huize op den 4 november 

1879 des [voor?]middags ten tien ure is geboren een kind van mannelijke kunne uit de Niassche vrouw 

Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Jacobus 

Cornelis, hebbende gemelde Robert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 35 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang etc stemt toe. De getuigen zijn Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, 42 jaren en Charles 

Gustave Broers, oud 33 jaren 

 

Jacobus Cornelis died on 13 July 1910 in Padang, 30 years old. 
No.20 Heden den 10 Juli 1910 heb ik … ontvangen eene schriftelijke aangifte van overlijden aan deze 

acte gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt: 
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Militair hospitaal te Padang 

Heden den 13 Juli 1910 wordt door ons ondergeteekenden Johan Frederik Deibert, administrateur van 

het militair hospitaal te Padang en Charles Willem Frederik te Hinckel, officier van gezondheid der 

tweede klasse bij dat hospitaal dienstdoende, ter inschrijving in het register van den burgerlijken stand 

te Padang aangifte gedaan dat op den 13 Juli 1910, des namiddags om zes en een half uur, in het 

hospitaal in hoofde dezer vermeld, s overleden Jacobus Cornelis Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 30 

jaren, wagenmaker bij den dienst der Staatsspoorwegen, laatst gewoond te Padang, ongehuwd, zoon 

van Robert Hendrik Londt en de Niassche vrouw Mananga, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Padang 

[sic!; Robbert Hendrik overleed in 1905]. Etc. 

 

3 Lotje Sophia Londt was born on 6 October 1882 in Padang; erkend on 17 March 1887. 
Nr.26 Heden den 17 maart 1887 verscheen …. Robert Hendrik Londt, oud 49 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 6 oktober 1882 des 

namiddags ten zeven en een half ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke sekse uit de Niassche 

vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Lotje 

Sophia hebbende gemelde Robert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 35, zonder beroep, wonende 

de te Padang die mij …. heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. De getuigen zijn Charles 

Rudolph Albert Hansen, 42 jaar oud en Charles Gustave Broers, 33 jaar oud. 

 

I could not find her death registration 

 

4 Helena Magdalena Londt was born on 25 September 1884 in Loeboeg Selassie; erkend on 17 

March 1887 
Nr.27 Heden den 17 maart 1887 verscheen etc.etc. Robert Hendrik Londt, oud 49 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Loeboeg Selassie (onderafdeeling Solok) ten zijnen 

huijze op den 25 september 1884 des namiddags ten 12 ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke 

sekse, uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven 

de voornamen Helena Magdalena, hebbende de gemelde Robert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor 

het zijne te erkennen. Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga oud naar aanzien 35 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij etc.etc. heeft verklaard met de erkenning toe te 

stemmen. Etc.etc. 

 

Helena Magdalena died on 1 March 1956 in Djakarta. Her husband W.F.K. Jacobs makes the 

announcement in the (Java-bode : nieuws, handels- en advertentieblad voor Nederlandsch-Indie, 

06-03-1956) 

 

She married on 5 June 1912 in Padang, 27 years old with Willem Frans Karel Jacobs. 
No.12 Heden den 5 Juni 1912 verschenen voor mij … Willem Frans Karel Jacobs, geboren te 

Benkoelen, oud 34 jaren, van beroep klerk op maandgeld ter griffie van de Raad van Justitie te Padang, 

woonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Robert Henrij Jacobs, overladen en de Inlandsche vrouw 

Delia, zonder beroep, woonende te Benkoelen en Helena Magdalena Londt, geboren te Loeboeg Selasie 

(Solok), oud 27 jaren, zonder beroep, woonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Robert Hendrik 

Londt, overladen en de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. De getuigen 

zijn Adolf Bernardus Charles David Hansen, 33 jaar en Jan Groenendijk, 25 jaar. 

 

5 Pauline Catharina Londt was born on 12 September 1886 in Loeboeg Selassie; erkend on 17 

March 1887. 
Nr.28 Heden den 17 maart 1887 verscheen etc, Robert Hendrik Londt, oud 49 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Loeboeg Selassie onderafdeling Solok, ten zijnen 

huize op den 12 september 1886 des namiddags ten elfen een half ure is geboren een kind van de 

vrouwelijke sekse uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep wonende te Padang aan welk kind 

zijn gegeven de voornamen Pauline Catherine, hebbende gemelde Robert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat 

kind voor het zijne te erkennen. Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar 

aanzien 35 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij naar aanleiding etc.etc. heeft verklaard in 

die erkenning toe te stemmen. Etc.etc. Deze verklaring zijn gedaan in tegenwoordigheid van Charles 

Rudolph Albert Hansen, oud 42 jaren, van beroep gepensioneerd sergeant der infanterie en Charles 

Gustave Broers, oud 33 jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s 

Westkust, etc.etc. 
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She died on 25 October 1897 in Padang, 11 years old. 
No.51 Heden den 26 october 1897 verschenen voor mij … Auguste Jacques Henri de Vogel, oud 35 

jaren en Frederik Willem Logeman, oud 37 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den 

Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 25 

october 1897, des voormiddags ten drie en drie kwart ure te Padang is overleden Pauline Catharina 

Londt, geboren te Loeboeg Selasie / Solok, oud elf jaren, zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te 

Padang, dochter van Robert Hendrik Londt en de Niassche vrouw Mananga, beiden zonder beroep en 

wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

6 Frederik Daniel Londt was born on 24 February 1889 in Padang and erkend on 7 January 1896. 

See VI-D. 
 

7 Gustaaf Anton Londt was born on 8 August 1891 in Padang and erkend on 7 January 1896. 
No.2 Heden den 7 Januari 1896 verscheen voor mij … Robbert Hendrik Londt, oud 56 jaren, van beroep 

schrijver bij het militair hospitaal te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang 

ten zijnen huize op den 8 Augustus 1891 des namddags ten zeven en een half ure is geboren een kind 

van de mannelijke kunne uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk 

kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Gustaaf Anton. Hebbende gemelde Robbert Hebdrik Londt verklaard 

dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 40 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat kind voor het hare te erkennen. De getuigen zijn Charel 

Rudolph Albert Hansen, 51 jaren en Antonius Adriananus Pascal van Alphen, 50 jaren. 

 

8 Emma Dorothea Londt was born on 10 November 1894 in Padang and erkend on 7 January 1896. 
No.8 Heden den 7 January 1896 verscheen voor mij … Robbert Hendrik Londt, oud 56 jaren, van beroep 

schrijver bij het militair hospitaal te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang 

ten zijnen huize op den 10 Novemver 1894 des namiddsags ten zeven en een half ure is geboren een 

kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen van Emma Dorothea. Hebbende gemelde Robbert Hendrik 

Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 40 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat kind voor het hare te erkennen. De getuigen zijn Charel 

Rudolph Albert Hansen, 51 jaren en Antonius Adriananus Pascal van Alphen, 50 jaren. 

 

Emma Dorothea died on 10 April 1914 in Padang. 
No.5 Heden den 11 April 1914 verschenen voor mij … James Charles Townsend, oud 27 jaar en Jan 

Groenendijk, oud 26 jaar, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s 

Westkust, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 10 April 1914, des 

voormiddags ten zeven ure te Padang is overleden Emma Dorothea Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 19 

jaar, zonder beroep, laatstgewoond hebbende te Padang, dochter van Robbert Hendrik Londt, overleden 

en de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. 

 

She had a son from an unknown father: 

1 Alphonse Cornelis Londt born on 9 January 1912 in Padang 

No.4 Heden den 11 Januari 1912 verscheen voor mij … de Niassche vrouw Managa, oud naar 

aanzien 55 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten 

huize van haar aangeefster op den 9 Januari 1912 des namiddags ten vier ure is geboren een kind 

van de mannelijke kunne uit Emma Dorothea Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan 

welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Alphonse Cornelis. De getuigen zijn Frederik Nicolaas 

Lamballais Tessensohn, 43 jaar en Jan Groenen, oud 24 jaar. 

[in margine] [onleesbaar; helaas is meer dan de helft niet op film] 

 

9 Maria Carolina Londt was born on 19 May 1899 in Padang; erkend 1901. 
No.56 Heden den 11 September 1901 verscheen voor mij … Robbert Hendrik Londt, oud 63 jaren, 

zonder beroep, woonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 19 

Mei 1899, des namiddags ten acht ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Niassche 

vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep wonende te Padang aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Maria 
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Carolina. Hebbende gemelde Robbert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga oud naar aanzien 45 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, die mij naar aanleiding van artikel 42 van het reglement op het houden der registers 

van den burgelijken stand voor de Europeesche en daarmede gelijkgestelde bevolking in Nederlandsch 

Indie en in verband met artikel 284 van het burgerlijk wetboek heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te 

stemmen. 

De getuigen zijn Frederik Nicolaas Lamballais Tessensohn, 32 jaar en Jules Constantijn Richardson 

Davies, 29 jaar. 

 

She died on 19 November 1944 in Padang, 45 years old. 
Nummer 7 [de tekst is in Bahasa Indonesia. Ik geef een samenvatting van de namen in de registratie] 

Aangifte door Londt, Helena Magdalena [haar zuster] 

Overledene Londt, Maria Cornelia; 

Echtgenoot Robbers, Gerard Numa Ludwich [reeds overleden zo te zien] 

Vader Londt, Robber[t] Hendrik 

Mother Menengah 

 

Robbers-Londt, Maria Carolina 

Overleden te Padang, kamp, Overlijdensdatum 19-11-1944, Buiten Erevelden, Gedenkboek 41 

(Oorlogsgravenstichting/slachtofferregister) 

 

Maria Carolina Londt married on 3 August 1921 in Padang with Gerard Numa Ludwich Robbers. 
No.15 Heden den 3 Augustus 1921 verschenen voor mij …. Gerard Numa Ludwich Robbers, geboren 

te Padang, oud 27 jaar, van beroep tijdelijk klerk bij de havenwerken te Emmahaven, wonende te 

padang, meerderjarige zoon van Willem Robbers, gepensioneerd ambtenaar en de Inlandsche vrouw 

Karidja, zonder beroep, beiden wonende te Padang en Maria Carolina Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 

22 jaar, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Robbert Hendrik Londt en de 

Niassche vrouw Mananga, beiden overleden. Etc. De echtgenooten hebben mij vervolgens overgegeven 

drie uittreksels uit de registers van den burgelijken stand waaruit blijkt dat: 

te Sawah Loento op den 13 November 1915 is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk 

is gegeven de voornaam Alina, [see also RA 1917, page 216: Alina Londt, geb. Sawah Loento 13 nov. 

1915, dochter van Marie Caroline Londt] 

te Padang op [privacy] is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne aan hetwelk is gegeven de 

voornaam Antoinette, 

te Padang op [privacy] is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunnen aan hetwelk zijn gegeven de 

voornamen Eduard Willem, 

waarvan de moeder is bovenvermelde Maria Carolina Londt, welke kinderen blijkens die uittreksels 

bereids door haar zijn erkend, verklarende Gerard Numa Ludwich Robbers die kinderen voor de zijne 

te erkennen en Maria Carolina Londt in deze erkenning toe te stemmen. Etc. De getuigen zijn Charles 

Gustave Broers, 68 jaar en James Frederik Alexander, 50 jaar. 

 

Gerard Numa Ludwich Robbers was born on 9 August 1893 in Padang, son of Willem Robbers 

and Karidja. 
No.59 Heden den 10 Augustus 1893 verscheen voor mij … Willem Robbers, oud 42 jaren, van beroep 

klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 9 Augustus 1893 des namiddags ten zeven en een half 

ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Karidja, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Gerard Numa 

Ludwich. De getuigen zijn Charles Gustave Broers, oud 39 jaren en Friedrich Wilhelm Logeman, oud 

43 jaren. 

 
Bij vonnis van den Raad van Justitie te Padang is G.N.L. Robbers wegens het opzettelijk het publiek 

gelegenheid geven tot hazardspeld, veroordeeld tot f 100 boete (De Indische courant 08-03-1926) 

 

 

In summary Robbert Hendrik had relationships as follows: 

 

  from until  children 

1 Sie 1857-12-03   1 
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Waris 

2 Saria / 

Kina 

1859-07-15   1 

3 Sie 

Ambon 

1870-09-10 1872-04-07 but she is mentioned in 1901 (marriage 

LJ) 

2 

4 Sie Lina 1873-05-14  but she is mentioned on 17 August 1900 

(erkenning George Leonard) 

1 

5 Mananga 1877-07-07 1901-09-11 She is mentioned until 1912 (birth 

Alphonse Cornelis Londt) 

9 

     14 

 

 

V-D Willem Daniel Londt, son of Willem Cornelis Londt (IV-D) and Emily Jacobs, was born on 15 

September 1840 in Padang. 
Nummer 24 Op heden dinsdag den vijftienden september des jaars 1840 de klokke tien uren des voormiddags 

zijn voor mij ondergeteekende …. gecompareerd de persoon van Willem Cornelis Londt, oud vijf en dertig 

jaren, van beroep timmerman, wonende te Padang, vergezeld van de personen van Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, 

oud een en dertig jaren en William Richardson Davies, oud een en twintig jaren, beide geëmployeerden bij den 

controleur van het middel der inkomende en uitgaande regten alhier en alsmede te Padang woonachtig. De 

eerste goede bekende en de tweede neef van den compar[ant] als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid de 

comparant mij heeft verklaard dat op heden dinsdag den vijftienden september dezes jaars een duizend acht 

honderd en veertig op klokke een uur des nachts van hem declar[ant] en Emilij Jacobs, oud vijf en twintig 

jaren, zijn wettige huisvrouw, geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne, aan hetwelk de comparant 

verklaarde de voornamen van Willem Daniel te willen geven. Aldus ten voorschreven etc. 

 

He was clerk and supervisor and lived in Padang, Loeboeksikaping and Menado. 
Pakhuis administratie Menado, Pakhuismeester te Menado. W. D. Londt, 12 Sept. 1882 (k&p 1893, 299) 

Schutterijen, Menado, Minahassa, Londt, W. D. eerste luitenant, kwartiermeester. 14 Aug. 1887 (kalender en 

personalia 1893, 277) 

 

He died on 23 February 1907 in Menado, 66 years old. 

 

Willem Daniel married on 24 December 1862 in Padang, 22 years old (1) with Johanna Gottfried, 21 

years old. 
Nr.11 Heden den vier en twintigsten december 1862 verscheen voor mij …. Willem Daniel Londt, 

geboren te Padang, oud ruim twee en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Assistent Resident en 

Magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang, minderjarige zoon van Willem Cornelis Londt en Emilij 

Jacobs, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, en Johanna 

Gottfried, geboren te Tillo op de Batoe Eilanden, oud ruim een en twintig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Isak Gottfried, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en van de vrije 

Inlandsche vrouw Sie Obi Atie, overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest. Etc.etc. Voorts zijn voor 

mij verschenen Willem Cornelis Londt, oud zeven en vijftig jaren en Emilij Jacobs, oud zeven en veertig 

jaren, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die in hoedanigheid van ouders van de bruidegom en 

Isak Gottfried, oud zeven en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, in zijn hoedanigheid van 

vader der bruid hunne toestemming tot het aangaan van dit huwelijk hebben verleend. Getuigen zijn 

Willem Richardson Davies, oud vier en veertig jaren en Carel Egeunius van Liebenstein. Oud 31 jaren…. 

Met uitzondering van Emilij Jacobs die verklaard heeft niet te kunnen tekenen. 

 

Johanna Gottfried was born on 7 April 1841 in Tillo (on the Batoe islands) and daughter of Isak 

Gottfried and Sie Obe Atie. 
Nummer acht Op heden 26 april 1841 de klokke elf uren des voormiddags is voor mij ondergeteekende 

Josephus Jacobus Lefeber Assistent Resident van Padang als ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand 

ontvangen een proces verbaal van aangifte van den volgenden inhoud: 

Proces verbaal van aangifte van het kind genaamd Johanna 

Op heden den 7 april 1841 ’s morgens de klokke acht is voor mij Heinrich Zorn controleur belast met het 

civiel gezag op de Batoe Eilanden gecompareerd Isak Gottfried woonachtig te Tello op de Batoe Eilanden 

oud 46 jaren, zonder beroep, alsmede Nakxx Massa (Bangies), oud 60 jaren en Ocas Dona (Makassar) 
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oud 58 jaren, beiden zonder beroep en mede te Tello woonachtig, als getuigen in wier tegenwoordigheid 

de comparant mij verklaarde tot zich te nemen een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne, door hem buiten 

huwelijk verwekt bij de vrije Inlandsche vrouw Sie Oba Atie hetwelk volgens zijne opgave is geboren op 

bovengenoemde datum ’s morgens ten klokke xx. De verplichting op zich nemende om het te zullen 

verzorgen en in de christelijke godsdienst te zullen opvoeden, verlangende hij aan hetzelve de naam te 

geven van Johanna. 

Nu compareerde voor mij de voornoemde vrije Inlandsche vrouw Sie Obe Atie, mij en de getuigen 

bekend, die mij verklaarde met deze aanneming volkomen genoegen te nemen. Aldus etc.etc. 

 

She died on 27 November 1873 in Soeroemantingie, Mandheling en Ankola, Tapanoeli,32 years old. 
Na een kortstondig lijden overleed heden mijn geliefde echtgenoote J. Gottfried in den ouderdom van 32 

jaren Soeroemantingie, 27 November 1873 W.D. Londt (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad, 

29-11-1873, idem 06-12-1873) 

 

Willem Daniel and Johanna had 6 known children: 

 

1 Frans Hendrik Jacob Londt was born on 12 September 1863 in Padang. 
Nr.37 Heden den veertienden september 1863 verscheen voor mij ….. Willem Daniel Londt, oud drie 

en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk bij den Assistent Resident en Magistraat van Padang, wonende te 

Padang die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den twaalfden september 1863 des avonds ten acht en 

een half ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Johanna Gottfried, zonder beroep wonende 

te Padang zijne echtgenoote aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Frans Hendrik Jacob. Etc. 

Getuigen zijn George Frederik Ungerer en Thomas Eslinger van Ginkel. 

 

I did not find any further details. 

 

2 Karel Adolf Gottfried Londt was born on 9 February 1865 in Padang. 
Nr.5 Heden den negenden februarij achttien honderd vijf en zestig verscheen voor mij Alexander 

Josephus François Hamers gewoon ambtenaar van den burgerlijken stand te Padang, Willem Daniel 

Londt, oud vier en twintig jaren van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent Resident en Magistraat 

van Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den negenden februarij 

achttienhonderd vijf en zestig des morgens ten vier ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne 

uit Johanna Gottfried, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn gegeven 

de voornamen Karel Adolf Gottfried. 

Deze aangifte is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Thomas Richardson Davies in zijne betrekking van 

neef des aangevers oud twee en veertig jaren, en Hendrik Lawa, oud drie en twintig jaren, beiden van 

beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent Resident en Magistraat van Padang wonende te Padang. 

 

I did not find any further details. 

 

3 Thomas Robbert Daniel Londt was born on 8 December 1866 in Padang. 
Nr.62 Heden den tienden december achttien honderd zes en zestig verscheen voor mij … Willem Daniel 

Londt, oud zes en twintig jaren, van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent Resident en Magistraat 

van Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op den achtsten december 

achttien honderd zes en zestig des morgens ten een ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit 

Johanna Gottfried, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoot aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornamen van Thomas Robbert Daniel. 

Deze aangifte is geschied in tegenwoordigheid van Thomas Richardson Davies oud vier en veertig jaren 

en Hendrik Lawa, oud vier en twintig jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Assistent 

Resident en magistraat van Padang, wonende te Padang. 
 

I did not find any further details. 

 

4 a son Londt was stillborn on 8 April 1870 in Sidempoean, Tapanoeli. 

 

5 Louis Londt was born on 29 April 1871 in Sidempoean. 

He died on 11 June 1871 in Padang Sidempoean, 6 weeks old. 
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6 Victor Adriaan Londt was born on 5 July 1872 in Mandheling en Ankola. 

He died on 18 augustus 1872 te Tapanoeli, 6 weeks old. 

 

Willem Daniel married on 11 April 1875 in Padang, 34 years old (2) with Engeltina de Bruin, 17 years 

old. 
Nr.6 Etc.etc. Willem Daniel Londt, geboren te Padang, oud vier en dertig jaren, van beroep opziener tweede 

klasse der Kultures, wonende te Loeboe Sikapping, vroeger gehuwd geweest met Johanna Gottfried, verleden, 

meerderjarige zoon van Willem Cornelis Londt en Emilij Jacobs, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Loeboe 

Sikapping en Engeltina de Bruin, geboren te Padang, oud achttien jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, minderjarige dochter van Gerrit Aart de Bruin en van de Inlandsche vrouw 

Selpak, beiden zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, welke personen, etc.etc Voorts is voor mij verschenen 

Gerrit Aart de Bruin, oud vijf en zestig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die etc. 

 

Engeltina de Bruin was born on 11 November 1857 in Padang, daughter of Gerrit Arent de Bruin and 

the native woman Selpak. 

She died on 20 December 1918 in Soerabaja, 61 years old. 

 

Willem Daniel and Engeltina had 8 known children: 

 

1 Eduard Christiaan Londt was born on 31 October 1877 in Tontoli, Celebes. 

He mentioned as follows (Delpher): 
In 1901 transferred from Pasoeroean to Soerabaia (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 

15-10-1901) 

1921 hoofdkommies bij hoofdbureau kadastrale dienst, benoemd te Weltevreden. (Het nieuws van den 

dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 09-11-1921) 

30 August 1928 […] het ridder kruis en de Orde van Oranje Nassau uitgereikt aan den kantoorchef van 

het Kadaster, E. Ch. Londt. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 30-08-1928) 

16 April 1930 vendutie ten huize E.Ch. (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 14-04-1930) 

7 May 1930 Retired as kantoorhoofd op het hoofdbureau kadaster NOI after 30 years service. De heer 

Londt is Ridder in de Oranje-Nassau-Orde (de Indische Courant 7-5-1930) 

On 10 February 1936 E.Ch. Londt announces decease of AF, his sister in the (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 

on 11 February 1936) 

 

He supposedly died after 22 April 1950 
22 April 1950 Grote Venduties van Huis – Inboedel. Door Vendukantoor “Simpang” Simpang 60. 

Donderdag 4 Mei, t.h.v. WelEdG. Heer E.Ch. Londt, Dj. Tengu Umar (v. Heutz-straat) 33, Darmo 

[=area within Soerabaija] (De vrije pers: ochtendbulletin, o.a. 22.04.1950) 

 

Edward Christiaan married on 30 January 1908 in Soerabaia with Johanna Elizabeth Pohlmann. 
Verloofd A. Pohlmann en E.Ch. Londt te Soerabaia, (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 30-8-1907) 

Anna Pohlmann x E.Ch ondertrouwd 20 1 1908; trouwen 30 January 1908 (Soerabaijasch handelsblad) 

 

2 Augustina Frederika Londt was born on 26 August 1879 in Tontoli. 

She died on 10 February 1936 in Soerabaja, 56 years old. (announced by her brother E.Ch. Londt) 

(Soerabaijasch handelsblad, 11-02-1936) 

 

3 Louisa Francina Londt was born on 21 August 1881 in Tontoli, Celebes. 

She died on 24 April 1954 in ‘s-Gravenhage, the Netherlands, 72 years old. 

(denhaag.digitalestamboom.nl) 

She was married with Johan Louis Pieter van der Veen. 

 

4 Willem Cornelis Londt was born on 4 October 1883 in Menado. 

He died on 10 December 1883 in Menado, 2 months old. 

 

5 Albert Ferdinand Londt was born on 15 August 1884 in Menado. 

He died on 29 August 1884 in Menado, 14 days old. 
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6 Albertina Antoinette Londt was born on 27 July 1885 in Menado. 

She died on 14 December 1920 in Soerabaja, 35 years old. 

Albertina Antoinette married on 12 January 1910 in Menado, 24 years old with Maximilian Marie 

Karthaus. 

 

7 Charlotte Emile Londt was born on 22 November 1887 in Menado. 

 
A Miss C.E. Londt is mentioned in 1918 regarding a firm Fabsum that was blacklisted by the British. 

(Bataviaasch nieuwsblad, 17-12-1918). 

Mejuffrouw Ch.E. Londt is mentioned as employee with Kaufmann Ehrenpreis in Soerabaia 

(1925-1926) 

 

8 Willy Diedrik Londt was born on 7 November 1891 in Menado. 

He was inspector and later collector with the import and export tax office and moved from 

Menando to Kolonedale in 1912, from Kolonedale to Semarang in 1914, from Semarang to 

Pabean in 1915, from Pabean to Baroes in 1916 
De opziener bij de in- and uitvoerrechten en accijnzen te Menado W.D. Londt is naar Kolonedale 

overgeplaatst (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indie 08-02-1912) 

Bij de in- en uitvoerrechten en accijnzen overgeplaatst van Kolonedale naar Semarang, W. D. Londt. 

(Het nieuws van den dag : kleine courant, 17-03-1914) 

De opziener bij de in- en uitvoerrechten en accijnzen te Semarang, W.D. Londt is van Semarang naar 

Pabean overgeplaatst. (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 01-09-1915) 

Werkzaamgesteld als ontvanger en overgeplaatst van Pabean naar Baroes, W.D. Londt, verificateur. 

((Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indie 24-05-1916) 

W.D. Londt is mentioned as Ambtenaar 4e klasse bij de in- en uitvoerrechten in Soerabaja (1919) 

(Nieuw Adresboek). 

 

Willy Diederik Londt, “ambtenaar 4e klasse in- en uitvoerrechten”, died on 1 December 1920 in 

Soerabaja, 29 years old. (announced by his brother E.Ch. Londt) (Het nieuws van den dag voor 

Nederlandsch-Indië, 06-12-1920) 

 

V-E William Londt, son of Willem Cornelis Londt (IV-D) and Emily Jacobs, born on 5 March 1844 

in Padang. 
Nummer zeven Op heden den vijfden maart dezes jaars 1844 de klokke elf ure des voormiddags is voor mij 

ondergeteekende … gecompareerd de persoon van Willem Londt, oud zeven en dertig jaren, geboortig van 

Padang, van beroep timmerman, woonachtig te Padang, in zijne betrekking van vader, benevens de personen 

van: Thomas Hendrik Fisscher, oud vijf en dertig jaren, geboortig van Padang en Dirk Pieter Borghardt, oud 

zeven en dertig jaren, geboortig van Padang, beide klerken op het bureau van den Adsistent Resident te Padang, 

beide te Padang woonachtig, in hunne betrekking van goede bekenden tot den eersten comparant als getuigen 

dezer acte; dewelke declarant verklaarde dat op den vijfden maart des jaars een duizend acht honderd vier en 

veertig, de klokke drie ure des nachts, op de Goeroeg alhier, ten huize van den declarant, van zijne wettige 

huisvrouw Emilij Jacob is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne, aan welk kind de voornaam van William 

wordt gegeven. Aldus ten etc. 

 

He died on 3 August 1899 in Padang, 55 years old. 
No.30 Heden den 4 augustus 1899 verschenen voor mij … Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, oud 27 jaren 

en Iman(?) van Dam(?), oud 25 jaren, beiden van beroep klerk op het bureau van den Gouverneur van 

Sumatra’s Westkust en wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 3 augustus 1899 des 

namiddags ten twee ure te Padang is overleden William Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 55 jaren, gepensioneerd 

burgerlijk schrijver, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, zoon van Willem Londt en Emilij Jacob, beiden 

overleden. Etc. 

 

William had a relationship (1) with Si Lehu. 

One child is known: 

1 Augusta Alida Londt was born on 16 May 1867 in Padang; erkend in 1899, 9 days before 

William’s death, 7 weeks before her marriage. 
No.42 Heden den 25 Juli 1899 verscheen voor mij … William Londt, oud 55 jaren, gepensioneerd 
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burgerlijk schrijver, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 

16 Mei 1867, des middags ten twaalf ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Niassche 

vrouw Si Lehu, blijkens de hieraan gehechte verklaring overleden, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornamen Augusta Alida. Hebbende gemelde William Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te 

erkennen. De getuigen zijn Pieter Johannes Franciscus de Nijs, oud 30 jaren en Jules Constantijn 

Richardson Davies, oud 27 jaren. 

 

I did not find her death registration. 

She married on 11 September 1899 in Agam (Fort de Kock), 31 years old with Jonny Hoijer. 

In the Nieuw Adresboek is mentioned Hoijer, J. Opziener der wegen, Fort de Kock (1901), 

Loeboe Sikaping (Padangsche Bovenlanden) (1910-1941) (A.A. Londt). 

 

William had a relationship (2) with Kadjorie. Kadjorie was born around 1852. 

One child is known: 

 

1 Emilie Sophia Wilhelmina Johanna Londt was born on 14 June 1891 in Padang. 
No.24 Heden den 7 mei 1892 verscheen voor mij … William Londt, oud 46 jaren, zonder beroep, 

woonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 14 juni 1891 des 

voormiddags ten 6 ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Kadjorie, 

zonder beroep, woonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Emilie Sophia 

Wilhelmina Johanna. Hebbende gemelde Willem Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Inlandsche vrouw Kadjorie, oud naar aanzien 40 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, etc etc heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. De getuigen zijn Charles 

Rudolph Albert Hansen 47 jaar, gepensioneerd onderofficier en Johannes Hendrikus Londt, 38 jaar, 

zonder beroep, beide wonende te Padang. 

 

I presume that the E.S.J. hereunder is identical to Emilie Sophia Wilhelmina Joahanna Londt, but 

I cannot prove this presently. 
Het vonnis van de Raad van Justitie te Padang, waarbij vrouwe E.S.J. Londt, wegens oplichting, tot 4 

maanden gevangenisstraf en f 300 boete werd veroordeeld, in in appel door het Hof bekrachtigd (Het 

nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 20-01-1916) 

Het verzoek van E. S. J. Londt, om gratie van de hem bij ‘s Raads vonnis te Padang opgelegde straf van 

4 maanden gevangenis, is afgewezen. (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië, 27-03-1916) 

 

She apparently moved to Semarang thereafter: A “vrouwe” E.S.J. Londt is mentioned as 

particulier in Postkantoor Seamarang in 1918, 1920, 1921-22, 1923, 1924. (Nieuw Adresboek 

1918, 1920)  

 

 

V-H Andries Londt, son of Willem Cornelis Londt (IV-D) and Emily Jacobs, was born on 7 July 1849 

in Padang. 
Nummer ??? Op heden den maandag den negenden julij des jaars een duizend acht honderd negen en veertig 

de klokke tien ure des voormiddags is voor mij ondergeteekende …… gecompareerd de persoon van [Willem] 

Londt, oud zes en dertig [moet zijn veertig] jaren, geboren te Padang, van beroep timmerman(?), wonende te 

Padang, in zijne betrekking van vader van het na te noemen kind. 

Benevens de personen van: Dirk Pieter Borghardt, oud drie en dertig(?) jaren, geboren te Padang van beroep 

klerk op het Residentie kantoor te Padang en William Richardson Davies, oud dertig jaren, geboren te Padang, 

van beroep onderkommies bij de recherche alhier, beide wonende te Padang. 

Dewelke declarant verklaarde dat op den zevenden julij des jaars een duizend acht honderd negen en veertig 

de klokke acht ure des morgens welke(?) op de Goeroeng alhier van hem comparant uit Emilij Nancy Jacobs, 

oud zeven en dertig jaren, geboren te Benkoelen, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijn wettige huisvrouw 

geboren is een kind van de mannelijke kunne xxx aan hetzelve de comparant xxx den voornaam van Andries 

te willen geven 

 

I did not find his death registration 
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Andries had a relationship (1) with Mina. Mina was born around 1849. 

Andries and Mina had one known child: 

 

1 Christina Roosina Londt was born on 13 April 1878 in Padang; erkend on 15 April 1879. 
No.24 Heden 15 april 1879 verschenen Andries Londt, 27 jaar, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang die 

heeft verklaard dat te Padang op 13 april 1878 is geboren Christina Roosina uit de Niassche vrouw 

Min[a], zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en Andries Londt erkent dit kind als het zijne. Verschenen 

tevens de Niassche vrouw Mina, oud naar aanzien dertig jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang die 

instemt met de erkenning. De getuigen zijn Willem Cornelis Londt, 66 jaar, zonder beroep en Charles 

Rudolph Albert Hansen, 35 jaar, beiden wonende te Padang. 

 

Christina Rosina Londt died on 31 January 1896 in Solok, 17 years old. 

 

Andries had a relationship (2) with Saratima. Saratima was born around 1867. 

Andries and Saratima had one known child: 

 

1 Albertus Josephus Paulus Londt was born on 16 April 1888 in Padang; erkend on 17 October 

1892. See VI-E. 
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Londt - Generation VI 

 

VI-A Stephanus Londt, son of Robbert Hendrik Londt (V-C) and Saria aka Kina, was born on 15 July 

1859 in Goenoeng Sitoli, Tapanoli. 
No.13 Heden den 31 Maart 1891 verscheen voor mij Robbert Hendrik Londt, oud 53 jaren, zonder beroep, 

wondende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Goenoeng Sitolie, ten zijnen huize op den 14 juli 1859 des 

namiddags ten drie ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Saria alias Kina, 

blijkens de hieraan gehechte acte overleden, aan welk kind is gegeven de voornaam Stephanus, hebbende 

gemelde Robbert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. Getuigen zijn Halbe Brouwer, 

oud 37 jaren en Willem Hoijer, oud 49 jaren. 

 

He was conducteur bij de staatsspoorwegen in Padang, 

He died on 4 October 1924 in Sawah Loento, 65 years old 
Stephanus Londt, overl. Sawah Loento 4 okt. 1924, oud 65 jaar, geboren te Goenoengsitoli, echtgenoot van 

Marie de Beuvere, zoon van Robbert Hendrik Londt en de inlandse vrouw Saria, ook genaamd Kina. 

 

Stephanus married on 6 June 1891 in Padang (1) with Anna Catharina Tielman. 
No.9 Heden den 6 Juni 1891 verscheen voor mij … Stephanus Londt, geboren te Goenoeng Sitoli, oud 31 

jaren, van beroep tijdelijk conducteur bij den aanleg der Staatsspoorwegen ter Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende 

aan de Koningine baai, meerderjarige zoon van Robbert Hendrik Londt, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en 

van de Inlandsche vrouw Saria alias Kina, overleden en Anna catharina Tielman, geboren te Koepang / Timor, 

oud 25 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Jan Diederik Tielman en de 

Inlandsche christenvrouw Aleta Lochman, beiden overleden. Etc. de getuigen zijn Reinier Willem Nijst, 50 

jaar en Jurrien Jan de Jong, 37 jaar. 

 

Anna Catharina Tielman was born on 21 April 1866 in Koepang, Timor , daughter of Jan Diederik 

Tielman and the Inlandsche christenvrouw Aleta Lochman. She died on 17 April 1899 in Fort de Kock. 

 

Stephanus and Anna Catharina Tielman had 2 known children: 

 

1 Anna Adriana Catharina Londt was born on 25 June 1892 in Padang. 
No.38 Heden 27 juni 1892 verscheen Stephanus Londt, 32 jaar, van beroep conducteur bij den dienst 

staatsspoorwegen ten Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende aan de Koninginnelaan, die heeft verklaard dat te 

Padang, ten huize van den heer Halbe Brouwer, op 25 juni 1892 is geboren Anna Adriana Catharina uit 

Anna Catharina Tielman, zonder beroep, wonende aan de Koninginnelaan, zijne echtgenoote. De 

getuigen zijn Halbe Brouwer, 38 jaar en Henry van Affelen van Saemsfoort, 36 jaar. 

 

Anna Adriana Catharina died on 15 August 1918 in Sawah Loento, 26 years old. 
Anna Adriana Catharina Londt, overl. Sawah Loento 15 aug. 1918, oud 26 jaar, geboren te Padang, 

dochter van Stephanus Londt en Anna Catharina Tielman. (RA 1919, 162) 

 

2 Jan Diedrich Reinier Willem Londt was born on 7 December1893 in Padang 
No.89 [torn page] Heden den 8 December 1893 verscheen voor mij … S[tepha]nus Londt, oud 34 jaren, 

van beroep tijdxxxonderopzichter der derde klasse bij den dienst der [staats]spoorwegen ter Sumatra’s 

Westkust, wonende in de Ommelanden van Padang; die mij heeft verklaard [dat] te Padang ten huize 

van den heer Halbe Brouwer [op den] 7 December 1893 [des] voormiddags ten twee ure is geboren een 

kind [van de ] mannelijke kunne uit Anna Catharina Tiel[man] [zon]der beroep, wonende te Doekoe / 

Ommelanden van [Padang], zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de [voor]namen Jan 

Diederich Reinier Willem. De getuigen zijn Reinier Willem Nijst, oud 53 jaren en Friedrich Wilhelm 

Logeman, oud [?]veertig jaren. 

Signed S. Londt 

 

On 7 December 1933 in Padang at the marriage of Johan Jozef Willem Verbaarschott [kindly 

made available by Henk Verbaarschott] (a son of Jan Willem Severinus Verbaarschott), Jan 

Diedrich Reinier Willem Londt is mentioned, 40 years old. 

 

Stephanus married on 20 February 1904 in Sawah Loento, 44 years old (2) with Marie de Beuvere, 16 
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years old. 
Sawah Loento 20.02.1904 Stephanus Londt, geb. Goenoengsitoli 15 juli 1859, oud 44 jaar, onderopzichter bij 

staatspoorwegen, weduwnaar van Anna Katarina Tielman, zoon van Robbert Hendrik Londt en de inlandse 

vrouw Saria, ook genaamd Kina; met Marie de Beuvere, geb. Willem 1 (Semarang) 5 okt. 1887, oud 16 jaar, 

dochter van Henri de Beuvere en de inlandse vrouw Salinah. (reconstructie BS Sawah Loento P.A. Christiaans; 

1997IN10; CDROM IGV) 

 

Marie de Beuvere was born on 5 October 1887 in Ambarawa; erkend in 1888, daughter of Henri de 

Beuvere and the native woman Salinah. 

 

The children of Stephanus and Marie de Beuvere: 

 

1 Elise Londt was born on 3 April 1905 in Sawah Loento. 
Elise Londt, geb. Sawah Loento 3 april 1905, dochter van Stephanus Londt en Marie de Beuvere. (RA 

1906, 79) 

 

2 Johannes Londt was born on 17 August 1906 in Sawah Loento. 
Johannes Londt, geb. Sawah Loento 17 aug. 1906, zoon van Stephanus Londt en Marie de Beuvere. 

(RA 1907, 85: 18 aug. 1906) 

 

3 Klaartje Londt was born on 19 March 1909 in Sawah Loento. 
Klaartje Londt, geb. Sawah Loento 19 maart 1909, dochter van Stephanus Londt en Marie de Beuvere. 

(RA 1910, 101) 

 

4 Helena Londt was born on 21 August 1911 in Sawah Loento. 
Helena Londt, geb. Sawah Loento 21 aug. 1911, dochter van Stephanus Londt en Marie de Beuvere. 

(RA 1912, 83) 

 

5 Paul Londt was born on 12 May 1914 in Sawah Loento. 
Paul Londt geb. Sawah Loento 12 mei 1914, zoon van Stephanus Londt en Marie de Beuvere. (RA 

1915, 208: 12 mei 1904) 

 

6 Bertha Londt was born [privacy] in Sawah Loento 
 

7 Herman Lodewijk Willem was born [privacy] in Sawah Loento 

 

 

VI-B Leo Joseph Londt was born on 10 September 1870 in Padang and erkend on 17 November 1881 

in Padang, son of Robbert Hendrik Londt (V-C) and Sarie Ambon. 
No.74 Heden 17 november 1881 verschenen … Robbert Hendrik Londt, 43 jaar, schrijver bij den 

administrateur van het Militaire Hospitaal, wonende te Padang, die heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen 

huize op 10 september 1870 is geboren Leo Joseph uit de Inlandsche vrouw Sarie Ambon, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang en Robert Hendrik Londt erkent dit kind als het zijne. De getuigen zijn Willem Hoijer, 40 

jaar en Willem Fisscher, 24 jaar. 

 

He is mentioned in the Nieuw Adresboek Londt, L.J., Opz. Ombilin Kolenvelden – Sawah Loento 

(1903-1906), 1905 with J. Ros, 1 year stay in Billiton (1907) (see below), Gep. Onderopz. 1e kl. St.Sp. 

– Padang Pandjang (P.H.W.E. Ros), (1907-1910), Opz. S.S. – Padang (1915), Gep. Opz. S.S. – Padang 

(P.H.W.E. Ros)(1920), Gep.Opz. S.S. – (W.H.E.G. Ros [sic])(1925-1932); as from 1934 they are not 

mentioned anymore. 
Passagiers: met het stoomschip ‘Alting’ vetrekken morgen [=23 June 1907] ochtend 9 uur naar Billiton en 

Pontianak: Londt, echtg. en 2 kinderen (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 22-06-1907) 

Lijst van gedebarkeerde passagiers (te Batavia?) van het s.s. ‘Alting’: L.J. Londt met echtg. en 3 kind. (Het 

nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 16-07-1908) 

Benoemd tot opzichter bij de Staatsspoorwegen bij de Ombilinmijn aldaar (=Sumatra’s Westkust) … L.J. 

Londt (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 07-01-1915) 

He must have lived in Medan in 1925 as ‘mevrouw L.J. Londt, Wilhelminastraat 26’ acquired a new 

telephone number (De Sumatra post 15-08-1925) 
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Apparently he moves on in 1929: 

Vendutie op zaterdag 2 februari 1929 … ten huize van den WelEd. Heer L.J. Londt, Wilhelminastraat 29 .. te 

Medan (De Sumatra post 29-01-1929) 

 

He died 5 August 1938 in Batavia, 67 years old (Het nieuws van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 10-

08-1938) 

 

He married on 4 May 1901 in Padang, 30 years old with Wilhelmina Helena Elizabeth Petronella Ros. 
No. 8 Heden den 4 Mei 1901 verschenen voor mij … Leo Joseph Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 30 jaren, van 

beroep opziener bij de Ombilien kolenmijnen, wonende te Sawah Loento, meerderjarige zoon van Robbert 

Hendrik Londt en de Inlandsche vrouw Sarie Ambon, beiden zonder beroep en wonende te Padang en 

Wilhelmina Helena Elisabeth Petronella Ros, geboren te Batang Taroe, oud 23 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Pierre François Ros, van beroep griffier van de Rapah te Solok, wonende 

te Solok en de Inlandsche vrouw Si Onte, zonder beroep, wonende te Fort van der Capellen. Etc. de getuigen 

zijn Giliam Ros, oom der bruid, 53 jaar en Johan Baptist Gevelhof, schoonbroeder des bruidegoms, 37 jaar. 

 

Wilhelmina Helena Elizabeth Petronella Ros was born on 30 December 1877 in Batang-Taroe, Tapanoli, 

daughter of Pierre François Ros and the Inlandsche vrouw Si Onte (on internet it is incorrectly stated 

that she was born on 25 June 1880 in Padang). She died on 6 November 1942 on Java [found on internet 

but could not verify]. They had children: 

 

1. Eugenie Emilie Leonie born 22 October 1902 in Padang Pandjang (Batipoe en X Kota). She was 

repatriated to The Netherlands on the vessel Indrapoera (126) arriving in Rotterdam on 14 June 

1955. She died on 8 December 1963 in San Francisco, California USA (FamilySearch) 

 
Prijslijst van vlees en groente –uitsluitend- aan de geallieerde strijdkrachten, beleefd aanbevelend Mdmme 

E.E. Londt (Het dagblad : uitgave van de Nederlandsche Dagbladpers te Batavia 08-07-1946) 

 

She was married with Chris. H. Reijgers 

A Christiaan Karel Hendrik Reijgers was born on 1 January 1898 in Soerakarta and another? 

Christiaan Karel Hendrik was born on 17 July 1897 also in Soerakarta. 
Verloofd: Eugenie L.E. Londt en Chris. H. Reijgers. Medan 10 Augustus 1920. (De Sumatra post 13-08-

1920) 

 

2. Augustus Leonardus Petrus born 10 August 1906 in Padang Pandjang. He died [privacy] in the 

Netherlands. He was a POW in 1940-1945 (GahetNa, Japanse Interneringskaarten) 
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He was married with M.A. Hünnemeier shortly before 11 January 1935 Medan/Kaban Djahe 

(Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 11-01-1935). 
Verloofd: A.M. Hünnemeier en A.L.P. Londt, Langsa, 27 Maart 1932 (De Sumatra post 26-03-1932) 

She was born on 16 February 1910 and died [privacy] in the Netherlands. 
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3. Julius Wilhelm Londt born 25 July 1907 in Buding, near Banka-Billiton, died 25 August 1943 in 

Kuima, Thailand. He is mentioned (indischekwestie.nl) born 15 July 1907, Padang, died 25 

August 1943 Kanchanaburi, Thailand and (OGS) Kanchanaburi, Thailand, vak 7, Rij E, Nummer 

52. The details on his ‘Interneringskaart’ below might give more information including date and 

place of his death. (GaHetNa, Japanse Interneringskaarten) 
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In 1946 his sister Mathilda Ida Londt was seeking information regarding his desease . 
Mevr. M.J. Tit-Londt, Duraeusweg 7, Batavia, zou gaarne inlichtingen ontvangen inzake het overlijden 

van J.W. Londt, 1.matr. St. 5307, overleden te Kuima (Thailand) (Het dagblad : uitgave van de 

Nederlandsche Dagbladpers te Batavia 29-01-1946) 

 

He was married with Maria Leonora Sara Cornelia Hendrika van Londen. 
Ondertrouwd: 24 Juni 1929 M. van Londen en J.W. Londt (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 01-07-1929); 

huwelijksvoltrekking 29 Juni 1929 (Soerabaijasch handelsblad 24-06-1929) 

 

4. Wilhelmina Amelia Elisabeth born 12 November 1909 in Padang 
No.68 Heden den 12 November 1909 verscheen voor mij … Giliam Ros, oud 62 jaren, van beroep 

commies op het bureau van den Gouverneur van Sumatra’s Westkust, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang ten huize van hem aangever op den 12 November 1909 des voormiddags ten 

vijf en een half ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Wilhelmina Helena Elizabeth 

Petronella Ros, zonder beroep, wonende te Bintoeham (Benkoelen), echtgenoote van Leo Joseph Londt, 

van beroep tijdelijk opzichter bij de Burgerlijke Openbare Werken, wonende te Bintoeham (Benkoelen) 

aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamenWilhelmina Amelia Elisabeth. De getuigen zijn Charles 

Gustave Broers, 56 jaar en René Fernand de Lixr, 27 jaar. 

 

W.A.E Londt married on 24 December 1934 in Batavia with D.E. Altman (Bataviaasch 

nieuwsblad 07-01-1936) 

 

5. Mathilda Ida (Tilly) born 22 January 1916 in Sawah Loento and died in the Netherlands 
Belast met de waarneming der betrekking van klerk bij het Departement der Marine mej. M.I. Londt, 

wd. Klerke bij het hoofdkantoor van Scheepvaart. (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 25-01-1938) 

Ontheven op verzoek eervol met ingang van ultimo maart 1939 van de waarneming harer betrekking 

mej. M.I. Londt, wd. klerke bij het departement der Marine (Bataviaasch nieuwsblad 29-03-1939) 

 

She was married with F.M. Tit: 
Verloofd M.I. Londt en F.M. Tit, Meester-Cornelis/Soengei-Gerong 12 November 1938. (Het nieuws 

van den dag voor Nederlandsch-Indië 12-11-1938) 

 

 

VI-C George Leonard Londt aka George Leonard Londt-Schultz 

He was born on 14 May 1873 in Padang; erkend in 1901; son of Robbert Hendrik Londt (V-C) and Si 

Lina. On 12 August 1906 he got permission from the authorities to change his surname into Londt-

Schultz. 

George L. Londt Schultz died on 22 June 1952 in Jakarta (Familysearch.org/Family Tree) [this should 

be verified as this Family Tree part of the FamilySearch site is rather uncontrolled and contains many 

errors] 

 

George Leonard Londt Schultz had a relationship with Terang Ati, later followed by their marriage on 

6 April 1907 in Sawah Loento. 

The following registrations hereunder are mainly derived from the “Reconstructie BS Sawah Loento” 

P.A. Christiaans (1997IN10; CDROM IGV) 

 

1 Wilhelmina Londt Schultz, geb. Padang 17 juni 1898, erkend Sawah Loento 17 jan. 1905, dochter 

van George Leonard Londt, bij Gouvernements Besluit van 12 aug. 1906 genaamd Londt Schultz, 

en Terang Ati. Dit kind wordt gewettigd door het opvolgend huwelijk van de ouders d.d. 6 april 

1907. (RA 1906, 79). She died [privacy]. 

 

2 Karel Johan Londt Schultz, geb. 18 aug. 1900, erkend Sawah Loento 17 jan. 1905, zoon van 

George Leonard Londt, bij Gouvernements Besluit van 12 aug. 1906 genaamd Londt Schultz, en 

Terang Ati. 

Dit kind wordt gewettigd door het opvolgend huwelijk van de ouders d.d. 6 april 1907. (RA 1906, 

79) 
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3 Alex Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 6 juli 1902, erkend ald. 17 jan. 1905, zoon van George 

Leonard Londt, bij Gouvernements Besluit van 12 aug. 1906 genaamd Londt Schultz, en Terang 

Ati. 

Dit kind wordt gewettigd door het opvolgend huwelijk van de ouders d.d. 6 april 1907. (RA 1906, 

79) 

Ls.Sld., Mil. Onderdeel KNIL. Geboren te Sawahloento, NOI, Geboortedatum 06-07-1902, 

Overleden te Sungailiat, Bangka gevangenis, Overlijdensdatum 27-08-1944, Categorieën 

Militair. Begraafplaats, Nederlands ereveld Pandu te Bandung, Gemeente Bandung Vak II, 

Nummer, 186 

Alex Londt Schultz married on 31 October 1925 probably in Sawahloento with Justine Whitton. 

 

4 Jozef Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 25 april 1905, erkend ald. 7 dec. 1906, zoon van George 

Leonard Londt, bij Gouvernements Besluit van 12 aug. 1906 genaamd Londt Schultz, en Terang 

Ati. 

Dit kind wordt gewettigd door het opvolgend huwelijk van de ouders d.d. 6 april 1907. (RA 1908, 

79) 

 

5 Elize Margareta Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 7 juli 1907, dochter van George Leonard 

Londt Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA 1908, 79) 

 

6 Rosa Johanna Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 19 juni 1908, dochter van George Leonard Londt 

Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA --, --) 

 

7 Mathilda Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 9 dec. 1909, dochter van George Leonard Londt 

Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA 1911, 76) 

 

8 Adriana Clementine Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 7 april 1912, dochter van George Leonard 

Londt Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA 1913, 70) 

 

9 Alfred Wilhelm Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento 26 mei 1913, zoon van George Leonard Londt 

Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA 1914, 91) 

 

10 Een levenloos kind van George Leonard Londt Schultz en Terang Ati, Sawah Loento 23 sept. 

1914. 

 

11 Eveline Violetta Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento [privacy] 

 

12 Eduard Albertus Londt Schultz (RA: Schultz), geb. Sawah Loento 3 sept. 1918, zoon van 

George Leonard Londt Schultz en Terang Ati. (RA 1920, 94) 

Ls.Sld., Mil. Onderdeel KNIL. Geboren te Sawahloento, NOI, Geboortedatum 06-07-1902, 

Overleden te Sungailiat, Bangka gevangenis, Overlijdensdatum, 27-08-1944, Categorieën 

Militair, Begraafplaats, Nederlands ereveld Pandu te Bandung, Gemeente Bandung , Vak II, 

Nummer 186 

 

13 Fredrieka Hendrieka Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento [privacy]] 

 

14 Elfride Londt Schultz, geb. Sawah Loento [privacy] 

 

 

VI-D Frederik Daniel Londt was born on 24 February 1889 in Padang and erkend on 7 January 1896, 

son of Robbert Hendrik Londt (V-C) and Menanga. 
No.1 Heden den 7 Januari 1896 verscheen voor mij … Robbert Hendrik Londt, oud 56 jaren, van beroep 

schrijver bij het militair hospitaal te Padang, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten 

zijnen huize op den 24 Februari 1889 des voormiddags ten elf ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne 
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uit de Niassche vrouw Mananga, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen 

Frederik Daniel. Hebbende gemelde Robbert Hendrik Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de Niassche vrouw Mananga, oud naar aanzien 40 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende 

te Padang, die mij verklaard heeft dat kind voor het hare te erkennen. Voorsts stemt zij toe in Robbert Hendrik’s 

erkenning. De getuigen zijn Charel Rudolph Albert Hansen, oud 51 jaren en Antonius Adrianus Pascal van 

Alphen, oud 50 jaren. 

 

He died on 30 December 1949 in Batavia, 60 years old. Buried ereveld Menteng Pulo in Djakarta, Vak 

XIII, nr.10, gedenkboek 41 (OGS Slachtofferregister). 

 

Frederik Daniel married on 21 April 1921 in Padang, 32 years old with Wilhelmina Carolina 

Verbaarschott, 24 years old, daughter of Johan Jozef Willem Verbaarschott and the Inlandse vrouw Pia 
No.9 Heden de 9 April 1921 verschenen voor mij … Fredrik Daniel Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 32 jaar, 

van beroep emploijé bij de Nederlandsch-Indische Portland Cement Maatschappij, wonende te Emmahaven 

(Padang), meerderjarige zoon van Robbert Hendrik Londt en de Niassche vrouw Mananga, beiden overleden 

en Wilhelmina Carolina Verbaarschott, geboren te Padang, oud 24 jaar, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Emmahaven (Padang), meerderjarige dochter van Johan Joseph Willem Verbaarschott, van beroep 

onderopzichter der eerste klasse bij de dienst van den Staatsspoorweg ter Sumartra’s Westkust en de Inlandsche 

vrouw Pia, zonder beroep, beide wonende te Doekoe. Etc. De echtgenooten hebben mij vervolgens 

overgegeven een uittreksel uit het register van den burgerlijken stand welke aan deze acte is gehecht, waaruit 

blijkt dat op den 5 November 1919 te Lhoseumawe (Atjeh) is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne aan 

hetwelk zijn gegeven de voornamen Robbert Hendrik, verklarende zij dat kind voor het hunne te erkennen etc. 

De getuigen zijn Philippus Bernard Brandon, 43 jaar en Frans Petrus Cornelis de Corte, zwager der bruid, 42 

jaar. 

 

Wilhelmina Carolina Verbaarschott was born on 24 October 1896 in Padang; erkend on 20 December 

1904 
No.68 Heden den 20 December 1904 verscheen voor mij …. Johan Joseph Willem Verbaarschott, oud 32 jaren, 

van beroep onderopzichter der 1e klasse bij den dienst van den Sumatra Staatsspoorweg, wonende te 

Emmahaven [Padang], die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 24 October 1896, des 

voormiddags ten 11 ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de inlandsche vrouw Pia, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Emmahaven [Padang] aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornamen Wilhelmina Carolina. 

Hebbende gemelde Johan Joseph Willem Verbaarschott verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij de inlandsche vrouw Pia, oud naar aanzien 25 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Emmahaven [Padang], die mij naar aanleiding van artikel 42 van het reglement op het houden der registers van 

den burgerlijken stand voor de Europeesche en daarmede gelijkgestelde bevolking in Nederlandsch-Indie en 

in verband met artikel 284 van het burgerlijk wetboek heeft verklaard in die erkenning toe te stemmen. 

De getuigen zijn Charles Gustave Broers, 51 jaar en Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, 33 jaar. 

Waarvan deze acte is opgemaakt en na voorlezing en voorhouding in de Maleische taal onderteekend, met 

uitzondering van de inlandsche vrouw Pia, die verklaard heeft niet te kunnen teekenen als hebbende nimmer 

schrijven geleerd. 

[in margine] het in deze acte vermeld kind Wilhelmina Carolina is op den 8 Januari 1905 door het huwelijk 

van deszelfs ouders Johan Joseph Willem Verbaarschott en de inlandsche vrouw Pia, blijkens acte etc. 

gewettigd van welke wettiging deze aantekening is gehouden. Etc. 

 

She died shortly before 22 July 1965 in Rotterdam, 68 years old (Het vrĳe volk: democratisch-

socialistisch dagblad, 22-07-1965) 

Frederik Daniel and Wilhelmina Caroline Verbaarschott had children; one of them, Robbert Hendrik, 

was erkend in their marriage registration, see above. 

 

Their children: The information regarding nrs. 2 to 6 was kindly made available to me by Henk 

Verbaarschott. 

 

1 Robbert Hendrik Londt was born on [privacy] in Lho Seumawe (now Seuneubok Seumawe, 

Atjeh). He married [privacy]; 

 

2 Johannes Cornelis Londt was born on [privacy] in Padang, He died on [privacy] in Barendrecht; 
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3 Ferdinand Christiaan Londt was born on [privacy] in Padang. He died on 12 January 1944 in 

Fukuoka 14, Japan; 

 

4 Herman Franciscus Londt was born on [privacy] in Padang. He died [privacy] in Rotterdam. He 

married [privacy] 

 

5 Erna Dorothea Londt was born on [privacy] in Padang. Erna died on 13 May 1928 in Padang; 

 

6 Frederik Wilhelm Londt was born on [privacy] in Padang. He married [privacy] 

 

 

VI-E Albertus Josephus Paulus Londt was born on 16 April 1888 in Padang; erkend on 17 October 

1892. His parents were Andries Londt (V-H) and Saratima. 
No.63 Heden 17 oktober 1892 verscheen Andries Londt, 40 jaar, zonder beroep, woonende te Padang, die heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang ten zijne huize op 16 april 1888 is geboren Albertus Josephus Paulus uit de Niassche 

vrouw Saratima, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en Andries Londt erkent dit kind als het zijne. Verscheen 

voorts de Niassche vrouw Saratima, oud naar aanzien 25 jaren, die in die erkenning toestemt. De getuigen zijn 

Charles Rudolph Albert Hansen, 47 jaar en Arnold Verstraaten, 50 jaar. 

 

He died on 17 July 1944 in Bangkinang in a “Japans Burgerkamp” 

Buried on Nederlands ereveld, Leuwigah in Cimahi, vak II, nr.21; profession: ambtenaar havendienst 

(http://srs.ogs.nl/slachtoffer/96276/albertus-josephus-paulus-londt) via (http://www.oorlogsbronnen.nl) 

 

 
 

He is mentioned as follows: 

Ontslagen op verzoek met ingang van 29 April 1933, wegens volbrachten diensttijd, eervol en met recht op 

pensioen uit ’s lands dienst, de ambtenaar op wachtgeld A.J.P. Londt, laatstelijk hulpmachinist. (De Indische 

courant, 19-05-1933) 

 

Albertus Josephus Paulus had a relationship and later married on 1 August 1924 in Padang with the 

Inlandsche vrouw Tasia 

They had 3 known children: 

 

1 Jan Londt was born on 21 February 1905 in Padang (RA 1913); I did not find the registration of 

his ‘erkenning’ whilst I did find the registrations of the other two children as mentioned below. 

 

2 Adeline Londt was born on 5 December 1909 in Padang; erkend on 14 February 1912  
No.13 Heden den 14 Februari 1912 verscheen voor mij …. Albertus Josephus Paulus Londt, oud 23 

jaren, van beroep daggelder bij de werkplaatsen van den Sumatra Staatsspoorweg, wonende te padang, 

die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang ten zijnen huize op den 5 December 1909 des namiddags ten 11 

uur is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche vrouw Tasia, zonder beroep, 

wonende te Padang, aan welk kind is gegeven de voornaam Adeline. Hebbende gemelde Albertus 

Josephus Paulus Londt verklaard dat kind voor het zijne te erkennen. 

Verscheen tevens voo mij gemelde Inlandsche vrouw Tasia, oud naar aanzien 25 jaren, die verklaard 
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heeft in deze erkenning toe te stemmen. De getuigen zijn Frederik Nicolaas Lamballais Tessensohn, 43 

jaar en Jan Groenendijk, 24 jaar. 

[in margine] het in deze acte vermeld kind Adeline is op den 1 Augustus 1924 door het huwelijk van 

deszelfs ouders Albertus Josephus Paulus Londt en de Inlandsche vrouw Fasia blijkens acte van 

huwelijk voor den buitengewoon ambtenaar van den Burgerlijken Stand te padang onder nummer 

zeventig(?) opgemaakt bij welke acte het kind door de moeder voor het hare is erkend, gewettigd, van 

welke erkenning en wettiging deze aantekening is gehouden door … etc. 

 

3 Johannes Londt was born on 11 October1911 in Padang; erkend on 14 February 1912 
[linkerzijde pagina ontbreekt] No.14 Heden den 15 Februari 1912 verscheen voor mij … Albertus 

Josephus Paulus Londt, oud 23 jaren, van beroep daggelder bij de werkplaatsen van den Sumatra 

Staatsspoorwegen, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang, ten zijnen huize op den 8 

October 1911, des namiddags te tien ure, is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de Inlandsche 

vrouw Tasia, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind is gegeven de naam Johannes. Vader 

erkend het kind, vrouw stemt toe. De getuigen zijn dezelfden als hierboven. 

 

Johannes Londt died on 28 August 1918 in Padang. 
No.28 Heden den 29 October 1918 verschenen voor mij … Hugo Brouwer von Gonzenbach, oud 37 

jaar, van beroep werkbaas bij den baggerdienst te Emmahaven en Charles Gustave Broers, oud 65 jaar, 

gepensioneerd ambtenaar, beiden wonende te Padang, die mij hebben verklaard dat op den 28 October 

1918, des namiddags ten drie ure te Padang is overleden Johannes Londt, geboren te Padang, oud 7 jaar, 

zonder beroep, laatst gewoond hebbende te Padang, zoon van Albertus Josephus Paulus Londt, van 

beroep maandgelder bij de Electrische Centrale te Doerian en de Inlandsche vrouw Tasia, zonder 

beroep, beide wonende te Padang. Etc. 
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Uitzoeken & personen te plaatsen of niet te plaatsen 
Ant(h)on Londt mentioned in the Naamlijst in Padang from 1872 until 1879. 

 

Telefoongids van de buitengewesten (via Koloniale Collectie (KIT) 1 Juli 1947 Ond.Opz. W.B. Londt, 

Slingerlaan, Padang, Pd 452 

Londt J.Dj. Gadjah Mada, Padang Pd 452 (Telefoongids van de buitengewesten via Koloniale Collectie 

(KIT) 1 September 1951) 

 

Frans Londt, overleden 1885-01-19 in Soerabaja 

 

David Johannes Hendrik Streler married on 11 December 1917 in Padang Sidempoean with the native 

Christian-women calling herself Fientje Augusta Margaretha Londt 

She died on 26 of 4? July 1919 in Koeta Radja. [registrations to be checked in order to find her parents] 
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Annex I, Oudste Inwoners Padang, Register 1790 
Naamlijst en zielsbeschrijving van alle zodanige Christeninwoonderen alhier (= Padang) van 21 dec. 

1790 (NA, VOC inv. nr. 3962); extract uit eene memorie van het Padangsch Opperhoofd C.H. van Eratts 

d.d. 31 December 1790 §337 tevens afgedrukt in het Padangsch Nieuws- en Advertentieblad d.d. 26 jan. 

1861 (Delpher), which version is used hereunder: 

  mannen vrouwen soons dogters 

de wed. Bronnekam 1 2 1 3 

id. id. Gabriel   1   2 

Jacob van Zeelen 1     1 

Jan Worrel 1       

weduwe Stolting   1   1 

Willem Gam 1 1   1 

Willem Ernst Gam 1 1   1 

weduwe Mertz   1 2 1 

weduwe Nolting   1 1 2 

weduwe Snijder   1     

weduwe Hartman   1   1 

Abraham van Moschil 1   2   

Jan van Staaten 1 1   1 

Pieter Jurriaans 1 1   1 

Leendert Pieter Lond 1   4 3 

Jones Alexander 1 1   1 

Josep Nicolaas 2       

de weduwe Pottrich   1   2 

Johannes Alexander 1 1   2 

Lodewijk Adriaan 1     2 

Jan Krijgsman 1 2 2 2 

de wed. Willem Krijgsman   2   1 

id. id. Krijgsman   1 3 2 

Fredrik Vogeling 1 1   2 

Wed. Manusama   1   1 

Gerardus Manusama 1 1   1 

Wed. Boudewijnsz   1   3 

Martijn Godlieb 1 1 1 1 

Coenraad Lantreer 1 4 3 4 

wed. Oukes   1     
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Carel van Moschel 1       

François Theuvenet 1 1 5 4 

Wed. de Buijser 1 2     

Paulus Steijn 1       

Dorothea Elizabeth   1 2   

Johannes Weijsheijer 1 1 1 2 

Wed. Carels   1   2 

id. de Bruijn   1 2 1 

id. Hen   1   1 

Paulus van der Maas 1       

Jan Wijnand Eringh 1 1   1 

de wed. Jacobsen     1 3 

Frans van Dalen 1 1 4 1 

Johannes Steenbag 1 1 1 3 

David Alexander 1 1   5 

Andries Carels 1     2 

wed. Bolman   1     

Cornelis Godlied 1 1 1   

Jan Rijswijk 1 1 1 2 

Willem van Lier 1 
 

    

wed. Lesnou   1 1   

          

somma 33 44 38 69 

check 33 46[!] 38 69 

 

Wij plaatsten volgaarne bovenstaand, ons door een geachte hand toegezonden stuk, in de 

veronderstelling dat het aan velen niet onverschillig zoude zijn, die namen te kennen, (Redactie.) 

  

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


161 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part IV 

Revision November 2017 

Annex II, Londt Registrations in mid 18th Century (Superseded by 

Annex IV - DTB Padang 1737-1769) 
 

Author has selected and reshuffled the data below, which form a valuable contribution to the study of 

the Londt family. 

Source: Digby E.R. Londt; Internet http://mysite.mweb.co.za/residents/mardig/londt10.htm 

Material kindly searched and provided by: The Head, Reference Information and Services Unit, 

ARSIP National, Republic Indonesia. Jalan Ampera Raya, Cilandak Timur, Jakarta 12560. Drs. Sri 

Handayani. 

Symbols: ~=baptized; x=married (x1=1st, x2=2nd, etc.); +=death 

 

Some link to the South African Londt / Lond family lines is possible by virtue of the "East Indies" 

having been a Dutch colony from the mid 1600's to the mid 1900's and on the trade route past the Cape 

of Good Hope. 

From photocopies received, the form of the Indonesian archival records appears to be largely in 'card' 

format. Together with the limited space and therefore limited information that this affords, the system 

does not lend itself to ascertaining relationships except in a few isolated instances. 

The following are roughly sorted in order of the approximate date/s.  

 

Era Gen Details 

????  A note on one card is simply: "LOND, see LONDT" 

1668 a Hans LONT *c.1634 /Sleeswijk (Schleswig-Holstein),  

"Stalknecht" (Stable hand) Official registration of engagement (ondertroud) made Thursday 6 

December 1668 / Batavia.  

x. 27.12.1668 / Batavia / Maritje De BRUYN  

(widow of Roeloff Jansz. De Bruyn, "Constabel, O.I.Comp.")  

   

1745 a Jacob LONDT *? Occ.: Book-Keeper in service of the V.O.C.  

x1. Geertruyt ?  

x2. Adriana ARONSZ / ARENSZ 

 b1.1 Jacobus LONDT ~13.10.1737 / Padang Church, Sumatra  

(witnesses to baptism: Daniel BUURMAN, Petronella ?)  

 b2.2 Antje LONDT *17.4.1745 ~10.11.1748/Padang Church, Sumatra  

(witnesses to baptism: Hendrik VAN DER STALLEN, Johanna VAN DER STALLEN)  

 b3.2 Adriaan Daniels LONDT *19.7.1746 ~10.11.1748 / Padang Church, Sumatra  

(witnesses to baptism: Daniel BIERMAN, Pieternella POTHUYS)  

 b4.3 Jacob Willem LONDT *25.12.1747 ~10.11.1748 / Padang Church, Sumatra  

(witnesses to baptism: Willem KRIJGSMAN, Pieternella POTHUYS).  
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 b5 Maria LONDT (ZULLENDE) *? ~21.11.1753  

(Formal adoption papers by Jacob LONDT on 21.11.1753 at Makasser).  

 b6 Abraham LONDT *24.2.1766/Padang ~9.11.1766 / Padang  

(Adopted child, mother was "Sidilam of Batavia")  

(Witnesses to baptism: Jan LONDT, Petronella Pasqual, widow Fokke Jansz)  

   

1749 a Casper Pieter(sz) LOND *? of Laarwijk +1.8.1765.  

- Ships Master "Schipper" in service of the V.O.C. Died at Moorsche Gracht.  

- Was "oppertimmerman", senior carpanter on the ship "Ouwerkerk" 20.3.1749 from Siam to 

Batavia. Was made "Schipper" on 22.8.1747.  

- Applied July 1749 for the rank of Captain-Lieutenant" (trans) and was appointed 25 July 1749.  

- Was "onderstuursman" - second helmsman/navigator (?) on the ship "D'Drie Papagayen" (The 

Three Parrots) in 1756  

   

1760 a Anna Johanna LONDT  

x. Andries ?  

 b1 (Unnamed) *? ~4.7.1760 Padang, Sumatra  

 b2 Johannes François ? */~26.12.1766 Padang, Sumatra  

 b3 Jacobus ? *? ~17.10.1769/ Padang, Sumatra  

   

1762 a Elizabeth LONDT  

x. Bartholomew François TORCADE  

 b1 (Unnamed) *4.7.1760/Padang, Sumatra ~19.12.1762/Padang.  

   

1763 a Barendt LONT  

Occ.: Senior Carpenter (oppertimmerman) on the ship LAPINENTE from Amsterdam to India 

1763  

(Was registered as a "Schipper" Ships Master on 20.7.1734)  

   

1766 a Jan LONDT  

x. Maria Magdalena PIETERSZ 

 b1 ? LONDT (adopted child VELTHUYSEN) *4.7.1760 ~19.12.1762  

 

b2 Adriana Gertruyda LONDT ~19.12.1762  

(Witnesses to baptism: Bartholomew François TORCADE, Adriana ARONDSZ. Minister 

Ds.Willem Wilbers)  

 
b3 Johanna Maria LONDT *24.4.1766 ~9.11.1766 / Padang, Sumatra  

(Witnesses to baptism: Dirk HOLTING, Christina FLOUNDA (?)  
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1769 a Leendert Pieter LONDT  

x. Schie ? 

 b1 Yoris LONDT *5.11.1769 ~23.11.1769 / Padang, Sumatra  

   

1769 a Adriaan Daniel LONDT 

 b1 Adriesen LONDT ~17.10.1769 / Padang, Sumatra  

 

b2 Catharina Adriana LONDT *9.7.1768 ~5.11.1789 (by minister Ds.J.J.Meyer)(adopted 

illegitimate child of free Malay woman Sedelam)  

(Witnesses: Leendert Pieterz LONDT, Adriana ARONSZ, widow LONDT)  

   

17?? a 
Willem Cornelis LONDT  

Buried at Manado, town on the main spice island of Molluka)  

   

1804 a Christiaan LOND /van Amsterdam  

- Young Sailor promoted to "Onder-Luitenant ter Zee" on 7 June 1787.  

- In 1792 he arrived on the ship "De Arend" from the "Kamer" Amsterdam to India . - On 6 July 

1804 contract was extended as "Lieutenant of the Sea" (Cie. Luit. ter Zee") at 32 Florins per 

month for three years.  

x1(?) 9.7.1794 / Batavia / Sophia Dorothea Maria HEYNING of Batavia  

x2(?) 8.1.1805 / Soerabaja / Maria Geertruida GOLDMAN  

 
b1.1 Johan Christiaan LOND ~16.2.1800 / Soerabaja, Java.  

(Witnesses to baptism "Roelofs and wife")  

   

1824 - Salie Emiliea LOND *c.1799 / Padang, Sumatra  

x. 12.6.1824 / Sourabaya / Jacob Johannes GESCHWIND (GESWIEND) *c.1801/Sourabaya 

   

1840 a Willem Daniel LONDT *25.9.1840 +23.2.1907  

(Buried at Manado, a town on the main spice island of Molluka)  

   

1873 a Robbert Hendrik LONDT *? / Occ.: "Mynopsiener by de Umbilien Kolenvelden" (Mine 

Superintendant at the Umbilien Coal Fields) x./?  

 b1 
George Leonard LONDT SCHULTZ *14.5.1873 / Padang, Sumatra  

(NB: Not clear what the significance of the name Shultz is) 

   

???? - Maria Magdalena LONDT  

"Orphan girl. ...30 March.. Johannes Jocobus Ess....Ulak" ? 
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Annex III, The Will of Jacob Lont 
Dit zegel behoort tot het testament van den overledenen E Jacob Lont in zijn E leven opperstuurman en 

gesaghebber op de panthialing D’Overmaas. 

Op heden den 18 9ber [=November] 1751 compareerde voor mij François de Valbert, onderkoopman 

en secretaris van politie deses commandement, present de natenoemene getuijgen D’E Jacob Lnd, 

opperstuurman en gesaghebber op de panjalling De Overmaas, staande op zijn vertrek naar Poulo Bato, 

den welken verklaarde te constitueren en op de kragtigste wijze magtig te maken, gelijk hij constitueert 

en magtigh maakt bij deesen D’E= Willem Krijgsman, opperstuurman en equipagie opziender, en Pieter 

van der Stallen baas der smitsgezellen beijde alhier zoodanig bescheijden generalijk omme gedurende 

des constituant absentie alhier off elders daar het nodig zoude mogen wesen desselfs persoon te 

representeren en uijt dien hoofde alle zijne zaken en affaires met dies op= en dependentien te verrigten 

en uijt te voeren. Alle uijtstaande schulden, erffenissen en besterffenisse zoo er mogten zijn offte komen 

na dezen te vorderen, behoorlijke quitantie te ontfangen, vaste als andere goederen te mogen kopen en 

verkopen daarvan behoorlijke opdragten en transporten te passeeren alsmede te aanvaarden en onder 

zigh te slaen, alle zoodanige goederen, penningebrieven en papieren, als aan den constituant uijt eenige 

quartieren gezonden offte overgemaakt zoude mogen werden, en daarmede te doen en handelen te 

meesten nutte en profijte van den constituant. Dit alles in der minne /: is t doondelijk offte zoo niet de 

onwillige weederstrevige quade betaelders oft partije voegende perzoonen door middelen van regten tot 

betaelinge en satisfactie te constringeren. Voort alle regtszaken die den constituant heeft offte nog zoude 

mogen verkrijgen zoo pro als contra waar te nemen en in zulken gevallen zoo substantiele als 

accidenteele termijnen te observeeren en tot sententien te besolliciteeren de voordelige na haar forma en 

inhoude ter executie te stellen off doen stellen, en van de nadeelige te provoceeren, appelleeren off 

reformeren, mitsgaders des geraden vindende te mogen accordeeren, compromitteeren en transtgeeren. 

Voorts in allen gevalle te doen en handelen, gelijk den constituant zelffs present zijnde, zoude kunnen 

ofte vermogen te doen, alwaar het ook dat daartoe nader off speciaelder last, dan deze vereijst weerden 

denwelke de constituant alhier hielde voorge????. In omnibs ad lites, vel ad=negotia cum postestatie 

substituende vel assumendi in communi forma op belofte van approbatie en ratificatie onder verband als 

na regten. 

Wijders zijne geproijecteerde rijse na Plo Bato mogte komen te overlijden tot administrateurs en 

executeurs van alle zijne zoo roerende als onroerende goederen die hij meter dood zal komen te 

ontruijme en na te laten. J eligeerenen te constitueerde hierboven gem: gemagtigdens Krijgsman en van 

der Stallen, omme van een iegelijk die iets van hem constituant onder zig moghe hebben in te vorderen 

en te ontfangen de effecten tot gelden te make en na affbetaling van alle boedellasten en schulden, het 

zuijvere provenue uijt te keeren en overtegeven aan desselfs huijsvrouw Adriana Arontsz die hij 

constituant derhalven bij deze nomineerten institueert tot zijn enige universele erffgenaamen ten eijnde 

van alles het geene hij constituant met en dood zal komen te ontruijmenen naar te laeten goud, zilver 

gemunt en ongemunt actien en crediten slaven en slavine niets uijtgezondert door haar als eijgen 

verkregen goed vrij en lieber bezeten te werden onder deze conditie nogthans dat wanneer zij haar 

wederom in den huwelijkken staat mogt komen te begeeren zij als dan gehoude zal zijn aan des testateurs 

7 kinderen in name Jan, Leijsje (Leijsse), Antje, Adriaan, Jacob, Aagie (Aagje) en Leendert /: alle zoo 

wel bij dit huwelijk als bij desselfs eerste overledene vrouw Geertruij Johanna geprocreert uijt te keeren, 

der zelver ligitime portie. 

Dog anderzints het zelve zoolange onder haar te mogen houden tot der zelver mondige jaren ofte 

huwelijke staat. 

Ten welken eijnde hij constituant revoceert dood en te niets doet alle voorgaande testamente codicillen 

en uijterste wille die door hem voor dato deses mogte zijn gemaekt off gepasseert en wel speciael zekere 

generaelij en codiellaine procuratie op den 13 Decemb: 1748 voor den pl secretaris van politie Johannes 

Aalders en sekere getuijgen gepasseert niet willende dat dezelve offte eenige van dien in ’t minste effect 
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sorteeren off nagekomen maar integendeel gehouden zullen werden voor nul kragteloos en van geener 

waerde, even off dezelve nooijt gepasseert waeren secludeerende hij constituant mede bij dezen wel 

expresselijk voorde directie zijner boedel tot eerwaerde collegie van heeren weesmeesteren deser plaetse 

en curator ad lites. Mitsgaders van alle andere steden, plaetse en en jurisdictien die uijt enigen hoofde 

andersints daartoe bevoegd zoude mgen zijn behoudend der selver here en waerdigheijt bij desen. 

Doch tot executeurs van zijne tegoed hebbende maandgelden verzoekt en benoomd hij constituant zeer 

eerbiedig de Edele agtb: Heere Bewindthebberen ter kamer Enkhuijsen waarvoor hij constituant in den 

jaere 1733 als onderzeijlmaker met f 14 pro: md met het schip Rijgersbroek is uijtgevaeren dat het haar 

Edele HoogAgtb: behagen moge dezelve uijt te keeren daar hey uijt kragte deses zal behoven. 

Aldus gedaan en gepassert tot Padang op Sumatra’s W:Cust dato voorsz: ter presentie van Jan 

Boudewijnsz: en Jacobus Hendrz Paringnault beijde clercque ter secretarije als getuijgen. Was 

ge[te]kent: Jacob Lont /: lager stond / in kennuse van mij F de Valbert secretaris /: in margine/ was 

getekent J: Boudewijnsz: en J:H: Paringnault /: lager stond/ Accordeert Jan Boudewijnsz: pl: E: g: 

Clercq 
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Annex IV, DTB Padang 1737-1769 
The summary below is based on microfilm copies of the DTB Padang regarding the Londt family, kindly 

made available to me by Reinoud Vissers. They are supposed to be part of de collection of Bloys van 

Treslong Prins at CBG, The Hague, NL. I intended to verify some issues but I could not find the 

microfilm (or microfische?) at the CBG and neither did CBG personnel know their whereabouts. I used 

the DTB Padang information in the LdB collection, also available at the CBG, instead. (CBG, collection 

LdB, inv.nr.701, including Padang doopregister, 1760-1771) and DIN 2014 regarding Krijgsman. This 

additional information is denoted in italics. 

The names of the ministers, if provided, are left out. 

The abbreviation “a.v.” may stand for “aangifte van” (delaration of); I’m not sure about this. 

 

Gebeurtenis doop-

datum 

-dag 

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 13 oct. 1737 Jacobus, ouders Jacob Lond en Geertruijt, 

getuigen Daniel Buurman en Petronella 

1737-10-13 zo 

   

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 10 nov. 1748 Antje, geb. 17 april 1745, ouders Jacob Londt 

en Adriana Arons, getuigen Pieter Hendrik van der Stallen en Johanna van der Stallen 

1748-11-10 vr 

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 10 nov. 1748 Adriaan Daniels, geb. 19 juli 1746, ouders 

Jacob Londt en Adriana Arons, getuigen Daniel Bierman [sic; moet zijn Buurman] en 

Pieternella Pothuijs 

1748-11-10 vr 

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 10 nov. 1748 Jacob Willem, geb. 25 dec. 1747, ouders 

Jacob Londt en Adriana Arons, getuigen Willem Krijgsman en Pieternella Pothuijs 

1748-11-10 vr 

   

Lont, Jacob [is] getuige doop kind Molet 31-10-1751 1751-10-31 zo 

   

Gedoopt Padang den 7-11-1751 Aagje Pieternella geb. 1-7-1749 ouders Jacob Lont en 

Adriana Arons, getuigen Willem Krijgsman en Pieternella Pothuijsen 

1751-11-07 zo 

Gedoopt Padang den 7-11-1751 Leendert Pietersz geb. 10-5-1750, ouders Jacob Lont 

en Adriana Arons, getuigen Pieter van der Stallen en Pieternella Pothuijsen 

1751-11-07 zo 

Gedoopt Padang den 7-11-1751 Aagje Pieternella, geb. 1-7-1749, ouders Jacob Lont 

en Adriana Arons, getuigen Willem Crijgsman en Pieternella Pothuijsen 

1751-11-07 zo 

Gedoopt Padang den 7-11-1751 Leendert Pietersz, geb. 10-5-1750, ouders Jacob Lont 

en Adriana Arons, getuigen Pieter van der Stallen en Pieternella Pothuijsen 

1751-11-07 zo 

Lont, Jacob [is] getuige doop kind 'van der Stallen', Padang 7-11-1751 1751-11-07 zo 

Lont, Jacob [is] getuige doop kind 'de Leeuw', Padang 7-11-1751 1751-11-07 zo 

   

Gedoopt Padang 14 november 1751 Gerrit, geb. 30-7-1750, ouders Willem Krijgsman 

en vrije christenvrouw Maria, getuigen Pieter van der Stallen en Adriana Arons 

(DIN) 

1751-11-14 zo 

Gedoopt Padang 14 november 1751 Adriana, geb. 12-9-1750, ouders Willem 

Krijgsman en vrije christenvrouw Maria, getuigen Pieter van der Stallen en Adriana 

Arons (DIN) 

1751-11-14 zo 

   

Londt, Johanna [is] getuige doop kind, [geen naam genoemd] Padang 4-7-1760 1760-07-04 vr(!?) 

Gedoopt te Padang 6-7-1760 Adriana Johanna, ouders Bartholomeus François 

Forcade en Elisabeth Londt, getuigen Jan Lont en Johanna Lont (LdB) 

1760-07-06 zo 

Londt, Elisabeth x Bartholomeus François Forcade [zijn] doopget. [geen naam 

genoemd] a.v. Padang 4-7-1760 (av) 

1760-07-04 vr 

Londt, Jan x Maria Magdalena Pietersz echtelieden, hij is get. doop ald[aar][=Padang] 

4-7-1760 (a.v.) 

1760-07-04 vr 
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Londt, Jan x Maria Magdalena Pietersz echtelieden laten kind dopen [naam niet 

genoemd] a.v. 19 dec. 1762 (a.v.) 

1762-12-19 zo 

Gedoopt Padang den 19 december 1762 , Adriana Geertruijda, ouders Jan Londt en 

Maria Magdalena Pietersz, e[chte]l[ieden], getuigen Bartholomeus François de 

Forcade en Adriana Arondsz 

1762-12-19 zo 

Londt, Elisabeth x Bartholomeus François Forcade laten een [niet met name genoemd] 

kind dopen Padang 19 dec. 1762 

1762-12-19 zo 

Gedoopt Padang 19-12-1762 Cornelia Elisabeth, ouders Bartholomeus François 

Forcade en Elisabeth Londt, getuigen Jan Londt en Maria Magdalena Pieters (LdB) 

1762-12-19  

Londt, Jan x Maria Magdalena Pietersz echtelieden, doopgetuigen Padang [naam kind 

& ouders niet genoemd] 19 dec. 1762 

1762-12-19 zo 

   

Londt, Jan doopgetuige Padang doop kind Velthuijsen Padang 9-1-1763 1763-01-09 zo 

Geadopteerd te Padang Chrsitina een dochter van Anna Alexanders, door Jan Joseph 

Velthuijsen en Flora Albertina, getuigen Jan Lont en Anna Maria v.d. Parra (LdB) 

1763-01-09  

   

Gedoopt Padang den 9 nov. 1766 Johanna Maria geb. a.v. 24 april 1766, ouders Jan 

Londt en Maria Magdalena Pietersz, e[chte]l[ieden], getuigen Dirk Holting en 

Christina Florinda 

1766-11-09 zo 

Londt, Jacob – x A. Arensz, die als wed[uw]e adoptant is [van] kind Abraham 

Padang 9-11-1766 

1766-11-09 zo 

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 9 nov. 1766, Abraham, geb. 24 feb. 1766, adoptant Adriana 

Arensz, wed Jacob Londt, Moeder Sidilam van Padang, getuigen Jan Londt en 

Petronella Pasqual, wed[uw]e Fokke/Fekke? Jansz [Fokke Jans Adels ?]) 

1766-11-09 zo 

Londt, Jan [is] getuige doop kind Londt, Padang 9-11-1766 1766-11-09 zo 

Opmerking: ik denk dat hierboven, met “kind Londt” wordt bedoeld: Abraham   

   

Londt, Anna Johanna x J. Andriessen laten dopen Johannes François 26-12-1766 1766-12-26 kerst 

Gedoopt Padang 21-12-1766 Johannes François, geb 9-12-1766, ouders Johannes 

Andriessen en Anna Johanna Lindt, getuigen Barth. Fr. Forcade en Adriana Arens 

wed[uw]e v. Lindt (LdB) 

1766-12-21 zo 

Londt, Jacob x A. Arensz, als wed[uw]e a.w. get. k. Andriessen, Padang 26-12-1766 1766-12-26 kerst 

Opmerking de precieze datum (21 of 26 december) is niet duidelijk   

   

Londt, Anna Johanna x J. Andriessen [zijn getuigen bij] a.v. kind Adriana 8-10-1769 

(a.v.) 

1769-10-08 zo 

   

Londt, Anna Johanna x J. Andriessen laten dopen Jacobus Padang 17-10-1769 1769-10-17 di 

Gedoopt Padang [datum niet genoemd maar zie hierboven] Jacobus, geboren 2-4-

1769, ouders Johannes Andrieson x Anna Johanna Londt, getuigen Adrian Daniel 

Londt en Adriana Aronds (LdB) 

1769-10-17 di 

Londt, Adriaan Daniel [is] getuige doop kind Andriessen, Padang 17-10-1769 1769-10-17 di 

Londt, Anna Johanna - x J. Andriessen [zijn getuigen bij] a.v. kind Vogeling 17-10-

1769 (a.v.) 

1769-10-17 di 

Gedoopt Padang 17-10-1769 Anna Maria, geb. 12-6-1768, ouders Frederik Vogeling 

en Maria Elizabeth, getuigen Johannes Andries en Anna Johanna Londt (LdB) 

1769-10-17 di 

   

Gedoopt Padang kerk den 5 nov. 1769 Catharina Adriana, onecht, geb. 9 juli 1768, 

adoptant Adriaan Daniel Londt, moeder vrije Maleijsche vrouw Sedelam, getuigen 

Leendert Pieter Londt en Adriana Aronsz, wed. Londt 

1769-11-05 zo 

Londt, Leendert Pieter [is] getuige doop kind Londt, Padang 5-11-1769 1769-11-05 zo 

Londt, Jacob – x A. Arensz, als wed[uw]e a.v. zij get. kind Londt Padang 5-11-1769 

(a.v.) 

1769-11-05 zo 

Opmerking: hieruit blijkt weer eens dat de fiches met elkaar overeenstemmen   
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Londt, Achie [is] getuige doop kind Joris, Padang 25-11-1769 1769-11-25 za 

Londt, Leendert Pieter [is] getuige doop kind Joris 25-11-1769 1769-11-25 za 
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Annex V, Londt-Schultz 
 

Robbert was maried with Si Lina aka Oma Tja. Si Lina was born in 1835 on Nias. 

 

Robbert en Si Lina had a child: 

 

George Leonard Londt aka George Leonard Londt-Schultz was born on 14 May 1873. He died in 

1952, 79 years old. 

 

Family Tradition 
In an email string regarding the Londt family Hendrik Jan [Henk Verbaarschott] stated: 

+++ 

Maar ik herinner me ineens iets wat ik 6 jaar geleden hoorde…. George Londt Schultz was de zoon van Schultz 

maar erkend door Robert Hendrik Londt. Men dacht dat vader Schultz niet meer zou terugkeren van een verre 

reis en om het kind toch een toekomst te geven in die Nederlandse gemeenschap, waar een Europese 

achternaam zo belangrijk was, erkende Robert Hendrik het kind. 

Vader Schultz kwam toch terug en ging verhaal halen bij Londt … iets met een pistool in de hand. 

Later veranderde George Londt zijn naam in Londt Schultz. 

Dit verhaal hoorde ik van een achternicht van de zuster van George. 

Zij werd ook niet erkend door Schultz maar ze groeide wel op met die achternaam 

Vader Schultz zou een Duitser zijn en de moeder van George was een Niassche vrouw. 

+++ 

 

Ingrid Koolbergen provides the following information: 
+++ 

Ene Charles Schultz heeft een adat-huwelijk met Ringo Ati en krijgt met haar een dochter genaamd Margaretha. 

Zij werd niet aangegeven bij de burgerlijke stand, maar heeft zichzelf de naam Marie Schultz aangemeten. 

Vervolgens huwt hij (wederom volgens adatrecht) met Si Lina uit Nias en heeft met haar een zoon: Karel 

Schultz. Dit kind werd wél als zodanig aangegeven bij de burgerlijke stand. Schultz was Oostenrijkse komaf 

en werd geboren in Arlon (Belgisch Luxemburg dat ooit door Oostenrijk bezet is geweest). 

Si Lina wordt door Schultz verlaten en zo ook haar zoon Karel en zijn half-zusje Margaretha. Si Lina huwt 

vervolgens op inlandse wijze met Robert Hendrik Londt. Uit deze relatie wordt mijn overgrootvader geboren: 

George Leonard Londt. Ook deze geboorte werd aangegeven bij de burgerlijke stand (Robbert heeft naar ons 

bekend minstens 5 adat-huwelijken gesloten), De drie kinderen zijn altijd bij elkaar in de buurt gebleven en 

hebben veel samen gedeeld. George Leonard Londt stelde zich meer dan eens verantwoordelijk voor hun 

welzijn. Hij besluit uiteindelijk de achternaam samen te voegen tot Londt Schultz. 

In mijn familie was algemeen bekend dat deze naam of althans deze combinatie van namen een zogenaamde 

gekochte naam is! Mijn overgrootvader is bij zijn geboorte aangegeven als George Leonard Londt. Hij huwde 

met Terang Ati uit Utara volgens adat-recht en sloot later in 1907 met haar een burgerlijk huwelijk als George 

Leonard Londt Schultz! De naamsverandering moet hebben plaatsgevonden omstreeks 1900-1907. 

Tegelijkertijd werden de al eerder uit deze relatie geboren kinderen onder wie mijn oma aangegeven als zijnde 

Londt Schultz. 

NB De kinderen van Karel Schultz en hun nazaten dragen nog steeds de naam Schultz! En we hebben geen 

ruzie gehad of pistolen getrokken gelukkig. 

+++ 

 

Another version of Ingrid K: 
+++ 

Welkom! Mijn naam is Ingrid Therese Koolbergen en ik ben de beheerder van deze uitgebreide familiewebsite 

waar wij gezamenlijk onze stamboom maken en familiefoto's delen. De leden van deze website zijn allen 

familie-gerelateerd. Veel plezier met alle foto's en verhalen. [omission] 

Links ziet u het huis van mijn grootvader Herman August Hageman in Tandjung Enim, Sumatra, Indonesia. 

Erachter het huis van mijn overgrootvader George Leonard Londt Schultz. 

Is Schultz de stamvader, ook van Londt Schultz? 

Zowel de nazaten van George Leonard Londt Schultz als die van Margaretha Schultz hebben, soms met stukjes 
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en beetjes, van hun (groot)ouders gehoord dat zij tot een en dezelfde familie behoren. Hoewel op sommige 

punten verschillend zijn de verhalen in "grote lijn" hetzelfde en hier verwerkt tot de meest logische verklaring 

omtrent het ontstaan van de familienaam Londt Schultz en de relatie tot het geslacht Schultz. 

Ene Schultz, wellicht van Duitse komaf, had een relatie met de inlandse vrouw Ringgo Ati. Ringgo Ati kreeg 

een dochter: Margaretha. Zij werd nooit aangegeven bij de burgerlijke stand waardoor zij door het leven ging 

als “Inlandse Christenvrouw”. Zij mat zichzelf echter de achternaam Schultz aan. Schultz had ook een relatie 

met de inlandse vrouw Si Lina uit Niass. Si Lina krijgt drie zonen. Schultz vertrok echter en het verhaal deed 

de ronde dat hij naar zijn vaderland was teruggekeerd of dat hij verdronken is toen zijn schip verging. Er werd 

in ieder geval geloofd dat hij nooit meer terug zou keren. Si Lina huwde volgens adat recht met Robert Hendrik 

Londt. Echter Schultz keerde terug, waardoor een hooglopende ruzie zou zijn ontstaan tussen Londt en Schultz. 

In de familie werd deze onverkwikkelijke situatie doodgezwegen waardoor wij ons nu tot de feiten beperken 

om tot een conclusie te komen: 

1. Si Lina is de moeder van drie zonen: George Leonard, Karel en Johan; 

2. Ringgo Ati is de moeder van een dochter: Margaretha; 

3. Margaretha is altijd beschouwd als halfzus van Si Lina’s kinderen; 

4. Eerst op 16 januari 1901, dus na 28 jaren, wordt aangifte gedaan bij de burgerlijke stand van Padang van 

de geboorte en erkenning van George Leonard, zoon van Robert Hendrik Londt en de Niassche vrouw Si 

Lina; 

5. In 1905 werd aan George Leonard Londt het verzoek tot toevoeging van de geslachtsnaam Schultz 

ingewilligd. Vanaf dat moment bestaat de dubbele achternaam Londt Schultz; 

6. Margaretha heeft op 21 juli 1921, dus 52 jaar na haar geboorte, een verzoek ingediend om de geslachtsnaam 

Schultz te mogen dragen. Haar verzoek werd eveneens ingewilligd; 

7. De drie zonen van Margaretha uit haar relatie met Arzad hebben op 23 mei 1923 een verzoek ingediend om 

de geslachtsnaam Schultz te mogen aannemen en twee jaar later op 14 juli 1925 is ook dit verzoek 

ingewilligd. 

 

Gezien de vele verzoeken om de naam Schultz te mogen dragen wordt door ons thans verondersteld dat Schultz 

de vader is van alle kinderen van Si Lina en van het kind van Ringgo Ati. Daarmee zou Schultz dus stamvader 

van zowel de familie Schultz als de familie Londt Schultz zijn. 

+++ 

 

 

Methodology 
So far for the assumptions of the ‘Londt-Schultz’ descendants regarding the origination of the name 

Londt-Schultz. 

Author decided to try find some more facts about contemporary persons having the name of ‘Schultz’ 

to see if a sustainable hypothesis can be set up with help of the family tradition as described above. 

 

First step is to collect data regarding Schultz’s in Padang and surroundings. See section “Some Facts”. 

Secondly I made a search for possible Schultz candidates who could be the father of Geroge Leonard 

Londt Schultz, or rather candidates who could have had affair with Si Lina, George Leonard’s mother. 

All candidates are reviewed. See section “Candidates”. Only one candidate emerges. 

The third step is to find more regarding the one remaining candidate, Carl George Heinrich Schultz. 

See section “Carl George Heinrich Schultz”. 

Step four is the conclusion wherein I demonstrate how the family tradition ties in with my findings. 

See section “Conclusion” 

 

 

Some Facts 
1892 Februari 23, Padang Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist met de Inlandsche christenvrouw Margaretha 

Schultz. 
No.6 Heden den 23 Februari 1892 verschenen voor mij Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist, geboren te Benkoelen, 

oud 45 jaren, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Jacob Dirk Martin van 

der Vlist, overleden en Antonetta Fontignies, zonder beroep, wonende te Batavia, vroeger [van der Vlist] 

gehuwd geweest met Anna Helena van den Bergh en de Inlandsche Christenvrouw Margaretha Schultz, 

geboren te Padang, oud 23 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van de Inlandsche 
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vrouw Ringgoatie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. De getuigen zijn Johan Fredrik Christoffel Leijder, 

61 jaar en Louis Mari Hubert Johannes Barkeij, 53 jaar. 

 

1897 April 17, Padang ontbonden het huwelijk bestaan hebbende tusschen de Inlandsche vrouw Margaretha 

Schultz en Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist. (RA Naamlijst, BS 335) 

 

Margaretha was born in 1868/69 in Padang. 

 
1868 September 15 Adele Henriette Eugenie Schultze died in Padang Pandjang 

1871 November 8 Karel Louis Hendrik Schultze born in Mandheling en Ankola 

1872 March 15 Karel Louis Hendrik Schultze died in Mandheling en Ankola 

1875 March 1 Antoinette Emelia Schultze born in Mandheling en Ankola 

 

Sawah Loento 06.04.1907 George Leonard Londt, bij Gouvernements Besluit van 12 aug. 1906 genaamd 

Londt Schultz, geb. Padang 14 mei 1873, oud 31 jaar, opzichter bij de Ombilinkolenvelden; met de Niasse 

vrouw Terang Ati, geb. Padang, oud 24 jaar, dochter van Si Loezo en Si Manis. 

(RA 1908, 251) (reconstructie BS Sawah Loento P.A. Christiaans; 1997IN10; CDROM IGV) 

 

 

The Londt’s and Schultz’es who were living in Padang (area): 
 

1868 

Schultze, J.H.C. Padangsche Bovenlanden 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christoph Tapanoli 

 

1869 

Schultze, J.H.C. Padangsche Bovenlanden 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christoph Tapanoli 

1870 

Schultze, J.H.C. Tapanoli 

Schultz, P.C. Tapanoli 

 

1871 

Londt, Willem Cornelis, Padang 

Londt, William, Padang 

Londt, Robert, Padang 

Londt, Willem Daniel, Tapanoli 

Schultz, Johann Heinrich Christolph, Padang-Pandjang 

Schultze, J.H.C., Tapanoli 

Schultz, Philip Christiaan, Tapanoli 

 

1872 

Londt, Anthon, Padang 

Londt, Jan, Padang 

Londt, Robert, Padang 

Londt, William, Padang 

Londt, Willem Daniel, Tapanoli 

Schultz, Johann Heinrich Christolph, Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schultze, Johann Heinrich Christoph, Tapanoli 

Schultz, Philip Christiaan, Tapanoli 

 

1873 

Londt, Anthon, Padang 

Londt, Jan 

Londt, Robert 

Londt, William 

Londt, Willem Cornelis, Padang 

Londt, William Daniel, Tappanoli 

Schultze, Johann Heinrich Christolph, Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christoph, Tappanoli 
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Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoli 

 

1874 

Londt, Anthon 

Londt, Jan 

Londt, Robert 

Londt, Willem 

Londt, Willem Cornelis 

Londt, William Daniël, Tappanoli 

Schultze, J. H. C. H., Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christoph Tappanoli 

Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoli 

 

1875 

Londt, Willem Cornelis 

Londt, Jan 

Londt, William 

Londt, Robert 

Londt, Anthon 

Londt, Willem Daniel, Aijer Bangies & Rau 

Schultze, Johann Hendrich Christophel, Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christophel Tappanoli 

Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoli 

 

1876 

Schultze, J. H. Ch. Agam / Fort de Kock 

Schultze, Johann Hendrich Christophel, Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schultze, Johan Heinrich Christophel Tappanoli 

Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoli 

 

1877 

Schultze, J. H. C. Batipoe & X Kotta’s 

Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoli 

 

1887 

Schutz, Philip Christiaan Tapanoeli 

 

1889 

Schütz, Philip Christian Si Pirok 

 

 

Candidates 
Levenloos geboren kind van de vrouwelijke kunne van E. V. Schutz te Mandheling en Ankola 

1876 Januarij 24 (RA1877) en 4 dagen daarna: 
Overleden Emma Veronica Haarmann, echtgenoote van Th.Ch. Schutz te Sipirok op 1876 Januarij 28 

(RA 1877) 

Overleden te Boenga Bondar op den 24sten Januari jl. mijn jongste dochtertje en vier dagen later haar 

moeder Emma Veronica Haarmann, innig geliefde echtgenoote van Ph.Ch. Schütz, mij nalatende twee 

jeugdige zoontjes. (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad 12-02-1876) 

Huwelijk van Phillipp Christian Schütz met Amalia Karolina Eva Theresia Meissner te Siboga, Tapanoli 

op 23-08-1877 (RA 1878) 

 Philip Christiaan’s surname appears to be “Schütz”. Together with his marriages as from about 

1872 (considering his two sons in 1876) he is not a likely candidate for having an affair with Si 

Lina and raising George Leonard Londt (born in 1873). 
 

 

Overlijden van Johan Heinrich Christoph Schultze te Padang Pandjang op 23-11-1879 (RA 1881)334 

Overlijden van Johan Heinrich Christoph Schultze te Padang Pandjang op 27-09-1881 (RA 1883)362 

I did not find the registrations: for Padang Pandjang these are not available and in the Padang registrations 
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these are not mentioned. 

 

Heinrich Zeilinger married with Frederika Adolphina Marianna Schultze in Padang on 30 April 1898 

(RA 1900) 

No.7 heden den 30 April 1898 verschenen voor mij … Heinrich Zeilinger, geboren te Etzen (Oostenrijk), oud 

31 van beroep tocohouder, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Ferdinand Zeilinger, overleden en 

Theresia Leb, zonder beroep, wonende te Etzen (Ostenrijk) en Frederika Adolphina Marianna Schultze, 

geboren te Panjaboengan, oud 27 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige dochter van Johan 

Henrich Christoph Schultze en Adolphina Marianna Theodora Emilia Verhelst, beiden overleden. Etc. De 

getuigen zijn Giliam Ros, 50 jaar en Johann Schild(?), 33 jaar 

 

Frederika Adolphina Marianna Schultze is born in 1871 in Panjaboengan (Wikipedia: Panyabungan 

is a town in North Sumatra province of Indonesia and it is the seat (capital) of Mandailing Natal 

Regency). Her father must be identical with Schultze, Johann Heinrich Christoph mentioned in 

Tapanoli (1872) 

Johann Henrich Christoph Schultze married on 14 July 1859 in Padang with Adolphina Marianna 

Theodora Verhelst. 

No.6 heden den 14 Julij 1859 verschenen voor mij … Johan Henrich Christoph Schultze, geboren te Aijer 

Bangies, oud 25 jaren, van beroep klerk bij de comptabiliteit, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van 

Johan Henrich Christoph Schultze, van beroep gepensioneerd kapitein der infanterie, woonachtig te Padang 

Pandjang en de Inlandsche vrouw Sie Kaboen, overleden, zijnde vroeger niet gehuwd geweest en Adolphina 

Marianna Theodora Emilia Verhelst, geboren te Padang, oud 17 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

minderjarige dochter van Petrus Franciscus Verhelst en Maria Francisca van Horn, beide overleden, zijnde 

vroeger niet gehuwd geweest, welke personen etc.  

 

 Johan Heinrich Christoph Schultze appears not to be likely candidate for having an affair with Si 

Lina considering his marriage with Adolphina Marianna Theodora Verhelst in 1859 and having 

daughter with the same wife in 1871. 

 

Overlijden van Johan Christoffel Schultz te Semarang op 21-06-1883 (RA 1884) 

 

Johan Frederik Hendrik Schultz married with Theresia Hermina Thelen in Padang on 15 July 1871 (RA 

1872) 
No.7 heden den 15 Julij 1871 verschenen voor mij … Frederik Hendrik de Bruine, oud 33 jaren, van beroep 

agent van de factorij der Nederlandsche Handelmaatschappij te Padang, wonende te Padang, als daartoe 

blijkens volmagt door de fungerend notaris te Benkoelen op den 11 Julij 1871 sub nummer twee opgemaakt en 

aan deze acte gehecht, bijzonderlijk gemagtigd door Johan Frederik Henderik Schultz, geboren te Samarang, 

oud 23 jaren, van beroep controleur der derde klasse bij het binnenlandsch bestuur in de assistent residentie 

Benkoelen, wonende te Benkoelen, meerderjarige zoon van Johannes Wilhelmus Schultz en Anna Martha 

Alexandrina Esche, beiden overleden, zijnde nog nooit gehuwd geweest en Juliana Theresia Hermina Thelen, 

geboren te Padang, oud 21 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Christiaan 

Wilhelmus Hubertus Thelen, van beroep gepensioneerd majoor titulair van het Oost Indisch leger, ridder der 

militaire Willemsorde der vierde klasse, wonende te Maastricht (provincie Limburg) en de Inlandsche vrouw 

Sarina, overleden, zijnde nog nooit gehuwd geweest. Etc. de getuigen zijn Johan Harmen Rudolff Köhler, 53 

jaar, Jacobus Christiaan Albrecht, 42 jaar, Cornelis Benjamin Hendrik van Deutekom, 41 jaar en Jan van 

Wessem, 40 jaar. 

 

 Johan Frederik Hendrik Schultz is not a likely candidate for having an affair with Si Lina considering 

his marriage in 1871 with Juliana Theresia Hermina Thelen. 
 

A George Sebastiaan Schultz died in Padang on 12 April 1893 (RA 1895) 
No.40 heden den 1 Juli 1893 heb ik … ontvangen een uittreksel uit het dagregister gehouden aan boord van 

het stoomschip ‘Conrad’ aan deze acte gehecht, luidende woordelijk als volgt: Stoomvaart Maatschappij 

“Nederland” uittreksel uit het dagregister gehouden aan boord van het stoomschip “Conrad” houdende akte 

van overlijden van George Sebastiaan Schultz. Heden den 12 April 1893 aan boord van bovengenoemd 

stoomschip zich bevindende in de Middellandsche zee op 32 graden, 15 minuten Noorderbreedte en 30 graden, 
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38 minuten Oosterlengte zijn voor mij Daniel Jan Duinker, gezagvoerder van gemelden bodem, verschenen 

Christiaan Ludolph Jan Kotting, oud 32 jaren en Johannes Pavé, oud 47 jaren, welke verklaard hebben dat de 

passagier eerste klasse George Sebastiaan Schultz, laatst gedomiliceerd te Padang, eiland Sumatra op den 12 

April 1893 des voormiddags ten zeven ure is overleden op meergemelden bodem, in den ouderdom van 54 

jaren, gehuwd met Louise Mesman, zoon van Frederik Schultz en Johanna Catharina Muller, beiden overleden. 

Etc. 

 

 George Sebastiaan Schultz married on 2 January 1872 in Makassar (Celebes/Sulawesi) with Louise 

Mesman. He is not a likely candidate for having an affair with Si Lina. 

 

 

1. A George Leonard Schultz was born on 23 January 1839 in Soerakarta (in the same year and place 

on 26 April a Johannes Augustinus Schultz was born); 

2. Benoemd tot kontroleur der 3de klasse de ambtenaar ter beschikking G.L. Schultz (De Oostpost : 

letterkundig, wetenschappelĳk en commercieel nieuws- en advertentieblad 01-06-1864); 

3. Huwelijk van George Leonard Schultz met Henriette Cornelia Philippine Wichers te Soerakarta op 

10-11-1877 (RA 1879). Wrs identiek met nr.1 hierboven; 

4. George Leonard is mentioned living in Magetan, Madioen in 1884, 1886; 

5. Overlijden van George Leonard Schultz te Malang (Pasoeroean) op 10-07-1900 (RA1901). Mogelijk 

is dit de George Leonard in nr.1 hierboven 

 

 George Leonard is not a likely candidate for having an affair with Si Lina as he is not mentioned in 

Padang. 
 

 

A Friedrich Carl Schultz married with Elize Celestine des Celles in Padang on 15 June 1898 (RA 1900) 

Nr.10 heden den 15 Junij 1898 verschenen voor mij … Frederik Carel Schultz, geboren te Padang, oud 29 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Carl George Heinrich Schultz, overleden en 

de Niassche vrouw Sie Rango Atie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en Eliza Celestina des Celles, geboren 

te Padang, oud 19 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Gustaaf Adolf des 

Celles, overleden en Antoinetta Jeannette Philippine Peeters, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. De 

getuigen zijn Frederik Willem Logeman, 38 jaar en Henrij Diepenhorst, 30 jaar. [in marge wordt vermeld dat 

dit huwelijk werd ontbonden te Sawah Loento] 

 

 Carl George Heinrich Schultz is the ideal candidate for having an affair with Si Lina and/or Sie 

Ringgo Atie. According to family tradition his name was ‘Charles’; Carl is the German idiom. 

Friedrich Carel Schultz was born on 6 August 1868 in Padang. 
 

Apparently Carl George Heinrich died or disappeared(?) shortly before 19 April 1870: 

Oproeping van debiteuren en crediteuren (De locomotief : Samarangsch handels- en advertentie-blad 19-

04-1870) 

Datum van oproep Boedel van executeuren woonplaats 

30 Maart 1870 C.G.H. Schultz weeskamer Padang 

 

A next dedicated search within Delpher (‘Padang’, ‘Weeskamer’ and ‘Schultz’ between 1870 en 1874) 

confirms the situation: 

Debiteuren en Krediteuren in den boedel van wijlen de Sergeant bij het korps Sappeurs alhier, C.G.H. 

Schultz, worden operoepen om binnen den tijd van drie maanden betaling hunner schulden of aangifte 

hunner vorderingen te doen, aan de Weeskamer te Padang. Namens voornoemde kamer: de Sekretaris, 

Heeger. Padang, den 30 Maart 1870 (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad 30-03-1870) 

 

 Carl George Heinrich Schultz died shortly before 30 March 1870; 

 His son’s, Friedrich Carl’s, nickname was supposedly ‘Karel’. This assumption is supported by the 

following registration: 
Sawah Loento 06.06.1912 Ingeschreven het vonnis van de Raad van Justitie d.d. Padang 21 dec. 1911 

inzake de ontbinding van het huwelijk bestaan hebbende tussen Friedrich Carl Schultz, ook wel geschreven 
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Carl Friedrich Schultz en Elize Celestine des Celles. (RA 1913, 21) and Sawah Loento 11.01.1913 George 

Louis van Heerdt, geb. Padang 17 mei 1890, oud 22 jaar, onderopzichter bij staatsspoorwegen, zoon van 

Louis François Henri van Heerdt, opnemer van burgerlijke openbare werken te Padang, en wijlen de Niasse 

vrouw Wilhelmina; met Elize Celestine des Celles [RA: des Slles], geb. Padang 15 juni 1879, oud 33 jaar, 

gescheiden echtgenote van Carl Friedrich Schultz, dochter van Gustaaf Adolf des Celles en Antoinette 

Jeannette Philippine Peeters, beiden overleden. (P.A. Christiaans, Reconstructie BS van Sawah Loento) 

Als huwelijksgetuige treedt o.m. op Wilhelmus Fredericus Reedel, oud 33 jaar, commies bij 

staatsspoorwegen, zwager van de bruid. 

(RA 1914, 27) 

 

 Carl George Heinrich Schultz did have an relationship with Sie Ringgo Atie and might have had a 

relationship with Sie Lina; 

 George Leonard Londt was born in 1873 and hence not a natural son of Carl George Heinrich Schultz. 
 

 

Pieter Cornelis van Koesveld married with Wilhelmina Caroline Hermine Schultze in Padang on 20 

April 1901 (RA 1902) 

No.7 heden den 20 April 1901 verschenen voor mij … Pieter Cornelis van Koesveld, geboren te Schiedam, 

oud 31 jaren, van beroep eerste stuurman bij de Gouvernementele Marine, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige 

zoon van Adrianus van Koesveld, overleden en Maria Visser, zonder beroep, wonende te Schiedam en 

Wilhelmina Carolina Hermine Schulze, geboren te Padang, oud 17 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, 

minderjarige dochter van Carl Heinrich Wilhelm Schulze, beroep en woonplaats onbekend en de Maleische 

vrouw Si Brina (of Buna?), beroep en woonplaats onbekend. Etc. de getuigen zijn Adrianus van xxwegen(?), 

62 jaar en Albertus Hendrik Tuinenburg(?), 42 jaar. 

 

 Wilhelmina Carolina Hermine Schulze was born in 1884 in Padang, which makes her father Carl 

Heinrich Wilhelm Schulze a possible, but not very likely, candidate for having an affair with Si Lina. 

Certainly in the light of the above. 
 

 

Some other Schultz’es that have been found but apparently do not have a –direct- relation 

 

Overlijden van Charles Schultz te Soerabaja op 10-09-1902 (RA 1904) 

 

1. Overlijden van George Leonard Schultz te Haito, Formosa op 10-01-1943, 32 jaar oud; hij is geboren 

te Rotterdam [1910/11]. Aangifte te Batavia in 1946 (aktenr.6935, filmnummer 1603 553. Via Roosje 

Roos). Hij is de zoon van: 

2. Huwelijk te Rotterdam op 16-07-1908 van George Leonard Schultz, geb. Soerakarta, 23 jaar 

[geboren 1885], zoon van Carl Andries Schultz en Licette Julie Lidia Luther met Marie Somer, geb. 

Anjer-Kidoel bij Tjilegon, 17 jaar, dochter van Cornelis Johannes Albertus Somer en Marie 

Burgmans (Rotterdam 1908 k42v); 

3. Geboren George Leonard Schultz, zoon van George Leonard Schultz en Marie Somer, te Rotterdam 

op 22-02-1909 (akte nr. 1966, Rotterdam 1909 d048v); identiek met nr.1 hierboven; 

4. Overleden te Rotterdam op 15-10-1922 George Leonard Schultz, leeftijd 37 jaar, zoon van Carl 

Andries Schultz en Licette Julie Lidia Luther. Hij was gescheiden van Marie Somer. (akte nr. 4558) 

hij was geboren te Soerakarta [in 1885] (Rotterdam 1922 fo.42); 

5. He is identical to: George Leonard Schultz is born in Soerakarta on 28 May 1885 (RA 1886). 

 

Carl George Heinrich Schultz 
With a quick search on FamiliySearch I found the parents of Carl George Heinrich Schultz; the 

christening date matches perfectly with Carl Georg Heinrich’s age mentioned in two registrations. 

 

I Carl Georg Schultz, living in Grebbin, Mecklenburg Schwerin, Germany (1824-1836) 

He is probably identical to the Carl Georg Schulz who was buried on 9 September 1837 in Grebbin. 
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He (mentioned as George) married on 28 September 1821 in Brenz, Mecklenburg-Schwerin with 

Wilhelmine Elisabeth Jordan aka Elisabeth Wilhelmina. 

 

1 Wilhelmine Dorothea Catharina Schulz was christened on 26 May 1824 in Grebbin 

2 Carl Georg Heinrich Schulz was christened on 5 February 1826 in Grebbin; see II 

3 Johann Christian Friederich Schulz was christened on 29 November 1828 in Grebbin 

4 Johanna Maria Elisabeth Schulz was christened on 13 May 1830 in Grebbin 

5 Georg Ludwig Theodor Schulz was christened on 17 July 1831 in Grebbin. He died before 14 

December 1832 (FamilySearch actually mentions that he was buried on 14 December 1832) 

6 Georg Ludwig Theodor Schulz was christened on 14 December 1832 in Grebbin 

7 Sophia Maria Elisabeth Schulz was christened on 18 January 1836 in Grebbin 

 

II Carl George Heinrich Schultz aka Charles Schulz was christened on 5 February 1826 in Grebbin, 

He was sergeant with the corps sappeurs of the Dutch East Indies army, stationed in Padang (1870). He 

died shorly before 30 March 1870. More details may be found in the (Dutch) Nationaal Archief, 

toegangsnummer 2.13.09, wapen der genie, stamboeken. 

 

Carl George Heinrich had a relationship with Sie Rango Atie. From this relationship: 

 

1 Johan Christian Schultz was born on 16 October 1865 in Padang 

No.18 heden den 31 Maart 1866 verscheen voor mij … Carl Georg Heinrich Schultz, oud 40 jaren, van 

beroep sergeant bij het korps sappeurs in garnizoen te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op 

den 16 October 1865 des namiddags ten twee ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de 

Niassche vrouw Sie Rango atie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornamen van Johan Christian, hebbende gemelde Carl Georg Heinrich Schultz verklaard dat kind 

voor het zijne te erkennen, de verplichting op zich te nemen om dit kind te verzorgen en in christelijke 

godsdienst op te voeden. 

Verscheen tevens voor mij … de Niassche vrouw Sie Rango atie, oud naar aanzien 20 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, dewelke naar aanleiding ..etc… verklaart er in toe te stemmen dat haar in 

deze acte genoemd kind door Carl Georg Heinrich Schultz wordt verzorgd en in de christelijke 

godsdienst opgevoed. De getuigen zijn Frederik Stegman(?), 37 jaar en Heinrich Andreas Peter 

G(?)iersmann, 44 jaar. Etc. Sie Rango atie verklaart niet te kunnen tekenen. 

 

2 Friedrich Carl Schultz was born on 6 August 1868 in Padang (See III) 

No.13 heden den 3 April 1869 verscheen voor mij … Carel George Hendrik Schultz, oud 43 jaren, van 

beroep sergeant bij het korps sappeurs in garnizoen te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang op 

den 6 Augustus 1868 des avonds ten acht ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit de 

Niassche vrouw Sie Rango Atie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornamen van Friedrich Carel, hebbende gemelde Carel George Hendrik Schultz verklaard dat kind 

voor het zijne te erkennen. … Sie Rango atie stemt toe. De getuigen zijn Hendricus Jacobus Haij, 28 

jaar en Frans Anton xxaun, 42 jaar.[in margine wordt vermeld dat de naam van de vader Carl George 

Heinrich is] 

 

3 Margaretha Schultz was born in 1869 in Padang. She was not formally erkend by her father. 

Presumably because he died before she was born. 

She died on an unknown date in an unknown place. 

Margaretha Schultz married on 23 February 1892 in Padang with Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist. 
No.6 Heden den 23 Februari 1892 verschenen voor mij … Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist, geboren te 

Benkoelen, oud 45 jaren, gepensioneerd ambtenaar, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Jacob 

Dirk Martin van der Vlist, overleden en Antonetta Fontignies, zonder beroep, wonende te Batavia, 

vroeger [van der Vlist] gehuwd geweest met Anna Helena van den Bergh en de Inlandsche 

Christenvrouw Margaretha Schultz, geboren te Padang, oud 23 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te 

Padang, meerderjarige dochter van de Inlandsche vrouw Ringgoatie, zonder beroep, wonende te 
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Padang. Etc. De getuigen zijn Johan Fredrik Christoffel Leijder, 61 jaar en Louis Mari Hubert Johannes 

Barkeij, 53 jaar. 

 

1897 April 17, Padang ontbonden het huwelijk bestaan hebbende tusschen de Inlandsche vrouw 

Margaretha Schultz en Theodoor Jacob van der Vlist. (RA Naamlijst, BS 335) 

 

 

III Friedrich Carl Schultz aka Carl Friedrich Schultz was born on 6 August 1868 in Padang, son of 

Carl George Heinrich Schultz and Sie Rango Atie. 

He died on xxx in xxx 

He married on 15 June 1898 with Elize Celestine des Celles te Padang op 15-06-1898 (RA 1900) 

Nr.10 heden den 15 Junij 1898 verschenen voor mij … Frederik Carel Schultz, geboren te Padang, oud 29 

jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, meerderjarige zoon van Carl George Heinrich Schultz, overleden en 

de Niassche vrouw Sie Rango Atie, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang en Eliza Celestina des Celles, geboren 

te Padang, oud 19 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, minderjarige dochter van Gustaaf Adolf des 

Celles, overleden en Antoinetta Jeannette Philippine Peeters, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang. Etc. De 

getuigen zijn Frederik Willem Logeman, 38 jaar en Henrij Diepenhorst, 30 jaar. [in marge wordt vermeld dat 

dit huwelijk werd ontbonden te Sawah Loento] 

idem on 6 June 1912 in Sawah Loento: ontbonden het huwelijk bestaan hebbende tusschen Calestine des Celles 

en Friedrich Carl Schultz ook wel geschreven Carl Friedrich Schultz (RA 1913, nieuw adresboek, p21) 

 

He might have moved shortly before he married: 

Vendutie op Donderdag 26 Mei 1898 bij den heer C.F. Schultz, Pondok, van een goed onderhouden inboedel. 

Waaronder stoelen, tafels, kasten, ijzeren ledikanten, goed brandende lampen, rottan ameublement, een partij 

romans. Mess & Holtzapffel (Sumatra-courant : nieuws- en advertentieblad 12-05-1898) 

 

He is mentioned as follows: 

C.F. Schultz (1900) 

Schultz, C.F. zonder beroep, Padang (1901) 

Schultz, C.F. z.b., Padang (E.C. des Celles) (1903-1915), kapelmeester, Djokja (1920-1930 [laatste 

vermelding]),  

These registrations always include E.C. des Celles although they divorced in 1912. E.C. des Celles is in 

the same registration mentioned as wife of de Heerdt. 

 

Their children: 

 

1 Poppy Schultz was born on 10 March 1901 in Padang 

No.12 Heden den 11 Maart 1901 verscheen voor mij … Friedrich Carel Schultz, oud 31 jaren, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft verklaard dat te Padang, ten zijnen huize, op den 10 Maart 

1901, des voormiddags ten vijf ure is geboren een kind van de vrouwelijke kunne uit Elize Celestine 

des Celles, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, zijne echtgenoote, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de 

voornaam Poppy. De getuigen zijn Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, 29 jaar en Willem Arnold Ros, 

28 jaar. 

 

2 Friedrich Schultz was born on 17 February 1903 in Padang 

No.10 Heden den 17 Februari 1903 verscheen voor mij … Antoinette Jeanette Philippine Peeters, 

weduwe van Gustaaf Adolf des Celles, oud 46 jaren, zonder beroep, wonende te Padang, die mij heeft 

verklaard dat te Padang ten huize van haar aangeefster, op den 17 Februari 1903, des voormiddags ten 

drie en een half ure is geboren een kind van de mannelijke kunne uit Elize Celestine des Celles, zonder 

beroep, wonende te Sawah Loento, echtgenoote van Friedrich Carel Schultz, van beroep 

muziekonderwijzer, wonende te Sawah Loento, aan welk kind zijn gegeven de voornaam Friedrich. De 

getuigen zijn Jules Constantijn Richardson Davies, 31 jaar en Rudolph August Mathias Meijer, 31 jaar. 
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Conclusion 
Now that we found the mysterious Charles Schultz (II), we are left without explanation who raised 

Johan, Karel, Margaretha (II-1, 2 and 3) and George Leonard. 

Johan, Karel and Margaretha lost their father and probably their mother as well when they were quite 

young, considering the call of the weeskamer in 1870 for debtors and creditors. 

 

In an attempt to find the birth registration of Margaretha Schultz I came across the following registration: 

No.32 heden den 17 October 1870 heb ik … ontvangen eene uitspraak van den raad van Justitie te Padang, aan 

deze acte gehecht, luidende van word tot word als volgt: In Naam des Konings! De raad van Justitie te Padang 

heeft het navolgend vonnis gewezen op het request dees luidende: Aan den Raad van Justitie te Padang. Bijlage 

twee No.50 geeft eerbiedig de kennen de weeskamer te Padang, in hare hoedanigheid van toeziende voogdess 

over de minderjarige kinderen van wijlen C.G.H. Schultz, in leven sergeant van het korps sappeurs alhier, dat 

[…] in de geboorteacte van Friedrich Carel Schultz de naam van de vader abusievelijk werd vermeld als Carl 

Georg Hendrik; dit moet zijn Carl Georg Heinrich. Etc.etc.etc. 

Which confirms that the Schultz children were accommodated in the orphanage of Padang. 

 

It my understanding that they were raised by Si Lina but the relationship between Ringgo Atie (or Carl 

George Heinrich Schultz) and Si Lina remains unclear. But Si Lina might be the adoptive mother of the 

three Schultz’ children. 

The person who tried to arrange the birth registration and acknowledgement of George Leonard in 1900, 

which was refused by the public officer based on the small difference in age, is probably Karel Schultz, 

5 years older than George Leonard. 

If there really was a dispute between Robbert Hendrik Londt and a ‘Schultz’ as the family tradition goes, 

the dispute was probably between Carl Friedrich Schultz and Robbert Hendrik when Carl Friedrich tried 

to persuade Robbert Hendrik to acknowledge George Leonard after his [Carl Friedrich] attempt failed. 

A good reason for George Leonard Londt to request for the addition of ‘Schultz’ to his name, is that he 

was raised amidst his ‘brothers’ and ‘sister’ named ‘Schultz’. George Leonard was neglected by his 

father Robbert Hendrik from shortly after his birth until he was 27 years old… 

 

In this Londt-Schultz context it would be interesting to find the registration of the marriage of Lina 

Schulze with James Robert Lamballais Tessensohn on 2 May 1905 in Padang Pandjang and of Lina 

Schultze (aka Lena Schulze) with Jozef Wuarngain on 13 June 1899 in XX Kota. Lena Schulze is 

mentioned as nurse in Padang on 8 November 1821 when her daughter, 23 years old, marries in Sawah 

Loento (P.A. Christiaans, Een reconstructie van de burgerlijke stand van Sawah Loento, de Indische 

Navorscher, 1997 nr.4) 
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Annex VI, Ancestors of Adriana Arons (~1723-1786) 
In Section “Descendants of Jacob Londt (1716 – 1752), Londt - Generation I” I demonstrated that 

Adriana Arons is probably the daughter of Aron van Macasser who travelled as soldier by VOC ship in 

1712 from Amsterdam to Batavia. He was thereupon relocated to the garrison in Padang where he stayed 

from 1713 until 1736. As from 1732 he was dismissed from the garrison. 

In a quick search on Familysearch/Family Tree I found the name “van Macasser” popping up in Cape 

Town, SA. Also a name Moses Arons van Macasser in the early 1700’s was mentioned, which triggered 

my attention even more. 

Cape Town was the standard port of call for the VOC vessels sailing to and from the Far East. Hence 

‘our’ Aron can well have travelled from Cape Town to Amsterdam. Maybe on the same vessel, 

Kosrssloot, as on which he travelled from Amsterdam to Batavia in 1712: 

16/01/1711 Batavia  Texel 03/08/1711 kamer Enkhuizen 

via: Kaap de Goede Hoop van 28/03/1711 tot 15/04/1711 

19/01/1712 Texel Batavia 28/07/1712 kamer Enkhuizen (vocsite.nl) 

 

Before I continue I like to make some remarks: 

- Cape Town church registers (copies of the original) are available on the Familysearch site. I used: 

o Cape Town/Baptisms 1695-1712, incl. marriages 84 images; 

o Cape Town/ Baptisms 1713-1741, 109 images; 

- Even more transcriptions of Cape Town church registers are available on www.eggsa.org/. E.g.: 

o Cape Muster Rolls transcribed by Richard Ball and Corney Keller, posted in Cape Archives VC 

Lists, eGGSA library, South African Records Transcribed; 

- http://www.stamouers.com/ is a very useful site; 

- Robertson, Delia. The First Fifty Years Project. http://www.e-family.co.za/ffy/ provides lots of 

information; 

- And a special thanks to Henry April, Western Cape Archives and Records Service, Department of 

Cultural Affairs and Sport, Western Cape Government who helped me greatly with obtaing a copy 

of the original will of Mozes van Macasser and Jacomina van Madagascar in 1721. 

 

“van Macasser” is not a real surname and does not necessarily indicate family relations. It stands for the 

area from where persons came from. Same for “van Bengalen”, “van Madagascar” etc. I believe that 

many of them started as a slave and acquired a “free” status [vrijburger] after some years. I’m certainly 

not an expert in this field though. 

 

 

Moses Arons van Macasser 

Moses Aarons van Macasser is probably born between approximately 1652 and 1662 in presumably 

Sulawesi. 

Moses Arensz Van Macassar had a relationship with (1) Sara van Macassar. They are both mentioned 

as witnesses beteen 1706 and 1709. (LDS microfilm, South Africa, Cape Town, img.29 and 51/84) 

Sara died between 9 June 1709 and 2 November 1710. 

Their children: 

1 Rebecca Moses van de Caap. She was married with Otto Ernst van Graan; 

2? Aron van Macasser 

 

1700-00-00 Mosis van Macassar mentioned as “vrijburger” in 't Caabse district, Generaale opneeminge der 

vrije luijden gedoente en effecten van Cabo de Goede Hoop. Anno 1700 voor Amsterdam. (Cape Muster Roll 

1700, pag.206); 

1700-10-17 na voorgaande belijdenis gedoopt Moses-Aaron en Rebecca (img.46/84) (Dopen slaven kinderen 

der vrijborgers of comp dienaren); 

Dit document is afkomstig van www.hogenda.nl                                                                      Klik hier voor het totale register van Genealogieën.

http://www.hogenda.nl
http://www.hogenda.nl/hogenda-genealogieen


180 

The Families Alexander, Aronds and Londt - Part IV 

Revision November 2017 

When Rebecca, his daughter, is christened in 1700, 18 years old? => i.e. born around 1682. If Rebecca is his 

eldest child, Moses was probably born between 1652 and 1662; 

“van Macasser” probably hints more at the port of departure rather than his birthplace; 

1710-11-02 Moses van Macassar [trouwt] met Jacomijntje van Madagascar (img.63/84); 

1721-05-21 Moses van Macassar and his 2nd wife Jacomijna van Madagascar made a mutual will. His daughter 

of his first marriage (voordochter) Rebecca (married with Otto van Graan) is his sole heir. (Cape Archives,CJ 

2651, ref.nr.124, database: Cape Town Archives Repository) 

 

It is obviously tempting to assume that Aron van Macasser is a son Mozes Arons van Macasser, but I 

could not prove this relationship at all. 

The assumption is mainly based on the name and and timeline (i.e. Aron born ~1682, hence 30 years 

old when he engages the VOC.  
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Annex VII, Ancestors of Jacob Londt (1716-1752) 
In the Grootboek of ‘Reijgersbroek’ Jacob Lont is mentioned as from Amsterdam. The vessel sailed out 

to Batavia in 1732 with 252 persons on board. 

 

Online research in the DTB archives (Baptism, Marriage and Burial) in Stadsarchief Amsterdam is 

possible and greatly facilitated by an index including links to the original registrations that provide often 

useful details. 

The name Lont/Lond/Londt turns up in many occasions in Amsterdam; often originating from 

Scandinavia in the mid-18th century. 

An earlier attempt to find Jacob Lont’s baptism did not return results. But it appeared that surnames in 

general are not used consistently. For baptisms in particular the surname is often omitted, referring to 

patronym only. 

This was a good reason to give it another try. For this purpose I collected all ‘Lont’ DTB data and 

reconstructed individual families. In some instances the VOC voyager index provided extra information. 

 

Please find here below the result of my investigations. The first step is my notes regarding various Lont’s 

in Amsterdam. Many -in fact all but one- families can be excluded as a result of this first step. Please 

refer to the table in the section ‘Summary’. The next step is to demonstrate that the Jacob Lont from this 

investigation is identical to ‘our’ Jacob Lont who sailed to the Far East. Please refer to section 

‘Conclusion’ below. 

At this point I re-constructed the male line of Jacob Lont’s ancestors as captured in section ‘Male Line 

for Jacob Lont (1716-1753)’. 
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Summary 
Couple 

(marriage,T / burial, B) 

Children 

(baptism, D) 

Streetname Origin of 

‘Lont’ 

Jan Sijmonsz Lont 

(T 1693) 

Varentman [sailor] 

(1693) 

(1) Annetje Arents de 

Zeeuw (B 1705) 
Aeltje (1693) 

Binnen 

Wieringerstraat / 

Brouwersgracht 

(1693) 

Vinkenstraat voorbij 

de 1ste Dwarsstraat 

(1705) 

Amsterdam 

  Neeltje (1696)   

  Sijmen (1698)   

Jan Simonse Lont 

(T 1705) 

Schuitvoerder [skipper] 

(1705) 

(2) Trijntje Jans (B 

1710) 
 

Vinkenstraat voorbij 

de 1ste Dwarsstraat 

(1710) 

 

Jan Sijmense 

(T 1711) (B 1728) 

Schuitvoerder (1711) 

(3) Annetje Elekers 

de Haan (B 1727) 
Jacob (1716) 

Vinkenstraat (1711) 

Haarlemmerdijk 

tussen de Korte 

Prinsengracht en 

Brouwersstraat (1727, 

1728) 

 

     

Jan Dircks Lont 

(T 1694) 

Schoenlapper [shoe 

repairman] (1694) 

Geesje Jans 

Wildemans 

Benjamin 

(1694) 

Korte Keizerstraat 

(1694) 
Amsterdam 

  
Hendrikje 

(1697) 
  

  Claara (1700)   

     

Jan Lint 

(T 1699) 

Soldaat (1699) 

Giertje Roelofs ?Jacoba (1709) 
Op de Waal / 

Ridderstraat 

Arbowa 

(Arbois, 

France) 

     

Marten Martense Lont 

(T ~1700) 
Lijntje Lourense 

Maarten 

(~1701) 
  

  Lourens (1706)   

     

Cornelis Abrahamse 

Lont 

(T 1703) 

(1) Immetje Cornelis 

Ebbe (B 1706) 
Abraham (1703) 

Prinsengracht / Itterse 

[Utrechtse]dwarsstraat 

(1703) 

Kalverstraat (1706) 

Wijk bij 

Duurstede 

  Abram (1706)   

Cornelis Lont 

(T 1706) (B 1719) 

Schippersknecht 

[skipper’s assistant] 

(1706) 

(2) Jannetje Blom 

(B 1733) 
 

Watersteeg bij de 

Kalverstraat (1706, 

1719, 1733) 

 

     

Jan Govertse Lont 

(T 1705) 

Varentman (1705) 

Geertruij Jans 

Olderson (B 1752) 
Aaltje (1706) 

[Nieuwezijds] 

Armsteeg / 

Nieuwezijds 

Voorburgwal (1705) 

Gotenburg 

 

Geertruij Olderson x 

Gerrit Wessels 

Haakhuijsen (T 1714) 

 
Nieuwezijds 

Voorburgwal (1714) 
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Cornelis Heeres Lont 

(T ~1706) (B 1736) 

Trijntje Jans van der 

Put 

(B 1749) 

IJtje (~1707) 

Binnen Brouwerstraat 

(1736) 

Vinkenstraat bij de 

Korte Prinsengracht 

(1749) 

Probably 

Friesland, 

NL 

  Aefje (1709)   

  Heere (1711)   

  Antje (1713)   

  Jan (1715)   

  Schelte (1718)   

  Schelte (1719)   

  Aafje (1723)   

     

 

 

Conclusion 

The first conclusion from the above summary is that only one ‘Jacob’ was baptised, on 24 June 1716. 

His parents are Jan Sijmonse [Lont] and Antje Elekes [de Haan]. 

 

His father is mentioned in 1703 as sailor and from 1705 until 1711 as skipper. 

Jacob entered into service of the VOC for the Kamer Enkhuizen on 15 May 1732 in the function of 

sailmaker’s assistant on the vessel ‘Reigersbroek’; he was then 16 years old. 

His half-brother Sijmen entered into service of the VOC for the Kamer Amsterdam on 6 December 1728 

in the function of bosschieter on the vessel ‘Mijnden’; he was then 30 years old. 

 

The children of Jacob Londt, all born in Padang, are: 

1. Jacobus 

2. Jan 

3. Elisabeth 

4. Antje 

5. Adriaan Daniel 

6. Jacob Willem 

7. Aagje Pieternella 

8. Leendert Pieters 

 

Jan and Antje are named after their grandparents from father’s side. This does not prove that our 

assumption is correct, but it does provide support. 

Support is also provided by the trade that Jacob practiced, which is similar to his father’s and half-

brother’s. 

 

Following this assumption, we can re-construct Jacob’s early life as follows: 

 

At the age of 11 years his mother, Annetje de Haan and father, Jan Sijmensz Lont died shortly after each 

other (the exact dates are provided in the section ‘Male Line for Jacob Lont (1716-1753)’. His 17 years 

older half-brother Sijmen Jansz Lont, who was not married, departed 7 months later, on 6 December 

1628 for the Far East, employed by the VOC. 

Jacob entered into service of the VOC 3,5 years later, on 15 May 1732; he was then nearly 16 years old. 

 

Was he accommodated within the Weeshuis in Amsterdam or by his family? 
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In the archives of the Weeshuis Amsterdam, at least the part that is available online, I could find any 

information regarding Jacob Lont. I’m not familiar with the archives of Amsterdam, so maybe there are 

registrations of curatorship’s that I’m not aware of. 

I could not find direct family who would be available to take of Jacob after his parents death. 

 

 

Male Line for Jacob Lont (1716-1753) 

All entries are from Amsterdam via Stadsarchief Amsterdam, Indexes, unless specified differently. 

 

I - Sijmen Janse (~1628-1681) 

Sijmon Jansz was born in 1627/1628 in Bremen, Germany. 

He was buried on 14 January 1681 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof Simon Janse [wonende] inde Korte 

Tuijnstraet bijde Ratelwach Cortegaerde / baer 14 roef. 

 

Registrations of the marriage (1) and baptisms of children, if any, of Sijmen Janse and Geesje Sluiters 

were not found. 

 

Marriage (2) on op 17 April 1660 in Amsterdam [all striked out], modderman [baggeraar?], weduwnaar van 

Geesje Sluijters, woont ind’ Egelantierstraet en Anna Martens van Hoesr?, weduwe van Pieter de Monpel, 

woond op St Jacobspadt 

Marriage (2) on 24 april 1660 in Amsterdam of Simon Janse van Bremen, modderman, wed. van Geesje 

Sluijters wonende inde Pottebackersganck [wrs bij de Goudsbloemstraat] en Annetje Martens van Holstain, 

wed. laest van Thomas Thomassz, woont op St Jacobspadt. <in margine: Mans doot is ingebracht hij heeft den 

14 may 1660 de mescanen(?) voldaen ende gaet ‘t 3de gebot voort den 16 may 1660> 

Marriage (2) on 27 augustus 1661 in Amsterdam “Simon Janse van Bremen, varentgesel, wed. van 

Geessie Sluiters, [wonende] inde Egelantierstraet ende Annetie Martens van Hoesen, wed. van Thomas 

Thomasse, [wonende] op Oude Francepadt”. 

Marriage (2) on 18 September 1661 in the Nieuwe Kerk of Sijmen Jansen en Annetje Martens (LDS 

film#005858339, img.72/752) 

The reason why the earlier attempts for marrying failed remains unclear to me. 

No children were found. 

 

Marriage (3) on 12 juli 1664 in Amsterdam of “Sijmen Janse van Bremen, modderman, wed. van 

Annetie Martens, woont op d’ Lindegracht en Rijcke Heijckes van Embden oud 19 jare, geast met haer 

moeder Maedes(?) Hendricx, woont op d’ Goutblomgracht”. 

Children: 

1. Henderick baptised on 13 December 1665 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Sijmen Jansen and Rijcktie 

Hijkes. Witnesses Rachgel Kornelis and Derck Heijkes; 

Buried on 17 December 1665 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof “armkint [baby] van Sijmon Jans, 

[wonende] op’t Ouwe Fransepat”. 

2. Jan baptised on 16 February 1670 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Sijmen Jansen and Rijekije 

Heijkes. Witness Ragel Cornelis. See II; 

3. Hendrick baptised on 15 May 1671 in the Westerkerk. Parents Sijmon Jansz and Reijckie 

Heijkens. Witnesses Ragheltie Cornelisse en Grietie Frerickx. 

 

The apparent gap in the baptism between 1666 en 1670 is explained by the imprisonement of Sijmon 

Jansen in this period. See below: 

 

Confessie d.d. 20 november 1665: Sijme Janse van Bremen, oudt 38 jaren, tapper, wordt beschuldigt ½ vat 

boven sijn peijl gevonden te sijn. Act. et prae[??]n ut s[upra]. <in margine: onder handtasting [handdruk] 
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ontslagen. Nader ontboden sijnde is hij van den gr(?) officiers eijsch geabsolveert den 26 9ber 1665 [9 

november 1665] > (Stadsarchief Amsterdam, via index Confessieboeken, evenals de navolgende) 

 

Confessie d.d. 8 juli 1666: Simon Jansen, modderman, out 38 jaaren, van Breemen, bekent voorleden sondach 

smorgens ten half vijven op stradt voor sijn deurs(?) gestaen te hebben - ontkent de dienders vande 

impostmeesters daer voorbij passeerende, aengerant te hebben. Maer wel haer tot aende brugh gevolcht, sijt 

geen straats steenen uijt de straet los gemaakt te hebben, en daermeede gegoijt naer de voorn dienaers. Hoewelt 

alle bij beëdichde verclaringe blijkt en daerenboven ’t hem Andries, Gerrit Bruijninck kof(?) ende Gerrit 

Fransen impost[ere]n(?) hen in facie aenseggen 

 

Confessie 19 augustus 1666: Simon Jans, modderman, de novo. actum et ende(?) vss(?). <in margine: vss(?) 

et omnia> 

 

Confessie d.d. 11 april 1668,: Sijmen Janse van Bremen, modderman hier nochmael gevangen ende opd’ 4 julij 

1666 gevangen ende binnens camers gegeesselt ende twee jare gebannen ende nu over infractie [overtreding] 

van bamissement gevangen <in margine: Bamissement den jaer geprolongeert op ende ene een meerder straffe 

cdm(??)>  

 

Burial on 5 March 1675 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof of Rijckie Heijkes inde Nieuwe Tichelstrat overde 

Groote Ka[r]tuijsers inde Vogelesangh, 1 on?ledoot van 14 en rof 

 

Marriage (4) on 21 December 1675 of “Sijmen Jacobsznsen van Bremen, tapper, wed. van Rijckie 

Hijkes, [wonende] op de hoeck van Tuijnstraat en Marritie Robbers van Amsterdam, out 34 iaren, 

[wonende] inde Goutsblomstraet, ouders doot, geast met Grietie Jans haer bekende”. 

 

Burial on 14 January 1681 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof of “Simon Janse [wonende] inde Korte Tuijnstraet 

bijde Ratelwach Cortegaerde / baer 14 roef”. 

 

Burial on 21 December 1710 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof of “Marritije Robbers [wonende] inde 

Vinkestradt voorbij de 1 Dwarstradt. 1 baar 14R”. [zie Jan Sijmensz, haar stiefzoon. Hij woont op 24 

mei 1705 inde Vinkestradt voorbij de Eerste Dwarstradt bij overlijden van zijn huisvrouw Annetje Arens 

de Zeeuw] 

On 19 december 1710 Anna Christina Hane(?) voor Marritje Robbers (LDS microfilm, Alle Gezindten, 

Amsterdam, Ontvangen, Begraven 1710-1712, img.150/526, onvermogenden) 

 

 

II - Jan Sijmonsz Lonck / Lont (1670-1728) 

Jan Sijmonz was baptised on 16 February 1670 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Sijmen Jansen and Rijekije 

Heijkes. Witness Ragel Cornelis. 

 

Marriage (1) on 6 February 1693 in Amsterdam of “Jan Sijmonsz Lonck van Amsterdam, varentman, 

oud 22 jaren, [wonende] in de Binnen Wieringer straet, ouders doot, geassist met voogt Jan Lammertsz 

Papelaer met Annetje Arents de Seeuw van Amsterdam, oud 29 jaren, [wonende] op de Brouwersgracht, 

ouders doot, geasst met Aelte Maijers haer behoutsuster [schoonzuster]. <in margine: also de 

bruijdegom minderjarig zijnde van A[msterdam] geboortig en geen ouders nog voogden hebben de 

voorburger Meetteren gecompareert is hebben haer E:g:A: d’intekening toegestaen en is sulx door de 

bode Joost tot Pelkwijk aende gecommitt: geraporteert>” 

Children: 

1. Aeltje baptised on 18 October 1693 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Jan Siemons and Annetje Aris. 

Witnesses Willem Janss and Trijntje Jans; 

2. Neeltje baptised on 26 August 1696 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Jan Simonsz and Annetje Arents. 

Witnesses Willem Janss en Trijntje Jans; 
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3. Sijmen baptised on 1 October 1698 in the Noorderkerk. Parents Jan Sijmensz and Annetje Arents. 

Witnesses Willem Janss en Trijntje Jans. 

Sijmen Lont from Amsterdam entered into service of the VOC on 6 December 1728 as fusilier 

[bosschieter] on the vessel Mijnden. He died on 2 June 1729 on that ship. 

 

Burial on 24 May 1705 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof Annetje Arens de Zeeuw [wonende] inde Vinkestradt 

voorbij de Eerste Dwarstradt. 1 baar 14 R 

 

Marriage (2) on 23 October 1705 in Amsterdam of “Jan Simonse Londt van Amsterdam, 

schuijtevoerder, weduwnaar van Annetje Arens de Seeuw, [wonende] in de Vinkestraat en Treijntje Jans 

van Amsterdam, weduwe van Willem Janse van ’t Kruijs woont als vooren”. 

No children were found. 

 

Trijntje Jans may be identical to: Burial on 22 October 1710 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof of Trijntje Jans 

[wonende] in de Vinkestrad verbij de eerste Dwarstrad. 1 baar 14R. 

 

Marriage (3) on 25 September 1711 in Amsterdam of “Jan Sijmense van Amsterdam, schuijtevoerder, 

weduwnaar Trijntje Jans, [wonende] inde Vinkestraat en Annetje Elekers van Amsterdam, oud 37 jaren, 

woont als voorn, ouders doot, geasst met Eva Franse”. 

Annetje was baptised on 27 November 1673 in the Oude Kerk. Parents Elijke Jacobs and Betje Aukes. 

Witness Marretje Jacobs. 

Children: 

1. Jacob gedoopt 24 juni 1716 in de Westerkerk. Ouders Jan Sijmonse en Antje Elekes. Getuigen 

Arent Bloker en Antje Cornelis. See III. 

 

Burial on 10 October 1727 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof of Annetje de Haan, huijsvrouw van Jan Sijmonse 

Lont [wonende] op de Haarlemerdijk tussen Korte Prinse Graft en Brouwer Strad. Laat 1 kind na. Baar 

14R. 

On 7 October 1727 Stijntie Jans voor Antje de Haan (LDS microfilm, Amsterdam, alle gezindten, 

ontvangen begraven, img.482/571, onvermogenden) 

 

Burial on 23 April 1728 on the Karthuizer Kerkhof Jan Sijmensz Lont [wonende] op de Haarlemse Dijk 

tussen de Korte Prinse Graft en Brouwer Strad. Laat 2 kind[eren] na. Baar 14R  

On 20 April 1728 Simon Lont voor Jan Lont [Simon is the son of Jan Simonsz Lont, from the 1st 

marriage] (LDS microfilm, Amsterdam, alle gezindten, ontvangen begraven, img.30/513, 

onvermogenden) 

 

 

III - Jacob Lont 

Jacob Lont was baptised on 24 June 1716 in the Westerkerk. Parents Jan Sijmonse and Antje Elekes. 

Witnesses Arent Bloker en Antje Cornelis. Please refer to the start of this study for further details and 

his descendents. 
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